

Feeding state-dependent neuropeptidergic modulation of a sensorimotor circuit biases non-feeding related decisions in Drosophila larva

Dylan Manceau

► To cite this version:

Dylan Manceau. Feeding state-dependent neuropeptidergic modulation of a sensorimotor circuit biases non-feeding related decisions in Drosophila larva. Neuroscience. Université Paris-Saclay, 2024. English. NNT: 2024UPASL029. tel-04639078

HAL Id: tel-04639078 https://theses.hal.science/tel-04639078v1

Submitted on 8 Jul2024

HAL is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.



Feeding state-dependent neuropeptidergic modulation of a sensorimotor circuit biases non-feeding related decisions in *Drosophila* larva

La modulation neuropeptidergique d'un circuit sensorimoteur en fonction de l'état alimentaire biaise les décisions non liées à l'alimentation chez la larve de Drosophile

Thèse de doctorat de l'université Paris-Saclay

École doctorale n°568 : signalisations et réseaux intégratifs en biologie (Biosigne) Spécialité de doctorat : Neurosciences Graduate School : Sciences de la vie et santé Référent : Faculté de médecine

Thèse préparée à l'**Institut des neurosciences Paris-Saclay** (Université Paris-Saclay, CNRS), sous la direction de **Tihana Jovanic**, Chargée de recherche, CNRS

Thèse soutenue à Paris-Saclay, le 05 Juin 2024, par

Dylan MANCEAU

Composition du Jury

Membres du jury avec voix délibérative

Président
Rapporteur & Examinateur
Rapporteur & Examinateur

HÈSE DE DOCTORAT

NNT : 2024UPASL029



ÉCOLE DOCTORALE

Signalisations et réseaux







ÉCOLE DOCTORALE Signalisations et réseaux intégratifs en biologie (BIOSIGNE)

Titre : La modulation neuropeptidergique d'un circuit sensorimoteur en fonction de l'état alimentaire biaise les décisions non liées à l'alimentation chez la larve de *Drosophile*

Mots clés : Larve de *Drosophile*, Décisions sensorimotrices, Neuropeptides, Circuits neuronaux, Etat interne, Neuromodulation

Résumé : La flexibilité comportementale, soit l'adaptation du comportement aux changements de l'environnement ou de l'état interne, est essentielle pour la survie et la reproduction des animaux. L'état alimentaire, en particulier, exerce une forte influence sur le comportement, même en dehors des décisions liées à la nourriture. Cependant, la manière dont l'information sur l'état alimentaire affecte les circuits de décision non directement liés à l'alimentation reste un sujet de recherche en neurosciences. Notre projet vise à éclairer ces relations entre états physiologiques, circuits neuronaux et comportement, cruciales pour comprendre le fonctionnement cérébral en santé et en maladie.

Nous étudions les mécanismes de modulation des circuits neuronaux dépendant de l'état alimentaire chez les larves de Drosophile. Nous utilisons les outils génétiques de ce modèle et son système nerveux simple pour examiner un circuit impliqué dans leur prise de décision sensorimotrice. Ce circuit orchestre le choix entre deux actions mutuellement exclusives (la rétraction de la tête, ou "hunch", une réponse de sursaut et le balancement de la tête, ou "head-cast", une réponse d'évitement actif) en réponse à une stimulation mécanique. Des interneurones inhibiteurs réciproquement connectés engagés dans plusieurs sous-motifs pilotent l'état de sortie de ce circuit, avec une inhibition réciproque de l'inhibition mettant en œuvre le choix comportemental et une désinhibition rétroactive consolidant le "head-cast". Une telle architecture de circuit permet une sélection flexible du comportement de sortie, qui est probabiliste à la fois entre et au sein des individus. Les larves affamées ou nourries uniquement de sucrose orientent leurs décisions vers plus de "head-cast" au détriment du "hunch" en modulant l'activité de deux interneurones inhibiteurs interconnectés.

Pour étudier ce mécanisme, nous combinons des techniques telles que la manipulation de neuropeptides dans des cellules individuelles, l'imagerie calcique, l'analyse comportementale et la connectomique. Nous avons ciblé les neuropeptides NPF et sNPF, liés au NPY mammifère et connus comme régulateurs des comportements alimentaires. Alors que les récepteurs des deux neuropeptides sont exprimés dans les neurones mécanosensoriels, nos résultats montrent que leur modulation n'est pas essentielle pour orienter les décisions de la larve. Au contraire, sNPF et NPF modulent différemment les interneurones inhibiteurs interconnectés de manière dépendante de l'état alimentaire, influençant les calculs du circuit. Nous montrons que les neurones de projection du circuit n'expriment pas de récepteurs pour sNPF ou NPF, tandis que les interneurones inhibiteurs expriment différentes combinaisons de récepteurs. Cela suggère que les interneurones sont des cibles de modulation tandis que les neurones de projection transmettent la décision au côté moteur. En effet, la réduction de la signalisation sNPF sur ces interneurones oriente le choix des larves vers moins de "hunch" et plus de "head-cast" en régulant leur activité de manière opposée, reproduisant partiellement un phénotype "sucore-like" ou "starvation-like". D'autre part, l'activité des neurones NPF est augmentée lors de l'ingestion de sucrose et la mise à jeun, et le NPF lui-même est nécessaire pour la modulation dépendante de l'état alimentaire de la locomotion de base des larves. De plus, le NPF est responsable d'une augmentation de l'activité spécifiquement de l'un des interneurones, qui inhibe le "hunch" et favorise le "head-cast".

En conclusion, nos données suggèrent que ces interneurones inhibiteurs servent d'intégrateurs de l'information sur l'état physiologique, orientant ainsi le comportement en fonction de l'état alimentaire. Ces résultats posent les bases pour comprendre les mécanismes de neuromodulation dans des cerveaux complexes, avec des implications potentielles pour le traitement des troubles neuropsychiatriques, dont les troubles alimentaires.

Title : Feeding state-dependent neuropeptidergic modulation of a sensorimotor circuit biases non-feeding related decisions in *Drosophila* larva

Keywords : *Drosophila* larva, Sensorimotor decisions, Neuropeptides, Neural circuits, Internal state, Neuromodulation

Abstract: Behavioral flexibility, the capacity to adapt behavior in response to changes in the environment or internal state, is a fundamental aspect of animal behavior, essential for survival and reproductive success. Notably, an animal's feeding state strongly influences its behavior, even beyond feeding-related choices and impact even decisions unrelated to feeding. While feeding state-dependent modulation of feeding related behaviors have been extensively studied, how feeding state information modulates decision circuits not directly tied to feeding behaviors is an ongoing question in neuroscience. This project aims to shed light on the intricate relationships between physiological states, neural circuits, and behavior, crucial for comprehending brain function in health and disease.

We delve into the mechanisms of feeding-state dependent neural circuit modulation in Drosophila larvae, leveraging this model organism's genetic tools and relatively simple nervous system to scrutinize the mechanisms of modulation of a neural circuit involved in larval sensorimotor decision-making. Specifically, this circuit orchestrates the choice between two mutually exclusive actions (hunching, a startle response and head-casting, an active avoidance response) in response to an aversive mechanical stimulation. Early in sensory processing, reciprocally connected inhibitory interneurons engaged in several sub-motifs drive the output state of this circuit, with reciprocal inhibition of inhibition implementing behavioral choice and feedback disinhibition providing positive feedback to consolidate the head-cast. Such circuit architecture allows for a flexible selection of the output behavior, which is probabilistic both between and within individuals. Starving larvae or feeding them only on sucrose, biases their decisions towards more head-casting at the expense of hunching by modulating the activity of two interconnected inhibitory interneurons.

In order to study the mechanisms of modulation of this circuit, we employ a combination of techniques including cell-specific neuropeptide manipulations, calcium imaging, behavioral analysis and connectomics. We focused on the neuropeptides NPF and sNPF, related to the mammalian NPY and known regulators of feeding behaviors. While both neuropeptides' receptors are expressed in mechanosensory neurons, our findings show their modulation is not essential to bias larva decisions to an air puff. Instead, sNPF and NPF differentially modulate interconnected inhibitory interneurons in a feeding state-dependent manner, influencing circuit computations. We show that the projection neurons of the circuit do not express receptors for either sNPF or NPF, while the inhibitory interneurons express different combinations of receptors. This suggests that the interneurons are targets of modulation while the projection neurons relay the decision to the motor side. Indeed, reduction of sNPF signaling on these interneurons biases the choice of the larvae towards less hunching and more head-casting by oppositely regulating their activity, partially recapitulating a "sucrose-like" or "starvation-like" phenotype. Furthermore, NPF-neurons activity is increased upon sucrose feeding and starvation, and that NPF itself is necessary for the feeding state-dependent modulation of larval baseline locomotion. Moreover, NPF is responsible for an increase in the activity of specifically one of the interneurons, which suppresses hunches and promotes head-casts.

In conclusion, our data propose that this pair of interconnected inhibitory interneurons serves as an integration hub for physiological state information conveyed by neuropeptides, thus biasing behavioral choice based on the feeding state. These insights lay the groundwork for understanding state-dependent neuromodulation mechanisms in more complex brains, specifically those that and hold potential implications for treating neuropsychiatric disorders, including eating disorders.

Remerciements

Je souhaite tout d'abord remercier ma directrice de thèse, Tihana Jovanic d'avoir cru en moi depuis le M2, merci pour tout le temps que tu m'as accordé et tous les conseils scientifiques aussi bien au cours des expériences que de la rédaction.

Je voudrais ensuite remercier chaleureusement tous les membres de mon jury. Particulièrement Yaël Grosjean et Dennis Pauls qui ont accepter de relire et commenter mon manuscrit. Merci également à Jimena Berni et Mohammed Taouis d'avoir accepter de lire mes travaux et de vous être rendus disponibles pour discuter lors de ma soutenance.

Merci également à tous membres passés et actuels de l'équipe circuits neuronaux et comportement, Eloïse, Maxime, Sandra, Francesca, Harry, Amit, Perla et tous les stagiaires qui ont apporté leur pierre à l'édifice de nos recherches, pour l'entraide permanente et la bonne humeur qui règnent au quotidien au laboratoire. Merci particulièrement à Anqi pour avoir été la meilleure colocataire de bureau imaginable. Un merci particulier à Ivain, d'avoir été un excellent stagiaire pour ma première expérience d'encadrement.

Je remercie mes parents pour la confiance aveugle que vous avez montré dans chacun de mes projets et de m'avoir toujours donné les moyens de poursuivre sereinement mes objectifs.

Merci à mon frère pour tout ce qu'on a partagé depuis l'enfance, tu n'as probablement pas conscience de l'influence que tu as eue sur la personne que je suis devenu.

Un grand merci à tous mes camarades doctorants et post-doctorants de NeuroPSI. Vous rencontrer et partager des moments conviviaux au cours de ma thèse a été un véritable antidépresseur dans les moments difficiles. Merci beaucoup à Zéphyr, Ambre, Chiara, Léo, Julien, Juliette, Peyman, Edouard, Clément, Catherine, Emmanuel, Laurine et plus particulièrement ceux avec qui j'ai eu le plaisir de participer à l'occasion du HNHC : Nastasia, Elie, Mikal et Alexandre. J'espère que ceux que j'ai oublié de citer m'excuseront, merci à tous !

Merci également à tous mes anciens partenaire pharmaciens, particulièrement Sandrine, Pauline, Laurent, Thomas, Arthur et Alexandre que j'ai eu l'énorme plaisir de retrouver ces derniers mois.

Un grand merci à Inès et Aurel, même si vous êtes actuellement loin géographiquement, on sera toujours ensemble.

Valentin et Rémi, merci pour tout, toujours, n'importe quand et surtout n'importe quoi.

Table of contents

Remerciements	7
Table of contents Erreur ! Signet non c	léfini.
Abbreviations	10
I. Introduction	11
I. A. Neural circuits for decision-making	12
I. A. 1. Connectivity Motifs in Neural Circuits	14
I. A. 2. Examples of circuit motifs in decision-making circuits	15
I. B. Encoding behavioral flexibility through neural circuits modulation	16
I. B. 1. Gene expression dependent circuit adaptation	17
I. B. 2. Cellular mechanisms of circuit modulation	19
I. C. Feeding state modulation of behaviors	28
I. C. 1. Modulation of peripheral sensory neurons	30
I. C. 2. Modulation of central neurons in circuits	31
I. C. 3. Neuropeptides involved in feeding state-dependent modulation of circuits in <i>Drosophila</i>	neural 32
I. D. Drosophila larva model system for the study of neural circuit modulation	on36
I. D. 1. Brain simplicity	36
I. D. 2. Genetic tools	38
I. D. 3. Neuron manipulation and recording	40
I. D. 4. Behavioral assays	43
I. D. 5. Relevance to other species	45
I. E. Description of the sensorimotor decision circuit	45
II. Aims	48
III. Methods and Results	51
III. A. Feeding stat-dependent neuropeptidergic modulation of recipr interconnected inhibitory neurons biases sensorimotor decisions in <i>Drosophila</i>	ocally
III. A. 1. Article summary	53
III. A. 2. Article manuscript	54

III. B. Effects of neuropeptides on mechanosensory neurons 125
III. B. 1. Expression of sNPF and NPF receptors on mechanosensory chordotonal neurons
III. B. 2. sNPF effect on mechanosensory chordotonal neurons
III. C. Decision-making in conflicting sensory gradients
III. C. 1. Methods 132
III. C. 2. Results
IV. Discussion143
IV. A. Neuropeptidergic action on the mechanosensory chordotonal neurons 145
IV. B. Modulation of sensorimotor decisions by NPF 148
IV. C. Opposite effects of sNPF on Griddle-2 and Handle-B
IV. D. Origin of sNPF state-dependent action on the circuit 151
IV. E. Difficulties of internal states characterization
IV. F. Studying decision-making in conflicting sensory gradients in <i>Drosophila</i> larva 154
IV. G. Relevance of the feeding state-dependent modulation of non-feeding- dependent behaviors and its study
V. References
VI. Synthèse en Français

Abbreviations

LTP: Long-term potentiation

LTD: Long-term depression

GPCR: G-protein coupled receptor

NO: Nitric oxide

CO: Carbon monoxide

CREB: cAMP response element-binding protein

CRE: cAMP response element

BDNF: Brain-derived neurotrophic factor

NPY: Neuropeptide Y

IPC: Insulin-producing cells

DM-NPF: Dorsomedial pair of NPF-releasing neurons

DL-NPF: Dorsolateral pair of NPF-releasing neurons

SEZ: Subesophageal zone

APC: Adipokinetic hormone-producing cells

AKH: Adipokinetic hormone

CCK: Cholecystokinin

PDF: Pigment dispersing factor

C. elegans: Caenorhabditis elegans

CNS: Central nervous system

mAChRs: Muscarinic acetylcholine receptors

fMRI: Functional magnetic resonance imaging

EM: Electron microscopy

L1: First instar

L3: Third instar

VNC: Ventral nerve cord

DBD: DNA-binding domain

AD: Activation domain

GECIs: Genetically encoded calcium indicators

GEVIs: Genetically encoded voltage indicators

GFP: Green fluorescent protein

PNs: Projection neurons

AgRP: Agouti-related protein

POMC: Proopiomelanocortin

CART: Cocaine- and amphetamine- regulated transcript

ILP: Insulin-like peptide

sNPF: short Neuropeptide F

NPF: Neuropeptide F

sNPFR: sNPF-receptor

NPFR: NPFR-receptor

NPYR: NPY-receptor

Lk: Leukokinin

Crz: Corazonin

DP7: Dorsal pair of ILP7 producing neurons

I. Introduction

On a day-to-day basis, animals are faced with constant changes in their environment that require a behavioral adaptation so as to fulfill the animal's biological needs while avoiding dangers (Wong and Candolin 2015). This adaptation requires that the animal's nervous system integrates information about the environment, which is continuously sampled using different sensory modalities at the disposal of the animal, with both its immediate physiological state and its past experiences (Fu, Horng, and Chou 2022). Numerous parameters can influence the internal state of an animal such as hunger, stress, weariness, age, etc (Devineni and Scaplen 2022). The balance between the environment and the internal state is very important for the selection of behaviors that ensure the best chances of survival (Jiang and Pan 2022). For instance, feeding is essential for survival and an animal may take more risks to feed when it is hungry, especially if it has not been able to eat in several days (Herberholz and Marguart 2012). However, if an immediate threat arises, such as a predator attack, while feeding, the animal must be able to decide to abandon this food source and escape to save its life (Herberholz and Marquart 2012). This context-dependent behavioral expression requires flexibility in neural circuits involved in selecting and triggering behaviors so their activity can be modulated to timely adapt their output to new conditions (Devineni and Scaplen 2022; Jiang and Pan 2022; Fu, Horng, and Chou 2022).

I. A. Neural circuits for decision-making

Decision-making in animals, from a biological perspective, refers to the process by which organisms evaluate available options based on sensory inputs, internal states, and past experiences to select and execute appropriate behavioral responses (Budaev et al. 2019; Adams et al. 2012; Jovanic 2020; Barron et al. 2015; Brembs 2014; Kristan 2008). This cognitive process involves the integration of sensory information, such as visual, auditory, olfactory, and tactile cues, with internal physiological states, including hunger, thirst, and reproductive needs (Bargmann 2012; Marder 2012; Bargmann and Marder 2013). Decision-making often entails weighing potential risks and benefits associated with different choices, considering environmental factors and past outcomes (Budaev et al. 2019; Adams et al. 2012; Jovanic 2020; Barron et al. 2015; Brembs 2014; Kristan 2008). Such decisions tend to facilitate the selection of behaviors that optimize survival, reproduction, and adaptation to changing environmental conditions (Budaev et al. 2019; Adams et al. 2012; Jovanic 2020; Barron et al. 2015; Brembs 2014; Kristan 2008). For instance, hunger may enhance sensitivity to food-related cues, prompting increased foraging behavior to satisfy metabolic demands (Bargmann 2012; Slankster et al. 2020; Root et al. 2011; Ko et al. 2015; Chao et al. 2004; Ezcurra et al. 2011; Chalasani et al. 2010; Inagaki, Panse, and Anderson 2014; Wosniack et al. 2022).

At the level of neural circuits, decisions have been thought to be implemented through circuit architecture capable of "winner-take-all" computations that orchestrate the selection between competing behaviors (Kristan 2008; Mysore and Kothari 2020). The activity of individual neurons can be closely correlated to the exact moment when a decision is made (Kristan 2008; Cui et al. 2013; M. R. Cohen and Newsome 2004). However, growing evidence suggest that decisions depend on the covariance of several neurons distributed throughout all levels of sensorimotor neural circuits, instead of the activity of single neurons in specialized circuits (Kristan 2008; Briggman, Abarbanel, and Kristan 2005; Cisek and Kalaska 2010; Cisek 2012).

In parallel, internal states such as hunger, thirst, and reproductive needs induce the release of a multitude of signals that can influence sensory processing regions to modulate the sensitivity of sensory pathways and bias decision-making processes based on the organism's current physiological needs (Sayin et al. 2018; Vogt et al. 2021; Münch et al. 2020).

Furthermore, past experiences and learned associations also play a critical role in decision-making, shaping neural circuits through synaptic plasticity mechanisms such as long-term potentiation and long-term depression (Leslie and Nedivi 2011; Brini et al. 2014; Bading 2013; Destexhe and Marder 2004; Jovanic 2020). Neural circuits involved in decision-making exhibit dynamic changes in synaptic strength and connectivity in response to learning and memory processes, allowing animals to adapt their behavior based on previous outcomes and experiences (Leslie and Nedivi 2011; Brini et al. 2014; Bading 2013).

Ultimately, the integration of sensory information, internal states, and past experiences occurs at the level of complex patterns of connectivity, such as mutual inhibition of feedforward inhibition, and activity dynamics within neural circuits (Liqun Luo 2021; Koyama and Pujala 2018; Mysore and Kothari 2020; Jovanic 2020; Grunwald Kadow 2019). Such motifs, described in the following section of this manuscript and at the core of the neural circuit studied in the article in section III.A and described in section I.E, provide the framework for flexible information processing, allowing neural circuits to generate diverse behavioral responses from a limited set of inputs (Jovanic et al. 2016; Herberholz and Marquart 2012; Koyama et al. 2016; Gaudry and Kristan 2009; Palmer and Kristan 2011). This dynamic interplay between sensory, physiological, and cognitive factors enables animals to adaptively navigate their surroundings, optimizing behavior to maximize survival and reproductive success in diverse environmental contexts.

I. A. 1. Connectivity Motifs in Neural Circuits

The concept of connectivity motifs in neural circuits refers to recurring patterns of synaptic connections among neurons that serve as fundamental building blocks for computations within the brain (Mysore and Kothari 2020; Koyama and Pujala 2018; Liqun Luo 2021). These motifs, characterized by specific arrangements of synaptic connections, play a crucial role in shaping the functional properties of neural circuits and their ability to process information.

Connectivity motifs provide a framework for understanding how neural circuits perform computations and generate behavioral responses. By identifying common patterns of connectivity, researchers can dissect the underlying principles governing information processing in the brain (Mysore and Kothari 2020; Koyama and Pujala 2018; Liqun Luo 2021). These motifs serve as architectural templates that govern the flow of neural activity and determine the emergence of complex behaviors.

One of the key roles of connectivity motifs is to enable specific types of computations within neural circuits. For example, feedforward motifs, where signals propagate from sensory neurons to higher-order processing regions, are well-suited for feature detection and sensory integration (Liqun Luo 2021; Mysore and Kothari 2020). Conversely, feedback motifs, where signals loop back from higher-order regions to lower-level processing areas, facilitate context-dependent modulation and feedback control (Liqun Luo 2021; Mysore and Kothari 2020).

A well-known example of circuit motifs is lateral inhibition, which is involved in the inhibition of neighboring neurons by an activated neuron (Liqun Luo 2021). Commonly observed in sensory processing circuits, lateral inhibition sharpens sensory responses and enhances contrast in neural representations. For instance, in the visual system, lateral inhibition highlights edges and enhances contrast sensitivity by suppressing the activity of adjacent photoreceptors (Kuffler 1953; Liqun Luo 2021). This selective amplification of relevant sensory cues and suppression of irrelevant information improves spatial resolution and discrimination capabilities, facilitating the extraction of pertinent sensory details and the generation of contextually appropriate responses.

Overall, connectivity motifs serve as the building blocks for computations within neural circuits by shaping the flow of information and organizing neural activity patterns.

I. A. 2. Examples of circuit motifs in decision-making circuits

Inhibition has been proposed to implement selection in various circuits across species (Kovac and Davis 1977; 1980; Gaudry and Kristan 2009; 2012). Theoretical work on "winner-take-all" models capable of selecting one option and suppressing the competing ones proposed different network organizations involving different combinations of recurrent connectivity motifs with either reciprocal or lateral inhibitory connections, capable of achieve this computation.

Over recent years, the circuit motif of mutual inhibition of inhibition (Figure I.A-1) has been shown in multiple species and brain areas to perform similar computations that involve competitive selection (Koyama and Pujala 2018; Jovanic et al. 2016; Koyama et al. 2016; Mysore and Kothari 2020).



Schematic of an example motif of mutual inhibition of inhibition

Figure I.A-1 Schematic of an example of mutual inhibition of inhibition circuit motif. Image from (Mysore and Knudsen 2012), figure 4.A. Red oval represent inhibitory neurons, red circled arrows are inhibitory connections. Black circles represent output units of the circuit and black arrows illustrate the flow of excitatory activity. RF stimulus refers to a stimulation at the center of the receptive field for the output 1, which is in competition with the competitor stimulus

Mutual inhibition motifs are characterized by reciprocal connections between two populations of neurons, where activation of one population inhibits the activity of the other, and vice versa (Liqun Luo 2021; Mysore and Knudsen 2012; Mysore and Kothari 2020). Theoretical work suggests that this motif alone allows for the selection between competing behavioral outputs but is not capable of generating flexible selection in

response to varying intensities of stimulation (Mysore and Knudsen 2012; Mysore and Kothari 2020), limiting its biological relevance. Indeed, in this motif, the strength of inhibition of a specific output relies solely on the strength of competing stimuli, which implies that a strong enough inhibition will always prevent its selection, no matter the strength of the stimulus (Mysore and Knudsen 2012; Mysore and Kothari 2020).

To achieve a switch in the neural representation that is flexible to changes in stimulus intensity, there needs to be feedback on the inhibitory neurons (Mysore and Knudsen 2012). Reciprocal inhibition of inhibition was shown to be the most structurally simple and efficient motif able to drive adaptation to the stimulus strength. Indeed, by inhibiting each other, the inhibitory neurons provide information from all stimuli, making the neural representation dependent on the relative strength of the different stimuli (Mysore and Knudsen 2012; Mysore and Kothari 2020). For instance, in circuits determining approach or avoidance behaviors, one neuron population may promote approach while simultaneously inhibiting avoidance, and vice versa (Spielberg et al. 2012; Koyama et al. 2016). By dynamically inhibiting each other, these populations ensure the selection of a single behavioral option in a process resembling a "winner-take-all" computation (Prescott et al. 2006) while suppressing competing alternatives, enhancing behavioral specificity and adaptability.

Overall, the mutual inhibition of inhibition implements flexibility in the decisionmaking process (Liqun Luo 2021; Koyama and Pujala 2018; Mysore and Kothari 2020). Mutual inhibition of inhibition resolves conflicting signals and biases circuits towards specific actions. By regulating activity patterns, this motif plays a crucial role in mediating adaptive behaviors in biological systems (Liqun Luo 2021; Koyama and Pujala 2018; Mysore and Kothari 2020). These principles illustrate how neural circuits, by their very structure, can lead to flexible behavioral outputs. The modulation of such circuits thus provides a supplementary layer of flexibility to adapt their outputs to various conditions.

I. B. Encoding behavioral flexibility through neural circuits modulation

Understanding neural circuit modulation is crucial for elucidating the adaptation of behavioral responses to specific situations across different organisms. Neural circuits are formed by neurons that communicate with each other to give rise to a specific function. The connections between neurons are an anatomical backbone for the circuits and form what is referred to as the connectome. Anatomically defined circuits exhibit plasticity, reforming over time or in response to specific conditions. Moreover, even when the circuitry linking the neurons together does not change, modulators can change the way they interact with each other to introduce flexibility to what would otherwise be a fixed network, for instance through feeding state-dependent neuropeptide release (Marder 2012; Ezcurra et al. 2016; Jin et al. 2023; Jing and Gillette 2003; Bargmann 2012; Nässel and Zandawala 2022; Nässel 2002). Therefore, the study of neural circuit modulation provides valuable insights into the processes underlying behavioral decisions and responses to changes in both the environment and internal state. The following section will describe the mechanisms of modulation of neural circuits and their activity.

I. B. 1. Gene expression dependent circuit adaptation

Activity-regulated gene expression serves as a pivotal mechanism through which the functioning and connectivity of neural circuits are shaped in response to experiences, stimuli, and internal states. Upon neuronal activation, particularly at the synapse, intracellular signaling cascades are activated to convey signals to the nucleus. These cascades often involve the activation of various kinases, phosphatases, and second messengers (Leslie and Nedivi 2011). For example, the influx of Ca2+ from the synapse into the postsynaptic cell through receptors and ion channels, such as glutamate receptors and voltage-sensitive Ca2+ channels, triggers the activation of Ca2+-dependent signaling pathways (Bading 2013; Brini et al. 2014). These pathways can include the activation of protein kinases, such as Ca2+/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase (CaMK), and the subsequent phosphorylation of downstream targets involved in gene expression regulation (Leslie and Nedivi 2011; Hardingham et al. 1997; Bading 2013).

Specific transcriptional activators are targeted by the intracellular signaling cascades to initiate gene expression. One of the well-studied transcription factors involved in activity-dependent gene expression is cAMP response element-binding protein (CREB). CREB is activated by phosphorylation in response to elevated intracellular Ca2+ levels and subsequent activation of Ca2+/calmodulin-dependent kinases (Leslie and Nedivi 2011; Bading 2013; Brini et al. 2014). Once phosphorylated, CREB binds to cAMP response elements (CREs) in the promoter regions of target genes, thereby initiating their transcription. The regulated genes in turn impact circuit plasticity through the modification of synaptic strength or number, thereby leading to changes in the connectivity of neuronal circuits (Leslie and Nedivi 2011; Brini et al. 2014; Bading 2013).

One such gene is the Brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) gene. The protein it encodes, BDNF, is involved in synaptic plasticity (Miranda et al. 2019; Wardle and Poo 2003; Leal, Comprido, and Duarte 2014) as its *Drosophila* homolog, neurotrophin 1 (Zhu et al. 2008). BDNF expression is upregulated by neuronal activation and can in turn regulate local synaptic expression of numerous proteins (Leal, Comprido, and Duarte 2014). Among other things, BDNF influences the strength of synapses by reducing the

release of GABA from presynaptic neurons and downregulating the expression of postsynaptic potassium/chloride co-transporter (Wardle and Poo 2003). Furthermore, BNDF influences the morphology of dendritic spines by promoting actin polymerization (Miranda et al. 2019; Rex et al. 2007). Additionally, BDNF can regulate the expression and activity of miRNAs, which are non-coding RNAs that are able to repress translation of target transcripts and were themselves linked to synaptic plasticity (Chekulaeva and Filipowicz 2009; Leal, Comprido, and Duarte 2014; Konecna et al. 2009).

In addition to the immediate activation of transcription factors, activation of the synapse can be relayed to the nucleus where it can also involve epigenetic regulation. Epigenetic modifications of DNA and chromatin, such as DNA methylation and histone acetylation, can influence the accessibility of gene promoters and enhancers, thereby regulating the transcriptional response to synaptic activity (Leslie and Nedivi 2011).

Activity-regulated genes are thus at the root of neuronal plasticity, which can be broadly categorized as structural, involving morphological changes, and functional, involving changes in synaptic strength. Structural plasticity encompasses the physical alterations in the structure of neurons and their synaptic connections, while functional plasticity refers to the modifications in synaptic strength and efficacy, influencing the efficiency of communication between neurons and the overall functional properties of neural circuits (Leslie and Nedivi 2011; Yamada and Kuba 2016; Gipson and Olive 2017). These distinctive forms of plasticity play integral roles in shaping the adaptability and stability of neural circuits in response to sensory experience, learning, and environmental stimuli.

I. B. 1. a. Neuronal plasticity

Long-term potentiation (LTP) and long-term depression (LTD) are at the core of synaptic plasticity, encompassing mechanisms crucial for adaptive changes in neuronal circuits. Both these phenomena correspond to a lasting increase and decrease, respectively, in the strength of a synapse resulting from specific patterns of neural activity (Leslie and Nedivi 2011; Destexhe and Marder 2004). Modulating the strength of synapses leads to alterations in the communication between neurons. Indeed, increasing the strength of a synapse means that the excitatory or inhibitory effect (depending on the properties of the pre-synaptic neuron) on the post-synaptic neuron will be increased. This way, it is possible, without modifying the anatomical structure of a circuit, to tune its activity to specific conditions. Both LTP and LTD are largely considered as the main mechanisms driving learning and memory (Leslie and Nedivi 2011; Sweatt 2016; Destexhe and Marder 2004), which makes them ideal candidates to carry information from past-experiences to circuits associated with flexible behaviors.

implication in the modulation of innate social behaviors in mice. Indeed, LTP was shown to be essential for aggression priming in a circuit linking the amygdala, the hypothalamus and the striatum (Wei, Talwar, and Lin 2021).

LTP and LTD are often accompanied with formation of new synapses or pruning of irrelevant synapses respectively (Leslie and Nedivi 2011). Similarly to modulating the strength of synapses, this changes in synaptic numbers leads to an alteration of the communication between partner neurons and thus to an adaptation of the neural circuit to past-experiences. An example of structural plasticity in neural circuits is the phenomenon of adult neurogenesis in the hippocampal dentate gyrus and the olfactory bulb of the mammalian brain. This process involves the generation of new neurons and their integration into existing neuronal networks, requiring synaptic rewiring and leading to significant structural changes in the circuitry. Adult neurogenesis has been implicated in learning and memory consolidation, highlighting the crucial role of structural plasticity in shaping neural circuits and influencing cognitive functions (Butz, Wörgötter, and van Ooyen 2009).

Such gene expression dependent mechanisms of neural circuit alteration are relevant to the flexibility of behaviors, they are however not immediate as they require repeated expositions to specific conditions and protein synthesis (Leslie and Nedivi 2011; Destexhe and Marder 2004; Sweatt 2016; Gipson and Olive 2017; Hogan, Hamilton, and Horner 2020). It is of paramount importance that other processes are able to modulate behaviors to respond to immediate threats and needs. Furthermore, such conditions requiring immediate adaptation of behavior, such as hunger, are also fleeting and should not introduce irreversible or long-lasting neural circuit modulation.

I. B. 2. Cellular mechanisms of circuit modulation

The vast majority of communications between cells in an organism happen through the release of a molecule that will bind to a specific receptor as its ligand to trigger a cascade of intracellular processes responsible for the cellular response (synaptic communication, muscle contraction, hormone release, etc...). The enormous multitude of molecules and receptors used in cell communications is essential to signal countless combinations of internal states and sensory environments that an organism can be subjected to and lead to a quick and reversible adaptation of circuit activity and behavior.

Neuromodulators are signaling molecules that play a crucial role in modulating the function of synapses and neural circuits. They can include various classes of molecules such as neuropeptides, biogenic amines, gases, and other signaling molecules. Neuromodulators can induce rapid, dynamic, and reversible changes in the activity

patterns within fixed neural circuits, enabling the generation of diverse patterns of neural circuit activity (Bargmann 2012; Marder 2012). Neuromodulators typically exert their actions by binding to receptors coupled to G-proteins (GPCRs), whose activation triggers a cascade of intracellular signaling that is responsible for the cellular effects exerted by the neuromodulator. The ability of neuromodulators to induce such dynamic changes in circuit activity enables the nervous system to quickly adapt to varying physiological and environmental conditions, ultimately shaping the behavioral responses of the organism.

I. B. 2. a. Neuropeptides

Neuropeptides are highly diverse signaling molecules found across various animal species. The repertoire of neuropeptides is gigantic, with several hundred different neuropeptides identified to date (Elphick, Mirabeau, and Larhammar 2018; DeLaney et al. 2018). Structural and functional similarities are often observed among neuropeptides from different species. These similarities may arise due to evolutionary conservation from a common ancestor or as a result of convergent evolution, where the production of similar neuropeptide structures represents an optimal evolutionary response to ensure specific physiological and behavioral functions (Muneoka et al. 2000; O'Shea and Schaffer 1985). The diverse array of neuropeptides and their receptors allows for precise and context-dependent modulation of neural circuits underlying a wide range of behaviors, including feeding, reproduction, stress responses, and social interactions (Nässel and Zandawala 2022; Devineni and Scaplen 2022; Jékely et al. 2018).

(1) Neural circuits modulation by neuropeptides

Unlike classical neurotransmitters, neuropeptides can be released in a non-synaptic manner (Figure I.B-1) and can exert both acute and long-term effects on neuronal properties and network activity (van den Pol 2012; Jékely et al. 2018). The release of neuropeptides is tightly regulated and can occur under specific conditions, including neuronal activity, stress, and various physiological states (Marder and Bucher 2007; Bargmann and Marder 2013; Jékely et al. 2018). Upon release, neuropeptides bind to specific receptors, predominantly GPCRs, expressed on target neurons, initiating a cascade of intracellular signaling events (Jékely et al. 2018; Nässel and Zandawala 2022). This activation leads to diverse effects on neuronal properties, including the modulation of synaptic transmission, neuronal excitability, and network activity (Cardin 2019).



Comparison of the properties of neuropeptides and classical neurotransmitters

Figure I.B-1 Schematic illustrating the differences between the properties of neuropeptides (right) and classical neurotransmitters (left). Image from (van den Pol 2012), figure 3. Classical neurotransmitters are release at synapses where they bind to ionotropic receptors and are quickly recycled in the presynaptic neuron. Neuropeptides can be released outside of synapses and diffuse over longer distances to bind to G-protein coupled receptors.

The effects of neuropeptides on neural circuits and behavior are context-dependent and can vary based on the specific neuropeptide-receptor interactions, the cellular and circuit-level properties of the neurons involved, and the overall network dynamics (Jékely et al. 2018; Devineni and Scaplen 2022). Importantly, the neuromodulatory actions of neuropeptides contribute to the flexibility and adaptability of neural circuits, enabling the integration of internal states, environmental cues, and behavioral demands to appropriately adapt behavioral responses to the immediate context (Su and Wang 2014).

Each neuron comprising the nervous system possesses intrinsic characteristics that are specific to it and result from the ensemble of ion channels and receptors expressed on its membrane. The action of a neuropeptide on a neuron can modify the number of receptors or channels expressed on its membrane, their type, and their kinetic properties (Harris-Warrick and Marder 1991). In most cases, the modulation of the intrinsic properties of a neuron is the result of the action of several neuropeptides. The binding of different neuropeptides to their receptors on a neuron's membrane can have an additive, synergistic, or opposing effect on the activity or expression of a receptor or channel. Furthermore, the same neuropeptide can lead to a modification of the expression or activity of several different receptors or channels, either in the same direction or in opposite directions. Thus, it would be imperative to know all the neuropeptides acting on a neuron and all the cellular mechanisms involved in the activation of their GPCRs to fully understand their effect on the targeted neuron and its impact on the neural circuit to which it belongs (Nadim and Bucher 2014). The development of single-cell transcriptomics provides hope that such a comprehensive understanding of all the intracellular processes could be achieved in every neuron of a circuit, in different conditions, in the near future (Heumos et al. 2023).

The modification of the intrinsic properties of neurons that connect to other neurons through a specific synapse leads to the modulation of the efficiency of that synapse. Indeed, the modulation of the presynaptic neuron can influence the amount of neurotransmitter released into the synaptic cleft. Phenomena of feedback on the presynaptic neuron, either through retrograde messengers or through the action of autoreceptors, can also be the target of modulation. Complementarily, the sensitivity of the postsynaptic neuron to the neurotransmitter can be modulated, altering the strength of the connection between the two neurons (Harris-Warrick and Marder 1991; Nadim and Bucher 2014).

Through these mechanisms, it is possible that certain neurons in the network, usually inactive, are recruited under certain conditions only, transiently reshaping the circuit in a process referred to as information re-routing (Bräcker et al. 2013; Crossley, Staras, and Kemenes 2018; Lewis et al. 2015). Moreover, the release and action of a neuropeptide can themselves undergo modulation through other neuropeptides targeting neurons that release them or exerting a competing action on their target neurons. Finally, electrical synapses can also be modulated by modifying the strength of the electrical coupling between the two neurons (Harris-Warrick and Marder 1991; Nadim and Bucher 2014).

Moreover, neuropeptides can also induce long-lasting changes in neuronal function through mechanisms such as synaptic plasticity and gene expression (Leslie and Nedivi 2011). These long-term effects contribute to the adaptive nature of neuropeptide modulation, allowing neural circuits to undergo persistent changes in response to specific stimuli or behavioral states (Harris-Warrick and Marder 1991). Altogether, the release of a single neuropeptide can have a multitude of consequences on the activity of one or more neurons composing a circuit and thus drastically change its functionality. However, the significant number of neuropeptides found in an animal brain and the dynamics of their secretion and diffusion mean that neurons are constantly in an unstable equilibrium that depends on the integration of all the signals they receive at a given moment. Understanding the conditions leading to changes in this balance is essential for understanding the generation and modulation of behaviors from neuronal circuits but remains to this day impossible to study in humans at the scale of neuron circuits due to the invasiveness of the necessary techniques and the too large number of neurons and synaptic connections.

(2) Water and food related neuropeptides

The intricacies of neuropeptidergic signaling are perfectly illustrated by the multitude of neuropeptides involved in the regulation of food and water intake (Woods et al. 1998; Nijenhuis, Oosterom, and Adan 2001; Lambert et al. 1998; Blevins, Schwartz, and Baskin 2004; Nieuwenhuizen and Rutters 2008; Posovszky and Wabitsch 2015; Latorre et al. 2016; Wren and Bloom 2007; Larhammar 1996; Chambers, Sandoval, and Seeley 2013). Moreover, most of these neuropeptides have been shown to also regulate other processes, as illustrated by the examples below. Overall, the involvement of a single molecule in the regulation of different biological processes and of several molecules in the regulation of any individual biological process show the essential role of neuropeptides and the challenge of studying their action in diverse neural circuits.

As a lot of neuropeptides are evolutionarily conserved (Muneoka et al. 2000; O'Shea and Schaffer 1985), comparative studies across species are especially interesting. I give below examples of mammalian neuropeptides, as I will develop more on Drosophila neuropeptides later in the manuscripts.

Neuropeptide Y (NPY) is a widely distributed mammalian neuropeptide that plays a role in regulating a variety of physiological processes, including promoting feeding and reducing stress response, and anxiety (Bale and Doshi 2023; Brain and Cox 2006; Pedrazzini, Pralong, and Grouzmann 2003; Sánchez, Rodríguez, and Coveñas 2023). In the brain, extrinsic application of NPY leads to a regulation of synaptic transmission and neuronal excitability (Bacci, Huguenard, and Prince 2002). NPY has also been implicated in the impairment of memory acquisition and stimulation of memory retention (Gøtzsche and Woldbye 2016).

Substance P serves as both a neurotransmitter and neuromodulator in the central and peripheral nervous systems, playing crucial roles in regulating pain perception, stress response, and mood. Its involvement in various neurological and psychiatric disorders underscores its significance in neural function and dysfunction (Brain and Cox 2006; Mantyh 2002; Mashaghi et al. 2016).

Orexins, another group of neuropeptides, play a key role in promoting arousal and feeding, thus regulating energy homeostasis (Sakurai and Mieda 2011). They act as neuromodulators to regulate synaptic transmission and neuronal excitability and have been implicated in the modulation of sleep-wake cycles and reward processing (Harris and Aston-Jones 2006).

Vasopressin, functioning as both a hormone and neuromodulator, regulates physiological processes such as water balance, stress and blood pressure (Landgraf and Neumann 2004; Lozić et al. 2018). In the brain, vasopressin acts as a neuromodulator to regulate reshape inhibitory and excitatory signals (Kombian et al. 2000; Ramanathan et al. 2012), and has been implicated in the modulation of social behavior (Engelmann and Landgraf 1994).

Cholecystokinin (CCK) acts as a neurotransmitter and neuromodulator in the central and peripheral nervous systems. It is involved in the inhibition of food intake, anxiety, and pain perception, and has been implicated in the pathophysiology of various neurological and psychiatric disorders (Dockray 2012; Bernard et al. 2021).

I. B. 2. b. Amines, gases and other molecules

Biogenic amines identified as playing a neuromodulatory role are few (<20) and highly conserved across different species in the animal kingdom, both in vertebrates and invertebrates (Muneoka et al. 2000; O'Shea and Schaffer 1985; Blenau and Baumann 2001; Sloley and Juorio 1995). Among them, dopamine, serotonin, and norepinephrine are prominent examples, synthesized from amino acids and serving as both neurotransmitters and neuromodulators (Masek et al. 2015; Berridge and Waterhouse 2003; Peters, Cheer, and Tonini 2021). These monoamines regulate a wide range of physiological processes, including mood regulation, attention, and reward. Dopamine and serotonin have been particularly extensively studied (Ligneul and Mainen 2023; Peters, Cheer, and Tonini 2021; Speranza et al. 2021).

Dopamine acts as a multifaceted neuromodulator involved in a range of functions, including reward processing, motor control, learning, and motivation (Speranza et al. 2021; Peters, Cheer, and Tonini 2021). Dopaminergic neurons project widely throughout the brain, influencing diverse neural circuits. In reward-related pathways, dopamine plays a central role in reinforcement learning, facilitating the encoding of reward

prediction errors and guiding decision-making processes (Speranza et al. 2021; Peters, Cheer, and Tonini 2021; Sayin et al. 2018; Eichler et al. 2017). In motor circuits, dopamine modulates movement initiation, coordination, and execution, with dysfunction in dopaminergic pathways leading to movement disorders such as Parkinson's disease (Speranza et al. 2021).

Serotonin is another crucial neuromodulator implicated in mood regulation, emotional processing, sleep-wake cycles, appetite, and cognition (Ligneul and Mainen 2023; Peters, Cheer, and Tonini 2021). Serotonergic neurons project extensively throughout the brain, modulating the activity of diverse neural circuits. In mood regulation, serotonin plays a key role in modulating affective states, with alterations in serotonergic signaling implicated in mood disorders such as depression and anxiety (Ligneul and Mainen 2023; Peters, Cheer, and Tonini 2021). Additionally, serotonin contributes to cognitive functions such as learning, memory, and decision-making, shaping behavioral responses to environmental stimuli (Chao et al. 2004; Ligneul and Mainen 2023; Peters, Cheer, and Tonini 2021; Gaudry and Kristan 2009). Moreover, serotonin has been associated with the regulation of feeding both in vertebrates and invertebrates (Tierney 2020; van Galen, ter Horst, and Serlie 2021), increasing the hedonic value of food and its dysregulation being involved in the pathophysiology of obesity (van Galen, ter Horst, and Serlie 2021).

Gases, such as nitric oxide (NO) and carbon monoxide (CO), also exert neuromodulatory effects, in both vertebrates and invertebrates (Ueno et al. 2020; Jeong 2024; Esplugues 2002; Garthwaite 2008; Heinemann et al. 2014; Aso et al. 2019). These small molecules are synthesized by neurons and diffusing across cell membranes to activate intracellular signaling pathways. NO is involved in a wide range of physiological processes, including learning and memory (Esplugues 2002; Garthwaite 2008; Aso et al. 2019; Jeong 2024), while CO is involved in hypertension and inflammation (Heinemann et al. 2014; Ueno et al. 2020).

Furthermore, lipids such as endocannabinoids can also act as neuromodulators. These molecules are synthesized by neurons and act on cannabinoid receptors to modulate synaptic transmission. Endocannabinoids are involved in a wide range of physiological processes, including appetite, sleep and arousal (Peters, Cheer, and Tonini 2021).

Other notable neuromodulatory molecules encompass adenosine (Fredholm et al. 2005), acetylcholine (Picciotto, Higley, and Mineur 2012), and histamine (W. Hu and Chen 2017), each integral to diverse physiological processes such as sleep regulation, attention, and memory.

The examples above were taken mostly from mammalian studies where the neuromodulatory effects of these molecules have been first characterized. Nonetheless, very similar properties have been observed in invertebrates, and especially *Drosophila*, for most of these molecules, suggesting a conserved role across species (Tierney 2020; Aso et al. 2019; Jeong 2024; Ueno et al. 2020; Dacks et al. 2009; Van Damme et al. 2021; Inagaki et al. 2012; Eriksson et al. 2017; Sampson et al. 2020; Driscoll et al. 2021; Malloy et al. 2019; Bielopolski et al. 2019; Rosikon, Bone, and Lawal 2023).

I. B. 2. c. Examples of decision-making circuits modulation

(1) Behavioral states in C. elegans

In (Flavell et al. 2013), the authors discuss dwelling and roaming states in *C. elegans*. These are long-lasting behavioral states that last for several minutes and are regulated by a neuromodulatory circuit involving serotonin and the pigment dispersing factor neuropeptide (PDF).

They were able to establish that serotonin promotes dwelling states through the MOD-1 serotonin-gated chloride channel. The spontaneous activity of serotonergic neurons correlates with dwelling behavior, and optogenetic modulation of the critical MOD-1expressing targets induces prolonged dwelling states. On the other hand, PDF promotes roaming states through a G α s-coupled PDF receptor. Optogenetic activation of cAMP production in PDF receptor-expressing cells induces prolonged roaming states. The neurons that produce and respond to each neuromodulator form a distributed circuit orthogonal to the classical wiring diagram. This suggests that the neuromodulatory circuit is a distinct and independent system that operates in parallel with the classical synaptic wiring diagram to regulate long-lasting behavioral states in *C. elegans*. As *C. elegans* central nervous system (CNS) is only composed of 302 neurons, forming a few thousand synapses (White 1986; Ringstad 2017), the additional layer of regulation of neural activity provided by neuromodulation is especially important for the generation, selection and regulation of different behaviors and their adaptation to external context and internal states (Ringstad 2017).

(2) Acetylcholine modulation of locomotor circuit in zebrafish

In (Bertuzzi and Ampatzis 2018) the researchers explored how cholinergic modulation affects the swimming ability of zebrafish at different speeds. Although the conditions leading to the release of acetylcholine by spinal interneurons are not clearly elucidated, it seems likely to be tuned to the behavioral state of the animal (Zagoraiou et al. 2009; Bertuzzi and Ampatzis 2018).

They found that cholinergic interneurons differentially control the excitability of distinct classes of motoneurons through the release of acetylcholine and the activation

of m2-type muscarinic acetylcholine receptors (mAChRs). The study reveals that m2type mAChRs expression is different depending on the type of motoneurons. Since m2type mAChRs activation decreases neuronal firing, this differential expression of mAChRs allows acetylcholine to control the locomotor output of the animal through a selective action on different motoneurons.

(3) Octopamine modulation of aggressive behavior in Drosophila

Drosophila flies engage in fighting behaviors to establish dominance and gain access to resources. Aggression is innate and stereotypical, and can be influenced by factors such as age, body size, residency status, prior experience, and genetic components (Fernandez, Trannoy, and Certel 2023; Zwarts, Versteven, and Callaerts 2012; Asahina 2017).

(Zhou, Rao, and Rao 2008) found that octopamine, the insect equivalent of norepinephrine, is crucial for modulating aggressive behavior in both male and female flies. Reduction of octopamine levels decreased aggression, leading to a decrease in the initiation of fighting and a reduced ability to compete for copulation with females. Conversely, enhanced octopaminergic signaling increased aggression in socially grouped flies. This octopamine-dependent promotion of aggression is triggered by the activation of Gr32a-expressing sensory neurons that are sensitive to pheromones and synapse onto octopamine neurons (Andrews et al. 2014), thus initiating aggressive interactions.

(4) Dopamine modulation of exploration/exploitation trade-off

In decision-making, individuals must balance the need to exploit familiar, potentially rewarding choices with the desire to explore new alternatives that may yield even greater benefits in the long run (J. D. Cohen, McClure, and Yu 2007; A. R. Walker et al. 2022). Too much exploitation can lead to inflexibility and missed opportunities, while excessive exploration may result in inefficient decision-making (J. D. Cohen, McClure, and Yu 2007; A. R. Walker et al. 2022). This trade-off is crucial for adaptive behavior in dynamic environments and has been studied in various contexts, including neuroscience, psychology, and animal behavior (J. D. Cohen, McClure, and Yu 2007; A. R. Walker et al. 2022; Ferecatu and De Bruyn 2021). Studies have shown that dopamine plays a crucial role in the exploration-exploitation trade-off (Cinotti et al. 2019; Chakroun et al. 2020).

In a study by (Cinotti et al. 2019), rats were given a task that required them to choose between a known, safe option and a risky, uncertain option. The researchers found that blocking dopamine receptors impaired the rats' ability to balance exploration and exploitation, leading to an increase in random choices without affecting learning capacities. This suggests that dopamine may adapt the exploration-exploitation tradeoff in decision-making when facing changing environmental contingencies, with higher levels of dopamine favoring exploitation over exploration.

Furthermore, in a double-blind, placebo-controlled study involving the administration of L-dopa (a dopamine precursor) and haloperidol (a dopamine antagonist) and functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI), (Chakroun et al. 2020) showed that boosting central dopamine with L-dopa specifically attenuated exploratory choice patterns, while marginally increasing exploitative choices. Additionally, the neural signatures of exploration, exploitation, and prediction error were unaffected by L-dopa, while it attenuated neural representations of overall uncertainty in specific brain regions.

Altogether, dopamine seems to play a pivotal role in modulating the explorationexploitation trade-off by influencing decision-making processes, reward learning, and the balance between exploring new options and exploiting known ones. Interestingly, a similar function of dopamine was observed in *Drosophila* where it promotes foododor tracking in hungry flies (Sayin et al. 2019).

I. C. Feeding state modulation of behaviors

Internal states play a pivotal role in shaping an organism's behavioral repertoire, allowing it to adapt and respond dynamically to changing physiological conditions (Palmer and Kristan 2011). Among these internal states, the feeding state is of paramount importance to ensure an organism's survival and its effect on the modulation of behaviors and neural circuits is extensively studied. The decision to feed involves various key points such as locating a food source, initiating feeding, responding to external stimuli while feeding, and determining when to stop. Understanding how animals make decisions related to feeding can provide insights into broader decision-making processes within the nervous system. By studying feeding behaviors, it is possible to investigate how animals prioritize different stimuli, make choices between competing options, and regulate their behavior based on internal states (Gaudry and Kristan 2012). Moreover, the feeding state can also modulate decisions that are not related to feeding, for instance increasing risk-taking (Figure I.C-1) across species, (Moran et al. 2021; Smith and Grueter 2022), but also influencing social and cognitive processes in human such as gambling decisions or ethical judgments (van Swieten, Bogacz, and Manohar 2023; Vicario et al. 2018; H. Brown, Proulx, and Stanton Fraser 2020; Hamelin et al. 2022). The mechanisms by which feeding state information is integrated in decision-making neural circuits not related to feeding decisions remains elusive.





Figure I.C-1 Schematic representation of social behavioral modulations caused by hunger in mice. Image from (Smith and Grueter 2022), figure 6. When hungry, mice neglect pain, fear and social behaviors to promote exploration, food seeking and consumption.

The initiation of feeding itself is strongly dependent on the environmental context and the internal state of the organism (Woods et al. 2000). Moreover, once feeding is initiated, very numerous molecular signals are released, both in the gut and the brain to regulate the amount of food consumed (Woods et al. 1998; Nijenhuis, Oosterom, and Adan 2001; Lambert et al. 1998; Blevins, Schwartz, and Baskin 2004; Nieuwenhuizen and Rutters 2008; Posovszky and Wabitsch 2015; Latorre et al. 2016; Wren and Bloom 2007; Larhammar 1996; Chambers, Sandoval, and Seeley 2013). In humans, the hypothalamus is instrumental in both the initiation and regulation of feeding through several populations of neuropeptidergic neurons. In particular, two populations of neurons found in the arcuate nucleus of the hypothalamus are instrumental in the regulation of food intake: the first co-expresses the neuropeptide Y (NPY) and the Agouti-related protein (AgRP), which both increase food intake, and the second coexpresses proopiomelanocortin (POMC) and cocaine- and amphetamine-regulated transcript (CART), which decrease it (K. A. Simpson, Martin, and Bloom 2008; Meister 2007; Parker and Bloom 2012; Guillod-Maximin et al. 2009).

The gastrointestinal tracts of both *Drosophila* larvae and adult flies are remarkably similar in their structures to that of humans (Chopra, Kaushik, and Kain 2022). Interestingly, many of the neuropeptides identified as involved in the regulation of food intake in *Drosophila* are analogs to human neuropeptides that bear similar functions

(Chopra, Kaushik, and Kain 2022; Lin, Senapati, and Tsao 2019; Yoshinari et al. 2021; Oh et al. 2019; K. A. Simpson, Martin, and Bloom 2008; Parker and Bloom 2012), suggesting that many of the mechanisms responsible for the regulation of food intake are evolutionarily conserved.

A good example of the influence of the feeding state on behavioral decisions is the leech or hard ticks that suppress behavioral responses to external stimulations while feeding (Gaudry and Kristan 2012; Sonenshine et al. 2014). However, feeding does not only have an immediate impact on other behaviors but also long-lasting effects. Indeed, leeches have been shown to their locomotion preference towards crawling after feeding (Gaudry and Kristan 2012) as well as their temperature preference, as is also the case for various reptiles (Gaudry and Kristan 2012; Sievert, Jones, and Puckett 2005; Tsai and Tu 2005).

Many of the molecules involved in the regulation of feeding are neuropeptides. As previously described, neuropeptides are key actors of neuromodulation and the feeding state of an individual is a strong regulator of behavior. It is thus likely that at least some of the neuropeptides involved in the regulation of feeding can carry information about the feeding state of the animal to tune different behavior-related neural circuits.

I. C. 1. Modulation of peripheral sensory neurons

One way for the feeding state to alter behaviors is by modulating the sensitivity of sensory neurons to specific stimuli involved in sensing stimuli that induce said behaviors (Bargmann 2012). Such mechanisms have been extensively studied in the context of feeding state-dependent modulation of chemosensory neurons involved in olfaction (Sengupta 2013; Shanahan and Kahnt 2022). Studies have shown in different species including C. elegans (Chalasani et al. 2010), rats (Aimé et al. 2007), Drosophila larva (Slankster et al. 2020) and adult fly (Root et al. 2011; Ko et al. 2015) and even humans (Albrecht et al. 2009), that the detection threshold of odors, especially foodrelated odors, are modulated by the feeding state, leading to a facilitation of feeding. Several neuromodulators and neuropeptides have been implicated in such processes such as serotonin (Chao et al. 2004), dopamine (Ezcurra et al. 2011), insulin-like peptides (ILP) (Root et al. 2011; Chalasani et al. 2010), short neuropeptide F (sNPF) (Root et al. 2011). The modulation of sensitivity to odors is implemented through both increased responses of the sensory neurons via presynaptic facilitation (Root et al. 2011; Chao et al. 2004; Ezcurra et al. 2011) and facilitated responses in their postsynaptic targets (Chao et al. 2004; Ezcurra et al. 2011; Root et al. 2011; Chalasani et al. 2010).

Chemosensory neurons are not the only type of sensory neurons that can be modulated by the feeding state. Indeed, studies showed modulation of thermosensory neurons by ILP in *C. elegans* (Takeishi et al. 2020) or of sweet and bitter taste sensitivity by several neuropeptides in *Drosophila* (Inagaki, Panse, and Anderson 2014).

I. C. 2. Modulation of central neurons in circuits

In addition to modulating sensory neurons to lead to the modulation of circuits activity, the feeding state can also modulate central neurons to tune the output of circuits to a change in internal state (Sengupta 2013; Bräcker et al. 2013; Crossley, Staras, and Kemenes 2018). By influencing the activity of central neurons, the feeding state can dynamically adjust the processing of sensory information within neural circuits to shape their behavioral outputs. By integrating signals from both peripheral and central sources, these central neurons serve as key orchestrators in coordinating complex behavioral outcomes in fluctuating environments. This is the case for instance in *Drosophila* where neurons expressing the neuropeptide gene hugin (Bader, Wegener, and Pankratz 2007) have been shown to control the initiation of food intake depending on previous food exposure through connections to central neurons in the protocerebrum (Melcher and Pankratz 2005).

The modulation of central neurons can go as far as recruiting alternate pathways under different conditions, awakening or putting to sleep some neurons of the circuit, a process referred to as information rerouting (Bräcker et al. 2013; Crossley, Staras, and Kemenes 2018; Lewis et al. 2015). For instance, it was shown that the mushroom body of *Drosophila* flies is recruited specifically when larvae are starved or presented with food odors to diminish their avoidance of carbon dioxide, promoting feeding even on suboptimal food sources (Bräcker et al. 2013; Lewis et al. 2015).

However, unlike for peripheral neurons, studying the modulation of circuits at the level of central neurons necessitates to extensively map the circuits of interest. Consequently, investigating this aspect presents greater challenges and fewer studies are currently available on this mechanism of modulation. Particularly, there is a notable gap in our understanding of how feeding state influences behaviors unrelated to feeding (Smith and Grueter 2022; Moran et al. 2021; van Swieten, Bogacz, and Manohar 2023; Vicario et al. 2018; H. Brown, Proulx, and Stanton Fraser 2020). For instance, *Drosophila* has been shown to increase aggression upon food deprivation but likely as a consequence of the modulation of their feeding behavior (Edmunds, Wigby, and Perry 2021).

I. C. 3. Neuropeptides involved in feeding state-dependent modulation of neural circuits in *Drosophila*

As previously described, the feeding state is both controlled by and responsible for the release of numerous molecules, including various neuropeptides, that may bear the neuromodulatory effects triggered by changes in the feeding state. In this section, I will describe some feeding state-related neuropeptides found in *Drosophila* and their neuromodulatory actions, with a focus on NPF and sNPF that were at the center of my PhD work.

I. C. 3. a. sNPF & NPF

NPF and sNPF, despite their nomenclature, do not belong to the same neuropeptide families (Fadda et al. 2019; Mirabeau and Joly 2013). Only NPF shares a common ancestor with the vertebrate NPY, while sNPF seems to be specific to protostomes. However, both sNPF-receptor (sNPFR) and NPF-receptor (NPFR) are GPCRs that share structural similarities with the vertebrate NPY-receptor (NPYR), and especially with NPY2R (Fadda et al. 2019; Nässel and Wegener 2011; Larhammar and Salaneck 2004). Importantly, and despite their evolutionary distance, sNPF and NPF both share some functional roles with NPY. Most notably, all three peptides are deeply involved in the regulation of feeding and metabolism: their expression increases with food deprivation, and they increase food intake (Nässel and Wegener 2011; Fadda et al. 2019; Yeom et al. 2021; K.-S. Lee et al. 2008; 2004; K. S. Kim et al. 2021). Different neuronal populations that express either NPF or sNPF have been shown to respond to changes in the physiological state of the animal by tuning their activity with respect to the glucose concentration in the hemolymph (Ping Shen and Cai 2001; Nässel and Wegener 2011; Oh et al. 2019)

NPF and sNPF strongly interact with ILP to regulate feeding (Lin, Senapati, and Tsao 2019; Yoshinari et al. 2021; Oh et al. 2019; Sudhakar et al. 2020; Kapan et al. 2012). In the adult *Drosophila* fly, after a short starvation period, a positive feedback loop takes place between sNPF and insulin-producing cells (IPC) in the brain, that promotes the expression of both sNPF and ILP and trigger food intake (Sudhakar et al. 2020; Kapan et al. 2020; Kapan et al. 2012; Oh et al. 2019; Manière et al. 2016). Similarly, NPF was shown to stimulate the production and release of ILP in the IPC, although this effect might originate more from gut-derived NPF (Yoshinari et al. 2021). Moreover, increase in feeding tolerance caused by NPF was shown to require ILP signaling on NPFR-expressing cells (Wu et al. 2005). Nonetheless, the regulation of feeding is not the only function of these neuropeptides, as suggested by their and their receptors' expression pattern.

Indeed, both sNPFR (Mertens et al. 2002; Nässel and Wegener 2011) and NPFR (Garczynski et al. 2002; Nässel and Wegener 2011; Fadda et al. 2019) are expressed in

numerous neurons of the *Drosophila* larva CNS (Figure I.C-2C-D), both in the brain lobes and the VNC, suggesting their implication in a wide range of different circuits. While NPF is only expressed consistently by a two pairs of neurons in *Drosophila* larva brain lobes (Figure I.C-2-B), one of which, named DM-NPF for dorsomedial NPF-releasing neuron, sends descending projections into the VNC, and in one pair of neurons in the subesophageal zone, named DL-NPF for dorsolateral NPF-releasing neuron (SEZ) in response to sweet taste exposition(Ping Shen and Cai 2001; Nässel and Wegener 2011), sNPF is very widely expressed (Figure I.C-2-A) in neurons of the brain lobes and VNC (Nässel et al. 2008; Nässel and Wegener 2011).

A Expression of sNPF in *Drosophila* larva brain



C Expression of sNPFR in Drosophila larva brain



B Expression of NPF in Drosophila larva brain



D Expression of NPFR in *Drosophila* larva brain



Figure I.C-2 Expression patterns of sNPF and NPF neuropeptides and their receptors in *Drosophila* **larva central nervous system.** A. Image from (Nässel et al. 2008), figure 1. Expression pattern of sNPF in *Drosophila* larva CNS determined by *in situ* hybridization. B. Light microscopy image of NPF-Gal4>UAS-GFP larva. C. Light microscopy image of sNPFR T2A-Gal4>UAS-GCamP6s, stained with an antibody directed against GCamP6s. D. Light microscopy image of NPFR T2A-LexA>LexAop-jRGECO1a, stained with an antibody directed against jRGECO1a.

The expression of NPF is influenced by several factors. During development of the *Drosophila* larva, a NPF expression level drop is correlated with cessation of feeding upon entering wandering stage (Wu et al. 2003; Nässel and Wegener 2011). Additionally, both food deprivation (Wu, Zhao, and Shen 2005) and sweet taste (Ping Shen and Cai 2001) were shown to increase the activity of NPF neurons. A decrease in NPF activity has been linked to a decrease in tolerance of noxious food (Wu, Zhao, and Shen 2005), in sensitivity to food-related odors (S. Lee, Kim, and Jones 2017) and cold-resistant feeding (Lingo, Zhao, and Shen 2007), and an increase water intake (Landayan et al. 2021). NPF has also been implicated in behaviors such as courtship and circadian clock (G. Lee, Bahn, and Park 2006), aggression (Dierick and Greenspan 2007) and ethanol intoxication sensitivity (Wen et al. 2005).

Apart from its action on feeding and metabolism regulation, sNPF was shown to be involved in osmotic homeostasis (Kahsai et al. 2010), locomotion (Kahsai, Martin, and Winther 2010), circadian clock (Johard et al. 2009), mechanonociception (Imambocus et al. 2022), and possibly learning (Johard et al. 2008). These effects of sNPF are mediated by different neuronal populations that all express sNPF in the protocerebrum (Kahsai et al. 2010), central complex interneurons (Kahsai, Martin, and Winther 2010), ventral and dorsal clock neurons (Johard et al. 2009) and mushroom body (Johard et al. 2008). Interestingly, in *Drosophila* larva VNC, one pair of dorsal neurons co-express sNPF and ILP to orchestrate behavioral response respectively to noxious touch and light (Imambocus et al. 2022).

Collectively, the characteristics exhibited by sNPF and NPF underscore their significance as mediators that instigate feeding state-dependent modulation across a myriad of processes, in various neural circuits. Consequently, they emerge as prime candidates for investigation within the scope of my PhD research, as will be described in the scientific article in section III.A of this manuscript and the additional results presented in section III.B.

I. C. 3. b. Other neuropeptides

As mentioned previously, the feeding state is a complex state that involves a wealth of signaling molecules. Furthermore, beyond feeding-related processes, internal states such as thirst, which reflects the body's physiological need for water and drives behavior aimed at seeking and consuming water to restore hydration levels and maintain homeostasis, are also regulated by neuropeptide signaling (Landayan et al. 2021). It is thus unsurprising that several neuropeptides, other than sNPF and NPF, would be involved in the feeding state-dependent modulation of neural circuits (Bhumika and Singh 2018). I briefly introduced the role of ILP in the regulation of feeding while presenting its interactions with the sNPF and NPF. In both the *Drosophila* larva and adult fly brain, insulin-producing cells produce and release three of the total eight different ILP identified in that species (Lin, Senapati, and Tsao 2019; Nässel and Vanden Broeck 2016). Overexpression or downregulation of ILP respectively lead to a decrease and an increase in feeding in both the adult fly and the larva (Lin, Senapati, and Tsao 2019). Unlike for the adult *Drosophila*, larval IPC do not directly sense the glucose level in the hemolymph (Nässel and Vanden Broeck 2016). Instead, adipokinetic hormone-producing cells (APC) sense glucose and their release of adipokinetic hormone (AKH) triggers secretion of ILP by the IPCs (Nässel and Vanden Broeck 2016). Apart from regulating feeding, ILP has been shown to suppress starvation-induced hyperactivity in the adult fly through the inhibition of neurons expressing the receptor for AKH in the SEZ (Lin, Senapati, and Tsao 2019; Selcho and Pauls 2019).

For instance, leucokinin (Lk) plays a significant role in regulating feeding behavior across insect species, influencing meal size and food preference (Nässel 2021). In *Drosophila* larvae, Lk is only expressed by 20 neurons, located in the brain lobes, SEZ and VNC (de Haro et al. 2010; Nässel 2021). Notably, a subset of Lk-expressing neurons in the VNC co-expresses the DH44 neuropeptide (Zandawala, Marley, et al. 2018). This particular subset of Lk neurons has been involved in the regulation of water homeostasis (Zandawala, Yurgel, et al. 2018), food intake (Zandawala, Yurgel, et al. 2018; Zandawala, Marley, et al. 2018; Yiting Liu et al. 2015), pre-ecdysis behavior (D.-H. Kim et al. 2015) and turning behavior in response to light or touch (Okusawa, Kohsaka, and Nose 2014). Lk neurons located in the brain lobes of *Drosophila* contribute to state-specific recall of water and sugar memories (Senapati et al. 2019), and sleep regulation (Murphy et al. 2016).

Another neuropeptide, Corazonin (Crz), is expressed by 24 neurons in *Drosophila* larva CNS, both in the brain lobes and VNC (Khan et al. 2021). Crz expression is increased upon food deprivation (Megha, Wegener, and Hasan 2019) and has been involved in the regulation of water homeostasis and food intake (Khan et al. 2021; Kubrak et al. 2016; Johnson et al. 2005). Furthermore, extensive interactions between Crz and other neuropeptidergic systems have been reported, including ILP, DH44 and sNPF (Khan et al. 2021).
These examples highlight the significant advancements in comprehending the role of neuropeptides in state-dependent modulation of neural circuits and behavior. Additionally, they underscore the complexities and redundancies inherent in feedingrelated neuropeptides, posing challenges in accurately characterizing internal feeding states, and thus their influence of neuronal circuits, due to the need to consider interactions among all molecular and neuronal components involved in behavior adaptation.

I. D. Drosophila larva model system for the study of neural circuit modulation

Drosophila larvae are an ideal model organism for studying neural circuits and behavior due to their relatively simple nervous system and the availability of sophisticated genetic tools for manipulation and analysis (I. Hunter et al. 2021; Martín and Alcorta 2017). The *Drosophila* larval locomotor network, in particular, has been highlighted as a model circuit for understanding mammalian circuit development and function (I. Hunter et al. 2021). The use of genetic techniques, such as UAS-Gal4, has further enhanced the ability to visualize, map, and manipulate behavioral circuits in *Drosophila* (Sivanantharajah and Zhang 2015; Jenett et al. 2012; Pfeiffer et al. 2008; 2010; Li et al. 2014). These tools have been instrumental in providing insights into the organization and function of neural circuits in *Drosophila*, unraveling mechanisms underlying neural processes such as learning and memory (Keene and Waddell 2007; Eschbach et al. 2020; Weber et al. 2023), sensorimotor transformations (Ohyama et al. 2013; Jovanic et al. 2016; Imambocus et al. 2022; Masson et al. 2020), navigation (Linjiao Luo et al. 2010; Jovanic et al. 2019; Gomez-Marin, Stephens, and Louis 2011), etc...

I. D. 1. Brain simplicity

The relatively small number of neurons in the larval *Drosophila* brain (~10000) provides a unique opportunity to comprehensively map and understand the connectivity and function of neural circuits in an organism that is capable of a wide repertoire of behaviors (Figure I.D-1). This simplicity facilitates the identification of individual neurons and their connections with other neurons, enabling researchers to dissect the mechanisms of neural circuits modulation at a level of detail that is challenging in more complex nervous systems (I. Hunter et al. 2021; Ohyama et al. 2015; Jovanic et al. 2016).



Figure I.D-1 Anatomy of *Drosophila* **larva and its central nervous system.** A. Image from (Kohsaka, Guertin, and Nose 2017), figure 1A. Lateral image of a third instar larva. Scale bar: 1 mm. B. Image from (Kohsaka, Guertin, and Nose 2017), figure 1C. Image of a dissected *Drosophila* larva brain. From left to right, we can see the brain lobes, the VNC and the peripheral nerves. C. Image from (Winding et al. 2023), figure 1A. Morphology of all *Drosophila* larva neurons whose cell bodies are located in the brain lobes, reconstructed from an electron microscopy dataset spanning the entire CNS of a first instar larva.

The simplicity of the larval Drosophila nervous system enabled researchers to map the connectome (or wiring diagram) of the entire brain of the Drosophila larva (Figure I.D-1-C) at the level of individual neurons (Winding et al. 2023). This was done using the dataset obtained by sequentially imaging the whole central nervous system of a first instar (L1) female larva using electron microscopy (EM) (Ohyama et al. 2015). The use of an L1 larva is especially practical since their brains are smaller, and thus easier to image and less time-demanding to reconstruct, while having very similar structural properties to later stages of larvae (Gerhard et al. 2017). EM images give nanometerresolution images that allow to clearly see the neurons, their organites, projections and synapses. This enormous dataset was made available through an online tool for a collaborative effort of manual annotation of neurons through the whole stack of EM images to reconstruct their anatomy and label their synapses (number and partners) (Schneider-Mizell et al. 2016). After years of effort exerted by many research laboratories, the whole brain connectome was published in 2023 (Ohyama et al. 2015; Jovanic et al. 2016; 2019; Zarin et al. 2019; Heckscher et al. 2015; Zwart et al. 2016; Miroschnikow, Schlegel, and Pankratz 2020; Winding et al. 2023; Lehman et al. 2023; C. Hu et al. 2017; Imambocus et al. 2022; Burgos et al. 2018; Yingtao Liu et al. 2023). At the time of writing this thesis manuscript, the reconstruction of the ventral nerve cord (VNC) of that larva is well on its way, albeit still ongoing (Ohyama et al. 2015; Jovanic et al. 2016; 2019; Zarin et al. 2019; Heckscher et al. 2015; Zwart et al. 2016;

Miroschnikow, Schlegel, and Pankratz 2020; Winding et al. 2023; Lehman et al. 2023; C. Hu et al. 2017; Imambocus et al. 2022; Burgos et al. 2018; Yingtao Liu et al. 2023).

Knowledge of the connectome of an organism is extremely precious for the study of the neural circuit mechanisms underlying its behaviors and their modulation. Indeed, it provides a detailed map of the synaptic connections between all of its neurons, allowing the identification and characterization of specific neuronal circuits associated with behaviors. Mapping the connections between neurons in a circuit allows to uncover specific connectivity motifs that give information about how information is processed and transmitted within the circuit (Jarrell et al. 2012; Jovanic et al. 2016; 2019; D. Lee et al. 2017; Ligun Luo 2021; Winding et al. 2023), thus providing researchers with candidate neurons to study in their experiments. Furthermore, it is possible to use the information from the wiring diagram of a circuit to create a computational model that can predict how changes in properties of neurons in the circuits might affect its associated behavior, which is valuable for designing experiments and better understand the intricacies of complex circuits (Jovanic et al. 2016; 2019; Masson et al. 2020; Ohyama et al. 2015; Schneider-Mizell et al. 2016; Eichler et al. 2017; Saumweber et al. 2018).

I. D. 2. Genetic tools

The *Drosophila* model organism provides access to a uniquely powerful genetic toolbox that allows for single-cell manipulations of neurons (protein expression, cell activation or inhibition) (Sivanantharajah and Zhang 2015; Eschbach and Zlatic 2020). This genetic approach is essential in the dissection of neural networks and their modulation. Out of the numerous tools available to *Drosophila* researchers, I will only describe a subset that I used during my PhD.

The most widely used genetic tool available to *Drosophila* researchers is the Gal4-UAS dual expression system. This tool allows for the expression of any transgene, targeted to specific cell populations. In this system, the Gal4 protein, derived from yeast, serves as a transcriptional activator. The tissue-specific promoter that drives Gal4 expression is known as the "driver" line, while the DNA sequence containing Gal4 binding sites, called the Upstream Activating Sequence (UAS), is present in the "responder" line along with the gene of interest. When a Gal4 driver line is crossed with a responder line containing the gene of interest downstream of the UAS element, the Gal4 protein binds to the UAS sequence and activates transcription of the gene specifically in the cells where the Gal4 driver is active. This results in spatially controlled expression of the gene of interest, allowing researchers to manipulate gene expression in a targeted manner (Brand and Perrimon 1993).

Additional tools have been developed to refine the temporal and spatial transgene expression driven by the Gal4-UAS system. (Luan et al. 2006) designed a version of the Gal4 protein that takes advantage of the fact that yeast transcriptional activators have separable functional domains that must both be present in order to drive transcription: a DNA-binding domain (DBD) and an activation domain (AD). They were able to split the DBD and AD of the Gal4 protein and use different genetic drivers to express each domain independently, in different cells of an individual, using two promoters (Luan et al. 2006). This leads to the Gal4 protein being complete and functional only in cells at the intersection of the drivers used to express the AD and DBD domains and thus allows for a great spatial refinement of the expression of a UAS-regulated transgene.

Another yeast-derived transcription regulator, Gal80, has become a powerful tool to refine the Gal4 driven transgene expression, both spatially and temporally. Gal80 is a repressor of the expression of the Gal4 protein. Expression of Gal80, similarly to that of Gal4, can be targeted to specific cells using different genetic promoters and will prevent the expression of the Gal4 protein in these cells (T. Lee and Luo 1999; Suster et al. 2004). It is thus possible to refine the expression profile of a Gal4 driver line by expressing Gal80 under the control of a different promoter, in which case UAS-regulated transgene will be expressed only in cells of the Gal4 driver profile that do not overlap with the Gal80 driver profile. Furthermore, (McGuire et al. 2003) developed a temperature sensitive version of the Gal80 protein that can be deactivated by heat exposure (30 °C) to time-selectively induce expression of the Gal4 protein, in cells targeted by its promoter, and thus the UAS-regulated transgene.

An alternative to the Gal4-UAS system is the LexA-LexAop dual expression system. Similarly to Gal4-UAS, the LexA-LexAop, transgene expression of controlled by the LexAop promoter which is activated by the binding of the LexA protein whose expression can be targeted to specific cells using different promoters (Lai and Lee 2006). To make it a more powerful tool, different versions of the LexA protein have been developed, for instance making it resistant or sensible to Gal80 inhibition or splitting it in a similar manner to the split-Gal4 (Lai and Lee 2006; Ting et al. 2011). The biggest strength of the LexA-LexAop system resides in that it can used in combination with the Gal4-UAS system to drive the expression of different transgenes in different cell populations, in the same individuals.

Such dual expression systems have become particularly valuable tools when used conjointly with the connectome. Indeed, it is now possible to precisely match the neurons targeted by a specific driver line to the reconstructed neurons in the connectome by expressing a fluorescent protein allowing imaging of the anatomy of all neurons targeted by the driver line in light microscopy. This permits functional exploration of connectivity patterns found in the wiring diagram of circuits (Jovanic et al. 2016; 2019; Jovanic 2020; Eschbach et al. 2020; J. H. Simpson and Looger 2018).

I. D. 3. Neuron manipulation and recording

Taking advantage of the tools previously described, we can identify neurons putatively involved in a specific behavior and selectively express transgenes in these neurons. The tremendous catalog of available transgenes, and the relative ease of creating new ones for specific purposes, give *Drosophila* researchers the opportunity to exquisitely manipulate and monitor neuronal functions at different scales (from molecular to network scale).

I. D. 3. a. Monitoring neurons

Monitoring the activity of neurons in *Drosophila* is crucial for understanding neural circuits and their role in behavior. Various techniques have been developed to monitor neuronal activity, providing valuable insights into the functioning of the nervous system.

Calcium imaging is a widely used method to monitor neuronal activity in *Drosophila*. Genetically encoded calcium indicators (GECIs), such as the green GCaMP or red RGECO, allow the visualization of changes in intracellular calcium levels in real-time. When neurons are active, there is an influx of calcium ions, leading to an increase in fluorescence signal from the GECIs (Akerboom et al. 2012; A. S. Walker, Burrone, and Meyer 2013; Tian et al. 2009). This makes it possible to track neuronal activity at single-cell resolution and study the dynamics of neural circuits in a variety of contexts and in response to various stimulations. GECIs of different colors have been developed, allowing the simultaneous monitoring of different neurons to study their communication, by driving each GECI expression with a different genetic driver. This kind of imaging is particularly easy to implement in *Drosophila* larvae since their translucent cuticle allows both excitation and emission light through, permitting imaging of neurons in intact larvae.

The more technically challenging technic of electrophysiological recording remains a gold standard for monitoring neuronal activity with the highest temporal precision possible. Electrophysiological techniques such as voltage clamp, current clamp, and patch clamp recordings provide insights into the functional connectivity and activity patterns of neural circuits by measuring the electrical activity of neurons. The small size of the neurons in *Drosophila* made the use of electrophysiology on central neurons *in vivo* particularly challenging. (Rohrbough and Broadie 2002), such that it only appeared at the beginning of the 2000s and remains seldom used both in adult and larval *Drosophila* (Rohrbough and Broadie 2002; Wilson 2004; Gouwens and Wilson 2009; Jovanic et al. 2016; Zwart et al. 2016; Tuthill et al. 2014). These technics allow the investigation of intrinsic electrical properties of neurons, their expression of ion channels, action potentials, and communications within neural circuits (Rohrbough and Broadie 2002; Baines and Bate 1998; Bykhovskaia and Vasin 2017; Goel, Li, and Dickman 2019). These information are crucial for the elaboration of computational models of neural circuits (Augustin, Zylbertal, and Partridge 2019; Shiu et al. 2023).

Similarly to GECIs, genetically encoded voltage indicators (GEVIs) can be expressed in specific neuronal populations for voltage imaging. GEVIs allow to directly monitor membrane potential in neurons and even to visualize action potentials and subthreshold events with high spatial and temporal resolution (Pu et al. 2018; Borden et al. 2017; Cao et al. 2013). Voltage imaging is particularly complementary to electrophysiology as it provides a non-invasive way to record membrane potential, facilitating long-term imaging.

The extensive genetic toolbox, available for Drosophila studies, provides several ways to study protein expression in specific neurons of the Drosophila CNS using in vivo fluorescence imaging. To this aim, different libraries of Drosophila can be used to label neurons that express a protein of interest. The T2A-Gal4 library (P.-T. Lee et al. 2018) takes advantage of the self-cleaving T2A peptide whose sequence can be fused to a gene of interest, consequently cueing the ribosome to cleave the protein it is translating before resuming transcription. The T2A-GAL4 library for Drosophila was developed by inserting a T2A-GAL4 sequence into individual genes using CRISPR/Cas9 technology, leading to the Gal4 protein being expressed specifically in cells expressing that gene of interest, which can thus be labeled using a UAS line containing a fluorescent protein transgene to assess expression of a gene in specific cells. However, to get more information about the function and localization of the proteins, one needs to be able to precisely visualize the proteins themselves during their action. (Sarov et al. 2016) developed a Drosophila library allowing this by inserting a sequence coding for a green fluorescent protein (GFP) at the end of the coding sequence of genes of interest, leading to the production of a chimeric protein tagged with a GFP that can be followed using classical in vivo imaging technics.

I. D. 3. b. Manipulating neurons

In order to decipher the workings of neural circuits and behaviors, it is necessary to manipulate individual neurons while monitoring the activity of the circuit to discern their specific roles. Out of the extensive catalog of transgenes available to *Drosophila* researchers, several can be used to either ablate or enhance the activity of a specific neuron in a circuit (Venken, Simpson, and Bellen 2011).

One approach to study the activity of a neural circuit without a specific neuron is to genetically kill this neuron, by selectively expressing either toxins, diphtheria or ricin for instance (H. J. Bellen et al. 1992; Moffat et al. 1992), or pro-apoptotic genes, such as grim or reaper (Jaffri et al. 2020). However, killing a neuron is an extreme manipulation that can give rise to unwanted side effects, especially is the transgenes used are expressed throughout development. A more subtle approach is to inhibit the activity of the neuron either by blocking synaptic transmission using tetanus toxin (Sweeney et al. 1995) or shibire (Kitamoto 2001) or by preventing its depolarization which will not only block synaptic but all communication from the target neuron, for instance with the expression of inward-rectifying K⁺ channel Kir2.1 (Hodge 2009). On the other side of the spectrum, some transgenes facilitate the activation of neurons by increasing their excitability (Marella et al. 2006; Nitabach et al. 2006).

The most exquisite control over the manipulation of neurons is achieved using optogenetics, which consists in the genetic expression of a light activated ion channel. Different channels have been developed to allow for either the activation (Klapoetke et al. 2014) or the inhibition (Govorunova et al. 2015) of the target neuron. Depending on the tool used, shining a light of the appropriate wavelength will open the ion channel and consequently allow ionic movements that will either hyper- or depolarize the neuron. In absence of light, the channel remains closed, allowing a very precise temporal control over the manipulation of the activity of the neurons. Furthermore, taking advantage of the genetic toolbox of *Drosophila* allows to precisely select the neurons that will express the channel and thus to have a great spatial resolution for the manipulation. Finally, this technic is of particular interest for the *Drosophila* larva since their translucent cuticle allow optogenetic stimulation in intact behaving larvae (Murawski, Pulver, and Gather 2020).

I. D. 3. c. Functional connectivity studies

By combining both the monitoring of a neuron and the manipulation of one of its presynaptic partners (based on EM reconstruction data), it is possible to experimentally probe the effect of one neuron on another (whether it is excitatory or inhibitory) and the effectors responsible for this effect. Indeed, the combination of different dual expression systems allows the manipulation of one neuron's activity, for instance with optogenetics, while simultaneously monitoring the activity of a partner neuron, with GECIs for example (J. H. Simpson and Looger 2018; Jovanic 2020). This is a handy way to investigate the causal relationship between the activity of the manipulated neuron and the response of its partner neuron and is essential in confirming the functional role of anatomical connections discovered in the EM connectome dataset. By selectively manipulating individual neurons within a circuit and monitoring the downstream effects

using imaging techniques, it is possible to elucidate the flow of information and the functional roles of different neurons within the network.

The critical parameter to take into account for such experiments is compatibility of the excitation and emission wavelengths of all the different effectors used for manipulation and imaging, the selection of the effectors among the available catalog is thus of capital importance (Murawski, Pulver, and Gather 2020).

Similar approaches have been used in *Drosophila* to study various circuits including circuits controlling grooming (Hampel et al. 2015), courtship (Zhou et al. 2015), aggression (Hoopfer et al. 2015), backward locomotion (Takagi et al. 2017), etc...

I. D. 4. Behavioral assays

Drosophila larvae offer the advantage of a remarkably short developmental time, with the entire life cycle from egg to pupa lasting only a few days under laboratory conditions (Ormerod et al. 2017). This rapid development allows for efficient experimental design of high-throughput experiments taking advantage of the genetic manipulations possible in this model organism.

Despite their relatively simple CNS, *Drosophila* larvae exhibit a diverse repertoire of ethologically relevant behaviors including locomotion (M. Q. Clark et al. 2018), foraging (Wosniack et al. 2022), learning and memory (Weber et al. 2023), stimuli induced behaviors (Ohyama et al. 2013; Jovanic et al. 2016; Gershow et al. 2012), etc... Importantly, these behaviors are highly amenable to quantitative analysis and can be studied with specific high-throughput automated behavioral assays (Ohyama et al. 2013; Jovanic et al. 2016). This allows for the detection of even slight behavioral changes in response to external interventions, in combination with genetic manipulations.

I. D. 4. a. Taxis behaviors

A specific type of behavior that is deeply studied in *Drosophila* larvae is taxis. The term taxis refers to a directed movement or orientation of an organism or cell in response to a stimulus. This movement can be either towards (positive taxis) or away from (negative taxis) the stimulus. Taxis allow organisms to navigate their environment and locate favorable conditions or resources essential for survival and reproduction. The stimulus that elicits taxis can be of various types, including light (phototaxis), chemicals (chemotaxis), temperature (thermotaxis), wind (anemotaxis), etc...

Drosophila larvae are able to perform taxis behaviors in different types of sensory gradients, including phototaxis (Kane et al. 2013; Gepner et al. 2015), thermotaxis (Linjiao Luo et al. 2010; Klein et al. 2015), chemotaxis (Gomez-Marin and Louis 2014;

Gomez-Marin, Stephens, and Louis 2011; Davies, Louis, and Webb 2015; Gepner et al. 2015) and anemotaxis (Jovanic et al. 2019). The locomotor strategies used by the larvae to orient themselves and navigate in such gradients and their dynamics have been extensively characterized and are similar under different types of sensory stimulation (Gomez-Marin and Louis 2014).

When exposed to a sensory gradient, in order to navigate towards more favorable conditions, larvae regulate the probability of initiating a turn depending on the direction they are currently running in by decreasing it they are currently running in a favorable direction, and increasing it otherwise (Linjiao Luo et al. 2010; Jovanic et al. 2019; Gomez-Marin, Stephens, and Louis 2011). This is controlled by a steady increase (or decrease) in the strength of the signal as the larva is moving in a specific direction (Gomez-Marin, Stephens, and Louis 2011). When a run is interrupted, the larva casts its head laterally to sample its environment and detect small differences in the sensory gradient to determine which direction is more favorable (Gomez-Marin and Louis 2014). The direction of the first head sweep is random but the likelihood of the turn event ending with the acceptance of a particular head sweep is biased toward head sweep pointing in the more favorable direction (Linjiao Luo et al. 2010; Jovanic et al. 2019; Gomez-Marin, Stephens, and Louis 2011). Moreover, the size of the head sweep, and thus the angular amplitude of the turn, is increased if the larva was crawling towards the less favorable condition before the turn event (Linjiao Luo et al. 2010; Jovanic et al. 2019; Gomez-Marin, Stephens, and Louis 2011).

Despite this extensive characterization of the strategies used by *Drosophila* larvae to navigate sensory gradients, little is known on the neural processes involved in the transformation of the sensory inputs into the appropriate behavioral output. Most importantly, this description of taxis behaviors only accounts for one sensory gradient at a time while animals are constantly exposed simultaneously to a multitude of sensory gradients, which may have conflicting valences. Part of my PhD project focused on the simultaneous study of anemotaxis and chemotaxis in *Drosophila* larvae in a complex conflicting multisensory environment.

(Jovanic et al. 2019) described, within *Drosophila* larva, a network of sensory neurons, nerve cord neurons, and central neurons that collectively orchestrate the larvae's response to air currents. Chordotonal and multidendritic class III sensory neurons serve as key players in detecting and relaying information about air current speeds to local interneurons, first and second order SEZ neurons, and brain projection neurons. This connection to brain neurons makes it a likely center for the integration of wind sensory information with other, potentially conflicting, sensory modalities.

I. D. 5. Relevance to other species

Despite the simplicity of its nervous system, *Drosophila* exhibits a number of neurobiological similarities with vertebrates and even humans. Studies have shown that key molecular pathways essential for complex animal development, such as organogenesis, nervous system wiring, and cell proliferation, are highly conserved between *Drosophila* and vertebrates (Reiter et al. 2001; Bier and Bodmer 2004; Hugo J Bellen, Tong, and Tsuda 2010). This conservation extends to various complex behaviors that actually use similar neural substrates between *Drosophila* and vertebrates, such as circadian rhythms (Hugo J Bellen, Tong, and Tsuda 2010; Takahashi et al. 2008; Konopka and Benzer 1971; Sun et al. 2022) and learning and memory (Hugo J Bellen, Tong, and Tsuda 2010; Eschbach et al. 2020; Barco, Bailey, and Kandel 2006).

Moreover, (Reiter et al. 2001) showed that a very important proportion of human disease-associated genes (more than 75 % of the 929 studied genes) share significant sequence homology with *Drosophila* genes. Considering the extensive genetic toolbox available to drosophilists, *Drosophila* emerges as a highly pertinent model for acquiring novel insights that are both relevant and beneficial to human research.

Furthermore, neuropeptides are ubiquitous across the animal kingdom (Nässel 2002). Of particular interest regarding my PhD work, it appears that many of the genes coding for neuropeptides and their GPCRs in invertebrates are ancestrally related to mammalian genes (Nässel and Wegener 2011; Taghert and Veenstra 2003; Vanden Broeck 2001; Claeys et al. 2002; Hauser et al. 2006; 2008; Hewes and Taghert 2001; Hill et al. 2002; Hummon et al. 2006; Husson et al. 2007; McVeigh et al. 2008; Gard et al. 2009). This makes *Drosophila* larva an ideal model organism to study the neuropeptidergic modulation of neural circuits that can provide relevant information for understanding similar processes in vertebrates.

I. E. Description of the sensorimotor decision circuit

As described previously, the characterization of neural circuits is essential for the study of their modulation. (Jovanic et al. 2016) laid out the foundation of my PhD project when they characterized a three-layer recurrent sensorimotor neural network in *Drosophila* larvae VNC that determines their behavioral response to a mechanical stimulation (Figure I.E-1).

Schematic of the neuronal circuit orchestrating the decision between two mutually exclusive actions in response to a mechanical stimulation in *Drosophila* larva



Figure I.E-1 Decision-making circuit orchestrating the choice between hunching or head-casting (bend) in *Drosophila* **larva in response to an air puff.** Image from (Jovanic et al. 2016), figure 2E. Sharp arrowheads represent excitatory connections, flat arrowheads are inhibitory connections. The width of the arrows are proportional with the number of synapses between the neurons. Green Ch are mechanosensory chordotonal neurons. Blue neurons are Basin projection neurons (B1 = Basin-1, B2 = Basin-2) at the output of the circuit. Orange and magenta neurons are reciprocally interconnected inhibitory interneurons implementing the decision between hunch and head-cast. LNa and LNb are feedforward inhibitory neurons and Ha (Handle-A) and Hb (Handle-B) are feedback inhibitory neurons.

At the entry of this circuit are mechanosensory chordotonal neurons that sense the mechanical stimulation and trigger the cascade of neural activity that leads to the selection of specific behavioral responses (Jovanic et al. 2016). These comprise eight subtypes of segmentally repeated peripheral sensory neurons whose cell bodies are attached to the cuticle (Okabe and Okano 1997; Singhania and Grueber 2014). The mechanosensory chordotonal neurons can sense different types of sensory modalities including wind (Jovanic et al. 2016; 2019; Yorozu et al. 2009; Ohyama et al. 2013), sound (Yorozu et al. 2009; W. Zhang et al. 2013; Ohyama et al. 2013), touch (Caldwell et al. 2003), temperature (Y. Kwon et al. 2010) and proprioception (Caldwell et al. 2003; Fushiki, Kohsaka, and Nose 2013). It appears that different subtypes of chordotonal neurons are differently tuned to different types of stimuli (Y. Kwon et al. 2010; Ohyama et al. 2013), we however lack genetic drivers that would allow to individually target chordotonal neurons and further characterize their specificities.

This network consists of two excitatory projection neurons (PNs), Basin-1 and Basin-2 that receive inputs from mechanosensory neurons and contribute to the generation of behavioral responses such as hunching (head retraction) and head-casting. Basin-1 promotes hunching when it is active alone, while the co-activation of Basin-1 and Basin-2 inhibit hunching to promote head-casting (Jovanic et al. 2016).

Two types of reciprocally connected local feedforward inhibitory interneurons that receive input from the mechanosensory chordotonal were identified in the circuit. These inhibitory interneurons preferentially target Basin-1 or Basin 2 and shape their activity by inhibiting and disinhibiting them. They are thus involved in the flexible implementation of the selection of a behavioral state through the reciprocal inhibition of inhibition motif (Jovanic et al. 2016).

Two types of disinhibitory feedback interneurons reciprocally connected with the feedforward inhibitory interneurons were identified downstream of the PNs. They play a crucial role in biasing behavioral choice and preventing sequence reversals: input from Basin-1 on these neurons leads to lateral disinhibition of Basin-2, thus promoting sequence transition from hunching to bending (Figure I.E-2). Once both PNs are activated, feedback disinhibition from these interneurons stabilizes the selected behavioral state and prevents reversals to previous behaviors (Jovanic et al. 2016).



Illustration of connectivity motifs found in the circuit and their role in the decision

Figure I.E-2 Schematic representation of motifs in the sensorimotor decision circuit and their role in the decision. Image from (Jovanic et al. 2016), graphical abstract. The Basin-1 projection neuron (light blue) promotes both the hunch and headcast (bend), while if Basin-2 (dark blue) is activated, it suppresses hunching to promote head-casting. The output state of the Basin projection neurons depends on the relative level of activation of the inhibitory interneurons involved in a reciprocal inhibition of inhibition motif.



Despite the well-established impact of nutrition on brain function (Takeishi et al. 2020; Miroschnikow, Schlegel, and Pankratz 2020; Zandawala, Yurgel, et al. 2018; Bhumika and Singh 2018; Sengupta 2013), the causative link between nutrients and the changes in non-feeding-related neural circuit function remains poorly understood. To be able to characterize the neural circuit changes that occur upon changes in feeding state, one needs to establish causal relationships between the activity of individual neurons and distinct, measurable behaviors. Additionally, mapping the connections among all neurons within the circuit with synaptic precision is essential. Furthermore, the ability to manipulate the activity or protein expression in individual neurons of a circuit while simultaneously monitoring their activity (e.g., through calcium imaging) or the behavior of the organism is crucial to be able to study the modulation of the circuit caused by changes in the feeding state of the organism.

My supervisor, Tihana Jovanic, and colleagues have in the past characterized at synaptic resolution a neural circuit that controls the choice between two competing sensorimotor responses to following a mechanosensory stimulus: a "startle" Hunch or an "escape" Head cast (Jovanic et al. 2016). They reconstructed the complete network from the sensory input to the output at the level of projection neurons, up to the synaptic level. Then, they characterized the interactions between different neurons in the network: two types of projection neurons, B1 and B2, drive exclusive behaviors, and different types of inhibitory feedforward and feedback interneurons shape the competition between these mutually exclusive behaviors and control their dynamics. Moreover, research from my host laboratory, parallel to my own, has shown a crucial role of two interconnected inhibitory interneurons of the circuit (G2 and Hb) in the feeding state-specific modulation of the behavioral response of the larvae, as described in the scientific article in section III.A of this manuscript.

The main aim of my PhD project was to use this knowledge as a starting point to study the neural circuit mechanisms underlying feeding state-dependent modulation of non-feeding-related neuronal circuits and the effectors involved, from single neuron activity to behavior. To address this, I took advantage of the uniquely powerful Drosophila larva model which allowed me to combine *in vivo* single-cell manipulation of neuropeptides and receptors expression in a target neuron type while monitoring its activity with calcium imaging, or automated behavioral monitoring, all informed by the connectome reconstructed from an electron-microscopy dataset of the entire central nervous system (Jovanic et al. 2016; Ohyama et al. 2015; Masson et al. 2020; Schneider-Mizell et al. 2016).

II. Aims

My work mainly focused on the modulatory action of two neuropeptides (sNPF and NPF) on this circuit. sNPF and NPF are functional homologs of the mammalian NPY, instrumental in the regulation of feeding behavior. Their expression increases in fasted larvae (Nässel and Wegener 2011; Fadda et al. 2019; Yeom et al. 2021; K.-S. Lee et al. 2008; 2004; K. S. Kim et al. 2021; Wu, Zhao, and Shen 2005). Incidentally, the inhibition of the sNPF-R suppresses eating (K.-S. Lee et al. 2004), and the release of NPF reduces aversion to low-quality food (Wu, Zhao, and Shen 2005). Nevertheless, sNPF was shown to be involved in non-feeding-related behaviors such as response to mechanonociception as well (C. Hu et al. 2017; Imambocus et al. 2020). I sought to investigate how the feeding state information is relayed to the sensorimotor decision circuit (between Hunch and head-cast), identify the effectors and the neural circuit mechanisms by which they exhibit a modulatory action on larval decisions e. To achieve this goal, I examined the role of these neuropeptides in transmitting feeding state-dependent information to the circuit (Eloïse de Tredern et al. 2023).

Additionally, as a side project during my PhD, I aimed to enhance our understanding of the state-dependent modulation of behavioral decisions in more complex paradigms. To this aim, I adapted our behavioral setup to be able to present larvae with multiple sensory stimulations at the same time.

III. Methods and Results

I will report the methodology and results of the majority of the work performed during my thesis in the format of a scientific article, for which a preprint is available on BiorXiv at https://www.biorxiv.org/content/10.1101/2023.12.26.573306v2 (Eloise de Tredern et al. 2024), in the section III.A of this manuscript. The article is currently in revision at Nature Communications. In this scientific article, my worked uncovered a feeding state-dependent neuropeptidergic modulation of sensorimotor decisions in *Drosophila* larva. For this article, I performed and analyzed all calcium imaging experiments related to sNPF and NPF neuropeptides and to the mechanosensory chordotonal neurons. I also performed the behavioral experiments upon sNPFR knockdown in Handle-B and Griddle-2 and the immunostainings for sNPFR and NPFR, with the help of Sandra Autran. Finally, I was strongly involved in the refinement of the machine learning classification method used to generate all the behavioral quantifications in the article, as well as in the production of the figures.

In addition to the results presented in the article, experiments were performed to investigate the possibility that the feeding state of the larvae could exert part of its modulatory action by targeting the mechanosensory chordotonal neurons involved in the sensing of the wind stimulation used in our research. Indeed, altering the sensitivity of sensory neurons to stimuli is a known mechanism by which the feeding state can modulate feeding-related behavioral decisions (Bargmann 2012; Sengupta 2013; Shanahan and Kahnt 2022; Takeishi et al. 2020; Inagaki, Panse, and Anderson 2014). While these findings were not included in the original publication, they contribute valuable insights that complement and enrich our understanding of feeding state-dependent modulation of sensorimotor decisions. These supplementary results are presented in section III.B of this manuscript.

A secondary aim of my PhD project was to develop a behavioral essay that would allow the study of multisensory integration and how it is modulated by the feeding state of the larvae. To address this question, we decided to couple mechanical stimulation with food-related olfactory cues to put larvae in a conflicting sensory environment that would force them to choose which stimulus to follow. Over the course of my PhD, I adapted our behavior tracking apparatus to be able to combine a gradient of odor concentrations with a gradient of air speeds and supervised several interns who tested the apparatus. The apparatus and results gathered by interns that I cosupervised will be described in section III.C of this manuscript.

III. A. Feeding stat-dependent neuropeptidergic modulation of reciprocally interconnected inhibitory neurons biases sensorimotor decisions in *Drosophila*

III. A. 1. Article summary

My work focused on the characterization of the role of the neuropeptides NPF and sNPF in the feeding state-dependent modulation of a *Drosophila* larva sensorimotor decision circuit (Jovanic et al. 2016). Combining a genetic co-labeling of target neurons and neuropeptide receptors with immunostaining, we show that both sNPF and NPF receptors are expressed in mechanosensory neurons. However, optogenetic stimulation of these mechanosensory neurons in larvae exposed to different diets show that their modulation is not necessary to bias larva decisions in response to a mechanical stimulation.

Moreover, we show that the projection neurons of the circuit do not express receptors for either sNPF or NPF, suggesting that a feeding state-dependent bias of the behavioral decision of the larvae carried by neuropeptides would be targeted to the interconnected inhibitory interneurons of the circuits. We show expression of sNPFR in the two interconnected inhibitory interneurons that orchestrate the behavioral choice in the circuit, and expression of NPFR in only one of them, suggesting that the interneurons are indeed targets of modulation while the projection neurons relay the decision to the motor side.

We further show that a reduction of sNPF signaling on these interneurons biases the choice of the larvae towards less hunching and more head-casting by oppositely regulating their activity, partially recapitulating a "sucrose-like" or "starvation-like" phenotype.

Moreover, we found, in the EM-connectome dataset (Ohyama et al. 2015; Jovanic et al. 2016), synaptic connections between one pair of NPF-releasing neurons and one of the inhibitory interneurons that promotes head-casting at the expense of hunching. We show that the activity of this NPF-releasing neuron is increased upon sucrose feeding and starvation. Finally, we show that NPF is required for the modulation of larval baseline locomotion by the feeding, as well as the increase in the intensity of the responses of the inhibitory interneuron, which suppresses hunches and promotes head-casts, to mechanical stimulation upon sucrose feeding and starvation.

Altogether, sNPF and NPF differentially modulate interconnected inhibitory interneurons in a feeding state-dependent manner, influencing circuit computations and thus leading to a bias in the behavioral choice of the larvae in response to a mechanical stimulation.

III. A. 2. Article manuscript

Feeding-state dependent neuropeptidergic modulation of reciprocally interconnected inhibitory neurons biases sensorimotor decisions in *Drosophila*

Eloïse de Tredern^{1,2}, Dylan Manceau^{1,2}, Alexandre Blanc^{3,4}, Panagiotis Sakagiannis⁵, Chloe Barre^{3,4}, Victoria Sus², Francesca Viscido², Md Amit Hasan², Sandra Autran², Martin Nawrot⁵, Jean-Baptiste Masson^{3,4}, Tihana Jovanic^{2,6*}

¹These authors contributed equally

²Université Paris-Saclay, CNRS, Institut des neurosciences Paris-Saclay, 91400, Saclay, France

³Institut Pasteur, Université Paris Cité, CNRS UMR 3571, Decision and Bayesian Computation, 75015 Paris, France

⁴Epiméthée, INRIA

⁵Computational Systems Neuroscience, Institute of Zoology, University of Cologne, 50674 Cologne, Germany

⁶Lead contact

*Correspondence: tihana.jovanic@cnrs.fr

III. A. 2. a. Abstract

Animals' feeding state changes behavioral priorities and thus influences even nonfeeding related decisions. How is the feeding state information transmitted to nonfeeding related circuits and what are the circuit mechanisms involved in biasing nonfeeding related decisions remains an open question. By combining calcium imaging, neuronal manipulations, behavioral analysis and computational modeling, we determined that the competition between different aversive responses to mechanical cues is biased by feeding state changes. We found that this is achieved by differential modulation of two different types of reciprocally connected inhibitory neurons promoting opposing actions. This modulation results in a more frequent active type of response and less frequently a protective type of response if larvae are fed sugar compared to when they are fed a balanced diet. The information about the internal state is conveyed to the inhibitory neurons through homologues of the vertebrate neuropeptide Y known to be involved in regulating feeding behavior.

III. A. 2. b. Introduction

Physiological states like hunger and thirst are powerful regulators of behavior across the animal kingdom due to strong homeostatic drives that are critical for survival (Allen et al. 2019; Anderberg et al. 2016; Burnett et al. 2016; Eiselt et al. 2021; Jourjine 2017; Jourjine et al. 2016; Smith and Grueter 2021). For example, across model systems, fooddeprivation was shown to modulate responsiveness to stimuli by influencing sensory neurons and sensory pathways (Inagaki, Panse, and Anderson 2014; Ko et al. 2015; Loch, Breer, and Strotmann 2015; Sayin et al. 2018), suggesting that food-deprivation can alter the perceived value of a stimulus, which in turn affects the behavioral decisions. Various studies have implicated changes in central processing (Bräcker et al. 2013; Crossley, Staras, and Kemenes 2018; Filosa et al. 2016; Padilla et al. 2016) which lead to changes in behavioral decisions in hungry animals. However, the detailed neural circuit mechanisms of this state-dependent flexibility of behaviors remain largely unknown.

Internal drives (e.g., hunger and thirst) need to be balanced by environmental demands such as the need to avoid dangers. Avoiding dangers is a critical instinctive behavior that needs to be balanced with finding and consuming food in order to ensure survival. Avoidance behaviors tend to be robust, which makes them excellent systems for studying neural bases of behavior (Card 2012; Evans et al. 2019; Imambocus et al. 2022; Peek and Card 2016); yet they also need to be flexible in order for animals to adapt their behavioral strategies to different contexts and according to different internal states (Evans et al. 2019; Ache et al. 2019; Devineni and Scaplen 2022; Oram and Card 2022). Feeding states and contexts can for example influence both the tolerance to the level of threat and action selection during threat avoidance (Card 2012; Evans et al. 2019; Imambocus et al. 2022; Schadegg and Herberholz 2017).

At the neural circuit level, such behavioral flexibility is thought to be implemented by neuromodulation (modulation of existing synaptic connections by neuropeptides, for instance) that could bias the outcome of competition between diverse behaviors. The outcome could in that case differ depending on the neuropeptide released (Dickinson 2006; Eriksson et al. 2017; Krasne and Edwards 2002; Lin, Senapati, and Tsao 2019; Marder 2012; Taghert and Nitabach 2012; Tierney 2020). Alternatively, information rerouting (using alternative circuit pathways) (Bräcker et al. 2013; Crossley, Staras, and Kemenes 2018; Lewis et al. 2015) where information is processed differently depending on the context or state, could alter behavior choice in a context-dependent manner. The types of circuit motifs underlying competitive selection must allow for such flexible processing of information. However, the detailed neural circuit mechanisms underlying the state-dependent modulation of behavior, the neuromodulators involved, and their mechanism of actions on specific circuits, especially those that pertain directly to non-feeding or non-water seeking behavior, are not well understood.

This paper addresses the understudied aspect of the influence of physiological drives on competitive selection during avoidance behaviors and investigates the neural circuit mechanisms involved in a powerful model organism for neural circuit analysis: the *Drosophila* larva (Jovanic 2020). *Drosophila* larvae are ideally suited for combining comprehensive, synaptic-resolution circuit mapping in electron microscopy (EM) across the nervous system (Eschbach and Zlatic 2020; Ohyama et al. 2015; Jovanic et al. 2016; Schneider-Mizell et al. 2016) with targeted manipulation of uniquely identified circuit motifs at the individual neuron level, which makes it possible to establish causal relationships between circuit structure and function in a brain-wide manner. In addition, evolutionarily conserved neuropeptidergic and hormonal pathways in *Drosophila* have been shown to regulate its diverse behaviors (Sayin et al. 2018; Imambocus et al. 2022; Lin, Senapati, and Tsao 2019; C. Hu et al. 2017; Nässel and Zandawala 2019).

Previous studies have described larval avoidance response to a mechanical stimulus (air-puff) and detailed the neural circuit underlying the competition between "Hunching", a protective or "startle-like" type of behavior, and "Head Casting", an "active" exploratory type of behavior that can lead to escape (Jovanic et al. 2016; Lehman et al. 2023; Gershow et al. 2012; Jovanic et al. 2019; Gomez-Marin and Louis 2014; Klein et al. 2015). We identified circuit motifs underlying competitive interactions between behavioral actions (reciprocal inhibition of inhibition) and sequence transitions (lateral and feedback disinhibition) between the two behaviors. These types of motifs based on disinhibition would allow for flexible behavioral selection in a context/state dependent manner. By combining calcium imaging, neuronal and neuropeptide manipulation at the single cell level with automated tracking, behavior classification and computational modeling, this work shows that larval responses to the air-puff are biased towards less protective actions and towards more active, exploratory actions upon changes in their feeding condition. We determine that this bias is due to the differential modulation of two reciprocally connected inhibitory neurons that drive competing behaviors (Hunching and Head Casting): the activity of the neuron that promotes the protective Hunching is decreased and the activity of the neuron that inhibits Hunching is increased. We also show that the modulation at the level of reciprocally interconnected inhibitory neurons results in a bias at the level of the network output, towards a state that will lead to Head Casting at the expense of Hunching upon feeding on sucrose. Finally, we determine that NPF and sNPF modulate the activity of the reciprocally interconnected inhibitory neurons to bias the behavioral output in a feeding state-dependent manner.

III. A. 2. c. RESULTS

(1) Changes in feeding conditions for short periods of time affect larval feeding and locomotion

To study the effect of diet on behavioral decisions as a result of cognitive control and prioritization of needs and motivations rather than to long-term physiological changes that would affect circuit properties, we sought to establish a food-deprivation protocol of short duration. We determined the shortest duration of food deprivation that was sufficient to induce quantifiable changes in behavior. Depriving larvae of food completely (by putting them on a water-soaked filter paper) or feeding them on 20% sucrose only (and therefore depriving them of proteins and increasing their sugar intake) for 90 mins was sufficient to alter larval locomotion. Starved larvae and larvae fed on sucrose moved at a higher speed and spent more time Crawling than normallyfed larvae, eventually dispersing faster in less-curved trajectories (Fig. 1D, Extended Data Fig. 1A-B). These changes in locomotion are consistent with increased exploration and are likely due to an increased drive to find nutrients caused by deprivation. In order to determine that the 90 minutes feeding deprivation protocol induced changes in behavior that were reversible, we monitored locomotion in these larvae upon refeeding them for 15 minutes. Upon refeeding, larvae were slower and their locomotion phenotype was similar to the one of larvae that were constantly fed (Extended Data Fig. 1C).

To determine whether the larval need for nutrients was affected by the feeding protocols that they were subjected to, the consumption rate of different foods was quantified in different feeding conditions. Starved larvae significantly increased their intake of standard Drosophila food and yeast (rich in amino acids) compared to both normally-fed larvae and larvae that were fed on sucrose (Fig. 1A), which is consistent with a deficit in nutrients in starved larvae. Larvae fed on sucrose significantly increased their intake of yeast, which is consistent with a deficit in amino acids (Fig. 1A). These larvae, however, did not increase their intake of standard Drosophila food, suggesting that the increased sugar consumption might suppress their intake of carbohydrate-rich food. To test whether larvae fed on sucrose were repulsed by sugar, a choice assay was performed: larvae were added to the middle of an agar plate where half of the plate was covered in agar and the other half in agar mixed with sucrose. The larvae were then monitored for 15 minutes (Fig. 1C). After the 15 minutes, more larvae were found on the agar+sucrose half of the arena in normally-fed and starved larvae, with a preference index increasing over time, while larvae fed on sucrose showed a decrease in preference for agar supplemented with sucrose. Larvae fed on only 20% sucrose for 90 minutes significantly decreased their sucrose intake compared to fed and starved larvae, and their sucralose intake was similar to that of normally-fed and starved larvae (Fig. 1A4), suggesting that their avoidance of sugar was mediated by energy sensing pathways and not taste.



Fig. 1. Changes in physiology and behavior of food-deprived larvae. A: Larval feeding on different substrates was guantified, in control animals fed ad-libitum, in animals fed on sucrose or in animals subjected to complete starvation during 90 min. A1: Starved animals increased their feeding on a standard food medium as compared to fed animals, while animals fed on sucrose only did not (ANOVA, n = 35-41 larvae, Tukey post-hoc test ***: p < 0.001). A2: Both animals fed on sucrose only and starved animals increase their yeast feeding as compared to normally fed larvae (ANOVA, n = 51-59 larvae, Tukey post-hoc test ***: p < 0.001, **: p < 0.01). A3: While starved animals consume a similar amount of water as fed ones, animals fed on sucrose only double their water consumption as compared to fed and starved larvae (ANOVA, n = 52-54 larvae, Tukey post-hoc test ***: p < 0.001, **: p < 0.01). A4: Consumption of the nonenergetic sweetener sucralose was similar among conditions (n = 25-32 larvae). A5: Larvae that had fed on a 20% sucrose solution for 90 min decreased their sucrose intake as compared to fed and starved larvae (ANOVA, n = 29-33 larvae, Tukey post-hoc test ***: p < 0.001, *: p < 0.05). Gustatory neurons inhibition (Gr43a-Gal4>TNT) decreases sucrose intake in fed larvae to the level of larvae fed on sucrose, while the consumption of starved larvae remains higher (ANOVA, n = 24-33 larvae, Tukey post-hoc test **: p < 0.01, *: p < 0.05). B: Concentration of glucose and trehalose in larval hemolymph. B1: Glucose concentration is increased in the hemolymph of larvae that were fed on 20% sucrose solution for 90 min compared to larvae fed on a standard diet and to starved animals (ANOVA, N = 3 samples from 5 larvae each, Tukey post-hoc test **: p < 0.01, *: p < 0.05). B2: Trehalose concentration is similar in the hemolymph of larvae fed on the different diets (N = 6 samples from 10 larvae each). C: Place preference assay for sucrose. Larvae that fed on a 20% sucrose solution for 90 min exhibit a decreased glucose preference compared to normally fed and starved larvae (n = 79-133 larvae, Chi-2 test **: p < 0.01, *: p < 0.05). D: Analysis of larval locomotion in the absence of sensory stimulus. After 90 min of sucrose feeding or complete starvation, larval dispersion, time spent crawling and speed are significantly increased, while the tortuosity of the trajectory is decreased compared to larvae fed on a standard diet (Mann-Whitney test, ****: p < 0.0001, ***: p < 0.001, **: p < 0.01, *: p < 0.05). E: Manipulating the feeding state modulates behavioral responses to mechanosensory stimuli. Behavior in response to air-puff during the first five seconds upin stimulus onset, for, E1 in larvae fed on sucrose only (n = 592-629 larvae) and E2 starved larvae compared to larvae fed on standard food (n =704-771 larvae, ***: p < 0.001, **: p < 0.01, *: p < 0.05). See also Extended Data Fig. 1 and Supplementary Tables 2, 3, 4 and 5.

To determine whether the 90-minute food-deprivation or sucrose diet protocols caused changes in glucose levels, the hemolymph glucose levels were quantified in the different feeding conditions. Glucose levels were slightly but not significantly decreased in starved larvae compared to the fed larvae. In larvae that were fed on 20% sucrose, the glucose level was significantly increased compared to both normally-fed and starved larvae (Fig. 1B). This high glucose level suggests that larvae fed on sucrose suppress consumption of carbohydrates due to high circulating levels of glucose. Finally, the water consumption of larvae in different feeding conditions was quantified.

Larvae fed on 20% sucrose increased their water consumption significantly compared to both normally-fed and starved larvae (Fig 1A3), likely due to changes in extracellular osmolality as a result of high sugar intake (Jourjine et al. 2016). We therefore tested whether rehydration would reduce the increase in exploration and locomotion observed in larvae fed on sucrose. Indeed, after larvae fed on sucrose only were put on water for 15 minutes, their locomotion was similar to the ones of normally fed larvae (Extended Data Fig. 1D).

Altogether, these results suggest that depriving larvae of nutrients for 90 minutes is sufficient to alter feeding and larval locomotion and that these changes are due to lack of nutrients and lower energy levels in starved larvae and protein hunger and thirst in larvae fed on sucrose. The observed increase in locomotion in larvae deprived of nutrients would thus likely result from an increase in motivational drive to find the missing nutrients.

(2) Changes in physiological states affect sensorimotor decisions in response to an air-puff

To determine whether starvation and a sucrose-only diet can affect non-feedingrelated behaviors, we monitored *Drosophila* larva sensorimotor decisions in response to an aversive mechanical stimulus, the air-puff. In response to an air-puff, larvae perform probabilistic sequences of five mutually exclusive actions that we have characterized in detail in the past (Jovanic et al. 2016; Masson et al. 2020): Hunch, Bend, Stop, Back-up, and Crawl. We have also identified circuit motifs and characterized the neural circuit mechanisms underlying the competitive interactions between the two most prominent actions (i.e. the Hunch and the Bend) that occur in response to an airpuff (Jovanic et al. 2016). The model in that study predicts that the different activation levels of inhibitory neurons determine which actions will take place: the Hunch, Bend, or the Hunch Bend sequence.

With characterized neurons and synaptic connectivity between the neurons, as well as the availability of driver lines that label neurons of interest, this circuit provides an excellent system to study whether the activity of the neurons is modulated by the changes in an animal's physiological state.

To determine whether the feeding state modulates larval behavior in response to the mechanosensory stimulus and, by extension, whether sensorimotor decisionmaking in response to an air-puff is an adequate behavioral paradigm to study the effects of food deprivation on neural circuit activity, we compared larval behavioral responses to an air-puff after subjecting them to the different feeding protocols (as described in the first section of the Results). For this purpose, we used automated tracking (Ohyama et al. 2013) to monitor larval behavior in response to an air-puff and updated the machine-learning-based classification method developed in our previous work (Masson et al. 2020) to compute probabilities of the different actions that occur in response to an air-puff. The new classifiers were trained on larvae fed on different diets, thus taking into account a broader range of behavioral dynamics, and separated the bend behavioral category into two types of bending behavior: Static Bends, a form of protective action where the larva responds to the stimulus by immobilizing in a curved position for a period of time, and the exploratory active Head Casts that can lead to escape (Lehman et al. 2023).

Our analysis showed that larvae fed on sucrose Hunch less (and perform less of Static Bends) and Head Cast more (Fig. 1E1). Similarly, starved larvae performed less Static Bends and more Head Casts (Fig. 1E2). Transitions to Hunching were decreased in larvae fed on sucrose and starved larvae, while transitions to Head Cast were increased (from Hunching to Head Casting in larvae fed on sucrose only and from Crawl to Head Casting in both starved larvae and larvae fed on sucrose) (Fig. 1E). Increasing duration of sucrose feeding and starvation to 5h resulted in similar phenotypes (Extended Data Fig. 1E, F).

Using our machine-learning based classification to monitor internal state induced behavioral changes revealed that changing feeding conditions for short periods of time alters sensorimotor decisions in response to an aversive mechanical cue and results in less protective type of actions, and more actions consistent with active exploration and escape.

(3) The feeding state does not affect the responses of chordotonal sensory neurons to a mechanical stimulus

To test whether changes in feeding conditions alter the perceived value of a stimulus, which in turn would affect the behavioral decisions, calcium responses in sensory neurons that sense the air-puff, the chordotonal sensory neurons (Jovanic et al. 2016; 2019; Masson et al. 2020; Ohyama et al. 2013) were monitored in response to a moderately strong mechanical stimulus in the three different feeding conditions: normally fed, fed on sucrose and starved (Extended Data Fig. 2B). We found no significant differences in chordotonal calcium responses in the different feeding states (Fig. 2B, Extended Data Fig. 2A), although the responses were slightly higher in starved larvae compared to the larvae fed on standard food and on sucrose only. To ensure that the changes in feeding conditions did not influence protein expression and, by extension, GCAMP expression levels, GFP was genetically expressed in the neurons and its expression level was quantified by comparing the fluorescence in larvae exposed to all three feeding conditions. No differences were found in GFP fluorescence in the three feeding states (Extended Data Fig. 2C). The results therefore suggest that chordotonal responses are not significantly affected by starvation or sucrose feeding and that the behavioral changes observed in the different feeding conditions are not due to the changes in stimulus sensitivity at the level of sensory neurons. We further confirmed this by optogenetically activating chordotonal sensory neurons in larvae in all three feeding states using a driver that labels all eight subtypes of chordotonal sensory

neurons: R61D08. We found that although the activation of chordotonal sensory neurons in all three feeding states was the same due to optogenetic stimulation, larvae performed fewer Hunches and more Head Casts when they were fed only on sucrose than when they were normally fed (Fig. 2C). Similarly, the modulation of behavior when they were starved could be observed upon chordotonal optogenetic activation (Extended Data Fig. 2D). Altogether, these results show that the feeding state-dependent modulation could target neurons downstream of the chordotonal sensory neurons.





Fig. 2. Feeding state dependent bias in sensorimotor responses does not come from the modulation of sensory neurons. A: Organization of the circuit. B: Calcium responses to mechanical stimulations in chordotonal neurons larvae fed on sucrose only and on standard food (R61D08-Gal4/UAS-GCaMP6s). Left panel: calcium responses of chordotonal neuron projections in the VNC from different individuals fed on different diets. Lower right panel: mean calcium response of chordotonal neurons over time. The green dashed line corresponds to stimulus duration. Upper right panel: calcium response averaged during the stimulus. White line represents the mean, white dot represents the median. Stimulus-induced activity of chordotonal mechanosensory neurons is unchanged in animals fed on sucrose as compared to larvae fed on standard food (n = 10 larvae, 3 trials per larva, t-test p = 0.249). C: Optogenetic activation of cho in larvae fed only on sucrose. Hunch probability is computed during the first 2 seconds from stimulus onset. Bend is the mean probability during the first 10 seconds from stimulus onset, corrected by the baseline recording prior to the stimulus. (n = 192 larvae for fed, 168 for sucrose fed, p = 0.011 for Hunch, 0.028 for Bend). See also Extended Data Fig. 2 and Supplementary Tables 4 and 6.

(4) Feeding states modulate the output of the circuit for the choice between Hunch and Bend

To determine whether the changes in feeding state influence the output of the network for the selection between the Hunch and the Bend, characterized in previous work (Jovanic et al. 2016), calcium responses of projection neurons Basin-1 and Basin-2 were monitored at different intensities of mechanical stimulation in the three feeding states. Basin-1 and Basin-2 are differentially involved in Hunching and Bending, as shown in (Jovanic et al. 2016): Basin-1 is required for both Hunching and Bending, while Basin-2 promotes Bending and inhibits Hunching. Responses in Basin-2 neurons can thus be used as a read-out of the Bend state: if Basin-2 is ON, the larva will Bend, and if it is OFF, the larva will Hunch. We found that for most stimulus intensities, the Basin -1 responses remain only mildly affected by the sucrose-only diet (Fig. 3A, Extended Data Fig. 3C). Only for the very weak stimulus intensity do we observe a decrease in Basin-1 response (Extended Data Fig. 3C). In the starved condition, the effect on Basin-1 neurons was similar to the sucrose-only feeding condition (Extended Data Fig. 3A, C). The activity of Basin-2, on the other hand, was moderately increased in larvae fed only sucrose at all intensities except at the lowest stimulus intensity (Fig. 3B, Extended Data Fig. 3D), where there was no difference between Basin-2 responses in different feeding conditions (Extended Data Fig. 3D). However, the activity of Basin-2 in starved larvae was slightly (but not significantly) decreased compared to fed larvae at lower intensities of stimulation, whereas it was increased at higher intensities of stimulation (Extended Data Fig. 3B,D).

We then compared the distributions of Basin-2 responses in larvae fed on either standard food or sucrose to a moderately strong mechanical stimulus (5V applied to piezo at 1000 HZ)) and observed a higher probability of absence of neuronal response in normally-fed larvae (Extended Data Fig. 3E). The previous study has recorded depolarization responses simultaneously from Basin-1 and Basin-2 to a mechanical stimulus and has shown that Basin-1 neurons always respond while Basin-2 responses are probabilistic (Jovanic et al. 2016). In this study, we computed the probability of Basin-2 responses to the mechanical stimulus and observed a significantly higher probability of responses that cross the threshold (see methods) in larvae fed on sucrose, which is consistent with higher Head Casting and lower Hunching probabilities in these larvae (Extended Data Fig. 3E). In starved larvae, similar trends were observed at higher stimulus intensities, while at medium intensity (5V), there was no difference between Basin-2 responses probability in fed and starved larvae (Extended Data Fig. 3E). This difference in Basin-2 responses between larvae fed only sucrose and starved larvae could explain why Hunching is not consistently significantly reduced in starved larvae.

III. Methods and Results



Fig. 3. The feeding status affects the output of the sensorimotor circuit. A: Basin-1 calcium responses to mechanical stimulations in larvae fed on standard food and on sucrose only larvae (20B01-lexA; LexAop-GCaMP6s, UAS-CsChrimson-mCherry). Left panel: calcium responses of Basin-1 from different individuals fed on different diets. Lower right panel: mean calcium response of Basin-1 over time. The green dashed line corresponds to stimulus onset. Upper right panel: mean calcium response averaged during the stimulus. White line represents the mean, white dot represents the median. Stimulus-induced activity of Basin-1 neurons is similar in larvae fed on sucrose only compared to larvae fed on a standard food (n = 17/20 larvae, 1 trial per larva, t-test p = 0.2577). B: Basin-2 calcium responses to mechanical stimulations in different states (SS00739/UAS-GCaMP6s). Left panel: calcium responses of Basin-2 from different individuals fed on different diets. Lower right panel: mean calcium response of Basin-2 over time. The green dashed line corresponds to stimulus onset. Upper right panel: mean calcium response averaged during the stimulus. White line represents the mean, white dot represents the median. Low panel: percentage of trials that failed to elicit a calcium response in Basin-2. Stimulus-induced activity of Basin-2 neurons is enhanced in animals fed on sucrose only compared to larvae fed on standard food (n = 12 larvae, 5 trials per larva, mean response comparisons t-test p = 0.0118, percentage of failed responses comparison Chi-2 test p = 0.0027). C-E: Simple connectome-based rate model of the decision circuit for the selection Hunch and Bend/Hedcast C: Model 1: version of the model where the sucrose state is modeled by a decreased maximum rate of the LNa node. C1. schematic of the circuit where the influence of LNa on downstream targets is weaker C2. state space trajectories of Basin-1 (B1) and Basin-2 Activity as a function of coupling from MCh to LNa for model 1. C3. phase ratio phase diagram for model 1 D: Model 2: version of the model where the sucrose state is modeled by an input current to Hb) Handle B neuron D1. schematic of the circuit where the influence of Hb on downstream targets is stronger D2. state space trajectories of Basin-1 (B1) and Basin-2 Activity as a function of coupling from MCh to LNa for model 2. D3. phase ratio phase diagram for model 2 E: Combined model: version of the model where the sucrose state is modeled by both an input current to Handle B (Hb) neuron and decreased Maximum rate of LNa E1. schematic of the circuit where the influence of Hb on downstream targets is stronger and the one of Lna weaker E2. state space trajectories of Basin-1 (B1) and Basin-2 Activity as a function of coupling from MCh to LNa for the combined model. E3. behavior phase diagram for the combined model. See also Extended Data Fig. 3 and Extended Data Fig. 5 and Supplementary Table 6.

(5) Reciprocally connected Inhibitory interneurons in the decision circuit are differentially modulated by the feeding state

Based on the simulation of the model of the circuit for a choice between two airpuff-induced actions (Hunch and Bend) (Jovanic et al. 2016), it is predicted that the relative level of activation of the reciprocally connected feedforward inhibitory interneurons determines the outcome of the competition: Basin-1 only state (Hunch) or Co-active state (Bend). In this study, we investigated if changes in the feeding state could affect the level of activation of two different classes of the inhibitory neurons: feedforward and feedback inhibitory neurons.

To address this, we started by building a simple rate model, that, as in the previous study (Jovanic et al. 2016), is based on the observed connectivity between neuron classes from the EM reconstruction data, and where weights of excitatory or inhibitory connections between neurons were proportional to the number of synapses (Fig. 3C-E). As previously described, the model predicts that the level of activation of the two classes of feedforward inhibitory neurons will determine the output state of the network at the level of the Basin-1 and Basin-2 neurons (Fig. 3C-E, Extended Data Fig. 5A). The "sucrose state" was modeled in one version of the model as the decreased maximum intensity of LNa neuron activity to explore the role of the feedforward inhibitory neurons in the feeding state modulation (Fig. 3C). In order to explore the contribution of the feedback inhibitory neurons, in another version of the model, the sucrose state was represented by adding an input to the Handle-b neurons (Fig. 3D). Finally, we made a combined model where both the LNa and Handle-b were modulated in the sucrose state (Fig. 3E, Extended Data Fig. 5A-D). In all of the versions of the model the Hunching decreased and Head Casting increased in the sucrose state compared to normal fed state (Fig. 3C3, D3, E3).

These model results suggest that modulating both feedforward and feedback inhibitory neurons of the circuit could result in the observed behavioral changes upon sucrose feeding. To test this experimentally, calcium transients in response to a mechanical stimulus were imaged in the two different types of inhibitory neurons to which we had genetic access. An LNa neuron type, Griddle-2 (G2), that promotes Hunching (Jovanic et al. 2016), showed significantly lower responses to a mechanical stimulus in larvae fed on sucrose compared to the normally fed larvae (Fig. 4A). The decrease in response was observed at different intensities of mechanical stimulation (Extended Data Fig. 4C). Similarly, in starved larvae, the responses of Griddle-2 neurons were also decreased across different intensities of stimulation (Extended Data Fig. 4A, C).



Fig. 4. Two reciprocally connected interneurons are oppositely modulated by the feeding state. A: Griddle-2 calcium responses to mechanical stimulations in larvae fed on standard food and sucrose only (SS00918/UAS-GCaMP6s). Left panel: calcium responses of Griddle-2 from different individuals, fed on standard food or on sucrose only. Lower right panel: mean calcium response of Griddle-2 over time. The green dashed line corresponds to stimulus onset. Upper right panel: mean calcium response averaged during the stimulus. White line represents the mean, white dot represents the median. Stimulus-induced activity of Griddle-2 is decreased in animals fed on sucrose only compared to larvae fed on a standard food (n = 10 larvae, 1 trial per larva, t-test p = 0.0068). B: Handle-b calcium responses to mechanical stimulations in larvae fed on standard food or on sucrose only (SS00888/UAS-GCaMP6s). Left panel: calcium responses of Handle-b from different individuals, fed on standard food or on sucrose only. Lower right panel: mean calcium response of Handle-b over time. The green dashed line corresponds to stimulus onset. Upper right panel: mean calcium response averaged during the stimulus. White line represents the mean, white dot represents the median. Stimulus-induced activity of Handle-b is increased in animals fed on sucrose only compared to larvae fed on a standard food (n = 23/25 larvae, 1 trial per larva, ttest p = < 0.0001). C: Reciprocal inhibition between Handle-b and Griddle-2. C1: model simulation, trajectories of LNa activity upon Hb inactivation in fed (top panel) and sucrose condition (bottom panel) C2: Left panel: mean calcium response of Griddle-2 over time, with (SS0888-Gal4>UAS-TNT 55C05-LexA>LexAop-GCaMP6s) or without Handle-b inactivation (+/UAS-TNT 55C05-LexA>LexAop-GCaMP6s), in larvae fed on standard food or on sucrose only. The green dashed line corresponds to stimulus onset. C3: mean calcium response averaged during the stimulus. White line represents the mean, white dot represents the median. Griddle-2 responses to mechanical stimuli are increased after Handle-b inactivation, both in larvae fed on standard food (top panel) or on sucrose (bottom panel) (n = 7-9 larvae, 4 trials per larva, t-test after inactivation in larvae fed on standard food p = 0.009, fed on sucrose only p = 0.002). C1. model simulation, trajectories of Hb activity upon iLNa inactivation in fed (top panel) and sucrose condition (bottom panel) C5. mean calcium response of Handle-b over time, with (55C05-LexA>LexAop-TNT 22E09-Gal4>UAS-GCaMP6s) or without Handle-b inactivation (+/LexAop-TNT 22E09-Gal4>UAS-GCaMP6s), in larvae larvae fed on standard food or on sucrose. The green dashed line corresponds to stimulus onset. C6: mean calcium response averaged during the stimulus. White line represents the mean, white dot represents the median. Handle-b responses to mechanical stimuli are increased after Griddle-2 inactivation only in fed animals (n = 6-10 larvae, 5 trials per larva, t-test after inactivation in fed p = 0.0027, sucrose condition p = 0.065). See also Extended Data Fig. 4 and Extended Data Fig. 5 and Supplementary Table 6.

Based on the model, the decrease in the activity of LNa would result in less Hunching and more Head Casting which is consistent with the behavioral changes we observed after feeding on sucrose. The model has also shown that another motif in the circuit, feedback disinhibition, promotes Bending by amplifying the activity of Basin-2. We recorded Handle-b responses to the mechanical stimulus in the different feeding states and found that the Handle-b neurons, that inhibit Hunching (Jovanic et al. 2016), show stronger responses to a mechanical stimulus in larvae fed on sucrose and in starved larvae compared to normally fed larvae (Fig. 4B, Extended Data Fig. 4B,D). This was true for all the different intensities of stimulation we tested (Extended Data Fig. 4D). Therefore, the decreased response of Griddle-2 neurons (Fig. 4A) and increased responses of Handle-b neurons (Fig. 4B) in larvae fed on sucrose could bias the behavioral outcome, consistent with the behavioral changes observed in larvae upon sucrose feeding (less Hunching and more Head Casting) (Fig. 1E1).

EM analysis shows that Griddle-2 and Handle-b neurons are reciprocally interconnected (Fig. 4A) (Jovanic et al. 2016). The circuit and the model predict that silencing Handle-b results in an increase in Griddle-2 activity and vice-versa (Fig. 4C). Further, the reciprocal connections between Griddle-2 and Handle-b were probed functionally and the model predictions tested experimentally; calcium responses to a mechanical stimulus were monitored in Griddle-2 neurons while inactivating Handle-b using tetanus-toxin in both larvae fed on standard food and on sucrose only. The responses were increased compared to control larvae in both feeding states (Fig. 4C1-C3, Extended Data Fig. 4E), which is consistent with the Handle-b inhibition of Griddle-2. However, the increase in Griddle-2 responses upon Handle-b inactivation in larvae fed on sucrose did not reach the levels of Griddle-2 responses upon inactivation in larvae fed on standard food (Fig. 4C2-C3, Extended Data Fig. 4E). This could suggest that the increase in Handle-b activity after sucrose feeding is insufficient to reduce the Griddle-2 responses in larvae fed on sucrose and that both Handle-b and Griddle-2 neurons could be independently modulated. Indeed, this is in line with model 1 and 3 predictions where Griddle-2 is modulated extrinsically (Fig. 3C,E, Fig. 4C, Extended Data Fig. 5E).

The converse experiments were also performed, i.e., inactivating Griddle-2 and imaging the activity in Handle-b (Fig. 4C4-C6). Handle-b responses to the mechanical stimulus were increased in normally fed larvae upon Griddle-2 inactivation (Fig. 4C5-C6, Extended Data Fig. 4F), which is consistent with Griddle-2 inhibition of Handle-b. In larvae fed on sucrose, the activity of the Handle-b neuron was not significantly different upon Griddle-2 inactivation and was similar to the activity upon Griddle-2 inactivation in larvae fed on standard food (Fig. 4C5-C6, Extended Data Fig. 4F). This lack of increase in Handle-b activity upon Griddle-2 inactivation in larvae fed on sucrose could be due to the different state of the network in the larvae fed only sucrose: the activity of Griddle-2 is already low in these larvae (Fig. 4A, Extended Data Fig. 4C), and removing

it may not impact its inhibition of Handle-b. Moreover, when silencing the LNa type Griddle-2, other two LNa type neurons remain intact and may continue to inhibit Handle-b. In addition, removing Griddle-2 in this condition could impact the disinhibition of Basin-1 and/or the breaking of the positive feedback Basin-2-Handle-b-Basin-2.

(6) The feeding state-dependent increase in Basin-2 responses depends on the changes in activity of the inhibitory interneurons

Our previous work has shown that Basin-2 (B2) neurons receive input directly from the inhibitory neuron LNa and are disinhibited by the feedback inhibitory neuron Handle-b that makes inhibitory connections onto LNa and LNb neurons; Handle-b receives input primarily from Basin-2 neurons. The feedback disinhibition of Basin-2 creates positive feedback that stabilizes the Basin-2 ON state (Jovanic et al. 2016). To determine whether the increase in Basin-2 responses in larvae fed on sucrose depends on feeding state-dependent changes in the activity of the inhibitory neurons, Handleb neurons were optogenetically activated, and the activity of B2 neurons was recorded in response to a mechanical stimulus. We found that activating Handle-b in normally fed larvae increases the levels of Basin-2 responses to a level similar to that observed in larvae fed on sucrose (Fig. 5B, Extended Data Fig. 6B). We further silenced Handle-b neurons and monitored calcium responses in Basin-2 neurons in different feeding states (Fig. 5A, Extended Data Fig. 6A). Silencing Handle-b neurons in larvae fed on sucrose decreased Basin-2 responses and erased the difference in Basin-2 response levels between larvae fed on standard food and on sucrose (Fig. 5A, Extended Data Fig. 6A). This result is consistent with previous characterization of the Handle-b disinhibition of Basin-2. Because Handle-b disinhibits Basin-2, silencing Handle-b therefore increases the inhibition of Basin-2 by LNa, and thus reduces Basin-2's responses to mechanical stimuli. In addition, in normally fed larvae where the activity of LNa is high, Basin-2 responses were almost completely abolished (Extended Data Fig. 6A).


Fig. 5. The modulation of inhibitory interneurons is required for the feeding state dependent changes in the circuit output. A: Left panel: mean calcium responses of Basin-2 over time from individuals fed on different diets, with (38H09-LexA>LexAop-GCaMP6s 22E09-Gal4>UAS-TNT) or without (38H09-LexA>LexAop-GCaMP6s +/>UAS-TNT) Handle-b inactivation. The green dashed line corresponds to stimulus onset. Middle panel: calcium response of Basin-2 averaged during the stimulus. White line represents the mean, white dot represents the median. Right panel: percentage of trials that failed to elicit a calcium response in Basin-2. Inactivating Handle-b in larvae fed on sucrose only prevents the effect of sucrose feeding on Basin -2 activity (n = 12-14 larvae, 5 trials per larva ; ANOVA with post-hoc tests: ***: p < 0.001; chi-2 test ***: p < 0.001, **: p < 0.01). B: Left panel: mean calcium responses of Basin-2 over time from individuals fed on different diets, with or without optogenetic activation of Handle-b (22E09-Gal4>UAS-CsChrimson::tdTomato 38H09-LexA>LexAop-GCaMP6s) during the first second of mechanical stimulus (red box). The green dashed line corresponds to stimulus onset. Right panel: calcium response of Basin-2 averaged during the first second of the stimulus. White line represents the mean, white dot represents the median. Activating Handle-b in fed larvae phenocopies the effect of sucrose feeding on Basin-2 activity (n = 8 larvae, 5 trials per larva; ANOVA with post-hoc tests: ***: p < 0.001, *: p < 0.05). C: Left panel: mean calcium responses of Basin-2 over time from individuals fed on different diets, with (38H09-LexA>LexAop-GCaMP6s 55C05-Gal4>UAS-TNT) or without (38H09-LexA>LexAop-GCaMP6s +/>UAS-TNT) Griddle-2 inhibition. The green dashed line corresponds to stimulus onset. Middle panel: calcium response of Basin-2 averaged during the stimulus. White line represents the mean, white dot represents the median (ANOVA with post-hoc tests: ***: p < 0.001). Right panel: percentage of trials that failed to elicit a calcium response in Basin-2 (chi-2 test ***: p < 0.001, *: p < 0.05). See also Extended Data Fig. 6 and Supplementary Table 6.

Griddle-2 neurons were then inactivated and the activity of Basin-2 was imaged in the two feeding states. As expected, silencing Griddle-2 abolished the difference in Basin-2 responses in the two states. This result is consistent with the effect of Griddle-2 on Handle-b activity (Fig. 5). Silencing Griddle-2 in fed larvae resulted in small (but not significant) increase in Basin-2 responses (Fig. 5C, Extended Data Fig. 6C). However, the mean responses of Basin-2 in larvae fed only with sucrose unexpectedly and significantly decreased upon Griddle-2 silencing. We also computed Basin-2 response probabilities. While inactivating Griddle-2 did not affect Basin-2 response probabilities in normally fed larvae, it did so in larvae fed on sucrose; the non-response probabilities are significantly increased upon Griddle-2 inactivation in sucrose-fed larvae. (Fig. 5C, Extended Data Fig. 6C). The mean responses of trials with only Basin-2 ON responses reveal that the level of responses of Basin-2 was increased in normally fed larvae to the level found in larvae fed on sucrose in the control. The mean responses of trials with only Basin-2 ON responses also show that the level of Basin-2 response was decreased in larvae fed on sucrose (Extended Data Fig. 6C) and similar to the level of activity in fed control larvae.

These findings suggest that there are two mechanisms that control Basin-2 response probabilities and amplitudes, respectively. The two mechanisms are decoupled upon Griddle-2 inactivation. Inactivating Griddle-2 may decrease Basin-2 response probabilities by decreasing Basin-1 responses (that then disinhibits less Basin-2). At the same time, inactivating Griddle-2 increases Handle-b responses and thus amplifies Basin-2 responses more once Basin-2 responses are triggered.

Griddle-2 is thus required for state-dependent modulation of Basin-2, possibly by mediating the disinhibition of Basin-2 by Handle-b. Inactivating Griddle-2 in normally fed larvae disinhibits Basin-2. On the other hand, inactivating Griddle-2 in larvae fed on sucrose when the activity of Griddle-2 is already low (and Griddle-2 is not inhibiting Basin-2 strongly) may thus favor other inhibitory pathways and result in lower Basin-2 responses.

These results show that two types of reciprocally connected inhibitory neurons that promote competing actions inhibit each other during responses to a mechanosensory cue and are differentially modulated by the change in feeding states (starvation and feeding on sucrose). The activity of the Griddle-2 that promotes Hunching is decreased, while the activity of Handle-b that promotes Bending is increased. This differential modulation of the inhibitory neurons, in turn, has an impact on the state of the network in a feeding state-dependent manner and biases the behavioral responses towards less Hunching and more Head Casting by increasing the activity of the Basin-2 neurons when larvae are fed on sucrose only. In addition, it reveals that two different layers of the network are modulated by the changes of the feeding state: the reciprocally connected feedforward inhibitory neurons, as well as the feedback inhibitory neurons that stabilize the state of the network, resulting in the co-activation of both Basin-1 and Basin-2.

(7) The feedback inhibitory neuron receives input from an NPF-releasing neuron, that senses the changes in the feeding state

In order to determine the sources of feeding state-dependent modulation, we looked in the connectome for upstream partners of Griddle-2 and Handle-b neurons. Previous work has shown that the different neurons in the circuit receive input from long-range projection neurons that, as suggested by their morphology and connectivity, could bias the output of the network based on contextual/internal state information (Jovanic et al. 2016). Interestingly, by matching light microscopy images to electron microscopy reconstruction images, we found one of these neurons is an NPF-expressing neuron that synapses on Handle-b. NPF (neuropeptide F), a homolog of the mammalian neuropeptide Y (M. R. Brown et al. 1999), is a hunger signal, and its expression promotes feeding in both adult and larval *Drosophila* (Lin, Senapati, and Tsao 2019). We, therefore, sought to investigate the implication of NPF neurons in modulating the activity of the inhibitory neurons. Both of them have cell bodies in

the brain; the dorsolateral pair (DL-NPF) projects ipsilaterally within the brain lobes and the dorsomedial pair (DM) sends descending projections via the suboesophageal zone (SEZ) through the ventral nerve cord (VNC) (Extended Data Fig. 7A).

To study the influence of NPF neurons on Handle-b activity, the activity of the DM-NPF descending neuron was monitored in the different feeding states. To this end, we drove GCAMP6s expression in the NPF descending neurons with NPF-GAL4 and measured its intensity of fluorescence in the VNC projections of larvae fed either on standard food (fed), on 20% sucrose (sucrose fed) or completely starved (given only water for 90 minutes). We showed that starvation or feeding on sucrose both increase the activity of the NPF descending neuron (Fig. 6B).

NPF was shown to be involved in promoting feeding (Wu et al. 2003). To investigate whether the increase in activity of NPF descending neurons upon 90-minute sucrose feeding or starvation had an influence on NPF release and behavior, NPF was knockdown selectively in the NPF descending neuron using a split-GAL4 driver that labels only the descending pair of NPF neurons (Fig. 6A) and larval locomotion monitored in larvae fed on standard food, larvae fed on sucrose and starved larvae (Fig. 6C, Extended Data Fig. 8A). Downregulating NPF in the DM-NPF neurons descending into the VNC impaired the increase in exploration observed in larvae fed on sucrose and starved larvae: it abolished the difference in tortuosity over 20 s, time fraction in runs, mean scaled speed and maximum dispersal over 60 s between larvae fed on standard food and starved larvae. Moreover, NPF downregulation abolished the difference between larvae fed on standard food and larvae fed on sucrose or even decreased exploration in larvae fed on sucrose compared to larvae fed on standard food as observed by increased tortuosity over 20 s and decreased maximum dispersal and time fraction in runs compared to larvae fed on standard food (Fig. 6C, Extended Data Fig. 8A).







E. Immunolabeling SS00888-NPFR T2A-LexA







Page | 76

Fig. 6. NPF-releasing neurons convey internal state information to the feedback inhibitory neuron. A: Expression profile characterization of GMR_SS01635>UAS-GFP stained with a GFP-specific antibody. GMR_SS01635 split-Gal4 line selectively targets one pair of NPF neurons. Comparison of light microscopy images with electron microscopy (EM) reconstruction images indicates that a descending neuron synapses on Handle-b (Jovanic et al, 2016) is the DM-NPF descending neuron. EM image shows neuropeptide-containing dense core vesicles in the NPF descending neuron near one of its synapses with Handle-b. B: Baseline calcium fluorescence measured in the projections of NPF descending neurons in the VNC (ventral nerve cord) of larvae fed on sucrose only for 90 minutes (N = 10 larvae), starved for 90 minutes (N = 10 larvae) or 5 hours (N = 8-9 larvae). White line represents the mean, white dot represents the median. Starvation or feeding only on sucrose only increase NPF descending neuron activity (two-tailed T-test: *: p < 0.05). C: Analysis of larval locomotion in the absence of sensory stimulus. Top row shows control larvae (C1). Bottom row shows larvae with NPF knockdown in DM- NPF descending neurons (C2). NPF knockdown in DM-NPF descending neuron abolishes differences in locomotion mean between larvae in different states; as measured by the average movement speed (Mann-Whitney test, ****: p<0.0001, ***: p < 0.001, **: p < 0.01, *: p < 0.05) D: Calcium responses in Handleb with (UAS-GCamP6s; 22E09-Gal4, NPF-LexA>LexAop-KIR) or without (UAS-GCamP6s; 22E09-Gal4, NPF-LexA;+) NPF neurons silencing. Left panel: calcium responses of Handle-b, in each trial of mechanosensory stimulation. Right lower panel: mean calcium response of Handle-b over time. The green dashed line corresponds to the stimulus. Top right panel: mean calcium response averaged during the stimulus. White line represents the mean, white dot represents the median. Stimulus-induced activity of Handle-b is decreased upon Coaster silencing (n = 10 larvae, 3 trials per larva, t-test p = 0.045). E: Immunohistochemical labeling for NPFR in Handle_B UAS-GCamP6s is expressed in Handle-b using the GMR_SS00888 split-Gal4 line (green) and LexAopjRGeco1a is expressed under the control of the NPFR promoter using a T2A-LexA construct (magenta). Antibodies against GFP and dsRed were used to increase detection sensitivity. Co-localization of LexAop-jRGeco1a and GCamP6s show that Handle-b expresses the NPFR. F: Calcium responses in Handle-b upon NPFR knockdown (GMR_SS00888>UAS-NPFR-RNAi; UAS-GCamP6s) compared to а control (GMR_SS00888>UAS-GCamP6s). Left panel: mean calcium response of Handle-b over time in control larvae fed, fed on sucrose or starved. The green dashed line corresponds to the stimulus. Middle panel: mean calcium response of Handle-b over time upon NPFR knockdown in larvae fed, fed on sucrose or starved. The green dashed line corresponds to the stimulus. Right panel: mean calcium response averaged during the stimulus. White line represents the mean, white dot represents the median (n = 14-15 larvae). Handle-B responses are increased in control larvae upon feeding on sucrose (Mann-Whitney test, p = 0.04846) or starvation (Mann-Whitney test, p = 0.02807). NPFR knockdown erases this modulation (Mann-Whitney test, p = 0.09853 and p = 0.121). NPFR knockdown significantly decreased Handle-B responses in larvae fed on sucrose (Mann-Whitney test, p = 0.03754). See also Extended Data Fig. 7 and Extended Data Fig. 8 and Supplementary Tables 2, 3 and 6.

To understand the influence of NPF neurons on Handle-b activity, the interactions between the two neurons were tested functionally by hyperpolarizing the NPF neurons with the inwardly rectifying potassium channel Kir2.1 using an NPF-LexA driver line that labels both pairs of NPF neurons and monitoring calcium responses of Handle-b to a mechanical stimulation. Upon NPF neurons silencing, we observed a decrease in Handle-b responses to mechanical stimulations (Fig. 6D). The NPF descending neuron could thus facilitate responses of Handle-b neurons. Upon changes in the feeding state, the NPF neurons whose activity increases upon starvation and sucrose feeding, could enhance Handle-b responses to a mechanical stimulus, resulting in higher Handle-b responses (Fig. 6B, D) that bias behavioral choice towards less Hunching and more Head Casting.

In the connectome, we found large dense core vesicles in the NPF neurons in the proximity of the Handle-b neuron (Fig. 6A). Moreover, we showed that Handle-b expresses the NPFR1 using a T2A-LexA method (P.-T. Lee et al. 2018) where we drove the expression of one reporter in all NPFR1 neurons using the NPFR1 T2A-Lexa and of another reporter with a Handle-b specific split-GAL4 driver. The intersection of the two expression patterns revealed that the Handle-b neurons express the NPFR1 (Fig. 6E). Having established that Handle-b and Griddle-2 are instrumental in the feeding statedependent modulation of the behavioral choice of larvae in response to mechanical stimulation and that NPF modulates Handle-b, given that the model and functional connectivity experiment predict that the Handle-b and Griddle-2 could be independently modulated (Fig. 4C, Extended Data Fig. 5E-F), we investigated whether Griddle-2 could be also influenced by NPF. We found that Griddle-2 does not receive synaptic input from the NPF descending neurons. Since neuropeptides can act outside of synaptic sites and we found dense core vesicles characteristic for neuropeptide release along the NPF axon in the proximity of Griddle-2 neurons, we also examined the NPFR1 expression in Griddle-2 neurons, as well as in Basin-1 and Basin-2 using a similar approach as for Handle-b and didn't find any NPFR1 positive cells in these neurons (Extended Data Fig. 7D).

We then downregulated the expression of NPFR1 in the Handle-b neurons and imaged their calcium responses to mechanical stimulation in larvae fed on standard food, larvae fed only on sucrose and in starved larvae (Fig. 6F, Extended Data Fig. 8B). Downregulation of NPFR1 in Handle-B abolished the feeding-state dependent modulation of Handle-b as there was no significant increase in Handle-B responses upon sucrose feeding or starvation when NPFR1 was downregulated (Fig. 6F, Extended Data Fig. 8B).

Altogether, these results show that NPF neurons sense the changes in feeding state and their activity increases upon starvation or sucrose only feeding. The changes in NPF activity influence Handle-b activity that increases upon starvation or sucrose only feeding due to a facilitating effect of NPF. This increase in activity then biases the sensorimotor decisions towards less Hunching and more Head Casting.

(8) sNPFR in the interconnected inhibitory interneurons mediates the statedependent modulation of larval behavioral responses to a mechanical stimulus

The model and calcium imaging suggests that Griddle-2 and Handle-b are independently modulated by the feeding state (Fig. 4). Since Griddle-2 does not express the NPFR1 receptor, other neuropeptides could influence Griddle-2 and the circuit. We therefore investigated the effect of another neuropeptide on the circuit: sNPF (the short neuropeptide F). sNPF is a second homolog of the mammalian NPY whose receptor is widely distributed in the larval nervous system, including the VNC (Carlsson, Enell, and Nässel 2013), and was shown to be involved in regulating hunger-driven behaviors (Lin, Senapati, and Tsao 2019), and in facilitating mechano-nociceptive responses (C. Hu et al. 2017) among other functions. Therefore, we sought to examine whether the interneurons in the circuits express the receptor for sNPF. By genetically co-expressing a red fluorescent reporter (jRGeco1a) under the control of LexA drivers that label either Handle-b, Griddle-2, Basin-1 or Basin-2 neurons we identified in the literature and existing Gal4 databases (see Methods for details), and a green fluorescent reporter (GCamP6s) under the control of the sNPFR1 promoter with a T2A-Gal4 construct, we showed that both Handle-b (Fig. 7A) and Griddle-2 (Fig. 7D) express the sNPFR1, while the two Basin neurons do not (Extended Data Fig. 7E).

To determine whether sNPF signaling was involved in responses to a mechanical stimulus in these two neurons, their responses were monitored upon sNPFR1 downregulation. Calcium imaging recordings show that genetically downregulating sNPFR1 expression in Handle-b increases its responses to mechanical stimulation (Fig. 7B), suggesting that sNPFR1 has an inhibitory effect on Handle-b. On the other hand, responses of Griddle-2 were decreased upon sNPFR1 downregulation (Fig. 7E), suggesting that sNPF facilitates Griddle-2 responses to a mechanical stimulus. Since Handle-b inhibits Hunching and promotes Head Casting, while Griddle-2 promotes Hunching and inhibits Head Casting, downregulating the sNPFR1 in these neurons would inhibit Hunching and promote Head Casting. Indeed, the behavior experiments showed that sNPFR1 knockdown in either of these two neurons leads to less Hunching and more transitions to Head Casting (Fig. 7C, F) in response to an air-puff. The sNPFR1 knockdown in Handle-b and Griddle-2 leads to a modulation of their activity similar to that caused by feeding on only sucrose (lower Griddle-2 and higher Handle-b activity) and yields the same behavioral outcome. This suggests that sNPF signaling targeting these neurons could be downregulated in larvae fed on sucrose and at least partially responsible for the modulation of the behavioral choice of the larvae in response to a mechanical stimulation. Giving stock to this hypothesis, the downregulation of sNPFR1 in Handle-b or Griddle-2 did not impact their calcium responses to mechanical stimulation in larvae fed on sucrose or starved (Extended Data Fig. 9).

A sNPFR expression in Handle-b



Fig. 7. sNPF signaling inhibits Handle-b and facilitates Griddle-2 mechanosensory responses. A: Immunohistochemical labeling for sNPFR in Handle-b. LexAop-jRGeco1a is expressed in Handle-b using the 60E02-LexA line (magenta) and UAS-GCamP6s is expressed under the control of the sNPFR promoter using a T2A-Gal4 construct (green). Antibodies against GFP and dsRed were used to increase detection sensitivity. Colocalization of antibodies against jRGeco1a and GCamP6s shows that Handle-b expresses the sNPFR. B: Calcium responses in Handle-b upon sNPFR knockdown UAS-sNPFR-RNAi) (GMR SS00888>UAS-GCamP6s; compared to а control (GMR SS00888>UAS-GCamP6s) in Handle-b. Left panel: calcium responses of Handleb from different individuals and trials. One line is a trial. Lower right panel: mean calcium response of Handle-b over time. The green dashed line corresponds to the stimulus Top right panel: mean calcium response averaged during the stimulus. White line represents the mean, white dot represents the median. Stimulus-induced activity of Handle-b is increased by sNPFR knockdown (n = 15 larvae, 4 trials per larva, t-test p = 0.035). C: Behavior in response to air-puff during the first five seconds upon stimulus onset, for larvae in which sNPFR was knocked down in Handle-b neurons (SS00888>sNPFR-RNAi) compared to the control (n = 185-260 larvae) (***: p < 0.001, **: p < 0.01, *: p < 0.05). D: Griddle-2 immunostaining for sNPFR expression. LexAopjRGeco1a is expressed in Griddle-2 using the 55C05-LexA line (magenta) and UAS-GCamP6s is expressed s expressed under the control of the sNPFR promoter using a T2A-Gal4 construct (green). Antibodies against GFP and dsRed were used to increase detection sensitivity. Co-localization of antibodies against jRGeco1a and GCamP6s show that Griddle-2 expresses sNPFR. E: Calcium responses in Griddle-2 upon sNPFR knockdown (SS TJ001>UAS-GCamP6s; UAS-sNPFR-RNAi) compared to the control (SS_TJ001>UAS-GCamP6s). Left panel: calcium responses of Griddle-2 from different individuals and trials. One line is a trial. Lower right panel: mean calcium response of Griddle-2 over time. The green dashed line corresponds to the stimulus. Top right panel. mean calcium response averaged during the stimulus. White line represents the mean, white dot represents the median. Stimulus-induced activity of Griddle-2 is decreased by sNPFR knockdown (n = 10 larvae, 3 trials per larva, t-test p = 0.003). F: Behavior in response to air-puff during the first five seconds upon stimulus onset, for larvae in which sNPFR was knocked down in Griddle-2 neurons (SS_TJ001>sNPFR-RNAi) compared to the control (n = 243-438 larvae, ***: p < 0.001, **: p < 0.01, *: p < 0.05). See also Extended Data Fig. 7, Extended Data Fig. 9 and Supplementary Tables 4, 5 and 6.

Altogether these results show that Handle-b and Griddle-2, reciprocally interconnected inhibitory neurons that drive opposing actions, are differentially modulated by the sNPF signaling pathway to bias the response to air-puff towards less Hunching and more Head Casting.

III. A. 2. d. Discussion

Whereas many studies showed that various behaviors are affected by an animal's physiological state, especially hunger, this work goes further by describing the neural circuit mechanisms by which transient changes in the physiological status impact behaviors that are not directly related to feeding itself. To determine whether and how changes in the feeding state affect behaviors unrelated to feeding, we took advantage of a well characterized behavioral response of Drosophila larva to a mechanical stimulus for which we had in the past dissected the circuit mechanisms underlying the selection between two main types of responses: Hunch and Head Cast. The current study reveals the neural circuit mechanisms of modulation of these sensorimotor decisions by the feeding conditions. Slight changes in feeding conditions affect an animal's motivational state and bias responses to an air-puff towards less Hunching and more Head Casting. Reciprocally interconnected inhibitory neurons that drive competing actions are differentially modulated by the changes in the feeding state: the activity of the neuron that promotes a Hunch is decreased and the activity of the neuron that inhibits a Hunch is increased. This modulation at the level of inhibitory neurons involving NPF and sNPF signaling systems biases the output of the network towards promoting Head Casting and inhibiting Hunching, a modulation consistent with the state-dependent behavioral changes we observed.

Hungry animals behaving differently in non-feeding related contexts have been reported in various studies and across the animal kingdom (Smith and Grueter 2021; Moran et al. 2021). However, the underlying logic and neural mechanisms have not been well understood. These changes could be linked to overall changes in behavioral strategies in hungry individuals (Smith and Grueter 2021) to ensure survival. Risk-taking has been shown to be increased by hunger (P. Hunter 2013a; Moran et al. 2021; Sandhu et al. 2018), even in social-related decisions (Smith and Grueter 2021; Levy, Thavikulwat, and Glimcher 2013), further raising questions about how food-deprivation signals are integrated into the neural computations underlying non-feeding related behaviors. Animals need to be able to make any decisions flexibly depending on the need that is most critical at a given moment. Our study shows that a circuit underlying sensorimotor decisions in response to a mechanical stimulus located at the early stages of sensory processing is influenced by the changes in diet. This finding supports the idea that state dependent flexibility of behavior could be achieved by the physiological state acting on circuits throughout the nervous system and thus reorganizing its activity in a distributed manner. In various ecological contexts, survival often entails a trade-off between avoiding dangers and pursuing food and water-seeking behaviors (Moran et al. 2021). For example, increased exploration will increase the likelihood of finding food but also of encountering a dangerous situation (Moran et al. 2021). If animals' need for food or water increases either due to food deprivation or thirst, they might be more likely to explore intensively despite an increasing risk of threat. Similarly, food-deprived and thirsty animals might take more risks and ignore aversive cues to increase their chances of getting near food or water sources. Hungry animals use different strategies when escaping predators compared to satiated ones (Evans et al. 2019; Schadegg and Herberholz 2017).

While various studies have shown that hunger affects behaviors by altering the responses of sensory neurons (Ko et al. 2015; Sayin et al. 2018; Inagaki et al. 2012; Root et al. 2011), others have implicated central mechanisms in feeding state dependent behavioral flexibility (Crossley, Staras, and Kemenes 2018; Lewis et al. 2015; Petzold et al. 2023). We found that the activity of chordotonal mechanosensory neurons that sense the air-puff was not significantly altered upon feeding on sucrose or starvation, contrary to the activity of the downstream neurons. The changes at the level of sensory pathways tunes animals' perception in order to increase their likelihood of finding food and feeding by increasing responsiveness to appetitive and decreasing responsiveness to aversive food-related stimuli. The implication of central mechanisms, on the other hand, may suggest that hunger acts as a global regulator of behavior, i.e. hunger may change brain activity in such a way to reevaluate goals and behavioral strategies in order to increase animals' chances of survival (Smith and Grueter 2021).

Our experiment monitors calcium responses of all the chordotonal sensory neurons together. The different inhibitory and projection neurons in the circuit receive inputs from different chordotonal subtypes. This could also explain the differential modulation of the different neuron subtypes in the circuit if some subtypes of chordotonal are modulated by the changes in the internal state while others are not. However, optogenetic activation of all the chordotonal neurons in the different feeding conditions still resulted in decreased Hunching and increased Head Casting upon starvation or sucrose diet, strongly suggesting that downstream neurons are involved. Even if chordotonals are involved in altering behavior in a state-dependent manner, their modulation is not required to alter the behavior in response to the mechanical stimulus due to the contribution of the downstream circuitry.

Calcium imaging combined with neuronal manipulations revealed that, in the circuit for selecting between the Hunch and the Head Cast, inhibitory neurons (and not the projection neurons) are the target of modulation by the changes in the feeding conditions. Inhibitory neurons were shown to be the target of contextual modulation in other systems (Hsu et al. 2021; Morozova, Newstein, and Marder 2022; Pakan et al. 2016).

Previous work has identified reciprocal inhibition of inhibition as a motif underlying the competition between a startle-type action and an exploratory action (Jovanic et al. 2016). Such a motif was shown to underlie similar computations in different species and brain areas (Jovanic et al. 2016; Chen et al. 2016; Fadok et al. 2017; Koyama et al. 2016; Koyama and Pujala 2018; Mysore and Knudsen 2012; Mysore and Kothari 2020) and was proposed to provide flexibility to the selection process (Jovanic et al. 2016; Koyama and Pujala 2018; Mysore and Kothari 2020). The current study determines that one of the reciprocally connected inhibitory neurons within this motif, LNa type Griddle-2, is modulated by the changes in the feeding conditions and that this modulation contributes to biasing sensorimotor decisions. These results confirm theoretical predictions that such a motif confers the sensorimotor circuit the capacity to be tuned to other types of information, in this case, internal state information (starvation and thirst). Moreover, these findings are in line with predictions that shaping the output of the network through disinhibition by reciprocally connected inhibited neurons allows for flexible, competitive selection (Jovanic et al. 2016; Koyama and Pujala 2018; Mysore and Kothari 2020).

This work shows that another type of inhibitory neuron, Handle-b, which is a feedback inhibitory neuron that provides positive feedback to the Hunch inhibiting Basin-2 neuron through feedback disinhibition, is also modulated by changes in internal physiology. Handle-b is also reciprocally connected to the LNa neurons that participate in the reciprocal inhibition of inhibition motifs. This connectivity pattern suggests that, in addition to competition within the reciprocal inhibition of inhibition motifs, the competition between the two layers of the circuits is also modulated by the changes in internal physiology. Similar to recurrent excitation, the feedback disinhibition motif provides positive feedback that stabilizes the selected output (Jovanic et al. 2016). Using inhibitory rather than excitatory connection may have the advantage of allowing the decisions to be influenced by contextual and state information. In addition, in this circuit architecture, the feedback inhibitory neuron Handle-b contacts both reciprocally connected inhibitory neurons in the circuit and can thus shape the circuit activity at the level of the site of competition. It is thus well suited to be the site of integration of mechanosensory information and information about an animal's state.

The behavioral response of the larvae to a mechanical cue depends on the state of the circuit at the level of reciprocally interconnected inhibitory neurons, which will shape the activity of the Basin projection neurons to either give rise to a state where Basin-1 only is active or a state where Basin-1 and -2 are co-active (Jovanic et al. 2016). We showed that the feeding state-dependent modulation of the Basin-2 neuron is dependent on the modulation of the activity of Handle-b and Griddle-2. Accordingly, genetic co-labeling of Basin-1 or Basin-2 neurons with either sNPFR1 or NPFR1 using the T2A GAL4/LexA technology showed no expression of these neuropeptide receptors in the two Basin neurons. This is in line with the finding that the state-dependent

changes in the air-puff induced sensorimotor decisions are caused by the modulation that acts on the reciprocally interconnected inhibitory neurons that integrate mechanosensory information with current internal state needs.

Previous work revealed that the inhibitory neurons in the mechanosensory circuit are contacted by long-range projection neurons (Jovanic et al. 2016). These long-range projection neurons may carry contextual or state information to the mechanosensory circuit. We found that among these long-range projection neurons is a pair of NPFreleasing neurons that contacts the Handle-b. NPF is a homologue of the mammalian neuropeptide Y that is a hunger signal. NPF neurons have indeed been shown to be involved in hunger dependent behaviors in both adult flies and larvae (Lin, Senapati, and Tsao 2019; Wu et al. 2003). We found that the activity of the NPF descending pair of neurons changes as a function of the feeding state. These neurons could thus convey the information about the satiation state to the mechanosensory circuit and bias the sensorimotor decisions to mechanosensory cues by modulating the activity of the Handle-b. Additionally, the release of NPF at the proximity of the circuit by the NPF neurons (as suggested by the existence of dense core vesicles) could modulate Handleb that expresses the NPFR1 (while other neurons in the circuit do not). The fact that the feedback inhibitory neuron is directly influenced by the NPF neurons supports the idea that it could gate circuit activity in a state dependent manner. Our results indicate that both the feeding state induced changes in locomotor strategy (motivational locomotor state and exploration persistence) and the acute response to transient environmental stimuli are dependent on NPF signaling. The descending NPF neurons could convey information about the internal state to diverse neuronal populations in the VNC to regulate exploratory locomotion and stimulus-dependent motor responses, thus adjusting behavioral interactions with the environment according to the current animal needs. The NPF could serve as an internal state signal that couples various sensorimotor behaviors to the motivational/exploratory state of the animal and its physiological needs, thus regulating behavior across different timescales.

III. A. 2. e. Acknowledgments

Funding. This work was supported by ANR PIA funding: ANR-20-IDEES-0002 (T.J), Agence Nationale de la Recherche: ANR-17-CE37-0019-01 (T.J.), ANR-NEUROMOD (ANR-22-CE37-0027) (T.J.), ANR-NEUC-0002-01 (T.J), Fédération pour la recherche sur le cerveau (FRC) (T.J.), Équipe FRM EQU202303016317 (TJ), Fondation des Treille (E.T.), D. M. received a PhD fellowship from the Paris-Saclay University; Tramway, ANR-17-CE23-0016 (J.B.M), the inception Project PIA/ANR-16-CONV-0005,OG (J.B.M), Investissement d'avenir programme under the management of ANR, ANR-19-P3iA-0001 (PRAIRIE 3IA Institute (J.B.M), German Federal Ministry of Education and Research (BMBF DrosoExpect, 01GQ2103A, M.N.), Ministry of Culture and Science of the State of

Northrhine Westphalia (iBehave, Netzwerke 2021, M.N.). P.S. received a PhD stipendship from the German Research Foundation (DFG-RTG 1960, 233886668, M.N.).

The funders had no role in study design, data collection and analysis, decision to publish, or preparation of the manuscript.

III. A. 2. f. Author contributions

E.T. behavioral and physiology experiments and analysis, Calcium-imaging experiments and analysis; Writing: figures, edits and revisions; D. M. behavioral and analysis, Calcium-imaging experiments experiments and analysis, immunohistochemistry experiments, Writing: original draft, figures; A.B. modeling; P.S. Data analysis; C.B. behavioral classification and analysis, statistical analysis, writing, methods; F. V. behavioral experiments; V. S. behavioral and physiology experiments; A.H. and S. A immunohistochemistry experiments; M.N. supervision, funding acquisition; J.B. Methodology, supervision, funding acquisition, writing- edits and revision; T.J. Conceptualization, analysis, supervision, funding acquisition and project administration; writing: original draft, figures, edits and revision.

III. A. 2. g. Declaration of interests

The authors declare no competing interests.

III. A. 2. h. Material and methods

(1) Drosophila rearing and handling

Flies (*Drosophila Melanogaster*) were raised on a standard food medium (ethanol 2%, methylhydroxybenzoate 0.4%, yeast 8%, cornmeal 8%, and agar 1%) at 18°C. Third instar larvae were collected as follows: male and female flies from the appropriate genotypes were placed together for mating, then transferred at 25°C for 12-16 h on a petri dish containing a fresh food medium for egg laying. The petri dish was then placed at 25°C for 72 h. Foraging third instar larvae were collected from the food medium by using a denser solution of 20% sucrose, scooped with a paint brush into a sieve and gently and quickly washed with water. Larvae used for optogenetic experiments were raised at 25°C in complete darkness, on standard food supplemented with all-trans retinal at 0.25 mM (R240000, Toronto Research Chemicals). The full list of genotypes used in the study can be found in the Supplementary Table 1 Resource table.

(2) Dietary treatments

For dietary treatments, larvae were placed in 60x15 mm circular petri dishes that contained a 45 mm circular Whatman paper. Larvae were subjected to different diets: standard food without agar for "fed" larvae (as described in the Drosophila rearing section), 20% sucrose solution for "protein deprived" larvae, and water for "starved" larvae. The Whatman paper was soaked with 0.6 mL MilliQ water ("starved"), sucrose

solution ("fed on sucrose"), or soaked with 0.6 mL water and 1 mL of standard food medium was added on top ("fed"). Larvae were collected after the appropriate amount of time (90 or 300 min) and rinsed in water before behavioral, imaging, or biochemistry experiments. For the behavioral experiments with rehydration, larvae were collected after 90 minutes, rinsed in water, and placed in a petri dish with a Whatman paper soaked with 0.6 mL water for 15 minutes. Likewise, for the refeeding experiments, starved larvae were collected after 300 minutes, rinsed, and placed for 15 minutes in a petri dish with standard food medium and water as in the "fed" condition. After the treatment, larvae were once more collected and rinsed before the experiment.

(3) Behavioral tracking

We used an apparatus previously described (Masson et al. 2020; Ohyama et al. 2013). Briefly, the apparatus comprises a video camera (Basler ace acA2040-90 Dm) for monitoring larvae, a ring light illuminator (Cree C503B-RCS-CW0Z0AA1 at 624 nm in the red), a computer and a hardware module for controlling air-puff, controlled through multi worm tracker (MWT) software (<u>http://sourceforge.net/projects/mwt</u>) (Ohyama et al. 2013; Swierczek et al. 2011). The arena consisted of a 25625 cm2 square of 3% Bacto agar gel (CONDALAB 1804-5) with charcoal (Herboristerie Moderne, 66000 Perpignan) in a plastic dish, and was changed for each experiment. For optogenetic experiments, plates without charcoal were used, and larvae were tracked thanks to IR light. Collected third instar larvae were washed with water, moderately dried and spread on the agar starting from the center of the arena. We tested approximately 30–100 larvae at once during each experiment. The temperature of the behavioral room was kept at 25°C.

(4) Locomotion analysis

To assess larval locomotion in the absence of stimulation, larvae were placed on top of the agar in the arena inside the tracker, and either tracked for 5 min continuously (intact attP2>UAS-TNT larvaewild type larvae) or for 60s. The coordinates of the 11 points along the central spine and the outline of each larva were computed as described previously (Masson et al. 2020; Ohyama et al. 2013). These 2D X-Y coordinates, structured as time series of irregular framerate, labeled by the instantaneous tracking time of the recording, comprise the raw datasets which have been subsequently analyzed to derive all secondary metrics.

Analysis was performed in python using the <u>larvaworld</u> behavioral analysis and simulation platform (https://pypi.org/project/larvaworld/). The 3-step analysis pipeline included preprocessing, computation of secondary angular, translational and temporal metrics and behavioral epoch detection to annotate strides, runs and pauses, as described previously (Sakagiannis, Jürgensen, and Nawrot 2021). During preprocessing the raw time series were adjusted to a 10 Hz constant framerate by interpolating them

at a 0.1 second timestep. Noise reduction was achieved by applying a low-pass filter with a 2Hz cut-off frequency, a threshold high enough not to alter the crawling-related dynamics around the dominant ~1.4Hz crawling frequency.

For trajectory-based spatial metrics such as pathlength and dispersal, to avoid the cumulative effect of body micromovements, the position of the 9th point along the midline was used as a proxy for the larva's position, a relatively stable rear point unaffected by lateral and translational jitter. To correct for different larval sizes, any metric measured in absolute spatial units (m or mm) can be scaled to body-length, measured in dimensionless body-length units. As the instantaneous body-length of an individual larva fluctuates during crawling due to subsequent stretching and contraction, individual larva length is defined as the median of the midline length across time (total length of the line connecting all 11 midline points). A trajectory's pathlength is the cumulative displacement of the larva during the entire track. Dispersal is the instantaneous straight-line distance relative to its initial position. Track tortuosity was quantified by the straightness index (S.I), computed by advancing a fixed time window (20 seconds in this study) along the track and calculating at each point the ratio of the dispersal to the actual distance traveled. This index, which varies from 0 (no movement) to 1 (straight line movement), can capture very well the complexity of the movement at various scales (set by the window time frame) throughout the track.

For the detection of peristaltic strides and crawl-pauses, the scaled crawling speed time series were used. To this end the dominant crawling frequency for each track was extracted by applying a Fourier analysis and its inverse was used as the expected duration of a peristaltic cycle. A stride was therefore defined as the epoch between two local speed minima, that included a local maximum of at least 0.3 body-lengths/s and lasted between 0.7 and 1.5 times the expected cycle duration. A run was defined as an uninterrupted sequence of consecutive strides and a crawl-pause as an epoch lacking any strides during which the scaled speed was constantly below the 0.3 body-lengths/s threshold.

(5) Air-puff stimulation during behavioral tracking

Air-puff was delivered as described previously (Jovanic et al. 2016; Masson et al. 2020; Ohyama et al. 2013) to the 25625 cm2 arena at a pressure of 1.1 MPa through a 3D-printed flare nozzle placed above the arena, with a 16 cm x 0.17 cm opening, connected through a tubing system to plant supplied compressed air. The strength of the airflow was controlled through a regulator downstream from the air amplifier and turned on and off with a solenoid valve (Parker Skinner 71215SN2GN00). Air-flow rates at 9 different positions in the arena were measured with a hot-wire anemometer to ensure consistent coverage of the arena across experimental days. The air-current relay was triggered through TTL pulses delivered by a Measurement Computing PCI-CTR05 5-channel, counter/timer board at the direction of the MWT. The onset and duration of the stimulus were also controlled through the MWT. Larvae were left to crawl freely on the agar plate for 60 seconds prior to stimulus delivery. air-puff was delivered at the 60th second and applied for 30 seconds.

(6) Behavior classification and analysis

Behaviors were detected thanks to a custom-made machine learning algorithm that was previously described (Masson et al. 2020). Behaviors were defined as mutually exclusive actions. Larvae were tracked using MWT software, all the time series of the contours and the spine of individual larvae are obtained using Choreography. From these times series some features are computed, center of the larva, velocities, etc., all key features are presented in (Masson et al. 2020). Behavior classification consists of a hierarchical procedure that were trained separately based on a limited amount of manually annotated data. Here, we required a more detailed definition of behavior. Hence, we extended the hierarchy with another layer to separate some Bends and Hunches, between different behaviors. Bends were separated into Static Bend, Head-Cast (see the description of each behavior below). We take all the Bends, Hunches and Back-ups obtained by the first classification algorithm, to reclassify with new annotated data on new lines.

(7) Action definition

Head Cast: dynamic bends in which the head moves laterally from one side to the other. There are two exits from Head-Cast in both the head moves strongly, but one that is slower and the tail moves at the same speed as the center of mass, and on the contrary a second one where the tail moves a lot (fast Head-Cast).

Static Bend: Low speed turning movement, and where the head moves little, and the angle between the segment between the center of mass and the head and the center of mass and the tail remains constant.

(8) New annotated data.

We required new annotated data to ensure the classifier matched the phenotype of the larva used in these experiments. The sets of, Hunch, Bends, Backs and Crawls were manually tagged from actions selected using the (Masson et al. 2020) old behavior classification pipeline. A few numbers of tags are used for the model.

(9) New features.

To train the new layer of the pipeline, we combined features that were previously evaluated in the classifier's preceding layer with new features. Each characteristic is calculated for the time step we are examining and the three time steps before and after.

- The three velocities include the head velocity, the motion velocity, and the tail velocity, all normalized by the length of the larva. The motion velocity is the velocity of center of mass return by the MWT software. Head and tail are the terminal point of the spine; The averaging along the spine curve and its derivative, $S = \frac{1}{2}(3 \langle cos^2\theta \rangle 1)$ with $cos \theta$ the scalar product between normalized vectors associated to a segment of the spine and the direction of the larva body.
- The shape factor $\lambda = \frac{\lambda_1 \lambda_2}{\lambda_1 + \lambda_2}$ with λ_i the eigenvalues of the mean covariance matrix of movement which characterizes the shape of the larva and takes value between 0 and 1.

We have also introduced new features:

- The ratio between the length of the head-center of mass and the tail-center of mass $\frac{||\overline{HG}||}{||\overline{TG}||}$ with H,T and G respectively coordinate points of the head, the tail and the center of the masse
- The projection of the head and tail velocity on the spine of the larva. If we note the velocity vector of the head HV_h with H coordinate point of the head and V_h the coordinate point at the end of the velocity vector, the projection point satisfies the basic relationship: $||V_h V'_h|| = \min ||V_h x||$ with $x \in \overrightarrow{r_{sl}}$.
- The cosine of the angle between the vector of the head (tail) velocity and the first (last) segment of the larva. $cos(\theta) = \frac{\overrightarrow{r_{s1}} \cdot \overrightarrow{v_{head}}}{||\overrightarrow{r_{s1}}|| \cdot ||\overrightarrow{v_{head}}||}$ with $\overrightarrow{v_{head}}$ the vector velocity of the head and $\overrightarrow{r_{s1}}$ the first vector of the spine.

All features are normalized by the length of the larva to ensure scale-free properties.

(10) New classifications

We employed a Random Forest algorithm for classification, distinguishing each time step of original Bends, Hunches, and Backs into new categories. We conducted ten random forests on all Hunch and back tags, along with a random selection of a thousand bends, utilizing balanced weights. The predicted behavior represents the most probable outcome, with each random forest's confusion matrix exceeding 80% accuracy for each behavior.

To address the issue of having a behavior span only two time steps, which is not biologically plausible, we introduced a preventive measure by adding five time steps before and after the behavior. Additionally, to mitigate noisy results, we implemented smoothing. This involved excluding behaviors with fewer than three time steps, logically categorizing them as the behavior before or after (based on the length of the behavior and behaviors N+2 and N-2). According to our knowledge, Hunch behavior initiates at the beginning of stimulation, around 60 second (Jovanic et al. 2016; Masson et al. 2020). Larvae typically do not exhibit multiple Hunches. In cases where they do, we classify the second Hunch as a cast, a classification verified through ground truthing. We applied the same threshold as outlined in (Masson et al. 2020) to the effective length change during the behavior. If a Hunch fails to surpass this threshold, the time window is assigned to the small behavior. The threshold is not the same depending on the line, some lines were slower or smaller than others (threshold between 0.6 and 0.3). The validation of these thresholds was performed through ground truthing, contributing to the enhancement of classification, particularly in cases where performance may be suboptimal for certain lines.

The distinction between Static Bends and Head-Cast is determined by applying a threshold to the head velocity. If bending occurs over 'n' time steps, the motion velocity normalized by the length of 'P%' of those 'n' time steps must be below 'p' times the mean head velocity of the larva before the stimulation. The values of the two thresholds, 'P' and 'p', are line-specific, contingent upon the statistical characteristics of the velocity for that particular line; some lines are slower than others.

We computed the cumulative probabilities of actions (Stop, Hunch, Back-up) during five seconds after stimulus onset (as described in Masson *et al*, 2020), only in larvae that were tracked during the entire time window. For actions that occur during baseline locomotion and at high frequency (Crawl and Head Cast), we computed the mean probability over five seconds after stimulus onset and over three seconds starting one second after stimulus onset. We corrected the mean probabilities for these actions by the mean probability computed over twenty seconds of recording prior to stimulus onset. For optogenetic activation of the mechanosensory neurons, because the dynamic of the response was different to that of air-puff experiments, the time window used for computing the cumulative probability of Hunching was two seconds after the stimulus onset and that for bending probability was ten seconds after stimulus onset, by which time bending probability reached baseline levels in larvae fed on standard food. Transition probabilities were computed as the frequency of transition from one action to another over five seconds after stimulus onset, for larvae that were tracked throughout this entire duration.

(11) Food intake quantification

In order to measure food intake, we quantified the amount of fluorescent food inside the digestive tract of larvae that were allowed to feed ad libitum for 15 min on fluorescent feeding media. To this end, Rhodamine B (Sigma R6626-25G) was diluted in different feeding media (water, yeast extract, sucrose solution or normal food medium, see in media section) to a final concentration of 0.20 µmol/L. 0.8 ml L of each food medium was poured on top of a circular Whatman paper (Fisher scientific, Cytiva 1001-045) placed into a petri dish. 10 larvae were placed into each petri dish. After 15 min of ad libitum feeding on the fluorescent medium, larvae were collected, rinsed in ethanol and in water, and immediately mounted under a coverslip for imaging. Intact larvae were imaged thanks to a fluorescent dye was quantified for each larva thanks to a custom-made Fiji script. This script quantified the number of pixels whose intensity was above background.

(12) Sucrose preference

To measure the preference of larvae between a sucrose-containing agar and a water-containing agar, we performed a place-preference assay. To this end, we prepared petri dishes filled with 0.3% agar diluted in water, divided each agar in two halves, and transferred one half into a new petri dish. Then, we filled the missing half in each petri dish with 0.3% agar diluted in a 20% sucrose solution. Therefore, each petri dish finally contained one side with 20% sucrose agar and one side with agar only.

After cooling down, about 20 third instar larvae were put on the midline of a petri dish and the dish was imaged every 30 s in a behavioral tracker. The number of larvae on each side was then counted over time, excluding the larvae touching the limit between the two media. The preference index was then calculated as: PI = (Ns - Na)/Ntot, where Ns is the number of larvae on the sucrose side, Na the number of larvae on the agar side, and Ntot the total number of larvae.

(13) Carbohydrate measurements

To measure carbohydrates concentrations inside larval hemolymph, we combined and adapted different methods already published (Matsuda et al. 2015; Matsushita and Nishimura 2020). Glucose measurements - Groups of 5 third instar larvae were rinsed in water and placed on a parafilm layer and their cuticle was cut with forceps. 2 μ L of the bleeding hemolymph was collected from each group, and 1 μ L of 0.05 g/L Nphenylthiourea diluted in PBS was added to avoid darkening of the samples. Samples were heat-inactivated by a 10 min incubation at 90°C and centrifuged 10 min at 10 000 rpm. 1 μ L of the supernatant was then mixed with 4 μ L of glucose assay kit (Sigma GAHK20-1KT) and incubated for 1 h at 37°C. Absorbance at 340 nm was measured against the blank thanks to a NanoDrop following the manufacturer's instructions. Hemolymph glucose concentration was finally calculated thanks to a standard curve of glucose concentration.

Trehalose measurements - Groups of 10 third instar larvae were rinsed in water and placed on a parafilm layer and their cuticle was cut with forceps. 3 μ L of the bleeding hemolymph was collected from each group, and 97 μ L of 0.05 g/L N-phenylthiourea diluted in trehalase buffer (Tris pH 5.5 5 mM, NaCl 137 mM, KCl 2.7 mM) was added to avoid darkening of the samples. Samples were heat-inactivated at 70°C for 10 min, centrifuged for 10 min at 10 000 rpm, and 5 μ L of the supernatant were either mixed to 5 μ L of trehalase (Sigma T8778-1UN) diluted in trehalase buffer (described above) to a 500 dilution. Samples were incubated at 37°C overnight. 1 μ L of each sample was then mixed with 4 μ L of glucose assay kit (Sigma GAHK20-1KT) and incubated for 1 h at 37°C. Absorbance at 340 nm was measured against the appropriate blank thanks to a NanoDrop following the manufacturer's instructions. Trehalose concentrations and by additionally subtracting the concentration of glucose in the sample without trehalase.

(14) Histochemistry labeling

To determine the neurotransmitter identification in the interneurons, immunolabeling was performed from the split lines or Gal4 lines crossed to UAS-myr::GFP, or LexA lines crossed to LexAop-myr::GFP. The VNC was dissected out from 3rd instar larvae and fixed with 4% PFA for 45 min at room temperature. After rinsing in PBS, ten minutes permeabilization in PBS-T and two hours blocking in PBS-T-BSA 1%, the CNS preparations were incubated at 4°C (one to three nights) in the first antibodies raised against neurotransmitter and GFP in PBS-T. Then they were incubated at 4°C (one to two nights) in fluorophore-coupled secondary antibodies in PBS-T raised against species of the first antibodies. After rinsing, the preparations were mounted in an antibleaching mounting medium (SlowFade Gold, ThermoFisher S36939) under a cover slip. The confocal images were captured with a Leica SP8 confocal laser microscope. Alexa Fluor 488 was excited with a laser light of 488 nm, Cy3 with a laser light of 561 nm, Alexa Fluor 647 with a light of 633 nm wavelength.

(15) Neuropeptide receptor characterisation

In order to characterize the expression pattern of sNPFR and NPFR in the circuit, expression of two genetically encoded reporter proteins of two different colors was targeted to two different subsets of neurons. To this aim, a T2A Gal-4 (P.-T. Lee et al. 2018) or LexA (for sNPFR and NPFR respectively) was used to express LexAop-jRGeco1a or UAS-GCaMP6s (for sNPFR and NPFR respectively) under the control of the promoter of the gene coding for that receptor, thus tagging all neurons which express the receptor transcript. A second genetic driver (LexA for sNPFR and Gal4 for NPFR) was used to individually label target neurons of the circuit with a second reporter protein (UAS-GCaMP6s for sNPFR and LexAop-jRGeco1a for NPFR). The VNC was then dissected and stained with antibodies as described in the previous section.

To the best of our knowledge, no clean or sparse LexA line exists to selectively target the Handle-B and Griddle-2 inhibitory interneuron. For sNPFR expression in Griddle-2, the LexA line L55C05 used targets many neurons in addition to Griddle-2. Griddle-2 could nevertheless be identified by comparing the cell body position and projections in the cross-section of the anterior abdominal segments of the CNS of the R55C05 LexA line and the sparse R55C05 GAL4 line that selectively labels griddle-2 in the VNC (see Extended Data Fig. 7B).

For Handle-B we used a L60E02-LexA line for which a neuron with a cell boy in the midline resembling Handle-B is part of a very dense expression pattern. In order to confirm that the candidate neuron was indeed Handle-B, we used the selective split-Gal4 line GMR_SS00888 that specifically labels only Handle-B neurons. We expressed two reporters of different colors (LexAop-GCaMP6s and UAS-Chrimson-mCherry under the control of GMR_SS00888 and L60E02 in the same larva. The colocalization confirmed the line 60E02-LexA to target Handle-B (Extended Data Fig. 7C).

(16) In vivo imaging of intact larvae

Because opening the cuticle might affect the larval internal state, we developed a simple preparation for the imaging of intact larvae. For this purpose, third instar larvae were rinsed in water, and mounted between a 2 cm circular coverslip and a custom-made device that delivers mechanical stimulations in low melting point agarose 4% (melted in phosphate buffer saline), ventral side facing up. Larvae were gently squeezed

in this position until agar cooled down, so that the ventral nerve cord could be imaged through the cuticle.

All Gal4 and LexA drivers used for *in vivo* imaging are listed in the figure legends. The imaging plane was restricted to the location of the projections of neurons of interest, in particular when sparse lines that lacked specificity towards a unique neuronal type were used (R22E09).

Mechanical stimulations were generated by a waveform generator (Siglent sdg1032x) connected to a quick-mount extension actuator (Piezo Systems, Inc.), which was embedded in the sylgard-coated recording chamber (Sylgard Silicone Elastomer, WPI). The stimulation was set at 1000 Hz, with an intensity of 1 to 20 V applied to the actuator. The amplitude of the acceleration produced by the actuator was measured thanks to a triple axis accelerometer (Sparkfun electronics ADXL313) connected to a RedBoard (Sparkfun electronics) and bound to the sylgard surface thanks to high vacuum grease. Acceleration was 1.14 m.s⁻² at 20 V, and 0.61 m.s⁻² at 10 V. Mechanical stimulations were precisely triggered by the Leica SP8 software thanks to the Leica "Live Data Mode" and to a trigger box branched to the scanning head of the microscope. A typical stimulation experiment consisted in 5 s of recording without stimulation, then 5 s of stimulation, and 5 s of recording in the absence of stimulation.

For optogenetic activation during in vivo imaging, larvae were mounted in the dark, with the least intensity of light possible in the room, to avoid nonspecific activation of the targeted neurons. Optogenetic stimulation of CsChrimson was achieved by a 617-nm wavelength LED (Thorlabs, M617F2), controlled by a LED driver (Thorlabs, LEDD1B) connected to the waveform generator, and conveyed through a Ø 400 μ m Core Patch Cable (Thorlabs) to the imaging field. Optogenetics stimulations were triggered at 50 Hz, 50% duty during 1 s, concomitantly to mechanical stimulations thanks to the waveform generator. Irradiance was measured at the level of the imaging field at 500 μ W using a PM16-130 THORLABS photometer.

Imaging was achieved with 1-photon or 2-photon scanning Leica SP8 microscope, at 200 Hz, with a resolution of 512 x 256 pixels or 512 x 190 pixels. The rate of acquisition was 1 frame/s or 2 frames/s depending on the experiment. For Basin-2 recordings, the stimulation was repeated 5 times with resting intervals of 60 s in order to calculate a frequency of response. Recordings where the dF/F averaged over the whole stimulus duration did not exceed 10% were considered as failed responses. Optogenetic experiments were conducted with 2-photon imaging.

When the projections of the neurons were not visible before stimulation (imaging of Handle-b upon NPFR knockdown), we used resonance scanning with 10 line

accumulation and 6 frame averaging to increase the signal. This resulted in one image being taken each second and in the dF/F being lower than usual. With these settings one recording was acquired per larva.

Neuronal processes were imaged in the VNC at the axonal level and fluorescence intensity was measured by manually drawing a region of interest (ROI) in the relevant areas using custom Fiji macros. Data were further analyzed using customized MATLAB scripts. F0 was defined as the mean fluorescence in the ROI during baseline recording, in the absence of mechanical stimulus or optogenetic activation. Δ F/F0 was defined at each time step t in the ROI as: Δ F/F0 = (F(t) - F0)/F0.

For recording the baseline activity level of NPF neurons, one frame was recorded each second for 20 seconds and, for each larva, the frame showing the most intense fluorescence in the neuronal projections was used to evaluate its raw fluorescence level.

For imaging neurons in different feeding conditions, the effect of food treatment on the expression level of fluorescent reporter proteins was assessed by expressing GFP in the chordotonal neurons. Fluorescence was measured after exposing larvae to different food treatments.

(17) Statistical analysis

(a) Locomotion analysis

For all boxplots and histograms pairwise Mann-Whitney tests were used to evaluate significant differences between larva groups, with Bonferroni correction for multiple comparisons. Significance was illustrated according to the p-value by asterisks in histograms (*:<0.05, **:<0.01, ***:<0.001, ****:<0.0001) and by pairs of colored semicircles in boxplots, the left always corresponds to the group with highest mean value. Non-significant tests were omitted for visual clarity.

(b) Behavior probabilities

Chi² tests were used for statistical analysis of behavioral and transition probabilities.

To assess the effects of different states/neuronal manipulations on Head Casting in response to air-puff, we calculated an estimator designed to identify the emergence of behaviors at the population scale. We aim to determine the probability induced by the stimulation, so we need to subtract the stationary probability without the stimulus. We calculate the probability of larvae bending 5 seconds after the stimulus, on tracking larvae throughout this time window (denoted as p_A). For the probability of bending before the stimulus, we consider all larvae tracked continuously for 20 seconds prior to the stimulus, between 30 and 50 seconds (denoted as p_B). A probability is defined as $p_k = N_k/N_{k,all}$ with $k \in \{A, B\}$ and $N_{k,all}$ the total number of larva taking to compute

probabilities. In order to quantify the effect of the stimulus we defined $\chi = p_A - p_B$ as the difference in the ratio after and before the stimulus.

In order to compare test line our estimator was defined as

 $\Theta(p,q) = \chi(p) - \chi(q)$ with p and q the ratios of the lines and the control respectively. $\Theta(p,q)$ takes value in [-1,1]. The null hypothesis is $\Theta(p,q) = 0$, if there are no differences between the line tested and the control. Positive or negative values indicate an effect of neuron silencing when compared to the control.

We use numerical simulations to conduct a statistical test where $\{p_k, q_k\}$ are generated from a hypergeometric distribution, $X \sim Hypergeometric(N_{k,all}, N_k, 1)$. We perform $N_{sim} = 10^3$ repetitions, computing $\Theta(p,q)$ each time. The p-value is determined by the number of instances when the hypothesis is not verified, divided by the total number of repetitions, (pseudo-code in Jovanic *et al*, 2016).

Note that this estimator, $\Theta(p, q)$, has the advantage of being able to detect the nonsynchronous emergence of a behavior at a population scale. For example, head casting can either emerge as an immediate response to the puff or as the second response after Hunching. The statistics of start time of Head Casting is thus widely distributed at the population scale. Time evolution of the instantaneous ratio of larva performing bending would not exhibit a strong increase after stimuli because larvae are not all going to bend immediately after stimuli. $\Theta(p,q)$ by accumulating events during a time window allows efficient detection of a behavior even if it is widely distributed in time.

(c) Calcium imaging

All data in line plots are presented as mean ± SEM. Violin plots show the first and third quartiles, the average of all recordings as a white line and the median as a white dot. Comparisons of the data series between two conditions were achieved by a two-tailed unpaired t-test. Comparisons between more than two distinct groups were made using a one-way ANOVA test, followed by Bonferroni pairwise comparisons between the experimental groups and their controls.

(18) Mathematical model

We reproduced and extended the rate-based system model of the circuit that was published in a previous publication (Jovanic et al. 2016). The circuit is described as a rate model with a connection matrix derived from the larva connectome. Each neuron population (mechano-ch, iLNa, iLNb, fbLN-Ha and fLN-Hb) was modeled by a single node (Fig. 3C-E). The dynamics read:

$$\tau \frac{d\mathbf{r}}{dt} = -\mathbf{V_0} - \mathbf{r} + \mathbf{s} + i + k_{ex} \left(\mathbf{r} - \mathbf{r}^{\max}\right) \left(\underline{\mathbf{A}}^{\mathrm{ex}} \mathbf{r} - \underline{\mathbf{A}}^{\mathrm{in}} \mathbf{r}\right)$$

(1)

with \Box representing the vector of the characteristic time constants of the neurons, **r** the rate vector, **V**₀ the threshold vector, **s** the sensory stimulus input vector, **i** the vector of inputs from other brain regions, k_{ex} a sensitivity factor to overall input, \mathbf{r}^{max} the maximal rate vector, <u>A</u>^{ex} and <u>A</u>ⁱⁿ respectively the excitatory and inhibitory coupling matrices.

Values in <u>A</u>ⁱⁿ and <u>A</u>^{ex} were directly extracted from synaptic counts (see Jovanic *et al.*, 2016).

In order to represent the variety of stimuli larvae are subjected to, and thus the variety of behavior they elicit, we follow the approach in (Jovanic et al. 2016) and vary the connection strength between Mch and iLNa populations. In the original paper, the connection strength between Mch and iLNb populations is also varied. We decided to fix the value of this connection strength at 2 in order to reduce the number of parameters to explore.

We used the *solve_ivp* routine of the integration package from SciPy, which internally calls the LSODA solver, able to switch between the Adams method and the BDF method, based on the stiffness of the equation. We used relative and absolute tolerances of 10^{-3} . Additionally, the solution vector is constrained to stay positive. This is obtained by replacing r by max(r, 0), and the components of r' by those of max(r', 0) whenever the corresponding component of r is smaller than 10^{-9} .

The behavior is defined based on the end state of the network and, more specifically, the rates of the neurons B1 and B2. We used a k-means clustering with k=2 to separate the values of the output neurons for an ensemble of simulations corresponding to connection strengths spanning [0.5, 1.5] between MCh and iLNa, and [1.5, 2.5] between iLNa and iLNb. The output activations cluster strongly in a coactive state (rate(B1) > 0, rate(B2) > 0) corresponding to bends, and a monoactive state (rate(B1) > 0, rate(B2) > 0) corresponding to bends, and a monoactive state (rate(B1) > 0, rate(B2) = 0) corresponding to Hunches. The two behaviors can also be distinguished by the single scalar rate(B2)/rate(B1), which is positive for bends and zero for Hunches. This ratio is sometimes plotted instead of the discrete category.

We explore two models for neuromodulation, which modify the behavior output of the network without altering its connectivity.

The first model hypothesizes that in the sucrose state, Hb receives an additional input current, modeled by a nonzero entry to the vector **i**. We show that as this input current increases, the range of stimuli evoking bends increases, allowing us to claim that an additional input current to Hb increases the likelihood of bends. We further fix the value of the input current to 10 a.u. in the sucrose state and 0 a.u. in the fed state, to perform silencing analyses.

The second model hypothesizes that in the sucrose state, the maximum rate for the iLNa neuron population is decreased, representing a saturation of the response to external stimuli. We show that as the r_{max} parameter for iLNa decreases, the range of stimuli evoking bends increases, consistent with experimental observations and once again despite the use of arbitrary units. For silencing analyses, we define the sucrose state as $r_{max} = 18$ a.u. and the fed state as $r_{max} = 20$ a.u.

Finally, we also consider a model combining both hypotheses. In this model, every combination of a decrease in r_{max} for iLNa and an increase in input current to Hb results in more bend. For silencing analyses, we fix the exact values of those parameters. In the combined model, we define the sucrose set by setting each parameter to the value defining the sucrose state in the single hypothesis models.

k _{ex}	2.5
i	[0, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0] in fed state
	the combined model
r _{max}	[20, 20, 20, 20, 20, 20, 20] in fed state
	[20, 20, 20, 20, 20, 20, 18] in sucrose state for the combined model
V ₀	[0, 20, 20, 20, 20, 20, 20]
	[1, 35, 35, 35, 35, 35, 35]

We provide here the list of parameters used in the simulations.

The excitatory and inhibitory matrices read

	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	1.5	0	0	0	0	0	0
	0.75	0	0	0	0	0	0
$A_{ex} =$	2	0	0	0	0	0	0
	$W_{\rm iLNa}$	0	0	0	0	0	0
	0	0.2	0.2	0	0	0	0
	0.4	0	0.5	0	0	0	0

	0	0	0	0	0	0	0]
	0	0	0	1.7648	1.3841	0	0
	0	0	0	1	5.9167	0	0
$A_{in} =$	0	0	0	0	3.3744	1.6659	2.191
	0	0	0	2.7133	0	1.1010	3.3031
	0	0	0	1.8411	1.1158	0	0
	0	0	0	1.7331	2.2145	0	0

III. A. 2. i. References

- 1. Allen, W.E., Chen, M.Z., Pichamoorthy, N., Tien, R.H., Pachitariu, M., Luo, L., and Deisseroth, K. (2019). Thirst regulates motivated behavior through modulation of brainwide neural population dynamics. Science *364*, 253. 10.1126/science.aav3932.
- Anderberg, R.H., Hansson, C., Fenander, M., Richard, J.E., Dickson, S.L., Nissbrandt, H., Bergquist, F., and Skibicka, K.P. (2016). The Stomach-Derived Hormone Ghrelin Increases Impulsive Behavior. Neuropsychopharmacol. Off. Publ. Am. Coll. Neuropsychopharmacol. 41, 1199–1209. 10.1038/npp.2015.297.
- Burnett, C.J., Li, C., Webber, E., Tsaousidou, E., Xue, S.Y., Brüning, J.C., and Krashes, M.J. (2016). Hunger-Driven Motivational State Competition. Neuron *92*, 187–201. 10.1016/j.neuron.2016.08.032.
- Eiselt, A.-K., Chen, S., Chen, J., Arnold, J., Kim, T., Pachitariu, M., and Sternson, S.M. (2021). Hunger or thirst state uncertainty is resolved by outcome evaluation in medial prefrontal cortex to guide decision-making. Nat. Neurosci. 24, 907–912. 10.1038/s41593-021-00850-4.
- 5. Jourjine, N. (2017). Hunger and thirst interact to regulate ingestive behavior in flies and mammals. BioEssays *39*, 1600261. 10.1002/bies.201600261.

- 6. Jourjine, N., Mullaney, B.C., Mann, K., and Scott, K. (2016). Coupled Sensing of Hunger and Thirst Signals Balances Sugar and Water Consumption. Cell *166*, 855–866. 10.1016/j.cell.2016.06.046.
- 7. Smith, N.K., and Grueter, B.A. (2021). Hunger-driven adaptive prioritization of behavior. FEBS J. 10.1111/febs.15791.
- 8. Inagaki, H.K., Panse, K.M., and Anderson, D.J. (2014). Independent, reciprocal neuromodulatory control of sweet and bitter taste sensitivity during starvation in Drosophila. Neuron *84*, 806–820. 10.1016/j.neuron.2014.09.032.
- 9. Ko, K.I., Root, C.M., Lindsay, S.A., Zaninovich, O.A., Shepherd, A.K., Wasserman, S.A., Kim, S.M., and Wang, J.W. (2015). Starvation promotes concerted modulation of appetitive olfactory behavior via parallel neuromodulatory circuits. eLife *4*, 691. 10.7554/eLife.08298.
- 10. Loch, D., Breer, H., and Strotmann, J. (2015). Endocrine Modulation of Olfactory Responsiveness: Effects of the Orexigenic Hormone Ghrelin. Chem. Senses 40, 469– 479. 10.1093/chemse/bjv028.
- Sayin, S., Boehm, A.C., Kobler, J.M., De Backer, J.-F., and Grunwald Kadow, I.C. (2018). Internal State Dependent Odor Processing and Perception—The Role of Neuromodulation in the Fly Olfactory System. Front. Cell. Neurosci. 12. 10.3389/fncel.2018.00011.
- Bräcker, L.B., Siju, K.P., Varela, N., Aso, Y., Zhang, M., Hein, I., Vasconcelos, M.L., and Grunwald Kadow, I.C. (2013). Essential Role of the Mushroom Body in Context-Dependent CO2 Avoidance in Drosophila. Curr. Biol. 23, 1228–1234. 10.1016/j.cub.2013.05.029.
- 13. Crossley, M., Staras, K., and Kemenes, G. (2018). A central control circuit for encoding perceived food value. Sci. Adv. *4*, eaau9180. 10.1126/sciadv.aau9180.
- 14. Filosa, A., Barker, A.J., Dal Maschio, M., and Baier, H. (2016). Feeding State Modulates Behavioral Choice and Processing of Prey Stimuli in the Zebrafish Tectum. Neuron 90, 596–608. 10.1016/j.neuron.2016.03.014.
- Padilla, S.L., Qiu, J., Soden, M.E., Sanz, E., Nestor, C.C., Barker, F.D., Quintana, A., Zweifel, L.S., Rønnekleiv, O.K., Kelly, M.J., et al. (2016). Agouti-related peptide neural circuits mediate adaptive behaviors in the starved state. Nat. Neurosci. *19*, 734–741. 10.1038/nn.4274.
- 16. Card, G.M. (2012). Escape behaviors in insects. Curr. Opin. Neurobiol. 22, 180–186. 10.1016/j.conb.2011.12.009.
- 17. Evans, D.A., Stempel, A.V., Vale, R., and Branco, T. (2019). Cognitive Control of Escape Behaviour. Trends Cogn. Sci. *23*, 334–348. 10.1016/j.tics.2019.01.012.

- Imambocus, B.N., Zhou, F., Formozov, A., Wittich, A., Tenedini, F.M., Hu, C., Sauter, K., Varela, E.M., Herédia, F., Casimiro, A.P., et al. (2022). A neuropeptidergic circuit gates selective escape behavior of Drosophila larvae. Curr. Biol. *32*, 149-163.e8. 10.1016/j.cub.2021.10.069.
- 19. Peek, M.Y., and Card, G.M. (2016). Comparative approaches to escape. Curr. Opin. Neurobiol. *41*, 167–173. 10.1016/j.conb.2016.09.012.
- 20. Ache, J.M., Namiki, S., Lee, A., Branson, K., and Card, G.M. (2019). State-dependent decoupling of sensory and motor circuits underlies behavioral flexibility in Drosophila. Nat. Neurosci. *22*, 1132–1139. 10.1038/s41593-019-0413-4.
- 21. Devineni, A.V., and Scaplen, K.M. (2022). Neural Circuits Underlying Behavioral Flexibility: Insights From Drosophila. Front. Behav. Neurosci. *15*, 350. 10.3389/fnbeh.2021.821680.
- 22. Oram, T.B., and Card, G.M. (2022). Context-dependent control of behavior in Drosophila. Curr. Opin. Neurobiol. *73*, 102523. 10.1016/j.conb.2022.02.003.
- 23. Schadegg, A.C., and Herberholz, J. (2017). Satiation level affects anti-predatory decisions in foraging juvenile crayfish. J. Comp. Physiol. A Neuroethol. Sens. Neural. Behav. Physiol. *203*, 223–232. 10.1007/s00359-017-1158-8.
- 24. Dickinson, P.S. (2006). Neuromodulation of central pattern generators in invertebrates and vertebrates. Curr. Opin. Neurobiol. *16*, 604–614. 10.1016/j.conb.2006.10.007.
- Eriksson, A., Raczkowska, M., Navawongse, R., Choudhury, D., Stewart, J.C., Tang, Y.L., Wang, Z., and Claridge-Chang, A. (2017). Neuromodulatory circuit effects on Drosophila feeding behaviour and metabolism. Sci. Rep. 7, 8839. 10.1038/s41598-017-08466-0.
- 26. Krasne, F.B., and Edwards, D.H. (2002). Modulation of the crayfish escape reflex-physiology and neuroethology. Integr. Comp. Biol. *42*, 705–715. 10.1093/icb/42.4.705.
- 27. Lin, S., Senapati, B., and Tsao, C.-H. (2019). Neural basis of hunger-driven behaviour in Drosophila. Open Biol. *9*, 180259. 10.1098/rsob.180259.
- 28. Marder, E. (2012). Neuromodulation of neuronal circuits: back to the future. Neuron *76*, 1–11. 10.1016/j.neuron.2012.09.010.
- 29. Taghert, P.H., and Nitabach, M.N. (2012). Peptide neuromodulation in invertebrate model systems. Neuron *76*, 82–97. 10.1016/j.neuron.2012.08.035.
- 30. Tierney, A.J. (2020). Feeding, hunger, satiety and serotonin in invertebrates. Proc. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci. *287*. 10.1098/rspb.2020.1386.

- Lewis, L.P.C., Siju, K.P., Aso, Y., Friedrich, A.B., Bulteel, A.J.B., Rubin, G.M., and Grunwald Kadow, I.C. (2015). A Higher Brain Circuit for Immediate Integration of Conflicting Sensory Information in Drosophila. Curr. Biol. CB 25, 2203–2214. 10.1016/j.cub.2015.07.015.
- 32. Jovanic, T. (2020). Studying neural circuit of decision-making in Drosophilalarva. J. Neurogenet. 55, 1–9. 10.1080/01677063.2020.1719407.
- 33. Eschbach, C., and Zlatic, M. (2020). Useful road maps: studying Drosophila larva's central nervous system with the help of connectomics. Curr. Opin. Neurobiol. *65*, 129–137. 10.1016/j.conb.2020.09.008.
- 34. Ohyama, T., Schneider-Mizell, C.M., Fetter, R.D., Aleman, J.V., Franconville, R., Rivera-Alba, M., Mensh, B.D., Branson, K.M., Simpson, J.H., Truman, J.W., et al. (2015). A multilevel multimodal circuit enhances action selection in Drosophila. Nature *520*, 633–639. 10.1038/nature14297.
- 35. Jovanic, T., Schneider-Mizell, C.M., Shao, M., Masson, J.-B., Denisov, G., Fetter, R.D., Mensh, B.D., Truman, J.W., Cardona, A., and Zlatic, M. (2016). Competitive Disinhibition Mediates Behavioral Choice and Sequences in Drosophila. Cell *167*, 858-870.e19. 10.1016/j.cell.2016.09.009.
- 36. Schneider-Mizell, C.M., Gerhard, S., Longair, M., Kazimiers, T., Li, F., Zwart, M.F., Champion, A., Midgley, F.M., Fetter, R.D., Saalfeld, S., et al. (2016). Quantitative neuroanatomy for connectomics in Drosophila. eLife *5*, 1133. 10.7554/eLife.12059.
- Hu, C., Petersen, M., Hoyer, N., Spitzweck, B., Tenedini, F., Wang, D., Gruschka, A., Burchardt, L.S., Szpotowicz, E., Schweizer, M., et al. (2017). Sensory integration and neuromodulatory feedback facilitate Drosophila mechanonociceptive behavior. Nat. Publ. Group *20*, 1085–1095. 10.1038/nn.4580.
- 38. Nässel, D.R., and Zandawala, M. (2019). Recent advances in neuropeptide signaling in Drosophila, from genes to physiology and behavior. Prog. Neurobiol. *179*, 101607. 10.1016/j.pneurobio.2019.02.003.
- 39. Lehman, M., Barre, C., Hasan, M.A., Flament, B., Autran, S., Dhiman, N., Soba, P., Masson, J.-B., and Jovanic, T. (2023). Neural circuits underlying context-dependent competition between defensive actions in Drosophila larva. Preprint at bioRxiv, 10.1101/2023.12.24.573276 10.1101/2023.12.24.573276.
- 40. Gershow, M., Berck, M., Mathew, D., Luo, L., Kane, E.A., Carlson, J.R., and Samuel, A.D.T. (2012). Controlling airborne cues to study small animal navigation. Nat. Methods *9*, 290–296. 10.1038/nmeth.1853.
- 41. Jovanic, T., Winding, M., Cardona, A., Truman, J.W., Gershow, M., and Zlatic, M. (2019). Neural Substrates of Drosophila Larval Anemotaxis. Curr. Biol. CB *29*, 554-566.e4. 10.1016/j.cub.2019.01.009.

- 42. Gomez-Marin, A., and Louis, M. (2014). Multilevel control of run orientation in Drosophila larval chemotaxis. Front. Behav. Neurosci. *8*, 38. 10.3389/fnbeh.2014.00038.
- 43. Klein, M., Afonso, B., Vonner, A.J., Hernandez-Nunez, L., Berck, M., Tabone, C.J., Kane, E.A., Pieribone, V.A., Nitabach, M.N., Cardona, A., et al. (2015). Sensory determinants of behavioral dynamics in Drosophila thermotaxis. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *112*, E220-9. 10.1073/pnas.1416212112.
- 44. Masson, J.-B., Laurent, F., Cardona, A., Barre, C., Skatchkovsky, N., Zlatic, M., and Jovanic, T. (2020). Identifying neural substrates of competitive interactions and sequence transitions during mechanosensory responses in Drosophila. Plos Genet. *16*, e1008589. 10.1371/journal.pgen.1008589.
- 45. Ohyama, T., Jovanic, T., Denisov, G., Dang, T.C., Hoffmann, D., Kerr, R.A., and Zlatic, M. (2013). High-Throughput Analysis of Stimulus-Evoked Behaviors in Drosophila Larva Reveals Multiple Modality-Specific Escape Strategies. PloS One *8*, e71706. 10.1371/journal.pone.0071706.
- 46. Brown, M.R., Crim, J.W., Arata, R.C., Cai, H.N., Chun, C., and Shen, P. (1999). Identification of a Drosophila brain-gut peptide related to the neuropeptide Y family. Peptides *20*, 1035–1042. 10.1016/s0196-9781(99)00097-2.
- 47. Wu, Q., Wen, T., Lee, G., Park, J.H., Cai, H.N., and Shen, P. (2003). Developmental Control of Foraging and Social Behavior by the Drosophila Neuropeptide Y-like System. Neuron *39*, 147–161. 10.1016/S0896-6273(03)00396-9.
- 48. Lee, P.-T., Zirin, J., Kanca, O., Lin, W.-W., Schulze, K.L., Li-Kroeger, D., Tao, R., Devereaux, C., Hu, Y., Chung, V., et al. A gene-specific T2A-GAL4 library for Drosophila. eLife 7, e35574. 10.7554/eLife.35574.
- 49. Carlsson, M.A., Enell, L.E., and Nässel, D.R. (2013). Distribution of short neuropeptide F and its receptor in neuronal circuits related to feeding in larval Drosophila. Cell Tissue Res. *353*, 511–523. 10.1007/s00441-013-1660-4.
- 50. Hunter, P. (2013). Brain drain, brain gain or brain sharing? EMBO Rep. *14*, 315–318. 10.1038/embor.2013.33.
- 51. Moran, N.P., Sánchez-Tójar, A., Schielzeth, H., and Reinhold, K. (2021). Poor nutritional condition promotes high-risk behaviours: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Biol. Rev. *96*, 269–288. https://doi.org/10.1111/brv.12655.
- 52. Sandhu, P., Shura, O., Murray, R.L., and Guy, C. (2018). Worms make risky choices too: the effect of starvation on foraging in the common earthworm (Lumbricus terrestris). Can. J. Zool. 10.1139/cjz-2018-0006.

- 53. Levy, D.J., Thavikulwat, A.C., and Glimcher, P.W. (2013). State dependent valuation: the effect of deprivation on risk preferences. PloS One *8*, e53978. 10.1371/journal.pone.0053978.
- Inagaki, H.K., Ben-Tabou de-Leon, S., Wong, A.M., Jagadish, S., Ishimoto, H., Barnea, G., Kitamoto, T., Axel, R., and Anderson, D.J. (2012). Visualizing neuromodulation in vivo: TANGO-mapping of dopamine signaling reveals appetite control of sugar sensing. Cell *148*, 583–595. 10.1016/j.cell.2011.12.022.
- 55. Root, C.M., Ko, K.I., Jafari, A., and Wang, J.W. (2011). Presynaptic facilitation by neuropeptide signaling mediates odor-driven food search. Cell *145*, 133–144. 10.1016/j.cell.2011.02.008.
- Petzold, A., van den Munkhof, H.E., Figge-Schlensok, R., and Korotkova, T. (2023). Complementary lateral hypothalamic populations resist hunger pressure to balance nutritional and social needs. Cell Metab. 35, 456-471.e6. 10.1016/j.cmet.2023.02.008.
- 57. Hsu, W.-M.M., Kastner, D.B., Baccus, S.A., and Sharpee, T.O. (2021). How inhibitory neurons increase information transmission under threshold modulation. Cell Rep. *35*, 109158. 10.1016/j.celrep.2021.109158.
- 58. Morozova, E., Newstein, P., and Marder, E. (2022). Reciprocally inhibitory circuits operating with distinct mechanisms are differently robust to perturbation and modulation. eLife. 10.7554/eLife.74363.
- 59. Pakan, J.M., Lowe, S.C., Dylda, E., Keemink, S.W., Currie, S.P., Coutts, C.A., and Rochefort, N.L. (2016). Behavioral-state modulation of inhibition is context-dependent and cell type specific in mouse visual cortex. eLife *5*, e14985. 10.7554/eLife.14985.
- 60. Chen, Q., Pei, Z., Koren, D., and Wei, W. (2016). Stimulus-dependent recruitment of lateral inhibition underlies retinal direction selectivity. eLife *5*, 4481. 10.7554/eLife.21053.
- 61. Fadok, J.P., Krabbe, S., Markovic, M., Courtin, J., Xu, C., Massi, L., Botta, P., Bylund, K., Müller, C., Kovacevic, A., et al. (2017). A competitive inhibitory circuit for selection of active and passive fear responses. Nature *542*, 96–100. 10.1038/nature21047.
- 62. Koyama, M., Minale, F., Shum, J., Nishimura, N., Schaffer, C.B., and Fetcho, J.R. (2016). A circuit motif in the zebrafish hindbrain for a two alternative behavioral choice to turn left or right. eLife *5*, 451. 10.7554/eLife.16808.
- 63. Koyama, M., and Pujala, A. (2018). Mutual inhibition of lateral inhibition: a network motif for an elementary computation in the brain. Curr. Opin. Neurobiol. *49*, 69–74. 10.1016/j.conb.2017.12.019.

- 64. Mysore, S.P., and Knudsen, E.I. (2012). Reciprocal Inhibition of Inhibition: A Circuit Motif for Flexible Categorization in Stimulus Selection. Neuron *73*, 193–205. 10.1016/j.neuron.2011.10.037.
- 65. Mysore, S.P., and Kothari, N.B. (2020). Mechanisms of competitive selection: A canonical neural circuit framework. eLife *9*, e51473. 10.7554/eLife.51473.
- 66. Swierczek, N.A., Giles, A.C., Rankin, C.H., and Kerr, R.A. (2011). High-throughput behavioral analysis in C. elegans. Nat. Methods *8*, 592–598. 10.1038/nmeth.1625.
- 67. Sakagiannis, P., Jürgensen, A.-M., and Nawrot, M.P. (2021). A realistic locomotory model of Drosophila larva for behavioral simulations. Preprint at bioRxiv, 10.1101/2021.07.07.451470 10.1101/2021.07.07.451470.
- 68. Matsuda, H., Yamada, T., Yoshida, M., and Nishimura, T. (2015). Flies without Trehalose *. J. Biol. Chem. *290*, 1244–1255. 10.1074/jbc.M114.619411.
- 69. Matsushita, R., and Nishimura, T. (2020). Trehalose metabolism confers developmental robustness and stability in Drosophila by regulating glucose homeostasis. Commun. Biol. *3*, 1–12. 10.1038/s42003-020-0889-1



Page | 107
Extended Data Fig. 1. Locomotion of food-deprived larvae. A-D: Analysis of larval locomotion in different feeding states. A-B: Larvae starved for 5h (A, n = 283, 211, 309 larvae) or 18h (B, n = 173, 141, 139 larvae) disperse further, at a higher movement speed, allocating more time to crawling (time fraction in runs) with lower-tortuosity trajectories compared to larvae fed on a standard diet. C: Refeeding larvae on standard food for 15 min after a period of 5h starvation rescues the normal locomotion as dispersion distance, time allocation to crawling and crawling speed are no longer significantly increased, nor the trajectories' tortuosity decreased compared to larvae fed on a standard diet (n= 244, 160, 223 larvae) D: Rehydration by putting larvae for 15 minutes on water after 90 minutes of feeding of sucrose restores normal locomotion similar to larvae fed on standard food, since dispersion distance, time allocation to crawling and movement speed are no longer significantly increased, nor the trajectories' tortuosity decreased. (Mann-Whitney test, ****: p<0.0001, ***: p < 0.001, **: p < 0.01, *: p < 0.05) (n = 102, 109,123 larvae) E-F: Behavior in response to air-puff during the first five seconds upon stimulus onset, Behavioral and transition probabilities upon 5h of sucrose feeding (E) and starvation (F) (n=233-301 larvae, ***: p < 0.001, **: p < 0.01, *: p < 0.05)

III. Methods and Results





Extended Data Fig. 2. Feeding state dependent bias in sensorimotor responses does not come from the modulation of sensory neurons. A: Calcium responses to mechanical stimulations at 5V in chordotonal neurons in fed and starved larvae (R61D08-Gal4/UAS-GCaMP6s). Left panel: calcium responses of chordotonal neurons from different individuals fed on different diets. Lower right panel: mean calcium response of chordotonal neurons over time. The green dashed line corresponds to stimulus duration. Upper right panel: calcium response averaged during the stimulus. White line represents the mean, white dot represents the median. Stimulus-induced activity of chordotonal mechanosensory neurons is not significantly increased in starved animals as compared to larvae fed on a standard food (n = 10 larvae, 1 trial per larva, t-test p = 0.092). B: Calcium responses of chordotonal neurons to different intensities of mechanical stimulations, in larvae fed on standard food medium (n = 5larvae). C: GFP expression levels in chordotonal neurons R61D08>GFP larvae fed on different food media: standard food, 20% sucrose and water (n = 4 larvae per condition). D: Optogenetic activation of cho in starved larvae. Hunch is cumulative probability during the first 2 seconds from stimulus onset. Bend is the mean probability during the first 10 seconds from stimulus onset, corrected by 40 seconds of recording prior to the stimulus. Hunching and stimulus-induced Bending (n = 192 larvae for fed, 157 for starved, p = 0.080 for hunch, 0.003 for bend).



Extended Data Fig. 3. Effect of starvation and different stimulus intensity on responses of projection neurons to mechanical stimulations. A: Basin-1 calcium responses to mechanical stimulations in fed and starved larvae (20B01-lexA; LexAop-GCaMP6s, UAS-CsChrimson-mCherry). Left panel: calcium responses of Basin-1 from different individuals fed on different diets. Lower right panel: mean calcium response of Basin-1 over time. The green dashed line corresponds to stimulus onset. Upper right panel: mean calcium response averaged during the stimulus. White line represents the mean, white dot represents the median. Stimulus-induced activity of Basin-1 neurons is similar in starved animals compared to larvae fed on a standard food (n = 11/9 larvae, 1 trial per larva, t-test p = 0.2892). B: Basin-2 calcium responses to mechanical stimulations in different states (SS00739/UAS-GCaMP6s). Left panel: calcium responses of Basin-2 from fed and starved animals. Lower right panel: mean calcium response of Basin-2 over time. The green dashed line corresponds to stimulus onset. Upper right panel: mean calcium response averaged during the stimulus. White line represents the mean, white dot represents the median. Stimulus-induced activity of Basin-2 is not significantly decreased in starved animals compared to larvae fed on a standard food (n = 12/13 larvae, 1 trial per larva, t-test p = 0.1804). C: Basin-1 calcium responses for different intensities of stimulation, in larvae fed on standard food, on sucrose only or completely starved larvae (n = 8-20 larvae, 1 trial per larva). Average neuronal activities over time for different intensities of stimulation are plotted. D: Basin-2 calcium responses for different intensities of stimulation, in larvae fed on standard food, on sucrose only or completely starved larvae(n = 11-13 larvae, 1 trial per larva, t-test **: p < 0.01). Averaged neuronal activity over time for different intensities of stimulation are plotted. E. percentage of failed responses comparison Chi-2 test p = 0.0027).



Page | 113

Extended Data Fig. 4. Two interneuron subtypes are oppositely modulated by the feeding state. A: Griddle-2 calcium responses to mechanical stimulations in fed and starved larvae (SS00918/UAS-GCaMP6s). Left panel: calcium responses of Griddle-2 from different individuals fed on different diets. Lower right panel: mean calcium response of Griddle-2 over time. The green dashed line corresponds to the stimulus Upper right panel: mean calcium response averaged during the stimulus. White line represents the mean, white dot represents the median. Stimulus-induced activity of Griddle-2 neurons is not significantly decreased in starved animals compared to larvae fed on a standard food (n = 10/9 larvae, 1 trial per larva, t-test p = 0.0979). B: Handleb calcium responses to mechanical stimulations in different states (SS00888/UAS-GCaMP6s). Left panel: calcium responses of Handle-b from fed and starved animals. Lower right panel: mean calcium response of Handle-b over time. The green dashed line corresponds to stimulus onset. Upper right panel: mean calcium response averaged during the stimulus. White line represents the mean, white dot represents the median. Stimulus-induced activity of Handle-b is significantly increased in starved animals compared to larvae fed on a standard food (n = 10/13 larvae, 1 trial per larva, t-test p = 0.019). C: Griddle-2 calcium responses for different intensities of stimulation, in larvae fed on standard food, on sucrose only .and starved larvae (n = 9-10 larvae, 1 trial per larva, t-test **: p < 0.01, *: p < 0.05). Average neuronal activities over time for different intensities of stimulation are plotted D: Handle-b calcium responses for different intensities of stimulation, in larvae fed on standard food or on sucrose only.and starved larvae (n = 9-25 larvae, 1 trial per larva, t-test ***: p < 0.001, **: p < 0.01, *: p < 0.05). Responses averaged during the stimulus for different intensities of stimulation are plotted E. Calcium responses in Griddle-2 with (55C05-LexA>LexAop-GCaMP6s SS00888-Gal4>UAS-TNT) or without Handle-b inactivation (55C05-LexA>LexAop-GCaMP6s +/UAS-TNT), in each trial of mechanosensory stimulation (n = 7-9 larvae, 4 trials per larva). F: Calcium responses in Handle with (55C05-LexA>LexAop-TNT 22E09-Gal4>UAS-GCaMP6s) or without Handle-b inactivation (+/LexAop-TNT 22E09-Gal4>UAS-GCaMP6s), in each trial of mechanosensory stimulation (n = 6-10 larvae, 5 trials per larva).



Page | 115

Extended Data Fig. 5. Circuit model. A: State space trajectories of B1 and B2 Dynamics as a function of inputs to LNa and LNb neurons in a simple rate model (as in Jovanic *et al.*, 2016). B: Dynamics of a single model neuron with self inhibition shows two equilibria, only one of which is stable C: Level-set for threshold in combined model. C1. Points on lines at the intersection of the surface and horizontal planes represent sets of parameters with identical behavior response. C2. State-space trajectories of the models parameterized by the three points in C1 do not differ qualitatively D: Combined model D1. Points on a vertical line correspond to the same model parameter, with different inputs to iLNa. Points above the surface converge to the monoactive state, while points below the surface converge to the coactive state. D2.Trajectories corresponding to the points in D1, color-coded. E: Silencing Handle-B in model 1, where the sucrose state is modeled as a decrease in LNa max. F: Silencing Handle-b in model 2 where the sucrose state is modeled as increase input in Handle-b.

A Handle-B inactivation and calcium imaging in Basin-2



Page | 117

Extended Data Fig. 6. Inhibitory interneurons are required for the feeding state **dependent modulation of projection neurons.** A1: Calcium responses in Basin-2 with 22E09-Gal4>UAS-TNT) (38H09-LexA>LexAop-GCaMP6s or without (38H09-LexA>LexAop-GCaMP6s +/>UAS-TNT) Handle-b inactivation in each trial of mechanosensory stimulation, in larvae fed on different diets (n = 12-14 larvae, 5 trials per larva). A2: calcium response of Basin-2 averaged during the stimulus. White line represents the mean, white dot represents the median with (38H09-LexA>LexAop-GCaMP6s 22E09-Gal4>UAS-TNT) or without (38H09-LexA>LexAop-GCaMP6s +/>UAS-TNT) (n = 12-14 larvae, 5 trials per larva; ANOVA with post-hoc tests: *: p < 0.05. B: Individual calcium responses in Basin-2 from individuals fed on different diets, with or without optogenetic activation of Handle-b (22E09-Gal4>UAS-CsChrimson::tdTomato 38H09-LexA>LexAop-GCaMP6s) during the first second of mechanical stimulus (n = 8 larvae, 5 trials per larva). In all plots, the green dashed line corresponds to stimulus onset. C: Calcium responses in Basin-2 with (38H09-LexA>LexAop-GCaMP6s 55C05-Gal4>UAS-TNT) or without (38H09-LexA>LexAop-GCaMP6s +/>UAS-TNT) Griddle-2 inhibition, in each trial of mechanosensory stimulation, in larvae fed on different diets (n = 6-10 larvae, 5 trials per larva).

A Neurotransmitter expression in NPF neurons

A1 ChAT expression

A2 VGlut expression



A3 GABA expression



C Identifying Handle-b in L60E02

B Identifying Griddle-2 in L55C05



D NPFR expression D1 NPFR expression in Griddle-2



D2 NPFR expression in Basin-1



E sNPFR expression

E1 sNPFR expression in Basin-1

E2 sNPFR expression in Basin-2



Extended Data Fig. 7. Neurotransmitter identity of NPF neuron and NPF and sNPF receptor expression in neurons of the circuit. A.: Immunohistochemical labeling of NPF neuron neurotransmitters (NPF-Gal4>UAS-GFP) labels both pairs of NPF expressing neurons: dorsomedial (DM) and dorsolateral (DL). Brains were then stained with antibodies against either ChAT as a proxy of acetylcholine (A1), V-Glut as a proxy of glutamate (A2) and GABA (A3). Co-localization shows expression of acetylcholine in the DL NPF neurons and glutamate in both pairs of NPF descending neurons. Both pairs were negative for GABA antibody labeling. B: identifying griddle-2 in 55C05. The position of cell bodies and projections was compared between neurons in R55C05 (GAL4) (previously identified as Griddle-2) and L55C05 (LexA) that had a much broader expression pattern. C: Identification of Handle-b in line L60E02. L60E02 is driving the expression of LexAop-GCamP6s and GMR_SS00888 the expression of UAS-ChrimsonmCherry (60E02-LexA; UAS-Chrimson-mCherry, LexAop GCamP6s>GMR_SS00888). Specific antibodies against GFP and mCherry were used to increase detection sensitivity. Co-localization of jRGeco1a and GCamP6s show that the neuron with the cell body in the midline labeled by the 60E02-LexA is Handle-b. D1. Immunohistochemical labeling for NPFR in Griddle-2. UAS-GCamP6s is expressed in Griddle-2 using the SS_TJ001 split-Gal4 line (green) and LexAop-jRGeco1a is expressed under the control of the NPFR promoter using a T2A-LexA construct (magenta). Antibodies against GFP and dsRed were used to increase detection sensitivity. No expression of NPFR could be detected in Griddle-2. D2-D3: Basin-1 and -2 immunostaining for NPFR expression. UAS-GCamP6s is expressed in Basin-1 or Basin-2 using the R20B01 or GMR SS00739 driver lines (green) respectively and LexAopjRGeco1a is expressed instead under the control of the NPFR transcript using a T2A-LexA construct (magenta). Antibodies against GFP and dsRed were used to increase detection sensitivity. No expression of NPFR could be detected in Basin-1 or -2. E: Basin-1 and -2 immunostaining for sNPFR expression. LexAop-jRGeco1a is expressed in Basin-1 or Basin-2 respectively using the L20B01 or L38H09 lines (magenta) and UAS-GCamP6s is expressed under the control of the sNPFR promoter using a T2A-Gal4 construct (green). Specific antibodies against GFP and dsRed were used to increase detection sensitivity. No expression of NPFR could be detected in Basin-1 or -2.

A. Locomotion of larvae upon NPF knockdown A1. Control



A2 NPF knockdown in DM-NPF neuron



B. Ca-imaging in Hb upon NPFR knockdown

B1. Control





Extended Data Fig. 8. NPF regulates feeding state dependent changes in locomotion and Handle-b activity. A: Analysis of larval locomotion in the absence of sensory stimulus. Top row shows control larvae (A1). Bottom row shows larvae with NPF knockdown in DM- NPF descending neurons (A2). NPF knockdown in DM-NPF descending neuron abolishes differences in locomotion mean between larvae in different states; it abolishes the difference in trajectory tortuosity, time allocation in exploration (time fraction in runs), and dispersal between larvae fed on standard food and starved larvae. In larvae fed on sucrose the increase in exploration compared to larvae fed on standard food was also abolished (Mann-Whitney test, ****: p<0.0001, ***: p < 0.001, **: p < 0.01, *: p < 0.05) B: Calcium responses in Handle-b upon NPFR knockdown (GMR_SS00888>UAS-NPFR-RNAi; UAS-GCamP6s) compared to a control (GMR_SS00888>UAS-GCamP6s). Top row: calcium responses of Handle-b in control larvae fed, fed on sucrose or starved, in each trial of mechanosensory stimulation (n = 15 larvae per condition). Bottom row: calcium responses of Handle-b upon NPFR knockdown in larvae fed, fed on sucrose or starved, in each trial of mechanosensory stimulation (n = 14-15 larvae per condition).



Page | 123

Extended Data Fig. 9. sNPFR knockdown does not impact interneurons responses in larvae fed on sucrose or starved larvae. A: Calcium responses in Handle-b sNPFR knockdown in Handle-b (GMR_SS00888>UAS-GCamP6s; UAS-sNPFR-RNAi) compared to the control (GMR SS00888>UAS-GCamP6s) in larvae fed on sucrose only (top row) or starved (bottom row). Left panel: calcium responses of Griddle-2, in each trial of mechanosensory stimulation. Lower right panel: mean calcium response of Handle-b over time. The green dashed line corresponds to stimulus onset. Top right panel: response averaged during the stimulus. White line represents the mean, white dot represents the median. sNPFR knockdown does not influence the stimulus-induced activity of Handle-b in larvae fed on sucrose only or starved (n = 9-15 larvae, 4 trials per larva). B: Calcium responses in Griddle-2 with (SS_TJ001>UAS-GCamP6s; UASsNPFR-RNAi) or without (SS TJ001>UAS-GCamP6s) sNPFR knockdown in Griddle-2 in larvae fed on sucrose only (top row) or starved (bottom row). Left panel calcium responses of Griddle-2, for each trial Lower right panel: mean calcium response of Griddle-2 over time. The green dashed line corresponds to stimulus onset. Lower top panel: mean calcium response averaged during the stimulus. White line represents the mean, white dot represents the median. sNPFR knockdown does not influence the stimulus-induced activity of Griddle-2 in larvae fed on sucrose only or starved (n = 10 larvae, 3 trials per larva).

III. B. Effects of neuropeptides on mechanosensory neurons

In order to allow behavioral flexibility, mostly two modes of neuromodulation have been described: modulating the sensitivity of sensory neurons to external stimuli (Slankster et al. 2020) or modulating the activity of downstream (central) neurons involved in the computations of the circuit output (Melcher and Pankratz 2005; Crossley, Staras, and Kemenes 2018). In the scientific article in section III.A of this manuscript, we showed that the modulation of the behavioral choice between hunching and head-casting in response to an air puff by the feeding state of Drosophila larvae is implemented through the latter: modulation of interconnected inhibitory interneurons is sufficient to trigger a shift in behavioral choice, while modulation of the mechanosensory neurons is not required. We showed that sNPF and NPF are involved in the feeding-state-dependent modulation of the neural circuit described in (Jovanic et al. 2016) and they target a pair of reciprocally connected inhibitory interneurons. Furthermore, this work showed that modulation of the mechanosensory neurons is not necessary to the feeding-state dependent modulation of sensorimotor decisions governed by this circuit. However, while characterizing the expression of sNPFR and NPFR in the circuit, we showed that they are expressed by the mechanosensory chordotonal neurons (as described below). We thus tried to understand the role of neuropeptidergic signaling on the mechanosensory neurons.

This section will not include a separate Methods sections because most of the technics used are identical to the ones used in the article manuscript in section III.A and have already been described there. I will however detail some aspects and highlight any novelty in the experimental protocols.

III. B. 1. Expression of sNPF and NPF receptors on mechanosensory chordotonal neurons

As the gating of sensory inputs is a known mechanism giving rise to statedependent modulation of behavior (Bargmann 2012), we checked whether neuropeptidergic input on the mechanosensory neurons plays a role in modulating the choice between startle and escape upon changes in diet.

To this aim, we genetically expressed fluorescent proteins of different colors (namely the green GCamP6s and the red jRGeco1a) either in the studied neuron using a specific genetic driver (R61D08 or L61D08) or all neurons expressing the studied receptor using a T2A construct (T2A-Gal4_sNPFR or T2A-LexA_NPFR). T2A is a self-cleaving peptide that was inserted in the sequence of various genes in combination with the Gal4 sequence (P.-T. Lee et al. 2018; Brand and Perrimon 1993) to create a library of *Drosophila* flies in which we can target the expression of any UAS transgene (Brand and

Perrimon 1993) under the same regulatory constrains as the gene containing the T2A-Gal4 construct (see section I.D.3.a of this manuscript for a more in depth description of T2A). This strategy allowed us to replace the expression of the receptor transcript with that of a fluorescent protein and to label neurons that express the neuropeptide receptor of interest. We then stained the preparation with specific antibodies to increase sensitivity. Since the chordotonal mechanosensory neurons are peripheral sensory neurons, a different technique of dissection was used for this preparation. Indeed, their cell bodies are located in the cuticle of the larva, it was thus essential to keep the whole cuticle for the staining in order to identify the different chordotonal subtypes (Parton et al. 2010; Schrader and Merritt 2000). In this preparation, the cuticle of the larva is cut open along the longitudinal axis on the dorsal side and then spread out and pinned down. The whole digestive tract of the larva is then removed, with extra care given to not damaging the central nervous system and the peripheral nerves radiating from it, preserving the chordotonal neurons for the staining. After staining, we used a confocal microscope (see methods of the article in section III.A) to localize the cell bodies of the mechanosensory chordotonal neurons, labeled either in green (R61D08) or in red (L61D08) in the cuticle. Because part of the sample could be damaged during the dissection, some of the neurons were sometimes missing after staining. We looked across 3-5 individuals and several body segments to find one where all the eight different subtypes of mechanosensory neurons (Parton et al. 2010; Schrader and Merritt 2000) were visible and recorded a 3D stack of their entire cell bodies and their most proximal projections. Staining in body segments where some neurons were missing showed comparable results to those presented in the Figure III.B-1 for the neurons that could be seen. During image analysis, we browsed the 3D stack searching for co-localization of the green and the red staining, which equates to a neuron expressing the studied receptor. For illustration purposes, we created a Zprojection over the cell bodies, as shown in Figure III.B-1. Altogether, we determined that out of the eight subtypes of chordotonal neurons, all express NPFR (Figure III.B-1-B) and all but two lch neurons express sNPFR (Figure III.B-1-A). This suggests that the activity of the mechanosensory neurons could be modulated by NPF and sNPF, possibly also depending on the feeding state of the larvae.



Figure III.B-1 Neuropeptide receptors expression in Chordotonal sensory neurons. A. Immunohistochemical labeling for sNPFR in Chordotonal sensory neurons. LexAopjRGeco1a is expressed in Chordotonal neurons using the 61D08-LexA line (magenta) and UAS-GCamP6s is expressed under the control of the sNPFR promoter using a T2A-Gal4 construct (green). Antibodies against GFP and dsRed were used to increase detection sensitivity of GCamP and jRGeco respectively. Co-localization of antibodies against jRGeco1a and GCamP6s shows that all Chordotonal neurons but 2 Lch express the sNPFR. B. Immunohistochemical labeling for NPFR in Chordotonal sensory neurons. UAS-GCamP6s is expressed in Chordotonal neurons using the R61D08-Gal4 line (green) and LexAop-jRGeco1a is expressed under the control of the NPFR promoter using a T2A-LexA construct (magenta). Antibodies against GFP and dsRed were used to increase detection sensitivity. Co-localization of LexAop-jRGeco1a and GCamP6s show that all Chordotonal neurons with the control of the NPFR promoter using a T2A-LexA construct (magenta). Antibodies against GFP and dsRed were used to increase detection sensitivity. Co-localization of LexAop-jRGeco1a and GCamP6s show that all Chordotonal neurons with the tall Chordotonal neurons with the tallex of the tall chordotonal neurons with

III. B. 2. sNPF effect on mechanosensory chordotonal neurons

As described in the Methods of the article manuscript in section III.A, we recorded in live larvae the responses of the mechanosensory neurons to mechanical stimulations using two-photon calcium imaging with GCamP6s genetically targeted to the mechanosensory neurons (R61D08>UAS-GCamP6s) after transiently feeding larvae either standard food (fed), 20 % sucrose (sucrose), or only water (starved) for 90 minutes. These changes in diet did not introduce a difference in the intensity of response of the mechanosensory neurons, suggesting that their amplitude of response is not involved in the modulation of the behavioral choice of the larvae by their feeding state (Figure III.B-2-A).



Figure III.B-2 Calcium responses of the Chordotonal mechanosensory neurons in larvae fed on standard food, sucrose only or starved. A. In control larvae. N = 6 larvae in each condition. B. Upon sNPFR knockdown in the Chordotonal sensory neurons. N = 6 larvae in each condition. The violin plots represent the quantification of the mean calcium response (dF/F0) during 5 s after the beginning of the stimulus. White line represents the average, white dot the median. * = t-test with Bonferroni correction for two comparisons p < 0.05. NS = t-test with Bonferroni correction for two comparisons p > 0.05.

However, as we showed expression of the sNPFR in these mechanosensory neurons, we studied the effect of sNPF on their activity. To this aim, we downregulated the expression of sNPFR in the mechanosensory neurons using an RNAi (R61D08>UAS-GCamP6s, UAS-RNAi_sNPFR) and recorded their responses to mechanical stimulation using GCamP6s as a reporter. Upon knockdown of sNPFR, the intensity of the responses of the mechanosensory neurons were significantly lower in larvae fed on sucrose only than in larvae fed on standard food or starved (Figure III.B-2-B).

Moreover, we showed that sNPFR knockdown in the mechanosensory neurons increases their responses compared to control larvae in larvae fed on standard food or in starved larvae (Figure III.B-3). Interestingly, the responses of the mechanosensory neurons in larvae fed on sucrose only were not different between control larvae or larvae with sNPFR knockdown (Figure III.B-3).





Figure III.B-3 sNPF effect on Chordotonal sensory neurons in different feeding states. Average traces of calcium activity following a mechanosensory stimulus in mechanosensory neurons in larvae A. Fed on standard food, B. Fed on 20 % sucrose, C. Starved. Shades of grey are control larvae. Green shades are larvae in which sNPFR has been downregulated in the mechanosensory neurons. The violin plots represent the quantification of the mean calcium response (dF/F0) during 5 s after the beginning of the stimulus. White line represents the average, white dot the median. N = 6 larvae in each condition. * = t-test p < 0.05. NS = t-test p > 0.05.

These results show that sNPF has an inhibitory effect on the mechanosensory chordotonal neurons. This inhibitory effect is however absent when larvae are fed on sucrose only. Nonetheless, because no modulation of the mechanosensory neurons responses can be seen upon changes in the feeding state of control larvae, we argue that the state-dependent inhibitory effect of sNPF on the mechanosensory chordotonal neurons is not driving the bias of the behavioral decision that comes from sucrose feeding or starvation. This is in accordance with the persistence of the feeding state induced bias in behavioral decision that we describe in the article in section III.A of this manuscript upon optogenetic activation of the mechanosensory chordotonal neurons with the same intensity in different feeding conditions.

Because knocking down the sNPFR in the mechanosensory neurons in larvae fed on sucrose only does not alter their response compared to control larvae, it is likely that sNPF signaling on the mechanosensory chordotonal neurons is decreased in this condition. This could come from a decrease in the expression of the sNPFR in the mechanosensory chordotonal neurons or a decrease in the sNPF that is released to them. Several physiological parameters of the larvae are altered after they feed on sucrose only. Namely they have a high glucose concentration in the hemolymph, they are thirsty and have a specific hunger for proteins. Any of these parameters, or their combination, could be responsible for the alteration of the sNPF signaling pathway that we uncovered.

The relevance of the state-dependent inhibitory effect of sNPF on the mechanosensory chordotonal neurons for larval behavior is unclear. Since no difference in the responses of the mechanosensory chordotonal neurons is seen upon changes in the internal state in control larvae, we can expect that several actors, including sNPF, cooperate to maintain their response stable in spite of the alteration of the feeding state of the larvae. It would for instance be possible that some other neuropeptide could exert an excitatory action on the mechanosensory chordotonal neurons in larvae fed on standard food or starved but would be absent in sucrose-fed larvae, to which the circuit would respond by relaxing its sNPF-mediated inhibition. Alternatively, another inhibitory neuropeptide could be recruited by sucrose-feeding, suppressing the need for the sNPF-mediated inhibition. Such a push-pull regulation of the mechanosensory chordotonal neurons responses could allow for an easy bidirectional fine-tuning of their responses to different intensity of stimulation in different contexts.

III. C. Decision-making in conflicting sensory gradients

In the real world, outside of the laboratory, animals are constantly subjected to a combination of ever-changing sensory signals, that may include a complex range of sensory modalities (Ohyama et al. 2015), to which they need to adapt their behavior and decisions. For this purpose, a value is attributed to each sensory information, which is constantly updated depending on the context, internal state and experience (Kato et al. 2023; Eschbach and Zlatic 2020). When multiple sensory cues reach an animal concomitantly, each is weighted against the other in order to make a decision (Eschbach and Zlatic 2020; W.-H. Zhang et al. 2016; Lewis et al. 2015). As such, the addition of a second sensory modality to a task can alter the behavioral responses of the animal, as it was shown in *Drosophila* flies which can switch from avoidance to approach of a visual cue when presented with an appetitive odor (Cheng, Colbath, and Frye 2019).

In the brain, multisensory integration is known to arise in higher-order areas as well as at early stages of sensory processing (Ohyama et al. 2015; Eschbach and Zlatic 2020; W.-H. Zhang et al. 2016). The weighting of sensory cues is especially important when they have opposing valences, making the decision to approach or avoid the stimuli a matter of balance between risk and gain (Lewis et al. 2015). Across species, hunger has been associated with an increase in risk-taking (Lin, Senapati, and Tsao 2019; Tsao et al. 2018; Moreno-Padilla, Fernández-Serrano, and Reyes del Paso 2018; Steinhoff et al. 2020; P. Hunter 2013b; Levy, Thavikulwat, and Glimcher 2013; Moran et al. 2021; Sandhu et al. 2018). In order to study the influence of the feeding state of the larvae on risktaking, we designed an assay to present conflicting sensory information to the larvae.

Indeed, we can present a gradient of appetitive odor (such as ethyl acetate) that has an attractive effect on the larvae (Khurana and Siddiqi 2013), at the same time as an air speed gradient that is aversive to the larvae (Jovanic et al. 2019), thus forcing larvae to make a decision between escaping or approaching. When navigating sensory gradients, larvae orient by modulating their frequency of turning and increasing the probability to accept a turn in the direction of the most favorable sensory environment (Gomez-Marin and Louis 2014; Linjiao Luo et al. 2010; Jovanic et al. 2019; Gomez-Marin, Stephens, and Louis 2011). Very little is known about navigation strategies adopted by larvae in conflicting gradients. We argue that in such contexts, larval decisions are not binary but rather arise from the accumulation of probabilistic decisions of turn initiation and direction. To this aim, we develop an assay allowing us to study the effect that combining odor and air speeds gradients could have on the navigational decisions that *Drosophila* larvae make during anemotaxis (Jovanic et al. 2019). Once this assay is fully established, it would allow us to investigate whether the changes in larval feeding state will increase their probability of moving towards the odor, despite the presence of strong wind, which is aversive and represents a risk for the larva. We could thus study the influence of the feeding state of the larvae on the integration of these conflicting sensory information and uncover the neural substrates underlying this integration.

III. C. 1. Methods

III. C. 1. a. Description of the apparatus

To be able to mix an odor into the air puff, I added a bubbler to our behavioral apparatus described in (Ohyama et al. 2013) and the material and methods section of the article in section III.A of this manuscript. Briefly, a camera allows the real-time tracking of larvae spread on an agar plate and illuminated by a ring of LEDs (Figure III.C-1-B). Compressed air is injected into a bottle (DWK Life Sciences 257040101) containing a solution of the odorant. Air entering the bottle will create bubbles inside the solution and thus be charged by the odor before exiting the bottle. The air will then go through a tubing to the delivery nozzle (3D printed by Sculpteo® using Nylon PA12 and SLS) which will present it to the larvae (Figure III.C-1-A). The apparatus allows us to easily perform experiments with only airspeed gradient, only odor concentration gradient, or both gradients simultaneously. The concentration of odor that will be presented to the larvae depends on three factors: the vapor pressure of the odorant molecule, the concentration of the solution inside the bottle, and the dilution of the odor-charged air into the air puff when it is used simultaneously, which is dependent on the ratio of the flow rates of both air streams. We used ethyl acetate as an attractive odor so that the valences of both gradients are opposite, and the larvae need to make a choice between these conflicting sensory information. Indeed, the airspeed gradient is aversive (Jovanic et al. 2019) while the odor concentration gradient (ethyl acetate) is attractive (Khurana and Siddiqi 2013) and both gradients will be strongest at the nozzle.



Figure III.C-1 Description of the setup for studying locomotion of larvae in conflicting multisensory gradients. A. Diagram representing the odor delivery apparatus. The red part is the addition I made to the previously existing blue part. B. Photograph of the behavioral apparatus. C. MiniPID voltage output in response to three 10 s pulses of air going through the bubbler bottle.

III. C. 1. b. Experiments with larvae

These experiments were performed by Ivain Raslain, under my supervision. We used solutions of concentrations ranging from $10^{-4} mol/L$ to $10^{-2} mol/L$, with the mass flow controller set to its maximum flow output (12 L/min), to empirically determine settings that would allow us to record significant behavioral changes in larvae. To avoid evaporation of the odorant, a new solution was prepared each experimental day. A similar protocol as the one described in the article manuscript was used, except that only 20 to 30 wild type larvae (CantonS) were put in the arena and they were placed in a straight line in the middle of the agar plate, perpendicular to the gradients of airspeed and odor concentration so that we could quantify their displacements in the gradients. Moreover, as in (Jovanic et al. 2019), air speeds gradients were made steeper so larvae could sense the directionality of the air (either from 5 m/s near the nozzle to 2 m/s at the end of the arena, for strong wind speed gradient or from 3 m/s to 1 m/s for a weak wind speed gradient). The behavior of the larvae was monitored for 10 minutes while continuously exposed to either the odor alone, the air puff alone, or a combination of the air puff and the odor.

The displacement of the larvae along the gradients axis was computed as the change in the average coordinate of the population of larvae on that axis compared to their starting position. Positive values represent larvae moving closer to the source of the stimuli. A navigation index was computed as the ratio of the average velocity of the population of larvae along the gradient axis and the average speed of the population, over the whole duration of the experiment (Jovanic et al. 2019). Positive values represent larvae moving away from the source of the stimuli. We averaged the navigational index over the whole duration of the recording (600 s) for the air puff gradient alone and air puff gradient combined with odor. For the odor only condition, the navigational index was averaged over the first half of the recording only (300s) as several larvae had reached the odor source by that time.

III. C. 1. c. Concentration quantification

In order to quantify the concentration of ethyl acetate delivered to the larvae and characterize the odor concentration gradient in our experiments, we used a miniPID (Aurora scientific 200B) that was graciously lent to us by Brice Bathelier. We were able to show that the bubbler system is capable of timely delivery of odors to the arena (Figure III.C-1-C). However, quantifying the concentration of odor mixed with the air at high speeds delivered through the nozzle requires a standardized concentration sample and, to my knowledge, no standard concentration sample of ethyl acetate can be purchased. Thus, we were not able to experimentally measure the concentration of ethyl acetate that reaches the larvae. We then switched to a theoretical approach that would

allow us to compute a close approximation of the concentration needed in the solution in order to reach the desired concentration of odor in the air exiting the nozzle. Following is the description of this approach, applied to ethyl acetate.

Compressed air is injected into a solution of 99.8% anhydrous ethyl acetate that we approximated as pure for our calculations. The flow rate of air injected into the system is controlled by a mass flow controller (Aalborg DPC17) and is equal to the flow rate of vapors exiting the bubbler. The gas volume of the container above the liquid will be referred to as "headspace".

In order to determine the concentration of ethyl acetate in the headspace (C_{hs}), we first calculated the saturated vapor pressure (SVP) of ethyl acetate using Antoine's law $SVP = 10^{A - \frac{B}{C+T}}$, where A, B and C are component-specific constants in mmHg and T is the temperature in °C.

At a temperature of 25°C, A = 7.10179 mmHg, B = 1244.95 mmHg, C = 217.9 mmHg. Thus the saturated vapor pressure of ethyl acetate is 94.7174 mmHg or 0.124628 atm.

Assuming that ethyl acetate acts as an ideal gas under 25°C and atmospheric pressure, the ideal gas law tells us that $P \times V = n \times \frac{R}{T'}$ with temperature in K and R being the ideal gas constant.

$$R = 0.082057366080960 \frac{L \times atm}{K \times mol}$$

By rearranging the equation and setting the previously calculated *SVP* as *P*, we get a concentration of ethyl acetate in the headspace of $\frac{n}{V} = \frac{SVP}{R \times T}$ where $\frac{n}{V} = C_{hs}$ in *mol/L*.

$$C_{hs} = \frac{0.124628}{0.082057366080960 \times 298.15} = 5.094 \times 10^{-3} \ mol/L$$

We defined a goal concentration $C_{odor} = 1.03 \times 10^{-4} mol/L$ according to concentrations used in (Gershow et al. 2012) where they created an ethyl acetate odor gradient ranging from 2 to 2500 *ppm*. In order to convert *ppm* concentration values to mol/L, we use the ideal gas law to compute the volume taken by 1 *mol* of gas at the temperature used in the paper of 23°C and under a pressure of 1 *atm*.

$$V = \frac{1 \times R \times 295.15}{1} = 24.2192316 L$$

This gave us that 1 *mol* of gas at 23°C and under 1 *atm* fills 24.21292316 *L*. Since gas *ppm* are $\mu L/L$, it follows that 2500 *ppm* are equal to $C_{odor} = \frac{2500 \,\mu L}{1 \,L} \times \frac{1 \,mol}{24.21292316 \,L} \approx 1.03 \times 10^{-4} \,mol/L$.

Since the gas exiting the bubbler will be diluted in the air flow of the air puff, the final concentration of odor delivered to the larvae (C_{odor}) is equal to $C_{odor} = \frac{Q_{odor}}{Q_{total}} \times C_{hs}$ where Q_{odor} is the flow of air going through the bubbler and Q_{total} is the total air flow at the end of the air puff nozzle. In order to be consistent with our experiments, Q_{total} was set at 5 m/s or 6.28 L/s since the tubing of the air puff has a radius of 2 cm.

By rearranging the equation, it follows that $Q_{odor} = \frac{C_{odor}}{C_{hs}} \times Q_{total} = 0.127 L/s$ or 7.62 *L/min*. Consequently, the mass flow controller needs to be set at 7.61 *L/min* in order to deliver a concentration of ethyl acetate $C_{odor} = 1.03 \times 10^{-4} mol/L$.

Finally, when no air puff is added, a different solution needs to be used because no dilution of the odor-charged air will occur. To determine the concentration of the solution we need to use in the bottle, we use Henry's law which states that $H^{cc} = \frac{C_{aq}}{C_g} = H^{cp} \times R \times T$, where H^{cc} is the dimensionless Henry solubility, C_{aq} is the concentration of ethyl acetate in the solution, C_g the desired concentration of ethyl acetate in the gas, H^{cp} is Henry's solubility which is constant for each molecule at a specific temperature, R is the gas constant and T the temperature in Kelvin. Rearranging the equation gives $C_{aq} = C_g \times H^{cp} \times R \times T$.

For ethyl acetate, Henry's solubility value is $H_{ethyl acetate}^{cp} = 6 \times 10^{-2} \frac{mol}{m^3 \times Pa}$ (Fenclová et al. 2014). We can thus compute the concentration of ethyl acetate required in the solution in order to reach the desired concentration in the gas:

 $C_{aq} = 1.03 \times 10^{-4} \times 6 \times 10^{-2} \times 8.314 \times 298.15 = 1.53 \times 10^{-2} \ mol/L$

III. C. 2. Results

The setup was first tested with each stimulus separately. We were able to reproduce anemotaxis behavior (Jovanic et al. 2019) with the air puff gradient alone, in which condition the larvae moved away from the nozzle (Figure III.C-2-C). When presented with only ethyl acetate, larvae moved towards the nozzle (Figure III.C-2-B). This behavior was stronger when using a solution of ethyl acetate concentrated at 10^{-3} M (Figure III.C-3-A1).



Figure III.C-2 Example recordings of larvae during 10 min with different stimulation modalities. Each line represents the track traveled by a larva. The color of the lines change from blue to orange to show the passing of time during the recording. White line is the starting position for that recording. Grey line is the stimuli delivery nozzle. A. No stimulation delivered. Larvae disperse randomly. B. Continuous delivery of only odor. Larvae agglutinate close to the nozzle. C. Continuous delivery of only air puff. Larvae move down the wind gradient. D. Continuous delivery of both odor and air puff. Larvae behave similarly to the air puff only modality, with a slight reduction in the displacement away from the air puff.

In conflicting gradients, larvae did not move towards the nozzle, regardless of the concentration of ethyl acetate used (Figure III.C-3-A2). We observed a slight reduction in the displacement of larvae away from the nozzle when presented with an odorant stimulus with a concentration of ethyl acetate of 10^{-3} M or 10^{-4} M but not 10^{-2} M (Figure

III.C-3-A2). The addition of ethyl acetate to the air gradient induced a decrease in navigation index averaged over the whole 10 min of recording, which did not reach significance (Figure III.C-3-B).



Figure III.C-3 Locomotion analysis of larvae in conflicting multisensory gradients. A. Displacement of larvae along the gradients axis, corrected by the starting position and recorded over 10 min. Positive values correspond to larvae moving towards the source of stimuli. A1. Larvae were stimulated either with ethyl acetate alone or an air puff alone. A2. Larvae were monitored in a conflicting sensory gradient of wind speeds and ethyl acetate concentration. B. Navigation index computed over the entire duration of the recording for different stimulation modalities. Positive values correspond to larvae moving away from the source of stimuli. C. 3D reconstruction of neurons from electron-microscopy dataset. The mechanosensory Chordotonal neurons (green) are connected to food-related sensory neurons (blue) via two pairs of descending neurons (red).

Altogether, these results suggest that the aversion from the air puff is too strong for the addition of ethyl acetate to alter the choice of the larvae to move down the airspeed

gradient. However, developing a more precise analysis of the recording may reveal subtle changes in locomotion that we could not detect here. For instance, the probability of Head-casting, their direction and their acceptance rate could be modulated by the addition of odors. This new assay is promising in allowing us to study the neuronal circuitry involved in the integration of the olfactory and mechanosensory environment.

This is especially interesting regarding a connection between the chordotonal mechanosensory neurons and some sensory neurons, located in the head of the larva (Figure III.C-3-C), that we uncovered in the electron-microscopy dataset (Ohyama et al. 2015) using the collaborative online tool Catmaid (Saalfeld et al. 2009). Indeed, these neurons, labelled AN and MN (or MxN), are part of a collection of nerves, the pharyngeal nerves, which innervate the muscles that drive food intake (Miroschnikow, Schlegel, and Pankratz 2020; J. Y. Kwon et al. 2011). More precisely, AN neurons are part of the antennal nerve and MN are part of the maxillary nerve. Both these nerves relay projections of sensory neurons respectively from the dorsal organ ganglion, and from terminal and ventral organs ganglions (J. Y. Kwon et al. 2011). The dorsal contains a combination of thermosensory, olfactory and gustatory neurons (Klein et al. 2015; Kreher, Kwon, and Carlson 2005), the terminal organ contains thermosensory neurons and gustatory neurons (L. Liu et al. 2003; Vosshall and Stocker 2007) and the ventral organ contains gustatory and mechanosensory neurons (Apostolopoulou, Rist, and Thum 2015).

We found that these AN and MN neurons are connected to the chordotonal mechanosensory neurons through two pairs of descending neurons (T1 and T2 descending neurons), that send projections all along the ventral nerve chord or the larva. Because the electron microscopy dataset does not span the peripheral nervous system of the larva (Ohyama et al. 2015; Jovanic et al. 2016; 2019; Zarin et al. 2019; Heckscher et al. 2015; Zwart et al. 2016; Miroschnikow, Schlegel, and Pankratz 2020; Winding et al. 2023), the exact nature of the AN and MN neurons involved in this connection is currently unknown. However, (Miroschnikow et al. 2018) anatomically characterized in great details the Antennal nerve which divides into three distinct bundles (B1-3) upon entering the larval brain (Figure III.C-4). The three bundles can be easily recognized anatomically since B1 is the most medial, B3 the most lateral and B2 falls between the other two.



Figure III.C-4 Organization of the Antennal nerve in *Drosophila* **larva from (Miroschnikow et al. 2018).** Anatomical characterization of the Antennal nerve by (Miroschnikow et al. 2018), A is from figure 5A and B from figure 5B. Upon entry in the brain, the Antennal nerve divides into three bundles (B1 to B3). Only B3 contains axons from olfactory neurons.

Interestingly, axons from the olfactory neurons of the dorsal organ are exclusively part of the 3rd bundle (Miroschnikow et al. 2018). A close comparison of the anatomy of the Antennal nerve bundles with the anatomy of the AN neurons reconstructed in the electron microscopy connectome dataset (Ohyama et al. 2015; Jovanic et al. 2016; 2019; Zarin et al. 2019; Heckscher et al. 2015; Zwart et al. 2016; Miroschnikow, Schlegel, and Pankratz 2020; Winding et al. 2023) allowed us determine that one of the three AN neurons that synapses onto the T1 and T2 descending neurons could be olfactory since it belongs to the most lateral bundle, corresponding to B3 (Figure III.C-5). The other two neurons are part of B2, the intermediate bundle between B1 and B3. We argue that these two neurons are likely to be gustatory sensory neurons, since a large portion of neurons from B2 were shown to express gustatory receptors (Miroschnikow et al. 2018).

Considering the strong multisensory role of the pharyngeal nerves, which carry information from all the terminal, ventral, and dorsal organs (Klein et al. 2015; Kreher, Kwon, and Carlson 2005; L. Liu et al. 2003; Vosshall and Stocker 2007; Apostolopoulou, Rist, and Thum 2015), it seems a reasonable assumption that these T1 and T2 descending neurons could relay feeding-related sensory information to this pair of descending neurons. If this were confirmed, the involvement of T1 and T2 descending neurons in conveying feeding-related sensory information, sensed by the sensory organs of the head, to the chordotonal mechanosensory neurons would be very likely. Our assay will allow for the determination of a possible role of these neurons in the decision of the larvae in conflicting multisensory gradients. Eventually, manipulation of the feeding state of the larvae in this assay will uncover the influence of the internal

state on multisensory integration and decision-making that may involve weighing risks and benefits in the conflicting scenario of opposing olfactory and wind speed gradient. It will further allow us to identify the neuronal and signaling pathways involved in the transmission of state-dependent information.



Figure III.C-5 Identification of the Antennal nerve neurons upstream of the T1 and T2 descending neurons. Localization of Antennal nerve sensory neurons that synapse on the T1 and T2 descending neurons reconstructions from the electron microscopy connectome dataset from the left (A) and right (B) side of the body. Each bundle from the Antennal nerve is in a different color (B1 = red ; B2 = yellow ; B3 = green). The neurons that synapses onto T1 and T2 descending are colored in blue, blue arrows highlight their belonging to bundles 2 and 3. Images made in Catmaid (<u>https://neurophyla.mrc-Imb.cam.ac.uk/catmaid/drosophila/l1/seymour/</u>), Dataset hosted by Cardona lab (LMB-MRC, Cambridge University)

IV. Discussion
Throughout the work presented in this manuscript, our objective was to uncover the neural circuit mechanisms underlying how an animal's feeding state can influence decisions unrelated to feeding. Leveraging a well-characterized neural circuit in Drosophila larvae responsible for choosing between hunching and head-casting behaviors in response to mechanical stimulation (Jovanic et al. 2016), we explored how this circuit is modulated under varying feeding conditions. Our findings demonstrate that changes in the feeding state bias larval behavior towards increased head-casting at the expense of hunching, achieved by regulating the activity levels of two reciprocally connected inhibitory interneurons crucial for determining the circuit's output state. Interestingly, we identified the two feeding-related neuropeptides, NPF and sNPF (Fadda et al. 2019), known to possess neuromodulatory properties (Wu, Zhao, and Shen 2005; S. Lee, Kim, and Jones 2017; Lingo, Zhao, and Shen 2007; Landayan et al. 2021; G. Lee, Bahn, and Park 2006; Dierick and Greenspan 2007; Wen et al. 2005; Kahsai, Martin, and Winther 2010; Kahsai et al. 2010; Johard et al. 2009; Imambocus et al. 2022; Johard et al. 2008), as key players in this modulation process. We show that the modulatory action of NPF and sNPF on larval behavioral decisions does not rely on the direct modulation of the projection neurons at the output of the circuit which do not express their receptors. Moreover, although the mechanosensory neurons at the origin of the activation of the circuit do express the sNPFR and NPFR, we show that their modulation is not required for biasing the decisions of the larvae. Instead, both sNPF and NPF are involved in the modulation of the interconnected inhibitory interneurons which are responsible for the feeding state-dependent modulation of larval behavioral decisions in response to an air puff. The following figure (Figure IV.1) summarizes the statedependent modulatory actions of sNPF and NPF on the inhibitory interneurons Handle-B and Griddle-2 that were uncovered throughout my PhD project.



Figure IV.1 Summary of feeding state-dependent action of sNPF and NPF on Handle-B and Griddle-2 interneurons. Red flat arrows represent inhibition of the target neuron activity, green pointed arrows represent facilitation of the target neuron activity, and grey elements represent pathways that are weak and have no significant effect in the corresponding feeding state. In larvae fed on standard food, sNPF inhibits Handle-B and facilitates Griddle-2, which results in lower Basin-2 responses and leads to a higher hunching probability. In larvae starved or fed on sucrose, sNPF is downregulated and NPF facilitates Handle-B activity, promoting Basin-2 responses, which results in a decreased hunching probability.

IV. A. Neuropeptidergic action on the mechanosensory chordotonal neurons

We showed expression of both NPFR and sNPFR in most subtypes of the mechanosensory chordotonal neurons. However, our calcium imaging results show that their activity remains similar in the different feeding states that we studied, suggesting that the modulation of the decision of the larvae happens downstream in the circuit. Accordingly, imposing an activation of the mechanosensory chordotonal neurons of constant strength in different feeding states via optogenetic stimulation led to a normal bias in larval behavioral choice (an increase in head-casting responses at the expense of hunching), confirming that the feeding state-dependent modulation of the circuit does not require the modulation of the mechanosensory neurons but instead is implemented downstream in the circuit. We thus demonstrated that the action of NPF and sNPF on the mechanosensory neurons is not to alter the decisions of the larvae about how to respond to an air puff in different feeding states.

What is then function of neuropeptides receptors involved in feeding regulation expressed in chordotonal neurons if the activity of the mechanosensory neurons is not modulated by the feeding state? By knocking-down sNPFR expression in the mechanosensory neurons and monitoring their responses to mechanical stimulation using calcium imaging, we show that sNPF has a feeding state-dependent inhibitory effect on their responses, found in larvae fed on standard food or starved, but inexistent in larvae fed on sucrose only. The role of this state-dependent inhibition of the mechanosensory neurons remains to be elucidated, as we showed that it is not

necessary for biasing the behavioral decision of the larvae.

We can hypothesize that the response probability of the larvae does not exhibit a smooth transition across a range of mechanosensory neurons activation amplitudes but instead evolves stepwise when thresholds of mechanosensory neurons' activity are crossed. The inhibitory effect of sNPF that we recorded in larvae fed on standard food or starved could be small enough to keep the activity of the mechanosensory neurons in the same range as that of control larvae, thus not leading to any change in the behavioral response of the larvae. Such a mechanisms could lead to a binary response probability of the larvae, allowing them to ignore weaker stimuli and respond in a stereotyped manner to strong enough stimuli, as was shown for their response to thermo-nociceptive stimulation for instance (Y. Hu et al. 2020).

It is also possible that sNPF, decreases the sensitivity to the mechanical stimulation, thus reducing the probability for larvae to respond to the stimulation, without biasing the behavioral choice between hunching and head-casting when they do respond. (Masson et al. 2020) showed that a strong reduction of the air puff intensity (from 6 m/s to 3 m/s) indeed leads to more larvae ignoring the stimulation as shown by an increase in the probability of larvae to crawl in response to a weaker stimulation. However, this strong reduction in the stimulus strength did lead to an alteration of the proportion of the different actions performed in response to the air puff, with a notable increase in the probability of larvae stopping, at the expense of hunching and bending for example (Masson et al. 2020).

To test these hypotheses, it would thus be interesting to compare the stopping probability between control larvae and larvae in which expression of the sNPFR in knockdown in the mechanosensory chordotonal neurons, from the same intensity of air puff stimulation. We could also easily characterize the response regiment of the larvae to a wide range of stimuli intensities (from weak to strong) and quantifying the proportion of larvae that respond to the stimulation, as well as the proportion of hunching, head-casting, and stopping responses. We unfortunately did not have the time to explore the effect of NPF on the mechanosensory neurons. Investigating the consequences of NPF signaling on the mechanosensory neurons will provide valuable information about the role of their neuropeptidergic modulation. Indeed, considering that the activity of the mechanosensory neurons remains similar across the tested feeding states in control larvae and that the sNPF has a state-dependent inhibitory effect on them, it is likely that some other effector, possibly NPF, would compensate the inhibitory action of sNPF. Under this hypothesis, the integration of several state-dependent signals in the mechanosensory neurons would lead to a homeostatic balancing of their amplitude of response. For this purpose, other neuropeptides could affect the activity of the mechanosensory neurons, including ILP whose expression is regulated by and can regulate sNPF expression (Kapan et al. 2012; Yeom et al. 2021) and acts oppositely to sNPF in a neural circuit orchestrating the behavioral response to noxious touch and light (Imambocus et al. 2022).

What is then the purpose of modulating the mechanosensory responses in a statedependent manner if their amplitude is eventually homeostatically tuned to remain in a specific range? The expression of receptors to several neuropeptides would allow the mechanosensory neurons to integrate information about several internal states at once. It is possible that a different state different to the feeding states we studied, anxiety for instance, could exert a stronger modulatory effect on the responses of the mechanosensory neurons, allowing them to adapt to dangerous environments or the presence of predators (Min and Condron 2005; Mohammad et al. 2016; Berne et al. 2023). Interestingly, the mammalian homolog of sNPF and NPF, NPY, has been implicated in reducing anxiety (Bale and Doshi 2023; Brain and Cox 2006; Pedrazzini, Pralong, and Grouzmann 2003; Sánchez, Rodríguez, and Coveñas 2023). Moreover, noxious light stimulation has been used to induce anxiety in Drosophila larvae (Min and Condron 2005) and recruit insulin-like peptides to produce locomotor escape responses (Imambocus et al. 2022). It is thus possible that several neuropeptides converge on the mechanosensory neurons to homeostatically regulate their responses across different internal states while allowing this regulation to be overridden when critical conditions arise.

Alternatively, it could be that the effect of sNPF on the mechanosensory chordotonal neurons impacts a different function of theirs, proprioception, leading to adaptations in their locomotion (Agrawal and Tuthil 2022). Indeed, in *Drosophila* larva the chordotonal neurons were shown to also mediate proprioception (Agrawal and Tuthil 2022). The mechanosensors in the chordotonal organ which are activated during the propagation of the peristaltic wave generated when larvae crawl (Agrawal and Tuthil

2022; Orgogozo and Grueber 2005; Hughes and Thomas 2007). Alteration of this proprioceptive activation leads to qualitative changes in the locomotion of the larvae, modifying the dynamics of the peristaltic wave and overall, the crawling speed of the larvae and their probability of head-casting (Agrawal and Tuthil 2022; Gjorgjieva et al. 2013). Considering this, we can hypothesize that the state-dependent inhibitory action of sNPF on the mechanosensory neurons could modulate their proprioceptive function and be involved in the modulation of their crawling speed during baseline locomotion in different feeding states.

IV. B. Modulation of sensorimotor decisions by NPF

In the article in section III.A, we uncover that the one of the descending neurons that makes synaptic connections with the feedback inhibitory interneuron (Handle-B) that promotes head-casting at the expense of hunching in a sensorimotor circuit in the VNC (Jovanic et al. 2016) is a pair of NPF-releasing neurons (DM-NPF) in Drosophila larva brain (Jovanic et al. 2016). Using calcium imaging to record responses of Handle-B upon complete silencing of NPF neurons with KIR, we showed they have an excitatory action on Handle-B. Although we did not have tools to monitor the release of NPF directly, we showed that DM-NPF exhibits a constitutive basal calcium signal that increases if the larvae are fed on sucrose only or starved, suggesting an increased release of NPF. Consistent with an increase in the release of NPF in starved and sucrosefed larvae, we show in calcium imaging that knocking-down the NPFR in the feedback inhibitory interneuron, that receives synaptic inputs from DM-NPF and expresses the NPFR, abolishes the increase in its responses to mechanical stimulation exhibited by control larvae after starvation or sucrose-feeding. Taken together, these results strongly suggest that DM-NPF increases its release of NPF in larvae fed on sucrose only or starved and that NPF consequently facilitates the responses of Handle-B to mechanical stimulations.

We have shown that an increase in the amplitude of responses of Handle-B is responsible for the bias in the behavioral choice of larvae fed on sucrose only or starved. We thus propose that the increased release of NPF by DM-NPF is instrumental in biasing the decision of the larvae. Experiments where the effect of NPFR knockdown specifically in Handle-B on the behavioral responses of larvae to an air puff after sucrose-feeding or starvation are currently being performed to confirm the necessity of NPF signaling on Handle-B for the bias in larval decisions.

Moreover, we show that knockdown of NPF in DM-NPF influences the modulation of basal locomotion by the feeding state of the larvae. Indeed, several locomotor features such as the crawling speed, the time spent in runs and the dispersal of the larvae increase in control larvae starved or fed on sucrose only but are diminished or unchanged upon NPF knockdown in DM-NPF. Although we do not know the neurons responsible for this modulation of basal locomotion, this result shows that NPF is able to transmit information about the feeding state to circuits involved in locomotion located in the VNC.

To fully understand the mechanism of NPF-dependent modulation of sensorimotor decisions in different states, the question of whether DM-NPF senses directly the alteration of the feeding state or whether it receives inputs from other neurons that sense it remains. Indeed, it is surprising that the activity of DM-NPF increases both in larvae fed on sucrose only and starved larvae and we do not know the exact signal responsible for that increase. In the brain, several mechanisms have been discovered that allow individual neurons to tune their activity to the metabolic state of the organism depending on glucose levels (López-Gambero et al. 2019). It is possible that DM-NPF is one such neuron whose activity is regulated by glucose. However, if that were the case, we would expect starvation and sucrose feeding to have opposite actions on DM-NPF activity. Indeed, we have shown that our sucrose feeding condition increases the glucose levels in the hemolymph of the larvae, while starvation tends to decrease it.

It could be that different cellular pathways are recruited in these two conditions to lead to an increase in DM-NPF activity. The activation of sweet taste receptors on neurons by glucose has been shown to be able to trigger depolarization (López-Gambero et al. 2019). (P. Shen and Cai 2001) have shown that in *Drosophila* larva, upon sugar feeding, the sweet taste, but not the metabolic effect of glucose, is responsible for increasing the activity of NPF-producing neurons. It is thus possible that the increased activity we see in DM-NPF in sucrose-fed larvae is independent of the metabolic state of the larvae and subsequent to the activation of taste receptors. Whether or not DM-NPF receives input from neurons that carry sweet taste receptors directly, or indirectly, however, remains to be determined. On the other hand, the increase in activity of DM-NPF in starved larvae could be dependent on a decrease in DM-NPF access to glucose, a mechanism known to increase activity of some neurons, notably in the hypothalamus, where NPY neurons regulate feeding in mammalians (López-Gambero et al. 2019; Tong et al. 2007; Parker and Bloom 2012).

It is also possible that DM-NPF does not directly sense changes in glucose levels and that satiety signals such as hormones or ILP could provide an inhibitory feedback to DM-NPF after food intake to normalize its activity (Meister 2007; Valassi, Scacchi, and Cavagnini 2008). Indeed, insulin-producing neurons in *Drosophila* brain were shown to sense glucose levels (Lin, Senapati, and Tsao 2019), increasing ILP release in response to increased glucose levels. Moreover, (Wu et al. 2005) showed that ILP action on NPFR positive cells is necessary for the hunger-induced increase in food tolerance, showing a competitive action of these two neuropeptides, although no direct effect of ILP on NPF release has been as of yet (Lin, Senapati, and Tsao 2019; Wu et al. 2005; Nässel and Zandawala 2020).

IV. C. Opposite effects of sNPF on Griddle-2 and Handle-B

In this study, we have found that the modulation of two reciprocally connected inhibitory interneurons (Griddle-2 and Handle-B) is responsible for the feeding state-dependent bias in the behavioral responses of the larvae. Interestingly, we establish that both of these interneurons express the sNPFR and that knocking-down its expression in either of them leads to a bias in larval decision in response to an air puff towards less hunching and more head-casting. This behavioral bias is similar to the one observed upon sucrose-feeding in control larvae. By monitoring their activity in calcium imaging upon sNPFR knockdown, we showed that this bias is implemented by a facilitating effect of sNPF on Griddle-2 and an inhibitory effect on Handle-B.

Since only one receptor for sNPF is expressed in both inhibitory interneurons, our results raise the question of the cellular mechanisms leading to an opposite effect of sNPF on Griddle-2 and Handle-B. Most GPCRs are not selective of a single G-protein and can even couple G-proteins of different families (Harding et al. 2018; Okashah et al. 2019; Inoue et al. 2019). The effect exerted by their ligands thus depends strongly on the G-protein that is recruited upon activation of the receptor. In *Drosophila*, the sNPFR shares structural similarities with the mammalian NPY2R (Fadda et al. 2019; Nässel and Wegener 2011; Larhammar and Salaneck 2004), which has been shown to be able to couple both with G_i/G_o and G_q/G_{11} proteins (Harding et al. 2018; Misra et al. 2004). (Inoue et al. 2019) developed a predictor that reinforces this idea and suggests that the NPY2R could also couple with $G_{12/13}$ proteins. If we loosely extrapolate these properties to the sNPFR, for which no G-protein coupling study is available to the best of my knowledge, we can argue that the opposite effect of sNPF that we recorded on the Handle-B and Griddle-2 inhibitory interneurons could originate from the recruitment of different G-proteins following sNPFR activation in each of these neurons.

Supporting this hypothesis, (Oh et al. 2019) found an opposite effect of sNPF on insulin-producing cells (stimulation) and adipokinetic hormone-producing cells (inhibition) in the adult *Drosophila* fly. Interestingly, exposition to an inhibitor of the G_q pathway specifically abolished the sNPF-dependent activation of the insulin-producing cells, while exposition to an inhibitor of the G_i pathway specifically reduced the sNPF-dependent inhibition of adipokinetic hormone-producing cells (Oh et al. 2019).

Additionally, neuropeptides are known to modulate electrical properties of neurons' membranes through the regulation of ion channels expression and function (Wicher, Walther, and Wicher 2001; Cardin 2019). It is also possible that the compositions of ion channels on the membrane of Handle-B and Griddle-2 are different and that the activation of the sNPFR in each of these neurons exert a different effect by biasing the balance between the activation of cationic and anionic channels (Wicher, Walther, and Wicher 2001).

IV. D. Origin of sNPF state-dependent action on the circuit

We have uncovered a state-dependent modulation of a sensorimotor decisionmaking circuit by NPF via the activation of a pair of descending neurons whose cell bodies are located in the brain of *Drosophila* larva. However, we do not know the identity of the neurons that release sNPF to the circuit, nor the mechanisms responsible for the state-dependent regulation of its action. Indeed, numerous neurons express sNPF in *Drosophila* larva, both in the brain and VNC (Nässel et al. 2008; Nässel and Wegener 2011). (Imambocus et al. 2022) identified a dorsal pair of ILP7 producing neurons (DP7) that releases sNPF in response to noxious touch. These DP7 have their cell bodies in the VNC and send both local projections in the VNC and ascending projections into the brain lobes (Imambocus et al. 2022). The localization of these neurons in proximity to the circuit studied in our work and their involvement in the regulation of locomotor escape responses make them candidate neurons that could bring sNPF to our circuit.

However, as many other neurons in the VNC express sNPF (Nässel et al. 2008; Nässel and Wegener 2011) it seems difficult to precisely regulate the amount of sNPF reaching any individual neuron in a state-dependent manner. We thus propose that the most efficient mechanism of state-dependent modulation of sNPF effect on the circuit does not arise from modulation of its release but of that of its receptor expression in target neurons. Although we did not quantify the number of receptors expressed on each neuron of our circuit in different feeding states, our results seem to be in line with this hypothesis. Indeed, we showed that knocking-down sNPFR expression in either Griddle-2 or Handle-B in larvae fed on standard food modulates their responses to mechanical stimulation in calcium imaging towards a "sucrose-like" or "starved-like" phenotype, suggesting that sNPFR expression could be decreased in these neurons upon sucrose feeding and starvation. Moreover, knockdown of sNPFR expression in either inhibitory interneuron did not introduce any change in their responses in larvae fed on sucrose or starved, reinforcing the idea that sNPFR expression could be decreased in these conditions. Supporting this idea, (Root et al. 2011) showed that sNPF signaling modulated food search behavior through a hunger-dependent presynaptic facilitation of olfactory neurons in *Drosophila* adult flies. Most interestingly, they showed that this state-dependent modulatory effect of sNPF signaling is mediated by the increase of the expression of the sNPFR in hungry flies, and not by changes in the expression of sNPF.

To confirm this hypothesis, quantification of the sNPFR expression via RT-qPCR would be very valuable. More easily, we have recently acquired a *Drosophila* line that would allow us to overexpress the sNPFR. We could thus use this line to investigate whether over-expression of sNPFR rescues the phenotype of larvae fed on standard food after feeding them sucrose only or starving them.

IV. E. Difficulties of internal states characterization

The opposite effect of sNPF on different neurons from a single receptor is a reminder that a specific role cannot be easily attributed to one molecule. One needs to investigate the entire signaling cascade triggered by the activation of a receptor in order to truly understand the effects of a molecule in a specific context, which may be different in another context. Expanding on this idea, at any given moment, one neuron does not only receive inputs from a single molecule. Instead, a combination of many molecules continuously flood neurons, the level of which varies depending on the immediate state of the organism. As such, any state must be defined by the immediate concentration of each molecule and the subsequent pattern of activity exhibited by their target neurons. Nevertheless, no any state exists on its own but the organism always exhibit a balance between several states (such as hunger, fatigue or stress) that all influence the amount of molecules reaching a neuron and its integration of all signals.

To my mind, combining neural circuits mapping as described in this manuscript and articles such as (Jovanic et al. 2016; 2019; Masson et al. 2020; Ohyama et al. 2015; Eschbach et al. 2020; Takagi et al. 2017; Saumweber et al. 2018; Eichler et al. 2017; Winding et al. 2023) with the use of single-cell transcriptomics (Heumos et al. 2023) is currently the best way to comprehensively characterize such state-dependent alterations. Indeed, single-cell transcriptomics can provide uniquely detailed information about the level of expression of all proteins in each cell of a circuit, including neuropeptides, membrane receptors, ion channels, etc... By comparing transcriptomics results in each cell in different states, one could identify changes in protein expressions that characterize that specific state and model the consequences in the circuit activity.

Additionally, technics allowing to image the activity of all the neurons in the brain at once with cellular resolutions are starting to be implemented in *Drosophila* research (Aimon et al. 2023; Mann, Gallen, and Clandinin 2017; Tainton-Heap et al. 2024). Such technics, though still technically challenging, would be extremely powerful to identify key neurons whose activity change in different states, eventually allowing to define a specific state as a precise pattern of activity of all the neurons whose activity is modulated in this state.

An illustration of this principle is our sucrose-fed condition. Indeed, we show that larvae fed sucrose only exhibit a combination of physiological alterations with thirst and a specific hunger for proteins. We believe that the thirst in these larvae arises from changes in their osmolality from the high concentration of glucose in their hemolymph (Jourjine et al. 2016; Jourjine 2017; González Segarra et al. 2023). It is thus to be expected that, on top of the regulation of sNPF and NPF that we uncovered, other neuropeptides involved in feeding and water regulation would be involved in the signaling of this particular state

As such, the role of abdominal leucokinin neurons, which are located in the larva VNC and co-express leucokinin and DH44, would be particularly interesting to study in the context of sucrose feeding. Indeed, these neurons are able to control different physiological processes, including increasing food ingestion and decreasing water retention, through DH44 and Lk respectively (Zandawala, Marley, et al. 2018). Moreover, knockdown of any of these neuropeptides in this neuronal population increases resistance to desiccation, starvation and ionic stress (Zandawala, Marley, et al. 2018), an effect opposite to the physiological changes we observe in the larvae after feeding on sucrose only. The first step to study the potential implication of DH44 and Lk in the modulation of sensorimotor decisions in larvae fed on sucrose will be to investigate whether their receptors are expressed by neurons in the decision circuit.

Moreover, neuromodulatory amines may be recruited on top of neuropeptides. Indeed, in flies, sweet taste produces reward signals through the activation of dopaminergic neurons (Burke et al. 2012; C. Liu et al. 2012; May et al. 2020). Moreover, dopamine has been associated with an increase in exploratory behaviors (Cinotti et al. 2019; Chakroun et al. 2020) which is in line with the behavioral bias we observe in larvae fed on sucrose only, as head-casting is dynamical action that promotes both escape and exploration of the environment by larvae. Plus, serotonin can promote feeding by increasing the hedonic value of food (van Galen, ter Horst, and Serlie 2021), which could collaborate with NPF effect on food tolerance (Wu, Zhao, and Shen 2005; S. Lee, Kim, and Jones 2017; Lingo, Zhao, and Shen 2007) to increase the motivation of the larvae to feed, leading to the modulation of their behavioral choices.

IV. F. Studying decision-making in conflicting sensory gradients in Drosophila larva

The modification of our behavioral apparatus allows us to put larvae in a gradient of odor concentrations, either alone or in combination with a gradient of air speeds. Our results show that this updated setup is able to reproduce anemotactic navigation as in (Jovanic et al. 2019), driving larvae to move away from the source of the air. Moreover, presenting ethyl acetate alone to the larvae led them to move towards the source of odor, showing that they are indeed able to sense the gradient of odor concentrations in that assay. Finally, combining the air speeds gradient with the gradient of ethyl acetate concentrations, we observe a slight non-significant reduction in the anemotactic performances measured by the navigational index, compared to presentation of the air gradient alone. This suggests that there may be alterations of the navigational strategies of the larvae when both gradients are combined that our analysis is not detailed enough to reveal.

However, the analysis displayed in this work is preliminary and does not extract detailed information about the navigation strategies of the larvae. Implementing the analysis of the probability and direction of head-casting depending on the orientation of the larva in the gradient (Linjiao Luo et al. 2010; Jovanic et al. 2019; Gomez-Marin, Stephens, and Louis 2011) is especially interesting to measure alterations of the navigation performance of the larvae. We expect that the addition of an appetitive sensory gradient to the aversive air gradient will decrease larval anemotactic performance, especially in food-deprived larvae, as both their risk-taking and their motivation to find food sources would increase. In practice, this would be reflected by an increase in the turning probability of larvae moving down the air speeds gradient and away from the odor. Ultimately, genetically inhibiting individual neurons in this assay will allow us to identify the sites responsible for the integration of the sensory stimuli presented to the larvae, and uncover the mechanisms leading to their modulation by the feeding state. We hypothesize that genetically inhibiting the neurons T1 and T2 descending, which we found may connect food-related sensory neurons (Klein et al. 2015; Kreher, Kwon, and Carlson 2005; L. Liu et al. 2003; Vosshall and Stocker 2007; Apostolopoulou, Rist, and Thum 2015) to the mechanosensory chordotonal neurons that sense the wind, may impair multisensory integration in this assay in a state-dependent manner.

A caveat with our assay is that we were not able to characterize the gradient of odor concentrations and we are unsure of it steepness. Importantly, when both gradients are combined, the odor is mixed into a very important volume of air that might lead to a saturation of the entire arena with the odorant. To circumvent this issue, it is possible to replace the gradient of odor concentrations with a gradient of red light intensity,

that will allow us to optogenetically activate olfactory neurons. Uncoupling the delivery of the sensory information in this way will help avoid the technical issues arising from mixing odors into the wind stimulus.

Moreover, by selecting the appropriate genetic driver, we could use the setup to combine other sensory modalities than olfaction with the air speeds gradient. Optogenetically activating gustatory sensory neurons in this way would be particularly interesting with regard to our discovery of two descending neurons linking the mechanosensory chordotonal neurons to sensory neurons from the antennal and maxillary nerves. Indeed, both nerves relay information from several sensory modalities, including gustation (Miroschnikow, Schlegel, and Pankratz 2020; J. Y. Kwon et al. 2011; Klein et al. 2015; Kreher, Kwon, and Carlson 2005; L. Liu et al. 2003; Vosshall and Stocker 2007; Apostolopoulou, Rist, and Thum 2015).

IV. G. Relevance of the feeding state-dependent modulation of non-feedingdependent behaviors and its study

We believe the modulation of the behavioral decision of the larvae in response to an air puff by alterations of the feeding state that we uncover in the article in section III.A of this manuscript reflects an increase in risk-taking by the larvae. Indeed, headcasting is a dynamic action that allows larvae to explore their environment while hunching is a protective startle response (Jovanic et al. 2016; Gomez-Marin, Stephens, and Louis 2011; Ohyama et al. 2013). On the one hand, the reduction of the hunching response seen upon sucrose feeding or starvation indicates a reduction in risk aversion. On the other hand, the increase of head-casting promotes exploration (Berni 2015). Altogether, the bias of larval decisions may help larvae find food to fulfill the physiological needs brought about by alteration of their feeding state.

Although not characterized with neural circuit resolution at the same level of details as the circuit we studied in the article in section III.A of this manuscript, a lot of different behaviors have been shown to be altered by hunger across species, such as risk-taking, anxiety or social behaviors (Smith and Grueter 2022; Lin, Senapati, and Tsao 2019; Moreno-Padilla, Fernández-Serrano, and Reyes del Paso 2018; Burnett et al. 2016; Sutton and Krashes 2020; Grunwald Kadow 2019). Such a feeding state-dependent modulation of non-feeding-related behaviors illustrates how hunger can reshape the behavioral repertoire of an animal to prioritize behaviors fulfilling the current most critical need (Smith and Grueter 2022; Sutton and Krashes 2020; Burnett et al. 2016; 2019). We argue that most of these hunger-driven modulations of behaviors promote impulsivity, risk-taking and ignorance of dangers. In the context of nutrients deprivation, biasing the overall behavior of an individual towards more risk-taking and impulsivity may lead to faster decisions, promoting exploration, even in dangerous environments. Indeed, as the pressure from hunger increases, the urgency to find food increases and may overcome the primal need to avoid dangers (Moran et al. 2021).

Elucidating the mechanisms underlying feeding state driven modulation of nonfeeding-related neural circuits is particularly important to develop innovative treatments of eating disorders. Indeed, even if eating circuits are strongly dysregulated in patient suffering of conditions such as obesity, bulimia or anorexia (Morales 2022; Yeom et al. 2021; Bailer and Kaye 2003; Baranowska and Kochanowski 2018; van Galen, ter Horst, and Serlie 2021; Timper and Brüning 2017; L. Zhang, Bijker, and Herzog 2011), growing research efforts show impairment of brain processes not directly related to feeding in these conditions. Namely, eating disorders and obesity are associated with alterations in reward processing, salience detection and correlate with stress and addiction behaviors (Morales 2022; Fernández-Aranda, Granero, and Jiménez-Murcia 2023; Sinha 2018; Yau and Potenza 2013; P. C. Lee and Dixon 2017; Donofry, Stillman, and Erickson 2019). Notably, alterations in neuropeptidergic signaling, and especially of NPY signaling, are involved in the pathophysiology of obesity and eating disorders (Timper and Brüning 2017; L. Zhang, Bijker, and Herzog 2011; Bailer and Kaye 2003). Although it is not clear whether the alterations of neuropeptides are a source or a consequence of the development of these disorders, it is clear that they reinforce maladaptive behaviors, trapping patients in a vicious circle. Gaining a deeper understanding of the dysregulations affecting neuropeptides involved in the maintenance of these disorders will provide new therapeutic targets, notably to help fight obesity, the most prominent metabolic disorder in the world (Masood and Moorthy 2023). Furthermore, as we have seen throughout this manuscript, even feeding-related neuropeptides are not involved exclusively in the regulation of feeding processes. A better understanding of neuropeptides and their functions may also help in the treatment of chronic pain or neuropsychiatric disorders such as anxiety and depression (Smith and Grueter 2022; Rana et al. 2022).

V. References

- 1. Ache, Jan M., Shigehiro Namiki, Allen Lee, Kristin Branson, and Gwyneth M. Card. 2019. "State-Dependent Decoupling of Sensory and Motor Circuits Underlies Behavioral Flexibility in Drosophila." *Nature Neuroscience* 22 (7): 1132–39. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41593-019-0413-4.
- Adams, Geoffrey K, Karli K Watson, John Pearson, and Michael L Platt. 2012. "Neuroethology of Decision-Making." *Current Opinion in Neurobiology* 22 (6): 982– 89. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.conb.2012.07.009.
- 3. Agrawal, Sweta, and John C Tuthil. 2022. "The Two Body Problem: Proprioception and Motor Control across the Metamorphic Divide." *Current Opinion in Neurobiology* 74 (June): 102546. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.conb.2022.102546.
- Aimé, P., P. Duchamp-Viret, M. A. Chaput, A. Savigner, M. Mahfouz, and A. K. Julliard. 2007. "Fasting Increases and Satiation Decreases Olfactory Detection for a Neutral Odor in Rats." *Behavioural Brain Research* 179 (2): 258–64. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbr.2007.02.012.
- Aimon, Sophie, Karen Y Cheng, Julijana Gjorgjieva, and Ilona C Grunwald Kadow. 2023. "Global Change in Brain State during Spontaneous and Forced Walk in Drosophila Is Composed of Combined Activity Patterns of Different Neuron Classes." Edited by Damon A Clark and Claude Desplan. *eLife* 12 (April): e85202. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.85202.
- Akerboom, Jasper, Tsai-Wen Chen, Trevor J Wardill, Lin Tian, Jonathan S Marvin, Sevinç Mutlu, Nicole Carreras Calderón, et al. 2012. "Optimization of a GCaMP Calcium Indicator for Neural Activity Imaging." *The Journal of Neuroscience: The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience* 32 (40): 13819–40. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2601-12.2012.
- Albrecht, J., T. Schreder, A. M. Kleemann, V. Schöpf, R. Kopietz, A. Anzinger, M. Demmel, J. Linn, B. Kettenmann, and M. Wiesmann. 2009. "Olfactory Detection Thresholds and Pleasantness of a Food-Related and a Non-Food Odour in Hunger and Satiety." *Rhinology* 47 (2): 160–65.
- 8. Allen, William E., Michael Z. Chen, Nandini Pichamoorthy, Rebecca H. Tien, Marius Pachitariu, Liqun Luo, and Karl Deisseroth. 2019. "Thirst Regulates Motivated Behavior through Modulation of Brainwide Neural Population Dynamics." *Science (New York, N.Y.)* 364 (6437): 253. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aav3932.
- Anderberg, Rozita H., Caroline Hansson, Maya Fenander, Jennifer E. Richard, Suzanne L. Dickson, Hans Nissbrandt, Filip Bergquist, and Karolina P. Skibicka. 2016. "The Stomach-Derived Hormone Ghrelin Increases Impulsive Behavior." *Neuropsychopharmacology: Official Publication of the American College of Neuropsychopharmacology* 41 (5): 1199–1209. https://doi.org/10.1038/npp.2015.297.
- Andrews, Jonathan C., María Paz Fernández, Qin Yu, Greg P. Leary, Adelaine K. W. Leung, Michael P. Kavanaugh, Edward A. Kravitz, and Sarah J. Certel. 2014. "Octopamine Neuromodulation Regulates Gr32a-Linked Aggression and Courtship Pathways in Drosophila Males." *PLoS Genetics* 10 (5): e1004356. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgen.1004356.

- 11. Apostolopoulou, Anthi A., Anna Rist, and Andreas S. Thum. 2015. "Taste Processing in Drosophila Larvae." *Frontiers in Integrative Neuroscience* 9 (October): 50. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnint.2015.00050.
- 12. Asahina, Kenta. 2017. "Neuromodulation and Strategic Action Choice in Drosophila Aggression." *Annual Review of Neuroscience* 40 (July): 51–75. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-neuro-072116-031240.
- Aso, Yoshinori, Robert P Ray, Xi Long, Daniel Bushey, Karol Cichewicz, Teri-TB Ngo, Brandi Sharp, et al. 2019. "Nitric Oxide Acts as a Cotransmitter in a Subset of Dopaminergic Neurons to Diversify Memory Dynamics." Edited by K VijayRaghavan, Mani Ramaswami, and Roland H Strauss. *eLife* 8 (November): e49257. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.49257.
- 14. Augustin, Hrvoje, Asaph Zylbertal, and Linda Partridge. 2019. "A Computational Model of the Escape Response Latency in the Giant Fiber System of Drosophila Melanogaster." eNeuro 6 (2): ENEURO.0423-18.2019. https://doi.org/10.1523/ENEURO.0423-18.2019.
- 15. Bacci, Alberto, John R. Huguenard, and David A. Prince. 2002. "Differential Modulation of Synaptic Transmission by Neuropeptide Y in Rat Neocortical Neurons." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 99 (26): 17125–30. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.012481899.
- 16. Bader, Rüdiger, Christian Wegener, and Michael J. Pankratz. 2007. "Comparative Neuroanatomy and Genomics of Hugin and Pheromone Biosynthesis Activating Neuropeptide (PBAN)." *Fly* 1 (4): 228–31. https://doi.org/10.4161/fly.4749.
- 17. Bading, Hilmar. 2013. "Nuclear Calcium Signalling in the Regulation of Brain Function." *Nature Reviews Neuroscience* 14 (9): 593–608. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn3531.
- Bailer, Ursula F., and Walter H. Kaye. 2003. "A Review of Neuropeptide and Neuroendocrine Dysregulation in Anorexia and Bulimia Nervosa." *Current Drug Targets.* CNS and Neurological Disorders 2 (1): 53–59. https://doi.org/10.2174/1568007033338689.
- 19. Baines, R. A., and M. Bate. 1998. "Electrophysiological Development of Central Neurons in the Drosophila Embryo." *The Journal of Neuroscience: The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience* 18 (12): 4673–83. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.18-12-04673.1998.
- 20. Bale, Rajeshwari, and Gaurav Doshi. 2023. "Cross Talk about the Role of Neuropeptide Y in CNS Disorders and Diseases." *Neuropeptides* 102 (December): 102388. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.npep.2023.102388.
- 21. Baranowska, Boguslawa, and Jan Kochanowski. 2018. "Neuroendocrine Aspects of Anorexia Nervosa and Bulimia Nervosa." *Neuro Endocrinology Letters* 39 (3): 172–78.
- 22. Barco, Angel, Craig H. Bailey, and Eric R. Kandel. 2006. "Common Molecular Mechanisms in Explicit and Implicit Memory." *Journal of Neurochemistry* 97 (6): 1520–33. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1471-4159.2006.03870.x.
- 23. Bargmann, Cornelia I. 2012. "Beyond the Connectome: How Neuromodulators Shape Neural Circuits." *BioEssays: News and Reviews in Molecular, Cellular and Developmental Biology* 34 (6): 458–65. https://doi.org/10.1002/bies.201100185.

- 24. Bargmann, Cornelia I., and Eve Marder. 2013. "From the Connectome to Brain Function." *Nature Methods* 10 (6): 483–90. https://doi.org/10.1038/nmeth.2451.
- 25. Barron, Andrew B, Kevin N Gurney, Lianne F S Meah, Eleni Vasilaki, and James A R Marshall. 2015. "Decision-Making and Action Selection in Insects: Inspiration from Vertebrate-Based Theories." *Frontiers in Behavioral Neuroscience* 9 (January): 216. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnbeh.2015.00216.
- Bellen, H. J., D. D'Evelyn, M. Harvey, and S. J. Elledge. 1992. "Isolation of Temperature-Sensitive Diphtheria Toxins in Yeast and Their Effects on Drosophila Cells." *Development (Cambridge, England)* 114 (3): 787–96. https://doi.org/10.1242/dev.114.3.787.
- 27. Bellen, Hugo J, Chao Tong, and Hiroshi Tsuda. 2010. "100 Years of Drosophila Research and Its Impact on Vertebrate Neuroscience: A History Lesson for the Future." *Nature Reviews. Neuroscience* 11 (7): 514–22. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn2839.
- Bernard, Amandine, Aurore Danigo, Sylvie Bourthoumieu, Mohamad Mroué, Alexis Desmoulière, Franck Sturtz, Amandine Rovini, and Claire Demiot. 2021. "The Cholecystokinin Type 2 Receptor, a Pharmacological Target for Pain Management." *Pharmaceuticals (Basel, Switzerland)* 14 (11): 1185. https://doi.org/10.3390/ph14111185.
- 29. Berne, Alexander, Tom Zhang, Joseph Shomar, Anggie J Ferrer, Aaron Valdes, Tomoko Ohyama, and Mason Klein. 2023. "Mechanical Vibration Patterns Elicit Behavioral Transitions and Habituation in Crawling Drosophila Larvae." Edited by K VijayRaghavan and Jan Clemens. *eLife* 12 (October): e69205. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.69205.
- 30. Berni, Jimena. 2015. "Genetic Dissection of a Regionally Differentiated Network for Exploratory Behavior in Drosophila Larvae." *Current Biology* 25 (10): 1319–26. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2015.03.023.
- 31. Berridge, Craig W., and Barry D. Waterhouse. 2003. "The Locus Coeruleus-Noradrenergic System: Modulation of Behavioral State and State-Dependent Cognitive Processes." *Brain Research. Brain Research Reviews* 42 (1): 33–84. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0165-0173(03)00143-7.
- 32. Bertuzzi, Maria, and Konstantinos Ampatzis. 2018. "Spinal Cholinergic Interneurons Differentially Control Motoneuron Excitability and Alter the Locomotor Network Operational Range." *Scientific Reports* 8 (1): 1988. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-20493-z.
- 33. Bhumika, null, and Arvind Kumar Singh. 2018. "Regulation of Feeding Behavior in Drosophila through the Interplay of Gustation, Physiology and Neuromodulation." *Frontiers in Bioscience (Landmark Edition)* 23 (11): 2016–27. https://doi.org/10.2741/4686.
- 34. Bielopolski, Noa, Hoger Amin, Anthi A. Apostolopoulou, Eyal Rozenfeld, Hadas Lerner, Wolf Huetteroth, Andrew C. Lin, and Moshe Parnas. 2019. "Inhibitory Muscarinic Acetylcholine Receptors Enhance Aversive Olfactory Learning in Adult Drosophila." *eLife* 8 (June): e48264. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.48264.
- 35. Bier, Ethan, and Rolf Bodmer. 2004. "Drosophila, an Emerging Model for Cardiac Disease." *Gene* 342 (1): 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gene.2004.07.018.

- Blenau, W., and A. Baumann. 2001. "Molecular and Pharmacological Properties of Insect Biogenic Amine Receptors: Lessons from Drosophila Melanogaster and Apis Mellifera." Archives of Insect Biochemistry and Physiology 48 (1): 13–38. https://doi.org/10.1002/arch.1055.
- 37. Blevins, James E., Michael W. Schwartz, and Denis G. Baskin. 2004. "Evidence That Paraventricular Nucleus Oxytocin Neurons Link Hypothalamic Leptin Action to Caudal Brain Stem Nuclei Controlling Meal Size." *American Journal of Physiology-Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology* 287 (1): R87–96. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpregu.00604.2003.
- 38. Borden, Peter Y., Alex D. Ortiz, Christian Waiblinger, Audrey J. Sederberg, Arthur E. Morrissette, Craig R. Forest, Dieter Jaeger, and Garrett B. Stanley. 2017. "Genetically Expressed Voltage Sensor ArcLight for Imaging Large Scale Cortical Activity in the Anesthetized and Awake Mouse." *Neurophotonics* 4 (3): 031212. https://doi.org/10.1117/1.NPh.4.3.031212.
- 39. Bräcker, Lasse B., K. P. Siju, Nélia Varela, Yoshinori Aso, Mo Zhang, Irina Hein, Maria Luísa Vasconcelos, and Ilona C. Grunwald Kadow. 2013. "Essential Role of the Mushroom Body in Context-Dependent CO2 Avoidance in Drosophila." *Current Biology* 23 (13): 1228–34. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2013.05.029.
- 40. Brain, Susan D, and Helen M Cox. 2006. "Neuropeptides and Their Receptors: Innovative Science Providing Novel Therapeutic Targets." *British Journal of Pharmacology* 147 (Suppl 1): S202–11. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.bjp.0706461.
- 41. Brand, A H, and N Perrimon. 1993. "Targeted Gene Expression as a Means of Altering Cell Fates and Generating Dominant Phenotypes." *Development (Cambridge, England)* 118 (2): 401–15.
- 42. Brembs, Björn, ed. 2014. *Decision-Making in Invertebrates*. Frontiers Research Topics. Frontiers Media SA.
- 43. Briggman, K L, H D I Abarbanel, and W B Kristan. 2005. "Optical Imaging of Neuronal Populations during Decision-Making." *Science* 307 (5711): 896–901. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1103736.
- 44. Brini, Marisa, Tito Calì, Denis Ottolini, and Ernesto Carafoli. 2014. "Neuronal Calcium Signaling: Function and Dysfunction." *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences* 71 (15): 2787–2814. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00018-013-1550-7.
- 45. Brown, Helen, Michael J. Proulx, and Danaë Stanton Fraser. 2020. "Hunger Bias or Gut Instinct? Responses to Judgments of Harm Depending on Visceral State Versus Intuitive Decision-Making." *Frontiers in Psychology* 11 (September): 2261. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2020.02261.
- 46. Brown, Mark R, Joe W Crim, Ryan C Arata, Haini N Cai, Cao Chun, and Ping Shen. 1999. "Identification of a *Drosophila* Brain-Gut Peptide Related to the Neuropeptide Y Family." *Peptides* 20 (9): 1035–42. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0196-9781(99)00097-2.
- 47. Budaev, Sergey, Christian Jørgensen, Marc Mangel, Sigrunn Eliassen, and Jarl Giske. 2019. "Decision-Making From the Animal Perspective: Bridging Ecology and Subjective Cognition." *Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution* 7 (May). https://doi.org/10.3389/fevo.2019.00164.

- 48. Burgos, Anita, Ken Honjo, Tomoko Ohyama, Cheng Sam Qian, Grace Ji-Eun Shin, Daryl M Gohl, Marion Silies, et al. 2018. "Nociceptive Interneurons Control Modular Motor Pathways to Promote Escape Behavior in Drosophila." *eLife* 7 (March): 1557. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.26016.
- 49. Burke, Christopher J, Wolf Huetteroth, David Owald, Emmanuel Perisse, Michael J Krashes, Gaurav Das, Daryl Gohl, Marion Silies, Sarah Certel, and Scott Waddell. 2012. "Layered Reward Signalling through Octopamine and Dopamine in Drosophila." *Nature* 492 (7429): 433–37. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature11614.
- 50. Burnett, C. Joseph, Samuel C. Funderburk, Jovana Navarrete, Alexander Sabol, Jing Liang-Guallpa, Theresa M. Desrochers, and Michael J. Krashes. 2019. "Need-Based Prioritization of Behavior." *eLife* 8. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.44527.
- 51. Burnett, C. Joseph, Chia Li, Emily Webber, Eva Tsaousidou, Stephen Y. Xue, Jens C. Brüning, and Michael J. Krashes. 2016. "Hunger-Driven Motivational State Competition." Neuron 92 (1): 187–201. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2016.08.032.
- 52. Butz, Markus, Florentin Wörgötter, and Arjen van Ooyen. 2009. "Activity-Dependent Structural Plasticity." *Brain Research Reviews* 60 (2): 287–305. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainresrev.2008.12.023.
- 53. Bykhovskaia, Maria, and Alexander Vasin. 2017. "Electrophysiological Analysis of Synaptic Transmission in Drosophila." *Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews. Developmental Biology* 6 (5): 10.1002/wdev.277. https://doi.org/10.1002/wdev.277.
- 54. Caldwell, Jason C, Matthew M Miller, Susan Wing, David R Soll, and Daniel F Eberl. 2003. "Dynamic Analysis of Larval Locomotion in Drosophila Chordotonal Organ Mutants." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 100 (26): 16053–58. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2535546100.
- 55. Cao, Guan, Jelena Platisa, Vincent A. Pieribone, Davide Raccuglia, Michael Kunst, and Michael N. Nitabach. 2013. "Genetically Targeted Optical Electrophysiology in Intact Neural Circuits." *Cell* 154 (4): 904–13. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2013.07.027.
- 56. Card, Gwyneth M. 2012. "Escape Behaviors in Insects." *Current Opinion in Neurobiology* 22 (2): 180–86. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.conb.2011.12.009.
- 57. Cardin, Jessica A. 2019. "Functional Flexibility in Cortical Circuits." *Current Opinion in Neurobiology* 58 (October): 175–80. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.conb.2019.09.008.
- 58. Carlsson, Mikael A., Lina E. Enell, and Dick R. Nässel. 2013. "Distribution of Short Neuropeptide F and Its Receptor in Neuronal Circuits Related to Feeding in Larval Drosophila." Cell and Tissue Research 353 (3): 511–23. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00441-013-1660-4.
- 59. Chakroun, Karima, David Mathar, Antonius Wiehler, Florian Ganzer, and Jan Peters. 2020. "Dopaminergic Modulation of the Exploration/Exploitation Trade-off in Human Decision-Making." Edited by Samuel J Gershman, Michael J Frank, Samuel J Gershman, Bruno B Averbeck, and John Pearson. *eLife* 9 (June): e51260. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.51260.
- 60. Chalasani, Sreekanth H., Saul Kato, Dirk R. Albrecht, Takao Nakagawa, L. F. Abbott, and Cornelia I. Bargmann. 2010. "Neuropeptide Feedback Modifies Odor-Evoked Dynamics in C. Elegans Olfactory Neurons." *Nature Neuroscience* 13 (5): 615–21. https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.2526.

- 61. Chambers, Adam P., Darleen A. Sandoval, and Randy J. Seeley. 2013. "'Central Nervous System Integration of Satiety Signals.'" *Current Biology: CB* 23 (9): R379–88. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2013.03.020.
- 62. Chao, Michael Y., Hidetoshi Komatsu, Hana S. Fukuto, Heather M. Dionne, and Anne C. Hart. 2004. "Feeding Status and Serotonin Rapidly and Reversibly Modulate a Caenorhabditis Elegans Chemosensory Circuit." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 101 (43): 15512–17. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0403369101.
- 63. Chekulaeva, Marina, and Witold Filipowicz. 2009. "Mechanisms of miRNA-Mediated Post-Transcriptional Regulation in Animal Cells." *Current Opinion in Cell Biology*, Nucleus and gene expression, 21 (3): 452–60. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ceb.2009.04.009.
- 64. Chen, Qiang, Zhe Pei, David Koren, and Wei Wei. 2016. "Stimulus-Dependent Recruitment of Lateral Inhibition Underlies Retinal Direction Selectivity." *eLife* 5 (December): 4481. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.21053.
- 65. Cheng, Karen Y., Rachel A. Colbath, and Mark A. Frye. 2019. "Olfactory and Neuromodulatory Signals Reverse Visual Object Avoidance to Approach in Drosophila." *Current Biology: CB* 29 (12): 2058-2065.e2. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2019.05.010.
- 66. Cinotti, François, Virginie Fresno, Nassim Aklil, Etienne Coutureau, Benoît Girard, Alain R. Marchand, and Mehdi Khamassi. 2019. "Dopamine Blockade Impairs the Exploration-Exploitation Trade-off in Rats." *Scientific Reports* 9 (1): 6770. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-43245-z.
- 67. Cisek, Paul. 2012. "Making Decisions through a Distributed Consensus." *Current Opinion in Neurobiology* 22 (6): 927–36. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.conb.2012.05.007.
- 68. Cisek, Paul, and John F Kalaska. 2010. "Neural Mechanisms for Interacting with a World Full of Action Choices." *Annual Review of Neuroscience* 33 (1): 269–98. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.neuro.051508.135409.
- 69. Claeys, Ilse, Gert Simonet, Jeroen Poels, Tom Van Loy, Linda Vercammen, Arnold De Loof, and Jozef Vanden Broeck. 2002. "Insulin-Related Peptides and Their Conserved Signal Transduction Pathway." *Peptides*, Invertebrate Neuropeptides, 23 (4): 807–16. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0196-9781(01)00666-0.
- 70. Clark, Matthew Q., Aref Arzan Zarin, Arnaldo Carreira-Rosario, and Chris Q. Doe. 2018. "Neural Circuits Driving Larval Locomotion in Drosophila." *Neural Development* 13 (1): 6. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13064-018-0103-z.
- 71. Cohen, Jonathan D, Samuel M McClure, and Angela J Yu. 2007. "Should I Stay or Should I Go? How the Human Brain Manages the Trade-off between Exploitation and Exploration." *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 362 (1481): 933–42. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2007.2098.
- 72. Cohen, Marlene R, and William T Newsome. 2004. "What Electrical Microstimulation Has Revealed about the Neural Basis of Cognition." *Current Opinion in Neurobiology* 14 (2): 169–77. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.conb.2004.03.016.
- 73. Crossley, Michael, Kevin Staras, and György Kemenes. 2018. "A Central Control Circuit for Encoding Perceived Food Value." *Science Advances* 4 (11): eaau9180. https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.aau9180.

- 74. Cui, Guohong, Sang Beom Jun, Xin Jin, Michael D Pham, Steven S Vogel, David M Lovinger, and Rui M Costa. 2013. "Concurrent Activation of Striatal Direct and Indirect Pathways during Action Initiation." *Nature* 494 (7436): 238–42. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature11846.
- Dacks, Andrew M., David S. Green, Cory M. Root, Alan J. Nighorn, and Jing W. Wang. 2009. "Serotonin Modulates Olfactory Processing in the Antennal Lobe of Drosophila." *Journal of Neurogenetics* 23 (4): 366–77. https://doi.org/10.3109/01677060903085722.
- 76. Davies, Alex, Matthieu Louis, and Barbara Webb. 2015. "A Model of Drosophila Larva Chemotaxis." *PLoS Computational Biology* 11 (11): e1004606. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pcbi.1004606.
- 77. DeLaney, Kellen, Amanda R. Buchberger, Louise Atkinson, Stefan Gründer, Angela Mousley, and Lingjun Li. 2018. "New Techniques, Applications and Perspectives in Neuropeptide Research." *Journal of Experimental Biology* 221 (3): jeb151167. https://doi.org/10.1242/jeb.151167.
- 78. Destexhe, Alain, and Eve Marder. 2004. "Plasticity in Single Neuron and Circuit Computations." *Nature* 431 (7010): 789–95. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature03011.
- 79. Devineni, Anita V., and Kristin M. Scaplen. 2022. "Neural Circuits Underlying Behavioral Flexibility: Insights From Drosophila." *Frontiers in Behavioral Neuroscience* 15. https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fnbeh.2021.821680.
- 80. Dickinson, Patsy S. 2006. "Neuromodulation of Central Pattern Generators in Invertebrates and Vertebrates." *Current Opinion in Neurobiology* 16 (6): 604–14. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.conb.2006.10.007.
- Dierick, Herman A., and Ralph J. Greenspan. 2007. "Serotonin and Neuropeptide F Have Opposite Modulatory Effects on Fly Aggression." *Nature Genetics* 39 (5): 678– 82. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng2029.
- 82. Dockray, Graham J. 2012. "Cholecystokinin." *Current Opinion in Endocrinology, Diabetes, and Obesity* 19 (1): 8–12. https://doi.org/10.1097/MED.0b013e32834eb77d.
- 83. Donofry, Shannon D, Chelsea M Stillman, and Kirk I Erickson. 2019. "A Review of the Relationship between Eating Behavior, Obesity and Functional Brain Network Organization." *Social Cognitive and Affective Neuroscience* 15 (10): 1157–81. https://doi.org/10.1093/scan/nsz085.
- 84. Driscoll, Margaret, Steven N. Buchert, Victoria Coleman, Morgan McLaughlin, Amanda Nguyen, and Divya Sitaraman. 2021. "Compartment Specific Regulation of Sleep by Mushroom Body Requires GABA and Dopaminergic Signaling." *Scientific Reports* 11 (1): 20067. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-021-99531-2.
- 85. Edmunds, Danielle, Stuart Wigby, and Jennifer C. Perry. 2021. "'Hangry' Drosophila: Food Deprivation Increases Male Aggression." *Animal Behaviour* 177 (July): 183–90. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anbehav.2021.05.001.
- 86. Eichler, Katharina, Feng Li, Ashok Litwin-Kumar, Youngser Park, Ingrid Andrade, Casey M Schneider-Mizell, Timo Saumweber, et al. 2017. "The Complete Connectome of a Learning and Memory Centre in an Insect Brain." *Nature* 548 (7666): 175–82. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature23455.

- 87. Eiselt, Anne-Kathrin, Susu Chen, Jim Chen, Jon Arnold, Tahnbee Kim, Marius Pachitariu, and Scott M. Sternson. 2021. "Hunger or Thirst State Uncertainty Is Resolved by Outcome Evaluation in Medial Prefrontal Cortex to Guide Decision-Making." *Nature Neuroscience* 24 (7): 907–12. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41593-021-00850-4.
- 88. Elphick, Maurice R., Olivier Mirabeau, and Dan Larhammar. 2018. "Evolution of Neuropeptide Signalling Systems." *Journal of Experimental Biology* 221 (3): jeb151092. https://doi.org/10.1242/jeb.151092.
- 89. Engelmann, Mario, and Rainer Landgraf. 1994. "Microdialysis Administration of Vasopressin into the Septum Improves Social Recognition in Brattleboro Rats." *Physiology & Behavior* 55 (1): 145–49. https://doi.org/10.1016/0031-9384(94)90022-1.
- Eriksson, Anders, Marlena Raczkowska, Rapeechai Navawongse, Deepak Choudhury, James C. Stewart, Yi Ling Tang, Zhiping Wang, and Adam Claridge-Chang. 2017. "Neuromodulatory Circuit Effects on Drosophila Feeding Behaviour and Metabolism." *Scientific Reports* 7 (1): 8839. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-08466-0.
- 91. Eschbach, Claire, Akira Fushiki, Michael Winding, Casey M. Schneider-Mizell, Mei Shao, Rebecca Arruda, Katharina Eichler, et al. 2020. "Recurrent Architecture for Adaptive Regulation of Learning in the Insect Brain." *Nature Neuroscience* 23 (4): 544–55. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41593-020-0607-9.
- 92. Eschbach, Claire, and Marta Zlatic. 2020. "Useful Road Maps: Studying Drosophila Larva's Central Nervous System with the Help of Connectomics." *Current Opinion in Neurobiology* 65 (December): 129–37. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.conb.2020.09.008.
- 93. Esplugues, Juan V. 2002. "NO as a Signalling Molecule in the Nervous System." *British Journal of Pharmacology* 135 (5): 1079–95. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.bjp.0704569.
- 94. Evans, Dominic A., A. Vanessa Stempel, Ruben Vale, and Tiago Branco. 2019. "Cognitive Control of Escape Behaviour." *Trends in Cognitive Sciences* 23 (4): 334–48. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tics.2019.01.012.
- 95. Ezcurra, Marina, Yoshinori Tanizawa, Peter Swoboda, and William R Schafer. 2011. "Food Sensitizes C. Elegans Avoidance Behaviours through Acute Dopamine Signalling." *The EMBO Journal* 30 (6): 1110–22. https://doi.org/10.1038/emboj.2011.22.
- 96. Ezcurra, Marina, Denise S. Walker, Isabel Beets, Peter Swoboda, and William R. Schafer. 2016. "Neuropeptidergic Signaling and Active Feeding State Inhibit Nociception in Caenorhabditis Elegans." *Journal of Neuroscience* 36 (11): 3157–69. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1128-15.2016.
- 97. Fadda, Melissa, Ilayda Hasakiogullari, Liesbet Temmerman, Isabel Beets, Sven Zels, and Liliane Schoofs. 2019. "Regulation of Feeding and Metabolism by Neuropeptide F and Short Neuropeptide F in Invertebrates." *Frontiers in Endocrinology* 10 (February): 64. https://doi.org/10.3389/fendo.2019.00064.
- 98. Fadok, Jonathan P, Sabine Krabbe, Milica Markovic, Julien Courtin, Chun Xu, Lema Massi, Paolo Botta, et al. 2017. "A Competitive Inhibitory Circuit for Selection of

Active and Passive Fear Responses." *Nature* 542 (7639): 96–100. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature21047.

- 99. Fenclová, Dana, Aleš Blahut, Pavel Vrbka, Vladimír Dohnal, and Alexander Böhme. 2014. "Temperature Dependence of Limiting Activity Coefficients, Henry's Law Constants, and Related Infinite Dilution Properties of C4–C6 Isomeric n-Alkyl Ethanoates/Ethyl n-Alkanoates in Water. Measurement, Critical Compilation, Correlation, and Recommended Data." *Fluid Phase Equilibria* 375 (August): 347–59. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fluid.2014.05.023.
- 100. Ferecatu, Alina, and Arnaud De Bruyn. 2021. "Understanding Managers' Trade-Offs between Exploration and Exploitation." SSRN Scholarly Paper. Rochester, NY. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3832662.
- 101. Fernandez, Maria P., Severine Trannoy, and Sarah J. Certel. 2023. "Fighting Flies: Quantifying and Analyzing Drosophila Aggression." *Cold Spring Harbor Protocols* 2023 (9): 618–27. https://doi.org/10.1101/pdb.top107985.
- 102. Fernández-Aranda, Fernando, Roser Granero, and Susana Jiménez-Murcia. 2023. "Eating Disorders and Addictive Behaviors: Implications for Human Health." *Nutrients* 15 (17): 3718. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu15173718.
- 103. Filosa, Alessandro, Alison J. Barker, Marco Dal Maschio, and Herwig Baier. 2016. "Feeding State Modulates Behavioral Choice and Processing of Prey Stimuli in the Zebrafish Tectum." *Neuron* 90 (3): 596–608. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2016.03.014.
- 104. Flavell, Steven W., Navin Pokala, Evan Z. Macosko, Dirk R. Albrecht, Johannes Larsch, and Cornelia I. Bargmann. 2013. "Serotonin and the Neuropeptide PDF Initiate and Extend Opposing Behavioral States in C. Elegans." *Cell* 154 (5): 1023–35. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2013.08.001.
- 105. Fredholm, Bertil B., Jiang-Fan Chen, Rodrigo A. Cunha, Per Svenningsson, and Jean-Marie Vaugeois. 2005. "Adenosine and Brain Function." In *International Review of Neurobiology*, 63:191–270. Academic Press. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0074-7742(05)63007-3.
- 106. Fu, Chih-Wei, Jiun-Lin Horng, and Ming-Yi Chou. 2022. "Fish Behavior as a Neural Proxy to Reveal Physiological States." *Frontiers in Physiology* 13 (July). https://doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2022.937432.
- 107. Fushiki, Akira, Hiroshi Kohsaka, and Akinao Nose. 2013. "Role of Sensory Experience in Functional Development of Drosophila Motor Circuits." Edited by Brian D McCabe. *PloS One* 8 (4): e62199. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0062199.
- 108. Galen, Katy A. van, Kasper W. ter Horst, and Mireille J. Serlie. 2021. "Serotonin, Food Intake, and Obesity." *Obesity Reviews* 22 (7): e13210. https://doi.org/10.1111/obr.13210.
- Garczynski, Stephen F., Mark R. Brown, Ping Shen, Thomas F. Murray, and Joe W. Crim. 2002. "Characterization of a Functional Neuropeptide F Receptor from Drosophila Melanogaster." Peptides, Invertebrate Neuropeptides, 23 (4): 773–80. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0196-9781(01)00647-7.
- 110. Gard, Ashley L., Petra H. Lenz, Joseph R. Shaw, and Andrew E. Christie. 2009. "Identification of Putative Peptide Paracrines/Hormones in the Water Flea *Daphnia*

Pulex (Crustacea; Branchiopoda; Cladocera) Using Transcriptomics and Immunohistochemistry." *General and Comparative Endocrinology* 160 (3): 271–87. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygcen.2008.12.014.

- 111. Garthwaite, John. 2008. "Concepts of Neural Nitric Oxide-Mediated Transmission." *The European Journal of Neuroscience* 27 (11): 2783–2802. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1460-9568.2008.06285.x.
- 112. Gaudry, Quentin, and William B Kristan. 2009. "Behavioral Choice by Presynaptic Inhibition of Tactile Sensory Terminals." *Nature Neuroscience* 12 (11): 1450–57. https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.2400.
- 113. ———. 2012. "Decision Points: The Factors Influencing the Decision to Feed in the Medicinal Leech." *Frontiers in Neuroscience* 6: 101.
- 114. Gepner, Ruben, Mirna Mihovilovic Skanata, Natalie M Bernat, Margarita Kaplow, and Marc Gershow. 2015. "Computations Underlying Drosophila Photo-Taxis, Odor-Taxis, and Multi-Sensory Integration." *eLife* 4 (January). https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.06229.
- 115. Gerhard, Stephan, Ingrid Andrade, Richard D Fetter, Albert Cardona, and Casey M Schneider-Mizell. 2017. "Conserved Neural Circuit Structure across Drosophila Larval Development Revealed by Comparative Connectomics." *eLife* 6: e29089. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.29089.
- Gershow, Marc, Matthew Berck, Dennis Mathew, Linjiao Luo, Elizabeth A. Kane, John R. Carlson, and Aravinthan D.T. Samuel. 2012. "Controlling Airborne Cues to Study Small Animal Navigation." *Nature Methods* 9 (3): 290–96. https://doi.org/10.1038/nmeth.1853.
- Gipson, C. D., and M. F. Olive. 2017. "Structural and Functional Plasticity of Dendritic Spines - Root or Result of Behavior?" *Genes, Brain, and Behavior* 16 (1): 101–17. https://doi.org/10.1111/gbb.12324.
- 118. Gjorgjieva, Julijana, Jimena Berni, Jan Felix Evers, and Stephen Eglen. 2013. "Neural Circuits for Peristaltic Wave Propagation in Crawling Drosophila Larvae: Analysis and Modeling." *Frontiers in Computational Neuroscience* 7 (April). https://doi.org/10.3389/fncom.2013.00024.
- 119. Goel, Pragya, Xiling Li, and Dion Dickman. 2019. "Estimation of the Readily Releasable Synaptic Vesicle Pool at the Drosophila Larval Neuromuscular Junction." *Bio-Protocol* 9 (1): e3127. https://doi.org/10.21769/BioProtoc.3127.
- 120. Gomez-Marin, Alex, and Matthieu Louis. 2014. "Multilevel Control of Run Orientation in Drosophila Larval Chemotaxis." *Frontiers in Behavioral Neuroscience* 8 (January): 38. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnbeh.2014.00038.
- 121. Gomez-Marin, Alex, Greg J Stephens, and Matthieu Louis. 2011. "Active Sampling and Decision Making in Drosophila Chemotaxis." *Nature Communications* 2 (January): 441. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms1455.
- 122. González Segarra, Amanda J, Gina Pontes, Nicholas Jourjine, Alexander Del Toro, and Kristin Scott. 2023. "Hunger- and Thirst-Sensing Neurons Modulate a Neuroendocrine Network to Coordinate Sugar and Water Ingestion." Edited by Tania Reis and Claude Desplan. *eLife* 12 (September): RP88143. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.88143.

- 123. Gøtzsche, C. R., and D. P. D. Woldbye. 2016. "The Role of NPY in Learning and Memory." *Neuropeptides* 55 (February): 79–89. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.npep.2015.09.010.
- 124. Gouwens, Nathan W, and Rachel I Wilson. 2009. "Signal Propagation in Drosophila Central Neurons." *The Journal of Neuroscience: The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience* 29 (19): 6239–49. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0764-09.2009.
- Govorunova, Elena G., Oleg A. Sineshchekov, Roger Janz, Xiaoqin Liu, and John L. Spudich. 2015. "Natural Light-Gated Anion Channels: A Family of Microbial Rhodopsins for Advanced Optogenetics." *Science (New York, N.Y.)* 349 (6248): 647– 50. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aaa7484.
- 126. Grunwald Kadow, Ilona C. 2019. "State-Dependent Plasticity of Innate Behavior in Fruit Flies." *Current Opinion in Neurobiology* 54 (February): 60–65. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.conb.2018.08.014.
- 127. Guillod-Maximin, E., A. F. Roy, C. M. Vacher, A. Aubourg, V. Bailleux, A. Lorsignol, L. Pénicaud, M. Parquet, and M. Taouis. 2009. "Adiponectin Receptors Are Expressed in Hypothalamus and Colocalized with Proopiomelanocortin and Neuropeptide Y in Rodent Arcuate Neurons." *Journal of Endocrinology* 200 (1): 93–105. https://doi.org/10.1677/JOE-08-0348.
- 128. Hamelin, Héloïse, Ghislaine Poizat, Cédrick Florian, Miron Bartosz Kursa, Elsa Pittaras, Jacques Callebert, Claire Rampon, Mohammed Taouis, Adam Hamed, and Sylvie Granon. 2022. "Prolonged Consumption of Sweetened Beverages Lastingly Deteriorates Cognitive Functions and Reward Processing in Mice." *Cerebral Cortex* 32 (7): 1365–78. https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bhab274.
- 129. Hampel, Stefanie, Romain Franconville, Julie H Simpson, Andrew M Seeds, and Alexander Borst. 2015. "A Neural Command Circuit for Grooming Movement Control." Edited by Alexander Borst. *eLife* 4 (October): e08758-5. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.08758.
- 130. Harding, Simon D, Joanna L Sharman, Elena Faccenda, Chris Southan, Adam J Pawson, Sam Ireland, Alasdair J G Gray, et al. 2018. "The IUPHAR/BPS Guide to PHARMACOLOGY in 2018: Updates and Expansion to Encompass the New Guide to IMMUNOPHARMACOLOGY." *Nucleic Acids Research* 46 (Database issue): D1091– 1106. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkx1121.
- 131. Hardingham, G. E., S. Chawla, C. M. Johnson, and H. Bading. 1997. "Distinct Functions of Nuclear and Cytoplasmic Calcium in the Control of Gene Expression." *Nature* 385 (6613): 260–65. https://doi.org/10.1038/385260a0.
- 132. Haro, María de, Ismael Al-Ramahi, Jonathan Benito-Sipos, Begoña López-Arias, Belén Dorado, Jan A. Veenstra, and Pilar Herrero. 2010. "Detailed Analysis of Leucokinin-Expressing Neurons and Their Candidate Functions in the Drosophila Nervous System." Cell and Tissue Research 339 (2): 321–36. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00441-009-0890-y.
- 133. Harris, Glenda C., and Gary Aston-Jones. 2006. "Arousal and Reward: A Dichotomy in Orexin Function." *Trends in Neurosciences* 29 (10): 571–77. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tins.2006.08.002.

- 134. Harris-Warrick, R. M., and E. Marder. 1991. "Modulation of Neural Networks for Behavior." *Annual Review of Neuroscience* 14: 39–57. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.ne.14.030191.000351.
- 135. Hauser, Frank, Giuseppe Cazzamali, Michael Williamson, Wolfgang Blenau, and Cornelis J. P. Grimmelikhuijzen. 2006. "A Review of Neurohormone GPCRs Present in the Fruitfly *Drosophila Melanogaster* and the Honey Bee *Apis Mellifera*." *Progress in Neurobiology* 80 (1): 1–19. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pneurobio.2006.07.005.
- 136. Hauser, Frank, Giuseppe Cazzamali, Michael Williamson, Yoonseong Park, Bin Li, Yoshiaki Tanaka, Reinhard Predel, et al. 2008. "A Genome-Wide Inventory of Neurohormone GPCRs in the Red Flour Beetle *Tribolium Castaneum*." *Frontiers in Neuroendocrinology* 29 (1): 142–65. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yfrne.2007.10.003.
- 137. Heckscher, Ellie S, Aref Arzan Zarin, Serge Faumont, Matthew Q Clark, Laurina Manning, Akira Fushiki, Casey M Schneider-Mizell, et al. 2015. "Even-Skipped(+) Interneurons Are Core Components of a Sensorimotor Circuit That Maintains Left-Right Symmetric Muscle Contraction Amplitude." *Neuron* 88 (2): 314–29. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2015.09.009.
- Heinemann, Stefan H., Toshinori Hoshi, Matthias Westerhausen, and Alexander Schiller. 2014. "Carbon Monoxide – Physiology, Detection and Controlled Release." *Chemical Communications (Cambridge, England)* 50 (28): 3644–60. https://doi.org/10.1039/c3cc49196j.
- 139. Herberholz, Jens, and Gregory D. Marquart. 2012. "Decision Making and Behavioral Choice during Predator Avoidance." *Frontiers in Neuroscience* 6 (August). https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2012.00125.
- 140. Heumos, Lukas, Anna C. Schaar, Christopher Lance, Anastasia Litinetskaya, Felix Drost, Luke Zappia, Malte D. Lücken, et al. 2023. "Best Practices for Single-Cell Analysis across Modalities." *Nature Reviews Genetics* 24 (8): 550–72. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41576-023-00586-w.
- 141. Hewes, Randall S., and Paul H. Taghert. 2001. "Neuropeptides and Neuropeptide Receptors in the Drosophila Melanogaster Genome." *Genome Research* 11 (6): 1126– 42. https://doi.org/10.1101/gr.169901.
- 142. Hill, Catherine A., A. Nicole Fox, R. Jason Pitts, Lauren B. Kent, Perciliz L. Tan, Mathew A. Chrystal, Anibal Cravchik, Frank H. Collins, Hugh M. Robertson, and Laurence J. Zwiebel. 2002. "G Protein-Coupled Receptors in Anopheles Gambiae." *Science* 298 (5591): 176–78. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1076196.
- 143. Hodge, James J. L. 2009. "Ion Channels to Inactivate Neurons in Drosophila." *Frontiers in Molecular Neuroscience* 2: 13. https://doi.org/10.3389/neuro.02.013.2009.
- 144. Hogan, Matthew K., Gillian F. Hamilton, and Philip J. Horner. 2020. "Neural Stimulation and Molecular Mechanisms of Plasticity and Regeneration: A Review." *Frontiers in Cellular Neuroscience* 14 (October). https://doi.org/10.3389/fncel.2020.00271.
- 145. Hoopfer, Eric D., Yonil Jung, Hidehiko K. Inagaki, Gerald M. Rubin, and David J. Anderson. 2015. "P1 Interneurons Promote a Persistent Internal State That Enhances Inter-Male Aggression in Drosophila." *eLife* 4 (December): e11346. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.11346.

- 146. Hsu, Wei-Mien M., David B. Kastner, Stephen A. Baccus, and Tatyana O. Sharpee.
 2021. "How Inhibitory Neurons Increase Information Transmission under Threshold Modulation." *Cell Reports* 35 (8): 109158. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2021.109158.
- 147. Hu, Chun, Meike Petersen, Nina Hoyer, Bettina Spitzweck, Federico Tenedini, Denan Wang, Alisa Gruschka, et al. 2017. "Sensory Integration and Neuromodulatory Feedback Facilitate Drosophila Mechanonociceptive Behavior." *Nature Publishing Group* 20 (8): 1085–95. https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.4580.
- 148. Hu, Weiwei, and Zhong Chen. 2017. "The Roles of Histamine and Its Receptor Ligands in Central Nervous System Disorders: An Update." *Pharmacology & Therapeutics* 175 (July): 116–32. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pharmthera.2017.02.039.
- 149. Hu, Yujia, Congchao Wang, Limin Yang, Geng Pan, Hao Liu, Guoqiang Yu, and Bing Ye. 2020. "A Neural Basis for Categorizing Sensory Stimuli to Enhance Decision Accuracy." *Current Biology* 30 (24): 4896-4909.e6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2020.09.045.
- 150. Hughes, Cynthia L., and John B. Thomas. 2007. "A Sensory Feedback Circuit Coordinates Muscle Activity in Drosophila." *Molecular and Cellular Neurosciences* 35 (2): 383–96. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mcn.2007.04.001.
- 151. Hummon, Amanda B., Timothy A. Richmond, Peter Verleyen, Geert Baggerman, Jurgen Huybrechts, Michael A. Ewing, Evy Vierstraete, et al. 2006. "From the Genome to the Proteome: Uncovering Peptides in the Apis Brain." *Science* 314 (5799): 647– 49. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1124128.
- 152. Hunter, Iain, Bramwell Coulson, Aref Arzan Zarin, and Richard A. Baines. 2021. "The Drosophila Larval Locomotor Circuit Provides a Model to Understand Neural Circuit Development and Function." *Frontiers in Neural Circuits* 15. https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fncir.2021.684969.
- 153. Hunter, Philip. 2013a. "Brain Drain, Brain Gain or Brain Sharing?" *EMBO Reports* 14 (4): 315–18. https://doi.org/10.1038/embor.2013.33.
- 154. ———. 2013b. "Your Decisions Are What You Eat. Metabolic State Can Have a Serious Impact on Risk-Taking and Decision-Making in Humans and Animals." *EMBO Reports* 14 (6): 505–8.
- 155. Husson, Steven J., Inge Mertens, Tom Janssen, Marleen Lindemans, and Liliane Schoofs. 2007. "Neuropeptidergic Signaling in the Nematode Caenorhabditis Elegans." Progress in Neurobiology 82 (1): 33–55. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pneurobio.2007.01.006.
- 156. Imambocus, Bibi Nusreen, Annika Wittich, Federico Tenedini, Fangmin Zhou, Chun Hu, Kathrin Sauter, Ednilson Macarenhas Varela, et al. 2020. "Discrete Escape Responses Are Generated by Neuropeptide-Mediated Circuit Logic." https://doi.org/10.1101/2020.09.22.307033.
- 157. Imambocus, Bibi Nusreen, Fangmin Zhou, Andrey Formozov, Annika Wittich, Federico M. Tenedini, Chun Hu, Kathrin Sauter, et al. 2022. "A Neuropeptidergic Circuit Gates Selective Escape Behavior of Drosophila Larvae." *Current Biology* 32 (1): 149-163.e8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2021.10.069.
- 158. Inagaki, Hidehiko K., Shlomo Ben-Tabou de-Leon, Allan M. Wong, Smitha Jagadish, Hiroshi Ishimoto, Gilad Barnea, Toshihiro Kitamoto, Richard Axel, and

David J. Anderson. 2012. "Visualizing Neuromodulation In Vivo: TANGO-Mapping of Dopamine Signaling Reveals Appetite Control of Sugar Sensing." *Cell* 148 (3): 583–95. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2011.12.022.

- 159. Inagaki, Hidehiko K., Ketaki M. Panse, and David J. Anderson. 2014. "Independent, Reciprocal Neuromodulatory Control of Sweet and Bitter Taste Sensitivity during Starvation in Drosophila." *Neuron* 84 (4): 806–20. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2014.09.032.
- 160. Inoue, Asuka, Francesco Raimondi, Francois Marie Ngako Kadji, Gurdeep Singh, Takayuki Kishi, Akiharu Uwamizu, Yuki Ono, et al. 2019. "Illuminating G-Protein-Coupling Selectivity of GPCRs." *Cell* 177 (7): 1933-1947.e25. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2019.04.044.
- 161. Jaffri, Syeda A., Ying Yan, Jonas Schwirz, and Marc F. Schetelig. 2020. "Functional Characterization of the Drosophila Suzukii Pro-Apoptotic Genes Reaper, Head Involution Defective and Grim." *Apoptosis: An International Journal on Programmed Cell Death* 25 (11–12): 864–74. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10495-020-01640-2.
- 162. Jarrell, Travis A, Yi Wang, Adam E Bloniarz, Christopher A Brittin, Meng Xu, J Nichol Thomson, Donna G Albertson, David H Hall, and Scott W Emmons. 2012. "The Connectome of a Decision-Making Neural Network." *Science* 337 (6093): 437–44. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1221762.
- 163. Jékely, Gáspár, Sarah Melzer, Isabel Beets, Ilona C. Grunwald Kadow, Joris Koene, Sara Haddad, and Lindy Holden-Dye. 2018. "The Long and the Short of It – a Perspective on Peptidergic Regulation of Circuits and Behaviour." *Journal of Experimental Biology* 221 (3): jeb166710. https://doi.org/10.1242/jeb.166710.
- 164. Jenett, Arnim, Gerald M Rubin, Teri-T B Ngo, David Shepherd, Christine Murphy, Heather Dionne, Barret D Pfeiffer, et al. 2012. "A GAL4-Driver Line Resource for Drosophila Neurobiology." *Cell Reports* 2 (4): 991–1001. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2012.09.011.
- 165. Jeong, Sangyun. 2024. "Function and Regulation of Nitric Oxide Signaling in Drosophila." Molecules and Cells 47 (1): 100006. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mocell.2023.12.004.
- 166. Jiang, Xinyu, and Yufeng Pan. 2022. "Neural Control of Action Selection Among Innate Behaviors." *Neuroscience Bulletin* 38 (12): 1541–58. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12264-022-00886-x.
- 167. Jin, Ruijie, Shanbin Sun, Yang Hu, Hongfei Zhang, and Xiangrong Sun. 2023. "Neuropeptides Modulate Feeding via the Dopamine Reward Pathway." *Neurochemical Research* 48 (9): 2622–43. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11064-023-03954-4.
- 168. Jing, Jian, and Rhanor Gillette. 2003. "Directional Avoidance Turns Encoded by Single Interneurons and Sustained by Multifunctional Serotonergic Cells." *The Journal of Neuroscience: The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience* 23 (7): 3039–51. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.23-07-03039.2003.
- 169. Johard, Helena A. D., Taishi Yoishii, Heinrich Dircksen, Paola Cusumano, Francois Rouyer, Charlotte Helfrich-Förster, and Dick R. Nässel. 2009. "Peptidergic Clock Neurons in Drosophila: Ion Transport Peptide and Short Neuropeptide F in Subsets

of Dorsal and Ventral Lateral Neurons." *The Journal of Comparative Neurology* 516 (1): 59–73. https://doi.org/10.1002/cne.22099.

- 170. Johard, Helena A.D., Lina E. Enell, Elisabeth Gustafsson, Pierre Trifilieff, Jan A. Veenstra, and Dick R. Nässel. 2008. "Intrinsic Neurons of Drosophila Mushroom Bodies Express Short Neuropeptide F: Relations to Extrinsic Neurons Expressing Different Neurotransmitters." *Journal of Comparative Neurology* 507 (4): 1479–96. https://doi.org/10.1002/cne.21636.
- 171. Johnson, Erik C., Orie T. Shafer, Jennifer S. Trigg, Jae Park, David A. Schooley, Julian A. Dow, and Paul H. Taghert. 2005. "A Novel Diuretic Hormone Receptor in Drosophila: Evidence for Conservation of CGRP Signaling." *The Journal of Experimental Biology* 208 (Pt 7): 1239–46. https://doi.org/10.1242/jeb.01529.
- 172. Jourjine, Nicholas. 2017. "Hunger and Thirst Interact to Regulate Ingestive Behavior in Flies and Mammals." *BioEssays* 39 (5): 1600261. https://doi.org/10.1002/bies.201600261.
- 173. Jourjine, Nicholas, Brendan C. Mullaney, Kevin Mann, and Kristin Scott. 2016. "Coupled Sensing of Hunger and Thirst Signals Balances Sugar and Water Consumption." *Cell* 166 (4): 855–66. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2016.06.046.
- 174. Jovanic, Tihana. 2020. "Studying Neural Circuits of Decision-Making in Drosophila Larva." *Journal of Neurogenetics* 34 (1): 162–70. https://doi.org/10.1080/01677063.2020.1719407.
- 175. Jovanic, Tihana, Casey Martin Schneider-Mizell, Mei Shao, Jean-Baptiste Masson, Gennady Denisov, Richard Doty Fetter, Brett Daren Mensh, James William Truman, Albert Cardona, and Marta Zlatic. 2016. "Competitive Disinhibition Mediates Behavioral Choice and Sequences in Drosophila." *Cell* 167 (3): 858-870.e19. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2016.09.009.
- 176. Jovanic, Tihana, Michael Winding, Albert Cardona, James W. Truman, Marc Gershow, and Marta Zlatic. 2019. "Neural Substrates of Drosophila Larval Anemotaxis." *Current Biology: CB* 29 (4): 554-566.e4. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2019.01.009.
- 177. Kahsai, Lily, Neval Kapan, Heinrich Dircksen, Åsa M. E. Winther, and Dick R. Nässel. 2010. "Metabolic Stress Responses in Drosophila Are Modulated by Brain Neurosecretory Cells That Produce Multiple Neuropeptides." *PLOS ONE* 5 (7): e11480. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0011480.
- 178. Kahsai, Lily, Jean-René Martin, and Åsa M. E. Winther. 2010. "Neuropeptides in the Drosophila Central Complex in Modulation of Locomotor Behavior." *Journal of Experimental Biology* 213 (13): 2256–65. https://doi.org/10.1242/jeb.043190.
- 179. Kane, Elizabeth A, Marc Gershow, Bruno Afonso, Ivan Larderet, Mason Klein, Ashley R Carter, Benjamin L de Bivort, Simon G Sprecher, and Aravinthan D T Samuel. 2013. "Sensorimotor Structure of Drosophila Larva Phototaxis." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 110 (40): E3868-77. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1215295110.
- 180. Kapan, Neval, Oleh V. Lushchak, Jiangnan Luo, and Dick R. Nässel. 2012. "Identified Peptidergic Neurons in the Drosophila Brain Regulate Insulin-Producing Cells, Stress Responses and Metabolism by Coexpressed Short Neuropeptide F and

Corazonin." *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences: CMLS* 69 (23): 4051–66. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00018-012-1097-z.

- 181. Kato, Ayaka, Kazumi Ohta, Kazuo Okanoya, and Hokto Kazama. 2023. "Dopaminergic Neurons Dynamically Update Sensory Values during Olfactory Maneuver." *Cell Reports* 42 (10). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2023.113122.
- 182. Keene, Alex C., and Scott Waddell. 2007. "Drosophila Olfactory Memory: Single Genes to Complex Neural Circuits." *Nature Reviews Neuroscience* 8 (5): 341–54. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn2098.
- 183. Khan, Ziam, Maya Tondravi, Ryan Oliver, and Fernando J. Vonhoff. 2021. "Drosophila Corazonin Neurons as a Hub for Regulating Growth, Stress Responses, Ethanol-Related Behaviors, Copulation Persistence and Sexually Dimorphic Reward Pathways." Journal of Developmental Biology 9 (3): 26. https://doi.org/10.3390/jdb9030026.
- 184. Khurana, Sukant, and Obaid Siddiqi. 2013. "Olfactory Responses of Drosophila Larvae." *Chemical Senses* 38 (4): 315–23. https://doi.org/10.1093/chemse/bjs144.
- 185. Kim, Do-Hyoung, Mi-Ran Han, Gyunghee Lee, Sang Soo Lee, Young-Joon Kim, and Michael E. Adams. 2015. "Rescheduling Behavioral Subunits of a Fixed Action Pattern by Genetic Manipulation of Peptidergic Signaling." *PLoS Genetics* 11 (9): e1005513. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgen.1005513.
- 186. Kim, Kyeong Seop, Mi Ae Kim, Keunwan Park, and Young Chang Sohn. 2021. "NPF Activates a Specific NPF Receptor and Regulates Food Intake in Pacific Abalone Haliotis Discus Hannai." *Scientific Reports* 11 (October): 20912. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-021-00238-1.
- 187. Kitamoto, T. 2001. "Conditional Modification of Behavior in Drosophila by Targeted Expression of a Temperature-Sensitive Shibire Allele in Defined Neurons." *Journal of Neurobiology* 47 (2): 81–92.
- 188. Klapoetke, Nathan C, Yasunobu Murata, Sung Soo Kim, Stefan R Pulver, Amanda Birdsey-Benson, Yong Ku Cho, Tania K Morimoto, et al. 2014. "Independent Optical Excitation of Distinct Neural Populations." *Nature Methods* 11 (3): 338–46. https://doi.org/10.1038/nmeth.2836.
- 189. Klein, Mason, Bruno Afonso, Ashley J Vonner, Luis Hernandez-Nunez, Matthew Berck, Christopher J Tabone, Elizabeth A Kane, et al. 2015. "Sensory Determinants of Behavioral Dynamics in Drosophila Thermotaxis." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 112 (2): E220-9. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1416212112.
- 190. Ko, Kang I, Cory M Root, Scott A Lindsay, Orel A Zaninovich, Andrew K Shepherd, Steven A Wasserman, Susy M Kim, and Jing W Wang. 2015. "Starvation Promotes Concerted Modulation of Appetitive Olfactory Behavior via Parallel Neuromodulatory Circuits." *eLife* 4 (July): 691. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.08298.
- 191. Kohsaka, Hiroshi, Pierre A Guertin, and Akinao Nose. 2017. "Neural Circuits Underlying Fly Larval Locomotion." *Current Pharmaceutical Design* 23 (12): 1722–33. https://doi.org/10.2174/1381612822666161208120835.
- 192. Kombian, S. B., D. Mouginot, M. Hirasawa, and Q. J. Pittman. 2000. "Vasopressin Preferentially Depresses Excitatory over Inhibitory Synaptic Transmission in the Rat

Supraoptic Nucleus in Vitro." *Journal of Neuroendocrinology* 12 (4): 361–67. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2826.2000.00462.x.

- 193. Konecna, Anetta, Jacki E. Heraud, Lucia Schoderboeck, Alexandre A. S. F. Raposo, and Michael A. Kiebler. 2009. "What Are the Roles of microRNAs at the Mammalian Synapse?" *Neuroscience Letters*, Non-Coding RNAs and RNA Regulatory Circuitry in the Nervous System, 466 (2): 63–68. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neulet.2009.06.050.
- 194. Konopka, R. J., and S. Benzer. 1971. "Clock Mutants of Drosophila Melanogaster." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 68 (9): 2112–16. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.68.9.2112.
- 195. Kovac, M P, and W J Davis. 1977. "Behavioral Choice: Neural Mechanisms in Pleurobranchaea." *Science* 198 (4317): 632–34.
- 196. ———. 1980. "Neural Mechanism Underlying Behavioral Choice in Pleurobranchaea." *Journal of Neurophysiology* 43 (2): 469–87.
- 197. Koyama, Minoru, Francesca Minale, Jennifer Shum, Nozomi Nishimura, Chris B Schaffer, and Joseph R Fetcho. 2016. "A Circuit Motif in the Zebrafish Hindbrain for a Two Alternative Behavioral Choice to Turn Left or Right." *eLife* 5 (August): 451. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.16808.
- 198. Koyama, Minoru, and Avinash Pujala. 2018. "Mutual Inhibition of Lateral Inhibition: A Network Motif for an Elementary Computation in the Brain." *Current Opinion in Neurobiology* 49 (April): 69–74. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.conb.2017.12.019.
- 199. Krasne, Franklin B., and Donald H. Edwards. 2002. "Modulation of the Crayfish Escape Reflex--Physiology and Neuroethology." *Integrative and Comparative Biology* 42 (4): 705–15. https://doi.org/10.1093/icb/42.4.705.
- 200. Kreher, Scott A., Jae Young Kwon, and John R. Carlson. 2005. "The Molecular Basis of Odor Coding in the Drosophila Larva." *Neuron* 46 (3): 445–56. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2005.04.007.
- 201. Kristan, William B. 2008. "Neuronal Decision-Making Circuits." *Current Biology* 18 (19): R928–32.
- 202. Kubrak, Olga I., Oleh V. Lushchak, Meet Zandawala, and Dick R. Nässel. 2016. "Systemic Corazonin Signalling Modulates Stress Responses and Metabolism in Drosophila." *Open Biology* 6 (11). https://doi.org/10.1098/rsob.160152.
- 203. Kuffler, S. W. 1953. "Discharge Patterns and Functional Organization of Mammalian Retina." *Journal of Neurophysiology* 16 (1): 37–68. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.1953.16.1.37.
- 204. Kwon, Jae Young, Anupama Dahanukar, Linnea A. Weiss, and John R. Carlson.
 2011. "Molecular and Cellular Organization of the Taste System in the Drosophila Larva." *The Journal of Neuroscience* 31 (43): 15300–309. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3363-11.2011.
- 205. Kwon, Young, Wei L Shen, Hye-Seok Shim, and Craig Montell. 2010. "Fine Thermotactic Discrimination between the Optimal and Slightly Cooler Temperatures via a TRPV Channel in Chordotonal Neurons." *The Journal of Neuroscience: The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience* 30 (31): 10465–71. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1631-10.2010.

- 206. Lai, Sen-Lin, and Tzumin Lee. 2006. "Genetic Mosaic with Dual Binary Transcriptional Systems in Drosophila." *Nature Neuroscience* 9 (5): 703–9. https://doi.org/10.1038/nn1681.
- 207. Lambert, Philip D., Pastor R. Couceyro, Kathleen M. McGirr, Stephanie E. Dall Vechia, Yoland Smith, and Michael J. Kuhar. 1998. "CART Peptides in the Central Control of Feeding and Interactions with Neuropeptide Y." *Synapse* 29 (4): 293–98. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1098-2396(199808)29:4<293::AID-SYN1>3.0.CO;2-0.
- 208. Landayan, Dan, Brian P. Wang, Jennifer Zhou, and Fred W. Wolf. 2021. "Thirst Interneurons That Promote Water Seeking and Limit Feeding Behavior in Drosophila." *eLife* 10 (May): e66286. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.66286.
- 209. Landgraf, Rainer, and Inga D. Neumann. 2004. "Vasopressin and Oxytocin Release within the Brain: A Dynamic Concept of Multiple and Variable Modes of Neuropeptide Communication." *Frontiers in Neuroendocrinology* 25 (3): 150–76. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yfrne.2004.05.001.
- 210. Larhammar, D. 1996. "Structural Diversity of Receptors for Neuropeptide Y, Peptide YY and Pancreatic Polypeptide." *Regulatory Peptides* 65 (3): 165–74. https://doi.org/10.1016/0167-0115(96)00110-3.
- 211. Larhammar, D., and E. Salaneck. 2004. "Molecular Evolution of NPY Receptor Subtypes." *Neuropeptides*, Special Issue on Neuropeptide Y, 38 (4): 141–51. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.npep.2004.06.002.
- 212. Latorre, R., C. Sternini, R. De Giorgio, and B. Greenwood-Van Meerveld. 2016. "Enteroendocrine Cells: A Review of Their Role In Brain-Gut Communication." *Neurogastroenterology and Motility: The Official Journal of the European Gastrointestinal Motility Society* 28 (5): 620–30. https://doi.org/10.1111/nmo.12754.
- 213. Leal, Graciano, Diogo Comprido, and Carlos B. Duarte. 2014. "BDNF-Induced Local Protein Synthesis and Synaptic Plasticity." *Neuropharmacology*, BDNF Regulation of Synaptic Structure, Function, and Plasticity, 76 (January): 639–56. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropharm.2013.04.005.
- 214. Lee, Donghyung, Ting-Hao Huang, Aubrie De La Cruz, Antuca Callejas, and Carlos Lois. 2017. "Methods to Investigate the Structure and Connectivity of the Nervous System." *Fly* 11 (3): 224–38. https://doi.org/10.1080/19336934.2017.1295189.
- 215. Lee, Gyunghee, Jae Hoon Bahn, and Jae H. Park. 2006. "Sex- and Clock-Controlled Expression of the Neuropeptide F Gene in Drosophila." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 103 (33): 12580–85. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0601171103.
- 216. Lee, Kyu-Sun, O-Yu Kwon, Joon H Lee, Kisang Kwon, Kyung-Jin Min, Sun-Ah Jung, Ae-Kyeong Kim, Kwan-Hee You, Marc Tatar, and Kweon Yu. 2008. "Drosophila Short Neuropeptide F Signalling Regulates Growth by ERK-Mediated Insulin Signalling." *Nature Cell Biology* 10 (4): 468–75. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncb1710.
- 217. Lee, Kyu-Sun, Kwan-Hee You, Jong-Kil Choo, Yong-Mahn Han, and Kweon Yu.
 2004. "Drosophila Short Neuropeptide F Regulates Food Intake and Body Size." Journal of Biological Chemistry 279 (49): 50781–89. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M407842200.

- 218. Lee, Pei-Tseng, Jonathan Zirin, Oguz Kanca, Wen-Wen Lin, Karen L. Schulze, David Li-Kroeger, Rong Tao, et al. 2018. "A Gene-Specific T2A-GAL4 Library for Drosophila." *eLife* 7 (March): e35574. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.35574.
- 219. Lee, Phong Ching, and John B. Dixon. 2017. "Food for Thought: Reward Mechanisms and Hedonic Overeating in Obesity." *Current Obesity Reports* 6 (4): 353–61. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13679-017-0280-9.
- 220. Lee, Sion, Young-Joon Kim, and Walton D. Jones. 2017. "Central Peptidergic Modulation of Peripheral Olfactory Responses." *BMC Biology* 15 (May): 35. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12915-017-0374-6.
- 221. Lee, Tzumin, and Liqun Luo. 1999. "Mosaic Analysis with a Repressible Cell Marker for Studies of Gene Function in Neuronal Morphogenesis." *Neuron* 22 (3): 451–61. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0896-6273(00)80701-1.
- 222. Lehman, Maxime, Chloé Barré, Md Amit Hasan, Benjamin Flament, Sandra Autran, Neena Dhiman, Peter Soba, Jean-Baptiste Masson, and Tihana Jovanic. 2023. "Neural Circuits Underlying Context-Dependent Competition between Defensive Actions in Drosophila Larva." bioRxiv. https://doi.org/10.1101/2023.12.24.573276.
- 223. Leslie, Jennifer H., and Elly Nedivi. 2011. "Activity-Regulated Genes as Mediators of Neural Circuit Plasticity." *Progress in Neurobiology* 94 (3): 223–37. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pneurobio.2011.05.002.
- 224. Levy, Dino J., Amalie C. Thavikulwat, and Paul W. Glimcher. 2013. "State Dependent Valuation: The Effect of Deprivation on Risk Preferences." *PloS One* 8 (1): e53978. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0053978.
- 225. Lewis, Laurence P C, K P Siju, Yoshinori Aso, Anja B Friedrich, Alexander J B Bulteel, Gerald M Rubin, and Ilona C Grunwald Kadow. 2015. "A Higher Brain Circuit for Immediate Integration of Conflicting Sensory Information in Drosophila." *Current Biology: CB* 25 (17): 2203–14. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2015.07.015.
- 226. Li, Hsing-Hsi, Jason R Kroll, Sara M Lennox, Omotara Ogundeyi, Jennifer Jeter, Gina Depasquale, and James W Truman. 2014. "A GAL4 Driver Resource for Developmental and Behavioral Studies on the Larval CNS of Drosophila." *Cell Reports* 8 (3): 897–908. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2014.06.065.
- 227. Ligneul, Romain, and Zachary F. Mainen. 2023. "Serotonin." *Current Biology* 33 (23): R1216–21. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2023.09.068.
- 228. Lin, Suewei, Bhagyashree Senapati, and Chang-Hui Tsao. 2019. "Neural Basis of Hunger-Driven Behaviour in Drosophila." *Open Biology* 9 (3): 180259. https://doi.org/10.1098/rsob.180259.
- 229. Lingo, P. R., Z. Zhao, and P. Shen. 2007. "Co-Regulation of Cold-Resistant Food Acquisition by Insulin- and Neuropeptide Y-like Systems in *Drosophila Melanogaster.*" *Neuroscience* 148 (2): 371–74. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2007.06.010.
- 230. Liu, Chang, Pierre-Yves Plaçais, Nobuhiro Yamagata, Barret D. Pfeiffer, Yoshinori Aso, Anja B. Friedrich, Igor Siwanowicz, Gerald M. Rubin, Thomas Preat, and Hiromu Tanimoto. 2012. "A Subset of Dopamine Neurons Signals Reward for Odour Memory in Drosophila." *Nature* 488 (7412): 512–16. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature11304.
- 231. Liu, Lei, Olena Yermolaieva, Wayne A. Johnson, Francois M. Abboud, and MichaelJ. Welsh. 2003. "Identification and Function of Thermosensory Neurons in

Drosophila Larvae." *Nature Neuroscience* 6 (3): 267–73. https://doi.org/10.1038/nn1009.

- 232. Liu, Yingtao, Eri Hasegawa, Akinao Nose, Maarten F. Zwart, and Hiroshi Kohsaka. 2023. "Synchronous Multi-Segmental Activity between Metachronal Waves Controls Locomotion Speed in Drosophila Larvae." *eLife* 12 (August): e83328. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.83328.
- 233. Liu, Yiting, Jiangnan Luo, Mikael A. Carlsson, and Dick R. Nässel. 2015. "Serotonin and Insulin-like Peptides Modulate Leucokinin-Producing Neurons That Affect Feeding and Water Homeostasis in Drosophila." *The Journal of Comparative Neurology* 523 (12): 1840–63. https://doi.org/10.1002/cne.23768.
- 234. Loch, Diana, Heinz Breer, and Jörg Strotmann. 2015. "Endocrine Modulation of Olfactory Responsiveness: Effects of the Orexigenic Hormone Ghrelin." *Chemical Senses* 40 (7): 469–79. https://doi.org/10.1093/chemse/bjv028.
- 235. López-Gambero, A. J., F. Martínez, K. Salazar, M. Cifuentes, and F. Nualart. 2019. "Brain Glucose-Sensing Mechanism and Energy Homeostasis." *Molecular Neurobiology* 56 (2): 769–96. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12035-018-1099-4.
- 236. Lozić, Maja, Olivera Šarenac, David Murphy, and Nina Japundžić-Žigon. 2018. "Vasopressin, Central Autonomic Control and Blood Pressure Regulation." *Current Hypertension Reports* 20 (2): 11. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11906-018-0811-0.
- 237. Luan, Haojiang, Nathan C Peabody, Charles R Vinson, and Benjamin H White. 2006. "Refined Spatial Manipulation of Neuronal Function by Combinatorial Restriction of Transgene Expression." *Neuron* 52 (3): 425–36. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2006.08.028.
- 238. Luo, Linjiao, Marc Gershow, Mark Rosenzweig, Kyeongjin Kang, Christopher Fang-Yen, Paul A Garrity, and Aravinthan D T Samuel. 2010. "Navigational Decision Making in Drosophila Thermotaxis." *The Journal of Neuroscience : The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience* 30 (12): 4261–72. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4090-09.2010.
- 239. Luo, Liqun. 2021. "Architectures of Neuronal Circuits." *Science (New York, N.Y.)* 373 (6559): eabg7285. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.abg7285.
- 240. Malloy, Cole A., Eashwar Somasundaram, Aya Omar, Umair Bhutto, Meagan Medley, Nicole Dzubuk, and Robin L. Cooper. 2019. "Pharmacological Identification of Cholinergic Receptor Subtypes: Modulation of Locomotion and Neural Circuit Excitability in Drosophila Larvae." *Neuroscience* 411 (July): 47–64. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2019.05.016.
- 241. Manière, Gérard, Anna B. Ziegler, Flore Geillon, David E. Featherstone, and Yael Grosjean. 2016. "Direct Sensing of Nutrients via a LAT1-like Transporter in *Drosophila* Insulin-Producing Cells." *Cell Reports* 17 (1): 137–48. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2016.08.093.
- 242. Mann, Kevin, Courtney L. Gallen, and Thomas R. Clandinin. 2017. "Whole-Brain Calcium Imaging Reveals an Intrinsic Functional Network in Drosophila." *Current Biology: CB* 27 (15): 2389-2396.e4. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2017.06.076.
- 243. Mantyh, Patrick W. 2002. "Neurobiology of Substance P and the NK1 Receptor." *The Journal of Clinical Psychiatry* 63 Suppl 11: 6–10.

- 244. Marder, Eve. 2012. "Neuromodulation of Neuronal Circuits: Back to the Future." *Neuron* 76 (1): 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2012.09.010.
- 245. Marder, Eve, and Dirk Bucher. 2007. "Understanding Circuit Dynamics Using the Stomatogastric Nervous System of Lobsters and Crabs." *Annual Review of Physiology* 69: 291–316. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.physiol.69.031905.161516.
- 246. Marella, Sunanda, Walter Fischler, Priscilla Kong, Sam Asgarian, Erroll Rueckert, and Kristin Scott. 2006. "Imaging Taste Responses in the Fly Brain Reveals a Functional Map of Taste Category and Behavior." *Neuron* 49 (2): 285–95. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2005.11.037.
- 247. Martín, Fernando, and Esther Alcorta. 2017. "Novel Genetic Approaches to Behavior in Drosophila." *Journal of Neurogenetics* 31 (4): 288–99. https://doi.org/10.1080/01677063.2017.1395875.
- 248. Masek, Pavel, Kurtresha Worden, Yoshinori Aso, Gerald M. Rubin, and Alex C. Keene. 2015. "A Dopamine-Modulated Neural Circuit Regulating Aversive Taste Memory in Drosophila." *Current Biology* 25 (11): 1535–41. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2015.04.027.
- 249. Mashaghi, Alireza, Anna Marmalidou, Mohsen Tehrani, Peter M. Grace, Charalabos Pothoulakis, and Reza Dana. 2016. "Neuropeptide Substance P and the Immune Response." *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences: CMLS* 73 (22): 4249–64. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00018-016-2293-z.
- 250. Masood, Beenish, and Myuri Moorthy. 2023. "Causes of Obesity: A Review." *Clinical Medicine* 23 (4): 284–91. https://doi.org/10.7861/clinmed.2023-0168.
- 251. Masson, Jean-Baptiste, François Laurent, Albert Cardona, Chloé Barré, Nicolas Skatchkovsky, Marta Zlatic, and Tihana Jovanic. 2020. "Identifying Neural Substrates of Competitive Interactions and Sequence Transitions during Mechanosensory Responses in Drosophila." *PLoS Genetics* 16 (2): e1008589. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgen.1008589.
- 252. Matsuda, Hiroko, Takayuki Yamada, Miki Yoshida, and Takashi Nishimura. 2015. "Flies without Trehalose *." *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 290 (2): 1244–55. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M114.619411.
- 253. Matsushita, Ryota, and Takashi Nishimura. 2020. "Trehalose Metabolism Confers Developmental Robustness and Stability in Drosophila by Regulating Glucose Homeostasis." *Communications Biology* 3 (1): 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1038/s42003-020-0889-1.
- 254. May, Christina E., Julia Rosander, Jennifer Gottfried, Evan Dennis, and Monica Dus. 2020. "Dietary Sugar Inhibits Satiation by Decreasing the Central Processing of Sweet Taste." *eLife* 9 (June): e54530. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.54530.
- 255. McGuire, Sean E., Phuong T. Le, Alexander J. Osborn, Kunihiro Matsumoto, and Ronald L. Davis. 2003. "Spatiotemporal Rescue of Memory Dysfunction in Drosophila." *Science*, December. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1089035.
- 256. McVeigh, Paul, Susan Alexander-Bowman, Emma Veal, Angela Mousley, Nikki J. Marks, and Aaron G. Maule. 2008. "Neuropeptide-like Protein Diversity in Phylum Nematoda." *International Journal for Parasitology* 38 (13): 1493–1503. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpara.2008.05.006.

- 257. Megha, Christian Wegener, and Gaiti Hasan. 2019. "ER-Ca2+ Sensor STIM Regulates Neuropeptides Required for Development under Nutrient Restriction in Drosophila." *PLoS ONE* 14 (7). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0219719.
- 258. Meister, Björn. 2007. "Neurotransmitters in Key Neurons of the Hypothalamus That Regulate Feeding Behavior and Body Weight." *Physiology & Behavior* 92 (1–2): 263–71. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2007.05.021.
- 259. Melcher, Christoph, and Michael J. Pankratz. 2005. "Candidate Gustatory Interneurons Modulating Feeding Behavior in the Drosophila Brain." *PLoS Biology* 3 (9): e305. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.0030305.
- Mertens, Inge, Tom Meeusen, Roger Huybrechts, Arnold De Loof, and Liliane Schoofs. 2002. "Characterization of the Short Neuropeptide F Receptor from Drosophila Melanogaster." Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications 297 (5): 1140–48. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0006-291X(02)02351-3.
- 261. Min, Virginia A., and Barry G. Condron. 2005. "An Assay of Behavioral Plasticity in Drosophila Larvae." *Journal of Neuroscience Methods* 145 (1–2): 63–72. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jneumeth.2004.11.022.
- 262. Mirabeau, Olivier, and Jean-Stéphane Joly. 2013. "Molecular Evolution of Peptidergic Signaling Systems in Bilaterians." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 110 (22): E2028–37. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1219956110.
- 263. Miranda, Magdalena, Juan Facundo Morici, María Belén Zanoni, and Pedro Bekinschtein. 2019. "Brain-Derived Neurotrophic Factor: A Key Molecule for Memory in the Healthy and the Pathological Brain." *Frontiers in Cellular Neuroscience* 13 (August): 363. https://doi.org/10.3389/fncel.2019.00363.
- 264. Miroschnikow, Anton, Philipp Schlegel, and Michael J. Pankratz. 2020. "Making Feeding Decisions in the Drosophila Nervous System." *Current Biology* 30 (14): R831–40. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2020.06.036.
- 265. Miroschnikow, Anton, Philipp Schlegel, Andreas Schoofs, Sebastian Hueckesfeld, Feng Li, Casey M Schneider-Mizell, Richard D Fetter, James W Truman, Albert Cardona, and Michael J Pankratz. 2018. "Convergence of Monosynaptic and Polysynaptic Sensory Paths onto Common Motor Outputs in a Drosophila Feeding Connectome." Edited by K VijayRaghavan and Kristin Scott. *eLife* 7 (December): e40247. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.40247.
- 266. Misra, Sudhakar, Karnam S. Murthy, Huiping Zhou, and John R. Grider. 2004. "Coexpression of Y1, Y2, and Y4 Receptors in Smooth Muscle Coupled to Distinct Signaling Pathways." *The Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics* 311 (3): 1154–62. https://doi.org/10.1124/jpet.104.071415.
- 267. Moffat, K. G., J. H. Gould, H. K. Smith, and C. J. O'Kane. 1992. "Inducible Cell Ablation in Drosophila by Cold-Sensitive Ricin A Chain." *Development (Cambridge, England)* 114 (3): 681–87. https://doi.org/10.1242/dev.114.3.681.
- 268. Mohammad, Farhan, Sameer Aryal, Joses Ho, James Charles Stewart, Nurul Ayuni Norman, Teng Li Tan, Agnese Eisaka, and Adam Claridge-Chang. 2016. "Ancient Anxiety Pathways Influence Drosophila Defense Behaviors." *Current Biology* 26 (7): 981–86. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2016.02.031.
- 269. Morales, Ileana. 2022. "Brain Regulation of Hunger and Motivation: The Case for Integrating Homeostatic and Hedonic Concepts and Its Implications for Obesity and Addiction." *Appetite* 177 (October): 106146. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2022.106146.
- 270. Moran, Nicholas P., Alfredo Sánchez-Tójar, Holger Schielzeth, and Klaus Reinhold. 2021. "Poor Nutritional Condition Promotes High-Risk Behaviours: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis." *Biological Reviews* 96 (1): 269–88. https://doi.org/10.1111/brv.12655.
- 271. Moreno-Padilla, María, María José Fernández-Serrano, and Gustavo A. Reyes del Paso. 2018. "Risky Decision-Making after Exposure to a Food-Choice Task in Excess Weight Adolescents: Relationships with Reward-Related Impulsivity and Hunger." *PLoS ONE* 13 (8): e0202994. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0202994.
- 272. Morozova, Ekaterina, Peter Newstein, and Eve Marder. 2022. "Reciprocally Inhibitory Circuits Operating with Distinct Mechanisms Are Differently Robust to Perturbation and Modulation." eLife. eLife Sciences Publications Limited. February 1, 2022. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.74363.
- 273. Münch, Daniel, Gili Ezra-Nevo, Ana Patrícia Francisco, Ibrahim Tastekin, and Carlos Ribeiro. 2020. "Nutrient Homeostasis Translating Internal States to Behavior." *Current Opinion in Neurobiology* 60 (February): 67–75. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.conb.2019.10.004.
- 274. Muneoka, Y., F. Morishita, Y. Furukawa, O. Matsushima, M. Kobayashi, M. Ohtani, T. Takahashi, E. Iwakoshi, Y. Fujisawa, and H. Minakata. 2000. "Comparative Aspects of Invertebrate Neuropeptides." *Acta Biologica Hungarica* 51 (2–4): 111–32.
- 275. Murawski, Caroline, Stefan R. Pulver, and Malte C. Gather. 2020. "Segment-Specific Optogenetic Stimulation in Drosophila Melanogaster with Linear Arrays of Organic Light-Emitting Diodes." *Nature Communications* 11 (December): 6248. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-020-20013-6.
- Murphy, Keith R., Sonali A. Deshpande, Maria E. Yurgel, James P. Quinn, Jennifer L. Weissbach, Alex C. Keene, Ken Dawson-Scully, Robert Huber, Seth M. Tomchik, and William W. Ja. 2016. "Postprandial Sleep Mechanics in Drosophila." *eLife* 5 (November): e19334. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.19334.
- 277. Mysore, Shreesh P, and Eric I Knudsen. 2012. "Reciprocal Inhibition of Inhibition: A Circuit Motif for Flexible Categorization in Stimulus Selection." *Neuron* 73 (1): 193–205. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2011.10.037.
- 278. Mysore, Shreesh P., and Ninad B. Kothari. 2020. "Mechanisms of Competitive Selection: A Canonical Neural Circuit Framework." *eLife* 9. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.51473.
- 279. Nadim, Farzan, and Dirk Bucher. 2014. "Neuromodulation of Neurons and Synapses." *Current Opinion in Neurobiology*, SI: Neuromodulation, 29 (December): 48–56. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.conb.2014.05.003.
- 280. Nässel, Dick R. 2002. "Neuropeptides in the Nervous System of *Drosophila* and Other Insects: Multiple Roles as Neuromodulators and Neurohormones." *Progress in Neurobiology* 68 (1): 1–84. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0301-0082(02)00057-6.

- 281. Nässel, Dick R. 2021. "Leucokinin and Associated Neuropeptides Regulate Multiple Aspects of Physiology and Behavior in Drosophila." *International Journal of Molecular Sciences* 22 (4): 1940. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms22041940.
- 282. Nässel, Dick R., Lina E. Enell, Jonathan G. Santos, Christian Wegener, and Helena AD Johard. 2008. "A Large Population of Diverse Neurons in the Drosophilacentral Nervous System Expresses Short Neuropeptide F, Suggesting Multiple Distributed Peptide Functions." *BMC Neuroscience* 9 (1): 90. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2202-9-90.
- 283. Nässel, Dick R., and Jozef Vanden Broeck. 2016. "Insulin/IGF Signaling in Drosophila and Other Insects: Factors That Regulate Production, Release and Post-Release Action of the Insulin-like Peptides." *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences: CMLS* 73 (2): 271–90. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00018-015-2063-3.
- 284. Nässel, Dick R., and Christian Wegener. 2011. "A Comparative Review of Short and Long Neuropeptide F Signaling in Invertebrates: Any Similarities to Vertebrate Neuropeptide Y Signaling?" *Peptides* 32 (6): 1335–55. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.peptides.2011.03.013.
- 285. Nässel, Dick R., and Meet Zandawala. 2019. "Recent Advances in Neuropeptide Signaling in Drosophila, from Genes to Physiology and Behavior." *Progress in Neurobiology* 179 (August): 101607. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pneurobio.2019.02.003.
- 286. ———. 2020. "Hormonal Axes in Drosophila: Regulation of Hormone Release and Multiplicity of Actions." *Cell and Tissue Research* 382 (2): 233–66. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00441-020-03264-z.
- 287. ———. 2022. "Endocrine Cybernetics: Neuropeptides as Molecular Switches in Behavioural Decisions." *Open Biology* 12 (7): 220174. https://doi.org/10.1098/rsob.220174.
- 288. Neckameyer, Wendi S., and Parag Bhatt. 2016. "Protocols to Study Behavior in Drosophila." *Methods in Molecular Biology (Clifton, N.J.)* 1478: 303–20. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4939-6371-3_19.
- 289. Nieuwenhuizen, Arie G., and Femke Rutters. 2008. "The Hypothalamic-Pituitary-Adrenal-Axis in the Regulation of Energy Balance." *Physiology & Behavior*, Traces in Metabolism and Nutrition, 94 (2): 169–77. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2007.12.011.
- 290. Nijenhuis, Wouter A. J., Julia Oosterom, and Roger A. H. Adan. 2001. "AgRP(83–132) Acts as an Inverse Agonist on the Human-Melanocortin-4 Receptor." *Molecular Endocrinology* 15 (1): 164–71. https://doi.org/10.1210/mend.15.1.0578.
- 291. Nitabach, Michael N., Ying Wu, Vasu Sheeba, William C. Lemon, John Strumbos, Paul K. Zelensky, Benjamin H. White, and Todd C. Holmes. 2006. "Electrical Hyperexcitation of Lateral Ventral Pacemaker Neurons Desynchronizes Downstream Circadian Oscillators in the Fly Circadian Circuit and Induces Multiple Behavioral Periods." *The Journal of Neuroscience* 26 (2): 479–89. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3915-05.2006.
- 292. Oh, Yangkyun, Jason Sih-Yu Lai, Holly J. Mills, Hediye Erdjument-Bromage, Benno Giammarinaro, Khalil Saadipour, Justin G. Wang, Farhan Abu, Thomas A. Neubert, and Greg S. B. Suh. 2019. "A Glucose-Sensing Neuron Pair Regulates Insulin and

Glucagon in Drosophila." *Nature* 574 (7779): 559–64. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-019-1675-4.

- 293. Ohyama, Tomoko, Tihana Jovanic, Gennady Denisov, Tam C Dang, Dominik Hoffmann, Rex A Kerr, and Marta Zlatic. 2013. "High-Throughput Analysis of Stimulus-Evoked Behaviors in Drosophila Larva Reveals Multiple Modality-Specific Escape Strategies." Edited by Björn Brembs. *PloS One* 8 (8): e71706. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0071706.
- 294. Ohyama, Tomoko, Casey M. Schneider-Mizell, Richard D. Fetter, Javier Valdes Aleman, Romain Franconville, Marta Rivera-Alba, Brett D. Mensh, et al. 2015. "A Multilevel Multimodal Circuit Enhances Action Selection in Drosophila." *Nature* 520 (7549): 633–39. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature14297.
- 295. Okabe, Masataka, and Hideyuki Okano. 1997. "Two-Step Induction of Chordotonal Organ Precursors in Drosophila Embryogenesis." *Development* 124 (5): 1045–53. https://doi.org/10.1242/dev.124.5.1045.
- 296. Okashah, Najeah, Qingwen Wan, Soumadwip Ghosh, Manbir Sandhu, Asuka Inoue, Nagarajan Vaidehi, and Nevin A. Lambert. 2019. "Variable G Protein Determinants of GPCR Coupling Selectivity." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 116 (24): 12054–59. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1905993116.
- 297. Okusawa, Satoko, Hiroshi Kohsaka, and Akinao Nose. 2014. "Serotonin and Downstream Leucokinin Neurons Modulate Larval Turning Behavior in Drosophila." *The Journal of Neuroscience* 34 (7): 2544–58. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3500-13.2014.
- 298. Oram, Tess B., and Gwyneth M. Card. 2022. "Context-Dependent Control of Behavior in Drosophila." *Current Opinion in Neurobiology* 73 (April): 102523. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.conb.2022.02.003.
- 299. Orgogozo, Virginie, and Wesley B Grueber. 2005. "FlyPNS, a Database of the Drosophila Embryonic and Larval Peripheral Nervous System." *BMC Developmental Biology* 5 (February): 4. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-213X-5-4.
- 300. Ormerod, Kiel G., Olivia K. LePine, Prabhodh S. Abbineni, Justin M. Bridgeman, Jens R. Coorssen, A. Joffre Mercier, and Glenn J. Tattersall. 2017. "Drosophila Development, Physiology, Behavior, and Lifespan Are Influenced by Altered Dietary Composition." *Fly* 11 (3): 153–70. https://doi.org/10.1080/19336934.2017.1304331.
- 301. O'Shea, M., and M. Schaffer. 1985. "Neuropeptide Function: The Invertebrate Contribution." *Annual Review of Neuroscience* 8: 171–98. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.ne.08.030185.001131.
- 302. Padilla, Stephanie L., Jian Qiu, Marta E. Soden, Elisenda Sanz, Casey C. Nestor, Forrest D. Barker, Albert Quintana, et al. 2016. "Agouti-Related Peptide Neural Circuits Mediate Adaptive Behaviors in the Starved State." *Nature Neuroscience* 19 (5): 734–41. https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.4274.
- 303. Pakan, Janelle MP, Scott C Lowe, Evelyn Dylda, Sander W Keemink, Stephen P Currie, Christopher A Coutts, and Nathalie L Rochefort. 2016. "Behavioral-State Modulation of Inhibition Is Context-Dependent and Cell Type Specific in Mouse Visual Cortex." Edited by Thomas D Mrsic-Flogel. *eLife* 5 (August): e14985. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.14985.

- 304. Palmer, Chris R, and William B Kristan. 2011. "Contextual Modulation of Behavioral Choice." *Current Opinion in Neurobiology* 21 (4): 520–26. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.conb.2011.05.003.
- 305. Parker, Jennifer A., and Stephen R. Bloom. 2012. "Hypothalamic Neuropeptides and the Regulation of Appetite." *Neuropharmacology* 63 (1): 18–30. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropharm.2012.02.004.
- 306. Parton, Richard M., Ana Maria Vallés, Ian M. Dobbie, and Ilan Davis. 2010. "Drosophila Larval Fillet Preparation and Imaging of Neurons." *Cold Spring Harbor Protocols* 2010 (4): pdb.prot5405. https://doi.org/10.1101/pdb.prot5405.
- 307. Pedrazzini, T., F. Pralong, and E. Grouzmann. 2003. "Neuropeptide Y: The Universal Soldier." *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences CMLS* 60 (2): 350–77. https://doi.org/10.1007/s000180300029.
- 308. Peek, Martin Y, and Gwyneth M Card. 2016. "Comparative Approaches to Escape." *Current Opinion in Neurobiology*, Microcircuit computation and evolution, 41 (December): 167–73. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.conb.2016.09.012.
- 309. Peters, Kate Z., Joseph F. Cheer, and Raffaella Tonini. 2021. "Modulating the Neuromodulators: Dopamine, Serotonin, and the Endocannabinoid System." *Trends in Neurosciences* 44 (6): 464–77. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tins.2021.02.001.
- 310. Petzold, Anne, Hanna Elin van den Munkhof, Rebecca Figge-Schlensok, and Tatiana Korotkova. 2023. "Complementary Lateral Hypothalamic Populations Resist Hunger Pressure to Balance Nutritional and Social Needs." *Cell Metabolism* 35 (3): 456-471.e6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2023.02.008.
- 311. Pfeiffer, Barret D, Arnim Jenett, Ann S Hammonds, Teri-T B Ngo, Sima Misra, Christine Murphy, Audra Scully, et al. 2008. "Tools for Neuroanatomy and Neurogenetics in Drosophila." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 105 (28): 9715–20.
- 312. Pfeiffer, Barret D, Teri-T B Ngo, Karen L Hibbard, Christine Murphy, Arnim Jenett, James W Truman, and Gerald M Rubin. 2010. "Refinement of Tools for Targeted Gene Expression in Drosophila." *Genetics* 186 (2): 735–55. https://doi.org/10.1534/genetics.110.119917.
- 313. Picciotto, Marina R., Michael J. Higley, and Yann S. Mineur. 2012. "Acetylcholine as a Neuromodulator: Cholinergic Signaling Shapes Nervous System Function and Behavior." *Neuron* 76 (1): 116–29. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2012.08.036.
- 314. Pol, Anthony N. van den. 2012. "Neuropeptide Transmission in Brain Circuits." *Neuron* 76 (1): 98–115. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2012.09.014.
- 315. Posovszky, Carsten, and Martin Wabitsch. 2015. "Regulation of Appetite, Satiation, and Body Weight by Enteroendocrine Cells. Part 1: Characteristics of Enteroendocrine Cells and Their Capability of Weight Regulation." *Hormone Research in Paediatrics* 83 (1): 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1159/000368898.
- 316. Prescott, Tony J., Fernando M. Montes González, Kevin Gurney, Mark D. Humphries, and Peter Redgrave. 2006. "A Robot Model of the Basal Ganglia: Behavior and Intrinsic Processing." *Neural Networks* 19 (1): 31–61. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neunet.2005.06.049.
- 317. Pu, Yuhan, Yiwen Zhang, Yan Zhang, and Ping Shen. 2018. "Two Drosophila Neuropeptide Y-like Neurons Define a Reward Module for Transforming Appetitive

Odor Representations to Motivation." *Scientific Reports* 8 (1): 11658. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-30113-5.

- 318. Ramanathan, Gunasekaran, Nicholas I. Cilz, Lalitha Kurada, Binqi Hu, Xiaoping Wang, and Saobo Lei. 2012. "Vasopressin Facilitates GABAergic Transmission in Rat Hippocampus via Activation of V1A Receptors." *Neuropharmacology* 63 (7): 1218–26. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropharm.2012.07.043.
- 319. Rana, Tarapati, Tapan Behl, Aayush Sehgal, Sukhbir Singh, Neelam Sharma, Ahmed Abdeen, Samah F. Ibrahim, et al. 2022. "Exploring the Role of Neuropeptides in Depression and Anxiety." *Progress in Neuro-Psychopharmacology & Biological Psychiatry* 114 (March): 110478. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pnpbp.2021.110478.
- 320. Reiter, Lawrence T., Lorraine Potocki, Sam Chien, Michael Gribskov, and Ethan Bier. 2001. "A Systematic Analysis of Human Disease-Associated Gene Sequences In Drosophila Melanogaster." *Genome Research* 11 (6): 1114–25. https://doi.org/10.1101/gr.169101.
- 321. Rex, Christopher S., Ching-Yi Lin, Eniko A. Kramár, Lulu Y. Chen, Christine M. Gall, and Gary Lynch. 2007. "Brain-Derived Neurotrophic Factor Promotes Long-Term Potentiation-Related Cytoskeletal Changes in Adult Hippocampus." *The Journal of Neuroscience* 27 (11): 3017–29. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4037-06.2007.
- 322. Ringstad, Niels. 2017. "Neuromodulation: The Fevered Mind of the Worm." *Current Biology* 27 (8): R315–17. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2017.03.005.
- 323. Rohrbough, Jeffrey, and Kendal Broadie. 2002. "Electrophysiological Analysis of Synaptic Transmission in Central Neurons of Drosophila Larvae." *Journal of Neurophysiology* 88 (2): 847–60. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.2002.88.2.847.
- 324. Root, Cory M., Kang I. Ko, Amir Jafari, and Jing W. Wang. 2011. "Presynaptic Facilitation by Neuropeptide Signaling Mediates Odor-Driven Food Search." *Cell* 145 (1): 133–44. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2011.02.008.
- 325. Rosikon, Katarzyna D., Megan C. Bone, and Hakeem O. Lawal. 2023. "Regulation and Modulation of Biogenic Amine Neurotransmission in Drosophila and Caenorhabditis Elegans." *Frontiers in Physiology* 14 (February): 970405. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2023.970405.
- 326. Saalfeld, Stephan, Albert Cardona, Volker Hartenstein, and Pavel Tomančák.
 2009. "CATMAID: Collaborative Annotation Toolkit for Massive Amounts of Image Data." *Bioinformatics* 25 (15): 1984–86. https://doi.org/10.1093/bioinformatics/btp266.
- 327. Sakagiannis, Panagiotis, Anna-Maria Jürgensen, and Martin Paul Nawrot. 2021. "A Realistic Locomotory Model of Drosophila Larva for Behavioral Simulations." bioRxiv. https://doi.org/10.1101/2021.07.07.451470.
- 328. Sakurai, Takeshi, and Michihiro Mieda. 2011. "Connectomics of Orexin-Producing Neurons: Interface of Systems of Emotion, Energy Homeostasis and Arousal." *Trends in Pharmacological Sciences* 32 (8): 451–62. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tips.2011.03.007.
- Sampson, Maureen M., Katherine M. Myers Gschweng, Ben J. Hardcastle, Shivan L. Bonanno, Tyler R. Sizemore, Rebecca C. Arnold, Fuying Gao, Andrew M. Dacks, Mark A. Frye, and David E. Krantz. 2020. "Serotonergic Modulation of Visual Neurons"

in Drosophila Melanogaster." *PLoS Genetics* 16 (8): e1009003. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgen.1009003.

- 330. Sánchez, Manuel Lisardo, Francisco D. Rodríguez, and Rafael Coveñas. 2023. "Neuropeptide Y Peptide Family and Cancer: Antitumor Therapeutic Strategies." *International Journal of Molecular Sciences* 24 (12): 9962. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms24129962.
- 331. Sandhu, P., O. Shura, R. L. Murray, and C. Guy. 2018. "Worms Make Risky Choices Too: The Effect of Starvation on Foraging in the Common Earthworm (Lumbricus Terrestris)." *Canadian Journal of Zoology*, August. https://doi.org/10.1139/cjz-2018-0006.
- 332. Sarov, Mihail, Christiane Barz, Helena Jambor, Marco Y. Hein, Christopher Schmied, Dana Suchold, Bettina Stender, et al. 2016. "A Genome-Wide Resource for the Analysis of Protein Localisation in Drosophila." *eLife* 5 (February): e12068. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.12068.
- 333. Saumweber, Timo, Astrid Rohwedder, Michael Schleyer, Katharina Eichler, Yi-Chun Chen, Yoshinori Aso, Albert Cardona, et al. 2018. "Functional Architecture of Reward Learning in Mushroom Body Extrinsic Neurons of Larval Drosophila." *Nature Communications* 9 (1): 1104. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-018-03130-1.
- 334. Sayin, Sercan, Ariane C. Boehm, Johanna M. Kobler, Jean-François De Backer, and Ilona C. Grunwald Kadow. 2018. "Internal State Dependent Odor Processing and Perception—The Role of Neuromodulation in the Fly Olfactory System." *Frontiers in Cellular Neuroscience* 12 (January). https://doi.org/10.3389/fncel.2018.00011.
- 335. Sayin, Sercan, Jean-Francois De Backer, K.P. Siju, Marina E. Wosniack, Laurence P. Lewis, Lisa-Marie Frisch, Benedikt Gansen, et al. 2019. "A Neural Circuit Arbitrates between Persistence and Withdrawal in Hungry Drosophila." *Neuron* 104 (3): 544-558.e6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2019.07.028.
- 336. Schadegg, Abigail C., and Jens Herberholz. 2017. "Satiation Level Affects Anti-Predatory Decisions in Foraging Juvenile Crayfish." *Journal of Comparative Physiology. A, Neuroethology, Sensory, Neural, and Behavioral Physiology* 203 (3): 223–32. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00359-017-1158-8.
- 337. Schneider-Mizell, Casey M, Stephan Gerhard, Mark Longair, Tom Kazimiers, Feng Li, Maarten F Zwart, Andrew Champion, et al. 2016. "Quantitative Neuroanatomy for Connectomics in Drosophila." Edited by Ronald L Calabrese. *eLife* 5 (March): e12059. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.12059.
- Schrader, S., and D.j. Merritt. 2000. "Central Projections of Drosophila Sensory Neurons in the Transition from Embryo to Larva." *Journal of Comparative Neurology* 425 (1): 34–44. https://doi.org/10.1002/1096-9861(20000911)425:1<34::AID-CNE4>3.0.CO;2-G.
- 339. Selcho, Mareike, and Dennis Pauls. 2019. "Linking Physiological Processes and Feeding Behaviors by Octopamine." *Current Opinion in Insect Science*, Neuroscience

• Special section on Evolutionary Genetics and Genomics, 36 (December): 125–30. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cois.2019.09.002.

340. Senapati, Bhagyashree, Chang-Hui Tsao, Yi-An Juan, Tai-Hsiang Chiu, Chia-Lin Wu, Scott Waddell, and Suewei Lin. 2019. "A Neural Mechanism for Deprivation

State-Specific Expression of Relevant Memories in Drosophila." *Nature Neuroscience* 22 (12): 2029–39. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41593-019-0515-z.

- 341. Sengupta, Piali. 2013. "The Belly Rules the Nose: Feeding State-Dependent Modulation of Peripheral Chemosensory Responses." *Current Opinion in Neurobiology*, Neurogenetics, 23 (1): 68–75. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.conb.2012.08.001.
- 342. Shanahan, Laura K., and Thorsten Kahnt. 2022. "On the State-Dependent Nature of Odor Perception." *Frontiers in Neuroscience* 16: 964742. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2022.964742.
- 343. Shen, P., and H. N. Cai. 2001. "Drosophila Neuropeptide F Mediates Integration of Chemosensory Stimulation and Conditioning of the Nervous System by Food." *Journal of Neurobiology* 47 (1): 16–25. https://doi.org/10.1002/neu.1012.
- 344. Shen, Ping, and Haini N. Cai. 2001. "Drosophila Neuropeptide F Mediates Integration of Chemosensory Stimulation and Conditioning of the Nervous System by Food." *Journal of Neurobiology* 47 (1): 16–25. https://doi.org/10.1002/neu.1012.
- 345. Shiu, Philip K., Gabriella R. Sterne, Nico Spiller, Romain Franconville, Andrea Sandoval, Joie Zhou, Neha Simha, et al. 2023. "A Leaky Integrate-and-Fire Computational Model Based on the Connectome of the Entire Adult Drosophila Brain Reveals Insights into Sensorimotor Processing." *bioRxiv: The Preprint Server for Biology*, May, 2023.05.02.539144. https://doi.org/10.1101/2023.05.02.539144.
- 346. Sievert, Lynnette M., Daphne M. Jones, and Marcia W. Puckett. 2005. "Postprandial Thermophily, Transit Rate, and Digestive Efficiency of Juvenile Cornsnakes, *Pantherophis Guttatus*." *Journal of Thermal Biology* 30 (5): 354–59. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtherbio.2005.02.001.
- 347. Simpson, Julie H, and Loren L Looger. 2018. "Functional Imaging and Optogenetics in Drosophila." *Genetics* 208 (4): 1291–1309. https://doi.org/10.1534/genetics.117.300228.
- 348. Simpson, Katherine A., Niamh M. Martin, and Steve R. Bloom. 2008. "Hypothalamic Regulation of Appetite." *Expert Review of Endocrinology & Metabolism* 3 (5): 577–92. https://doi.org/10.1586/17446651.3.5.577.
- 349. Singhania, Aditi, and Wesley B. Grueber. 2014. "Development of the Embryonic and Larval Peripheral Nervous System of Drosophila." *Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews. Developmental Biology* 3 (3): 193–210. https://doi.org/10.1002/wdev.135.
- 350. Sinha, Rajita. 2018. "Role of Addiction and Stress Neurobiology on Food Intake and Obesity." *Biological Psychology* 131 (January): 5–13. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsycho.2017.05.001.
- 351. Sivanantharajah, Lovesha, and Bing Zhang. 2015. "Current Techniques for High-Resolution Mapping of Behavioral Circuits in Drosophila." *Journal of Comparative Physiology A* 201 (9): 895–909. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00359-015-1010-y.
- 352. Slankster, Eryn, Sai Kollala, Dominique Baria, Brianna Dailey-Krempel, Roshni Jain, Seth R. Odell, and Dennis Mathew. 2020. "Mechanism Underlying Starvation-Dependent Modulation of Olfactory Behavior in Drosophila Larva." *Scientific Reports* 10 (1): 3119. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-60098-z.
- 353. Sloley, B. D., and A. V. Juorio. 1995. "Monoamine Neurotransmitters in Invertebrates and Vertebrates: An Examination of the Diverse Enzymatic Pathways

Utilized to Synthesize and Inactivate Blogenic Amines." In *International Review of Neurobiology*, edited by Ronald J. Bradley and R. Adron Harris, 38:253–303. Academic Press. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0074-7742(08)60528-0.

- 354. Smith, Nicholas K., and Brad A. Grueter. 2021. "Hunger-Driven Adaptive Prioritization of Behavior." *The FEBS Journal*, February. https://doi.org/10.1111/febs.15791.
- 355. ———. 2022. "Hunger-Driven Adaptive Prioritization of Behavior." *The FEBS Journal* 289 (4): 922–36. https://doi.org/10.1111/febs.15791.
- 356. Sonenshine, Daniel E., R. Michael Roe, Daniel E. Sonenshine, and R. Michael Roe, eds. 2014. *Biology of Ticks Volume 1*. Second Edition, Second Edition. Oxford, New York: Oxford University Press.
- 357. Speranza, Luisa, Umberto di Porzio, Davide Viggiano, Antonio de Donato, and Floriana Volpicelli. 2021. "Dopamine: The Neuromodulator of Long-Term Synaptic Plasticity, Reward and Movement Control." *Cells* 10 (4): 735. https://doi.org/10.3390/cells10040735.
- 358. Spielberg, Jeffrey M., Gregory A. Miller, Stacie L. Warren, Anna S. Engels, Laura D. Crocker, Marie T. Banich, Bradley P. Sutton, and Wendy Heller. 2012. "A Brain Network Instantiating Approach and Avoidance Motivation." *Psychophysiology* 49 (9): 1200–1214. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8986.2012.01443.x.
- 359. Steinhoff, Philip O. M., Bennet Warfen, Sissy Voigt, Gabriele Uhl, and Melanie Dammhahn. 2020. "Individual Differences in Risk-Taking Affect Foraging across Different Landscapes of Fear." *Oikos* 129 (12): 1891–1902. https://doi.org/10.1111/oik.07508.
- 360. Su, Chih-Ying, and Jing W. Wang. 2014. "Modulation of Neural Circuits: How Stimulus Context Shapes Innate Behavior in Drosophila." *Current Opinion in Neurobiology* 29 (December): 9–16. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.conb.2014.04.008.
- 361. Sudhakar, Sreesha R., Himani Pathak, Niyas Rehman, Jervis Fernandes, Smitha Vishnu, and Jishy Varghese. 2020. "Insulin Signalling Elicits Hunger-Induced Feeding in Drosophila." *Developmental Biology* 459 (2): 87–99. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ydbio.2019.11.013.
- 362. Sun, Lili, Rui Han Jiang, Wen Jing Ye, Michael Rosbash, and Fang Guo. 2022. "Recurrent Circadian Circuitry Regulates Central Brain Activity to Maintain Sleep." *Neuron* 110 (13): 2139-2154.e5. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2022.04.010.
- 363. Suster, Maximiliano L., Laurent Seugnet, Michael Bate, and Marla B. Sokolowski. 2004. "Refining GAL4-Driven Transgene Expression in Drosophila with a GAL80 Enhancer-Trap." *Genesis* 39 (4): 240–45. https://doi.org/10.1002/gene.20051.
- 364. Sutton, Amy K., and Michael J. Krashes. 2020. "Integrating Hunger with Rival Motivations." *Trends in Endocrinology & Metabolism* 31 (7): 495–507. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tem.2020.04.006.
- 365. Sweatt, J. David. 2016. "Neural Plasticity and Behavior Sixty Years of Conceptual Advances." *Journal of Neurochemistry* 139 (S2): 179–99. https://doi.org/10.1111/jnc.13580.
- 366. Sweeney, S. T., K. Broadie, J. Keane, H. Niemann, and C. J. O'Kane. 1995. "Targeted Expression of Tetanus Toxin Light Chain in Drosophila Specifically Eliminates

Synaptic Transmission and Causes Behavioral Defects." *Neuron* 14 (2): 341–51. https://doi.org/10.1016/0896-6273(95)90290-2.

- 367. Swierczek, Nicholas A, Andrew C Giles, Catharine H Rankin, and Rex A Kerr. 2011. "High-Throughput Behavioral Analysis in C. Elegans." *Nature Methods* 8 (7): 592–98. https://doi.org/10.1038/nmeth.1625.
- 368. Swieten, Maaike M. H. van, Rafal Bogacz, and Sanjay G. Manohar. 2023. "Gambling on an Empty Stomach: Hunger Modulates Preferences for Learned but Not Described Risks." *Brain and Behavior* 13 (5): e2978. https://doi.org/10.1002/brb3.2978.
- 369. Taghert, Paul H., and Michael N. Nitabach. 2012. "Peptide Neuromodulation in Invertebrate Model Systems." *Neuron* 76 (1): 82–97. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2012.08.035.
- Taghert, Paul H, and Jan A Veenstra. 2003. "Drosophila Neuropeptide Signaling." In Advances in Genetics, edited by Jeffrey C. Hall, Jay C. Dunlap, and Theodore Friedmann, 49:1–65. Academic Press. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0065-2660(03)01001-0.
- 371. Tainton-Heap, Lucy, Michael Troup, Matthew Van De Poll, and Bruno van Swinderen. 2024. "Whole-Brain Calcium Imaging in Drosophila during Sleep and Wake." Cold Spring Harbor Protocols, February. https://doi.org/10.1101/pdb.prot108419.
- 372. Takagi, Suguru, Benjamin Thomas Cocanougher, Sawako Niki, Dohjin Miyamoto, Hiroshi Kohsaka, Hokto Kazama, Richard Doty Fetter, et al. 2017. "Divergent Connectivity of Homologous Command-like Neurons Mediates Segment-Specific Touch Responses in Drosophila." Neuron 96 (6): 1373-1387.e6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2017.10.030.
- 373. Takahashi, Joseph S., Hee-Kyung Hong, Caroline H. Ko, and Erin L. McDearmon. 2008. "The Genetics of Mammalian Circadian Order and Disorder: Implications for Physiology and Disease." *Nature Reviews*. *Genetics* 9 (10): 764–75. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrg2430.
- 374. Takeishi, Asuka, Jihye Yeon, Nathan Harris, Wenxing Yang, and Piali Sengupta. 2020. "Feeding State Functionally Reconfigures a Sensory Circuit to Drive Thermosensory Behavioral Plasticity." *eLife* 9 (October): e61167. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.61167.
- 375. Tian, Lin, S. Andrew Hires, Tianyi Mao, Daniel Huber, M. Eugenia Chiappe, Sreekanth H. Chalasani, Leopoldo Petreanu, et al. 2009. "Imaging Neural Activity in Worms, Flies and Mice with Improved GCaMP Calcium Indicators." *Nature Methods* 6 (12): 875–81. https://doi.org/10.1038/nmeth.1398.
- 376. Tierney, Ann Jane. 2020. "Feeding, Hunger, Satiety and Serotonin in Invertebrates." *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 287 (1932). https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2020.1386.
- 377. Timper, Katharina, and Jens C. Brüning. 2017. "Hypothalamic Circuits Regulating Appetite and Energy Homeostasis: Pathways to Obesity." *Disease Models & Mechanisms* 10 (6): 679–89. https://doi.org/10.1242/dmm.026609.
- 378. Ting, Chun-Yuan, Stephanie Gu, Sudha Guttikonda, Tzu-Yang Lin, Benjamin H White, and Chi-Hon Lee. 2011. "Focusing Transgene Expression in Drosophila by

Coupling Gal4 With a Novel Split-LexA Expression System." *Genetics* 188 (1): 229–33. https://doi.org/10.1534/genetics.110.126193.

- 379. Tong, Qingchun, ChianPing Ye, Rory J. McCrimmon, Harveen Dhillon, Brian Choi, Melissa D. Kramer, Jia Yu, et al. 2007. "Synaptic Glutamate Release by Ventromedial Hypothalamic Neurons Is Part of the Neurocircuitry That Prevents Hypoglycemia." *Cell Metabolism* 5 (5): 383–93. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2007.04.001.
- 380. Tredern, Eloïse de, Dylan Manceau, Alexandre Blanc, Panagiotis Sakagiannis, Chloe Barre, Victoria Sus, Francesca Viscido, et al. 2023. "Feeding-State Dependent Modulation of Reciprocally Interconnected Inhibitory Neurons Biases Sensorimotor Decisions in Drosophila." bioRxiv. https://doi.org/10.1101/2023.12.26.573306.
- 381. Tredern, Eloise de, Dylan Manceau, Alexandre Blanc, Panagiotis Sakagiannis, Chloe Barre, Victoria Sus, Francesca Viscido, et al. 2024. "Feeding-State Dependent Modulation of Reciprocally Interconnected Inhibitory Neurons Biases Sensorimotor Decisions in Drosophila." bioRxiv. https://doi.org/10.1101/2023.12.26.573306.
- 382. Tsai, Tein-Shun, and Ming-Chung Tu. 2005. "Postprandial Thermophily of Chinese Green Tree Vipers, *Trimeresurus s. Stejnegeri*: Interfering Factors on Snake Temperature Selection in a Thigmothermal Gradient." *Journal of Thermal Biology* 30 (6): 423–30. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtherbio.2005.04.002.
- 383. Tsao, Chang-Hui, Chien-Chun Chen, Chen-Han Lin, Hao-Yu Yang, and Suewei Lin. 2018. "Drosophila Mushroom Bodies Integrate Hunger and Satiety Signals to Control Innate Food-Seeking Behavior." Edited by Kristin Scott. *eLife* 7 (March): e35264. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.35264.
- 384. Tuthill, John C, Aljoscha Nern, Gerald M Rubin, and Michael B Reiser. 2014. "Wide-Field Feedback Neurons Dynamically Tune Early Visual Processing." *Neuron* 82 (4): 887–95. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2014.04.023.
- 385. Ueno, Kohei, Johannes Morstein, Kyoko Ofusa, Shintaro Naganos, Ema Suzuki-Sawano, Saika Minegishi, Samir P. Rezgui, et al. 2020. "Carbon Monoxide, a Retrograde Messenger Generated in Postsynaptic Mushroom Body Neurons, Evokes Noncanonical Dopamine Release." *The Journal of Neuroscience: The Official Journal* of the Society for Neuroscience 40 (18): 3533–48. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2378-19.2020.
- 386. Valassi, Elena, Massimo Scacchi, and Francesco Cavagnini. 2008. "Neuroendocrine Control of Food Intake." *Nutrition, Metabolism, and Cardiovascular Diseases: NMCD* 18 (2): 158–68. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.numecd.2007.06.004.
- 387. Van Damme, Sara, Nathan De Fruyt, Jan Watteyne, Signe Kenis, Katleen Peymen, Liliane Schoofs, and Isabel Beets. 2021. "Neuromodulatory Pathways in Learning and Memory: Lessons from Invertebrates." *Journal of Neuroendocrinology* 33 (1): e12911. https://doi.org/10.1111/jne.12911.
- 388. Vanden Broeck, Jozef. 2001. "Neuropeptides and Their Precursors in the Fruitfly, Drosophila Melanogaster☆." Peptides 22 (2): 241–54. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0196-9781(00)00376-4.
- Venken, Koen J. T., Julie H. Simpson, and Hugo J. Bellen. 2011. "Genetic Manipulation of Genes and Cells in the Nervous System of the Fruit Fly." *Neuron* 72 (2): 202–30. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2011.09.021.

- 390. Vicario, Carmelo M., Karolina A. Kuran, Robert Rogers, and Robert D. Rafal. 2018. "The Effect of Hunger and Satiety in the Judgment of Ethical Violations." *Brain and Cognition* 125 (August): 32–36. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bandc.2018.05.003.
- 391. Vogt, Katrin, David M. Zimmerman, Matthias Schlichting, Luis Hernandez-Nunez, Shanshan Qin, Karen Malacon, Michael Rosbash, Cengiz Pehlevan, Albert Cardona, and Aravinthan D. T. Samuel. 2021. "Internal State Configures Olfactory Behavior and Early Sensory Processing in Drosophila Larvae." *Science Advances* 7 (1): eabd6900. https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.abd6900.
- 392. Vosshall, Leslie B., and Reinhard F. Stocker. 2007. "Molecular Architecture of Smell and Taste in Drosophila." *Annual Review of Neuroscience* 30: 505–33. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.neuro.30.051606.094306.
- 393. Walker, Adrian R., Danielle J. Navarro, Ben R. Newell, and Tom Beesley. 2022. "Protection from Uncertainty in the Exploration/Exploitation Trade-Off." *Journal of Experimental Psychology. Learning, Memory, and Cognition* 48 (4): 547–68. https://doi.org/10.1037/xlm0000883.
- 394. Walker, Alison S., Juan Burrone, and Martin P. Meyer. 2013. "Functional Imaging in the Zebrafish Retinotectal System Using RGECO." *Frontiers in Neural Circuits* 7 (March): 34. https://doi.org/10.3389/fncir.2013.00034.
- 395. Wardle, Rinda A., and Mu-ming Poo. 2003. "Brain-Derived Neurotrophic Factor Modulation of GABAergic Synapses by Postsynaptic Regulation of Chloride Transport." *The Journal of Neuroscience* 23 (25): 8722. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.23-25-08722.2003.
- 396. Weber, Denise, Vincent Richter, Astrid Rohwedder, Alexandra Großjohann, and Andreas S. Thum. 2023. "Learning and Memory in Drosophila Larvae." *Cold Spring Harbor Protocols* 2023 (3): pdb.top107863. https://doi.org/10.1101/pdb.top107863.
- 397. Wei, Dongyu, Vaishali Talwar, and Dayu Lin. 2021. "Neural Circuits of Social Behaviors: Innate yet Flexible." *Neuron* 109 (10): 1600–1620. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2021.02.012.
- 398. Wen, Tieqiao, Clayton A. Parrish, Dan Xu, Qi Wu, and Ping Shen. 2005. "Drosophila Neuropeptide F and Its Receptor, NPFR1, Define a Signaling Pathway That Acutely Modulates Alcohol Sensitivity." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 102 (6): 2141–46. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0406814102.
- 399. White, Denis A. W. 1986. "Long-Range Potential Scattering by Enss's Method in Two Hilbert Spaces." *Transactions of the American Mathematical Society* 295 (1): 1– 33. https://doi.org/10.2307/2000143.
- 400. Wicher, Dieter, Christian Walther, and Carola Wicher. 2001. "Non-Synaptic Ion Channels in Insects — Basic Properties of Currents and Their Modulation in Neurons and Skeletal Muscles." *Progress in Neurobiology* 64 (5): 431–525. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0301-0082(00)00066-6.
- 401. Wilson, R I. 2004. "Transformation of Olfactory Representations in the Drosophila Antennal Lobe." *Science* 303 (5656): 366–70. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1090782.
- 402. Winding, Michael, Benjamin D. Pedigo, Christopher L. Barnes, Heather G. Patsolic, Youngser Park, Tom Kazimiers, Akira Fushiki, et al. 2023. "The Connectome of an

Insect Brain." *Science (New York, N.Y.)* 379 (6636): eadd9330. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.add9330.

- 403. Wong, Bob B.M., and Ulrika Candolin. 2015. "Behavioral Responses to Changing Environments." *Behavioral Ecology* 26 (3): 665–73. https://doi.org/10.1093/beheco/aru183.
- 404. Woods, Stephen C., Michael W. Schwartz, Denis G. Baskin, and Randy J. Seeley. 2000. "Food Intake and the Regulation of Body Weight." *Annual Review of Psychology* 51 (1): 255–77. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.psych.51.1.255.
- 405. Woods, Stephen C., Randy J. Seeley, Daniel Porte, and Michael W. Schwartz. 1998. "Signals That Regulate Food Intake and Energy Homeostasis." *Science* 280 (5368): 1378–83. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.280.5368.1378.
- 406. Wosniack, Marina E., Dylan Festa, Nan Hu, Julijana Gjorgjieva, and Jimena Berni. 2022. "Adaptation of Drosophila Larva Foraging in Response to Changes in Food Resources." *eLife* 11 (December): e75826. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.75826.
- 407. Wren, A. M., and S. R. Bloom. 2007. "Gut Hormones and Appetite Control." *Gastroenterology* 132 (6): 2116–30. https://doi.org/10.1053/j.gastro.2007.03.048.
- 408. Wu, Qi, Tieqiao Wen, Gyunghee Lee, Jae H. Park, Haini N. Cai, and Ping Shen. 2003. "Developmental Control of Foraging and Social Behavior by the Drosophila Neuropeptide Y-like System." *Neuron* 39 (1): 147–61. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0896-6273(03)00396-9.
- 409. Wu, Qi, Yan Zhang, Jie Xu, and Ping Shen. 2005. "Regulation of Hunger-Driven Behaviors by Neural Ribosomal S6 Kinase in Drosophila." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 102 (37): 13289–94. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0501914102.
- 410. Wu, Qi, Zhangwu Zhao, and Ping Shen. 2005. "Regulation of Aversion to Noxious Food by Drosophila Neuropeptide Y– and Insulin-like Systems." *Nature Neuroscience* 8 (10): 1350–55. https://doi.org/10.1038/nn1540.
- 411. Yamada, Rei, and Hiroshi Kuba. 2016. "Structural and Functional Plasticity at the Axon Initial Segment." *Frontiers in Cellular Neuroscience* 10: 250. https://doi.org/10.3389/fncel.2016.00250.
- 412. Yau, Y. H. C., and M. N. Potenza. 2013. "Stress and Eating Behaviors." *Minerva Endocrinologica* 38 (3): 255–67.
- 413. Yeom, Eunbyul, Hyemi Shin, Wonbeak Yoo, Eunsung Jun, Seokho Kim, Seung Hyun Hong, Dae-Woo Kwon, et al. 2021. "Tumour-Derived Dilp8/INSL3 Induces Cancer Anorexia by Regulating Feeding Neuropeptides via Lgr3/8 in the Brain." *Nature Cell Biology* 23 (2): 172–83. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41556-020-00628-z.
- 414. Yorozu, Suzuko, Allan Wong, Brian J. Fischer, Heiko Dankert, Maurice J. Kernan, Azusa Kamikouchi, Kei Ito, and David J. Anderson. 2009. "Distinct Sensory Representations of Wind and Near-Field Sound in the Drosophila Brain." *Nature* 458 (7235): 201–5. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature07843.
- 415. Yoshinari, Yuto, Hina Kosakamoto, Takumi Kamiyama, Ryo Hoshino, Rena Matsuoka, Shu Kondo, Hiromu Tanimoto, Akira Nakamura, Fumiaki Obata, and Ryusuke Niwa. 2021. "The Sugar-Responsive Enteroendocrine Neuropeptide F Regulates Lipid Metabolism through Glucagon-like and Insulin-like Hormones in

Drosophila Melanogaster." *Nature Communications* 12 (August): 4818. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-021-25146-w.

- 416. Zagoraiou, Laskaro, Turgay Akay, James F. Martin, Robert M. Brownstone, Thomas M. Jessell, and Gareth B. Miles. 2009. "A Cluster of Cholinergic Premotor Interneurons Modulates Mouse Locomotor Activity." *Neuron* 64 (5): 645–62. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2009.10.017.
- 417. Zandawala, Meet, Richard Marley, Shireen A. Davies, and Dick R. Nässel. 2018. "Characterization of a Set of Abdominal Neuroendocrine Cells That Regulate Stress Physiology Using Colocalized Diuretic Peptides in Drosophila." *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences* 75 (6): 1099–1115. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00018-017-2682-y.
- 418. Zandawala, Meet, Maria E. Yurgel, Michael J. Texada, Sifang Liao, Kim F. Rewitz, Alex C. Keene, and Dick R. Nässel. 2018. "Modulation of Drosophila Post-Feeding Physiology and Behavior by the Neuropeptide Leucokinin." *PLoS Genetics* 14 (11): e1007767. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgen.1007767.
- 419. Zarin, Aref Arzan, Brandon Mark, Albert Cardona, Ashok Litwin-Kumar, and Chris Q Doe. 2019. "A Multilayer Circuit Architecture for the Generation of Distinct Locomotor Behaviors in Drosophila." Edited by Kristin Scott and Ronald L Calabrese. *eLife* 8 (December): e51781. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.51781.
- 420. Zhang, Lei, Martijn S. Bijker, and Herbert Herzog. 2011. "The Neuropeptide Y System: Pathophysiological and Therapeutic Implications in Obesity and Cancer." *Pharmacology & Therapeutics* 131 (1): 91–113. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pharmthera.2011.03.011.
- 421. Zhang, Wei, Zhiqiang Yan, Lily Yeh Jan, and Yuh-Nung Jan. 2013. "Sound Response Mediated by the TRP Channels NOMPC, NANCHUNG, and INACTIVE in Chordotonal Organs of Drosophila Larvae." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 110 (33): 13612–17. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1312477110.
- 422. Zhang, Wen-Hao, Aihua Chen, Malte J. Rasch, and Si Wu. 2016. "Decentralized Multisensory Information Integration in Neural Systems." *The Journal of Neuroscience: The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience* 36 (2): 532–47. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0578-15.2016.
- 423. Zhou, Chuan, Romain Franconville, Alexander G. Vaughan, Carmen C. Robinett, Vivek Jayaraman, and Bruce S. Baker. 2015. "Central Neural Circuitry Mediating Courtship Song Perception in Male Drosophila." *eLife* 4 (September): e08477. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.08477.
- 424. Zhou, Chuan, Yong Rao, and Yi Rao. 2008. "A Subset of Octopaminergic Neurons Are Important for Drosophila Aggression." *Nature Neuroscience* 11 (9): 1059–67. https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.2164.
- 425. Zhu, Bangfu, Jenny A Pennack, Peter McQuilton, Manuel G Forero, Kenji Mizuguchi, Ben Sutcliffe, Chun-Jing Gu, Janine C Fenton, and Alicia Hidalgo. 2008.
 "Drosophila Neurotrophins Reveal a Common Mechanism for Nervous System Formation." *PLoS Biology* 6 (11): e284. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.0060284.

- 426. Zwart, Maarten F, Stefan R Pulver, James W Truman, Akira Fushiki, Richard D Fetter, Albert Cardona, and Matthias Landgraf. 2016. "Selective Inhibition Mediates the Sequential Recruitment of Motor Pools." *Neuron* 91 (3): 615–28. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2016.06.031.
- 427. Zwarts, Liesbeth, Marijke Versteven, and Patrick Callaerts. 2012. "Genetics and Neurobiology of Aggression in Drosophila." *Fly* 6 (1): 35–48. https://doi.org/10.4161/fly.19249.

VI. Synthèse en Français

Afin de survivre dans un environnement en constante évolution, les animaux doivent adapter leurs comportements à chaque situation qu'ils rencontrent en fonction de l'état interne dans lequel ils se trouvent. L'état alimentaire, en particulier, est d'une importance critique pour la survie et exerce une grande influence sur nombre de décisions afin d'obtenir une régulation optimale de la prise alimentaire. Cependant, des comportements qui ne sont pas liés à la prise alimentaire sont également régulés par l'état alimentaire, comme la prise de risque ou les jugements éthiques et sociaux. Bien que l'influence de l'état alimentaire soit bien documentée dans les décisions liées à la nourriture, son impact sur les circuits neuronaux orchestrant d'autres comportements demeure un domaine de recherche en neurosciences. L'élucidation des mécanismes permettant à l'état interne d'influencer des circuits neuronaux qui ne sont pas directement reliés à sa régulation est essentielle pour comprendre le fonctionnement cérébral en santé et en maladie.

Nous utilisons la larve de *Drosophile* pour étudier les mécanismes de modulation des circuits neuronaux en fonction de l'état alimentaire. Le système nerveux compact de la larve de Drosophile, les puissants outils génétiques de ce modèle et la reconstruction de son connectome avec une résolution synaptique à partir d'un volume de microscopie électronique, nous donnent un accès unique à la cartographie et l'étude de circuits neuronaux des larves. Dans mon projet de thèse, j'ai examiné en particulier un circuit, précédemment décrit par ma directrice de thèse, impliqué dans la prise de décisions sensorimotrice des larves. Ce circuit orchestre le choix entre deux actions mutuellement exclusives (la rétraction de la tête, ou "hunch", qui est une réponse de sursaut et le balancement de la tête, ou "head-cast", qui est une réponse d'évitement actif) en réponse à une stimulation mécanique par un jet d'air comprimé. Des interneurones inhibiteurs réciproquement connectés engagés dans plusieurs sousmotifs pilotent l'état de sortie de ce circuit, avec une inhibition réciproque de l'inhibition mettant en œuvre le choix comportemental et une désinhibition rétroactive consolidant le "head-cast". Une telle architecture de circuit permet une sélection flexible du comportement de sortie, qui est probabiliste à la fois entre et au sein des individus est peut donc être considérée comme une forme de décision. Nous avons montré que des larves affamées ou nourries uniquement de sucrose orientent leurs décisions vers plus de "head-cast" au détriment du "hunch". Cette modulation de la décision comportementale en réponse à la stimulation est provoquée par la modulation de l'activité de deux interneurones inhibiteurs interconnectés. Dans le but d'étudier les mécanismes à l'origine de la modulation de l'activité de ces interneurones par l'état alimentaire des larves, nous utilisons une combinaison de plusieurs techniques incluant la manipulation génétique de l'expression de neuropeptides ou de leurs récepteurs dans des cellules individuelles, l'imagerie fonctionnelle de neurones individuels par imagerie calcique, la quantification de la réponse comportementale de centaines de larves à l'aide d'une classification automatique de leurs comportements par machine learning. L'utilisation de ces techniques est éclairée par les informations extraites du connectome reconstruit à partir de microscopie électronique, nous permettant des neurones interagissant avec nos neurones d'intérêt.

Nous avons centré nos recherches sur les neuropeptides NPF et sNPF, tous deux liés au NPY des mammifères, et connus comme étant d'importants régulateurs dans la prise alimentaire. Alors que les récepteurs des deux neuropeptides sont exprimés dans les neurones mécanosensoriels, nos résultats montrent que leur modulation n'est pas essentielle pour modifier les décisions de la larve. Nous montrons également que les neurones de projection du circuit n'expriment pas de récepteurs pour sNPF ou NPF, tandis que les interneurones inhibiteurs expriment différentes combinaisons de récepteurs. Au total, cela implique que le sNPF et le NPF modulent différemment les interneurones inhibiteurs interconnectés, influençant les calculs du circuit et non les signaux d'entrée ou de sortie du circuit. En effet, la réduction de la signalisation sNPF sur ces interneurones inhibiteurs oriente le choix des larves vers moins de "hunch" et plus de "head-cast" en régulant leur activité de manière opposée, reproduisant partiellement un phénotype similaire à celui observé chez des larves à jeun ou des larves nourries avec du sucrose. D'autre part, l'activité des neurones sécrétant le NPF est augmentée lors de l'ingestion de sucrose et la mise à jeun, et le NPF lui-même est nécessaire pour la modulation dépendante de l'état alimentaire de la locomotion de base des larves. De plus, le NPF est responsable spécifiquement de l'augmentation de l'activité de l'un des interneurones, qui inhibe le "hunch" et favorise le "head-cast".

En conclusion, ces résultats, présentés sous la forme d'un article scientifique dans la section III.A de ce manuscrit, suggèrent que ces interneurones inhibiteurs servent d'intégrateurs de l'information sur l'état physiologique, orientant ainsi le comportement en fonction de l'état alimentaire.

Dans la section III.B de ce manuscrit, je présente des expériences montrant un effet dépendant de l'état du sNPF sur les neurones mécanosensoriels du circuit, bien que leur modulation ne soit pas nécessaire pour biaiser le choix comportemental des larves. Enfin, dans la section III.C de ce manuscrit, je présente le développement d'un setup expérimental permettant d'étudier la prise de risque chez les larves dans un contexte de navigation dans des gradients sensoriels conflictuels. Cet essai comportemental, testé sous ma supervision par des stagiaires, permettra d'étudier l'influence de l'état alimentaire sur les décisions prises par les larves au cours de la navigation dans ces gradients.